
 

Democratic Services ◦ Chief Executive’s Department ◦ Leicestershire County Council ◦ County Hall  

Glenfield ◦ Leicestershire ◦ LE3 8RA ◦ Tel: 0116 232 3232 ◦ Email: democracy@leics.gov.uk 
 

 

www.twitter.com/leicsdemocracy  

  
www.leics.gov.uk/local_democracy  

 

 

 

 
  

 

Meeting: Development Control and Regulatory Board  
 

 
 

Date/Time: Thursday, 7 August 2025 at 2.00 pm 

Location: Sparkenhoe Committee Room, County Hall, Glenfield 

Contact: Mr E. Walters (Tel: 0116 3052583) 

Email: euan.walters@leics.gov.uk 

 

Membership 
 

Mr. J. McDonald CC (Chairman) 

 
Mr. R. Bailey CC 

Mr. S. L. Bray CC 
Mr. K. Crook CC 

Mrs. L. Danks CC 

Mr. D. A. Gamble CC 
Mr. D. J. Grimley CC 

 

Mrs. K. Knight CC 

Mr. B. Lovegrove CC 
Mr. J. Miah CC 
Mr. B. Piper CC 

Mr. K. Robinson CC 
Mr. B. Walker CC 

 
 
Please note: this meeting will be filmed for live or subsequent broadcast via You Tube 

https://www.youtube.com/playlist?list=PLrlN4_PKzPXjar7IOtLtNZvIwZ4xT_8yU 
– Notices will be on display at the meeting explaining the arrangements. 

 
AGENDA 

 

Item  
 

  
 

1.  
  

Minutes of the meeting held on 3 July 2025.  
 

(Pages 3 - 6) 

2.  

  

Question Time.  

 

 

3.  

  

Questions asked by Members under Standing Order 7(3) and 7(5).  

 

 

4.  
  

To advise of any other items which the Chairman has decided to take 
as urgent elsewhere on the agenda.  

 

 

5.  

  

Declarations of interest in respect of items on the agenda.  

 

 

6.  
  

Presentation of petitions under Standing Order 36.  
 

 

 

mailto:democracy@leics.gov.uk
http://www.twitter.com/leicsdemocracy
http://www.leics.gov.uk/local_democracy
http://www.leics.gov.uk/local_democracy
https://www.youtube.com/playlist?list=PLrlN4_PKzPXjar7IOtLtNZvIwZ4xT_8yU


 
 Reports of the Chief Executive on Planning Applications - County Matter 

Applications. 
  

7.  
  

2024/VOCM/0144/LCC (2024/2349/02): Saint-Gobain Construction 
Products UK - Variation of Condition 7 to allow the back-hauling of 
low grade gypsum - British Gypsum, Barrow Works, Paudy Lane, 

Barrow-Upon-Soar.  
 

(Pages 7 - 36) 

8.  
  

2023/CM/0053/LCC (2024/00041/03): Great Bowden Green Energy 
Ltd - Proposed Anaerobic Digestion Plant, Associated Infrastructure, 
Lagoons and Feedstock Clamps - Marigold Farm, Welham Road, 

Great Bowden.  
 

(Pages 37 - 
222) 

9.  
  

2025/00719/07 (2025/VOCM/0061/LCC): Holcim UK Limited - 
Variation of condition 57 of Planning Permission 2023/0032/07 to 
amend the operating hours of the wash plant from 0600-2200 to 24/7 

operation - Bardon Quarry, Bardon Road, Coalville.  
 

(Pages 223 - 
250) 

 Other reports. 
  

10.  

  

Delegated Decisions Schedule: April 2025 - June 2025.  

 

(Pages 251 - 

252) 
11.  
  

Delegated Tree Preservation Order decisions - January 2025 - June 
2025.  

 

(Pages 253 - 
266) 

12.  

  

Any other items which the Chairman has decided to take as urgent.  

 

 

13.  
  

Chairman's announcements.  
 

 



 

  

 
 

Minutes of a meeting of the Development Control and Regulatory Board held at County 

Hall, Glenfield on Thursday, 3 July 2025.  
 

PRESENT 

 
Mr. J. McDonald CC (in the Chair) 

 
Mr. R. Bailey CC 
Mr. S. L. Bray CC 

Mrs. L. Danks CC 
Mr. D. A. Gamble CC 

Mr. D. J. Grimley CC 
 

Mr. B. Lovegrove CC 
Mr. P. Morris CC 

Mr. B. Piper CC 
Mr. B. Walker CC 

 

11. Minutes of the previous meeting.  

 
The minutes of the meeting held on 12 June 2025 were taken as read, confirmed and 

signed.  
 

12. Question Time.  

 
The Chief Executive reported that no questions had been received under Standing Order 

35. 
 

13. Questions asked by Members.  

 
The Chief Executive reported that no questions had been received under Standing Order 

7(3) and 7(5). 
 

14. Urgent items.  

 
There were no urgent items for consideration. 

 
15. Declarations of interest.  

 

The Chairman invited members who wished to do so to declare any interest in respect of 
items on the agenda for the meeting. 

 
Mr. B. Lovegrove CC declared a Disclosable Pecuniary Interest in agenda item 7 - North 
and East Melton Mowbray Distributor Road and stated that he would leave the room for 

that agenda item. 
 

Mr. A. Innes CC declared that he was a resident of the Melton Mowbray area and the 
local member for the Melton East division but would remain in the room for item 7. 
 

16. Presentation of petitions.  
 

The Chief Executive reported that no petitions had been received under Standing Order 
36. 
 

 

3 Agenda Item 1



 
 

 

 

17. Leicestershire County Council - Variation of planning conditions 2, 3, 4, 5, 6, 7, 8, 9, 10, 

11, 12,13,15,16, 18, 19 and 24 of approved planning permission 
2018/Reg3Ma/0182/LCC (2018/1204/06) - North and East Melton Mowbray Distributor 
Road.  

 
(Mr. Lovegrove CC, having declared a Disclosable Pecuniary Interest, left the meeting 

during consideration of the application.) 
 
The Board considered a report of the Chief Executive, a copy of which, marked ‘Agenda 

Item 7’, is filed with these minutes. 
 

In accordance with the procedures for making representations to the Board, Janna 
Walker, Assistant Director, Leicestershire County Council, spoke as the applicant. 
 

The local member Mr. A. Innes CC raised queries about the following issues: 

• The measures within the scheme to deal with flood water; 

• The re-routeing of the shared cycle/footway along the proposed Lag Lane 
bridleway and the level of consultation with local residents; 

• The level of consultation that had taken place with elected members about the 

proposed changes to the scheme since the original planning permission was 
granted.  

 
In response to the latter query, it was explained that the Leicestershire County Council 

Cabinet had been kept informed of the rising costs of the scheme, had considered a 
report which highlighted the need for value engineering to improve the cost effectiveness 
of the scheme, and Cabinet had supported the changes to the scheme in principle (whilst 

noting that planning permission could only be granted by the Development Control and 
Regulatory Board). 

 
In response to further questioning, reassurance was given that although efforts had been 
made to reduce the cost of the scheme, safety was still paramount.  Whilst the amended 

proposals did not meet the national guidelines in all respects, the function and safety of 
the road had not been compromised. 

 
With regards to flooding and concerns raised by members about the proposed reduction 
in the size and depth of the proposed balancing ponds given the increase in extreme 

weather that had been seen recently, reassurance was given that the Lead Local Flood 
Authority (Leicestershire County Council) had reviewed the proposals and were satisfied 

with the drainage scheme as a whole.  
 
In response to a question from a member, it was explained that the single carriage road 

would have the capacity to manage the expected demand on the road. The modelling 
indicated that a dual carriageway was not required. 
 

RESOLVED: 
 

That the application be permitted subject to the conditions nos. 1-24 as set out in the 
Appendix to the report. 
 

(Note: Mr. Lovegrove CC then returned to the meeting). 
 

4



 
 

 

 

18. Leicestershire County Council - Request for confirmation as permanent of the TPO made 

in order to protect two mature Lime trees situated within the site of the former Roman 
Way Day Centre, Market Harborough.  
 

The Board considered a report of the Director of Environment and Transport, a copy of 
which, marked ‘Agenda Item 8’, is filed with these minutes. 

 
In response to a question from a member it was confirmed that Tree Officers regularly 
surveyed trees in Leicestershire, and were there to be a breach of a Tree Preservation 

Order and unauthorised works to trees carried out, legal proceedings could be 
commenced, resulting in fines of up to £20,000. 

 
RESOLVED: 
 

That the confirmation of the Leicestershire County Council (Roman Way, Market 
Harborough) Tree Preservation Order 2025 (No. 487) be approved. 

 
19. Delegated Decisions Schedule - January 2025 - March 2025.  

 

The Board considered a report of the Chief Executive, a copy of which, marked ‘Agenda 
Item 9’, is filed with these minutes. 
 

RESOLVED: 
 

That the contents of the report be noted. 
 

20. Chairman's announcements.  

 
The Chairman announced that the next meeting of the Board would take place on 

Thursday 7 August 2025 at 2.00pm. 
 
 

 
2.00  - 2.50 pm CHAIRMAN 

03 July 2025 
 

5



This page is intentionally left blank



 

 
DEVELOPMENT CONTROL AND REGULATORY BOARD 

 
7th August 2025 

 
REPORT OF THE CHIEF EXECUTIVE 

 
COUNTY MATTER  

 
PART A – SUMMARY REPORT 

 
 
APP.NO. & DATE:  2024/VOCM/0144/LCC (2024/2349/02). Valid 

application received: 05/12/2024. 

 
PROPOSAL:  Variation of Condition 7 to allow the back-hauling of low 

grade gypsum from the site.   
 
LOCATION:   British Gypsum, Barrow Works, Paudy Lane, Barrow-

Upon-Soar, LE12 8GB  
 

APPLICANT:  Saint-Gobain Construction Products UK Limited  
  
MAIN ISSUES:  Impacts on the highway including rights of way, local 

amenity, health and wellbeing, the local environment, 
climate change, sustainability, and cumulative impact.  

  
RECOMMENDATION:   Permit subject to the conditions included in Appendix A. 

 

 
Circulation Under Local Issues Alert Procedure 

 
Mr. P. Rudkin CC – Quorn & Barrow ED 
Mrs. N. Bottomley CC – Sileby & The Wolds ED 

 
Officer to Contact 

 
Amelia Mistry (Tel. 0116 305 7326) 
   

Email:  planningcontrol@leics.gov.uk 
 

 
 
 

 
 

 
 
 

7 Agenda Item 7



DC&REG. BOARD 07/08/2025 

PART B – MAIN REPORT 
 

The Site and Surroundings 
 

1. The Barrow Works is located approximately 600m to the south-east of Barrow-
Upon-Soar and 800m north-west of Sileby. The site is bounded on its south-
western side by the main Sheffield to London railway line. The application area 

is displayed in Figure 1. The planning permission area relating to the 
underground extraction of gypsum covers an extensive area of some 3,450 

hectares, stretching from Sileby in the south to Wymeswold in the north, and 
Hoton and Barrow-upon-Soar in the west to the A46 and Six Hills in the east. 
The settlements of Seagrave and Walton-on the-Wolds lie within this area, but 

are excluded from the permission area. 
 

2. The site is accessed via a private road located off Paudy Lane, which runs 
between Barrow upon Soar and the Six Hills junction of the A46. The access 
road to the site is 2.3km in length.  Two public rights of way (PRoW) cross the 

site access road, Bridleway I4 and Footpath I23. Signage and traffic calming 
measures are in place where these PRoW cross the access road.  

 
3. The nearest residential properties to the application area are on the southern 

side of the main railway line and those which are situated in close proximity to 

the access road.  The nearest property is located approximately 8 metres west 
from the site’s access. Additionally, several businesses and residential 
properties are located along Paudy Lane. To the west, the nearest properties in 

Barrow upon Soar are 600m away. To the south-east the nearest properties in 
Sileby are 850m away.  Additionally, there are numerous residential properties 

and industrial businesses which lie directly south of the railway line which 
bounds the southern edge of the site, along Sileby Road.  The nearest 
residential properties in this area lie approximately 170 metres south -east of the 

site. 
 

Relevant Planning History 
 
4. The site has a long and complex planning history. As such, the relevant 

planning history to this application is summarised within this section of the 
report to aid the reader. Planning permission was granted by the Secretary of 

State on appeal for the extraction of gypsum by underground mining at Barrow 
upon Soar on the 11th August 1980 (ref. 79/1500/2).  
 

5. The County Council subsequently granted planning permission for a new 
bagged plaster and plasterboard factory, and the construction of a new access, 

in September 1987 (ref. 87/1467/2).   
 

6. The Environment Act 1995 placed a duty on the County Council to review and 

update mineral planning permissions granted after 30 June 1948. Active sites 
were dealt with in two key stages: 

 

• ‘Initial Reviews’ – to enable the Mineral Planning Authority to update older 

(pre 1982) mineral planning permissions by imposing modern operating, 
restoration and aftercare conditions; 

 

8



DC&REG. BOARD 07/08/2025 

• ‘Periodic Reviews’ – are required for all ‘ROMP’ permissions every 15 
years. However, this frequency has since been relaxed under the Growth 

and Infrastructure Act 2013 which enables site operators to request a 
deferment where there has been no material change of circumstances. 

 

7. An Initial Review of permission ref. 79/1500/2 was issued by the County Council 
on the 23rd August 2000 (ref. 2000/0381/2). This review process ensured that 
conditions attached to permission ref. 79/1500/2 remained relevant, satisfactory 

and in line with modern standards given the passage of time. As a result of this 
process updated conditions as set out on permission ref 2000/0381/2 were 

issued. On the 13th November 2014, a request to postpone another review (the 
first periodic review) of these conditions was granted at Development Control 
and Regulatory Board as it was concluded that the conditions remained of a 

relatively modern standard and included sufficient safeguards to protect the 
environment and amenity of local communities. Allied to this, ongoing site 

monitoring and compliance visits did not identify any significant issues regarding 
operations at the Mine. As a result, the conditions attached to permission ref. 
2000/0381/2 remain extant, in addition to other planning controls imposed on 

the site. The postponement of the first periodic review was agreed until the 23 rd 
August 2025. There is no fixed period when periodic reviews should take place 

so long as the first review is no earlier than 15 years after planning permission 
is granted or, in the case of an old permission, 15 years of the date of the initial 
review. Any further reviews should be at least 15 years after the date of the last 

review. The Minerals Planning Authority regularly undertake site monitoring of 
all mineral sites within the County. Monitoring has not yet highlighted that a 

review of conditions needs to be undertaken and as such, the conditions 
attached to permission ref. 2000/0381/2 remain.  
 

8. The importation of high-grade gypsum to blend with mineral excavated from 
lower grade areas of the mine was initially approved in June 1992, which was 
subsequently extended by numerous further permissions. In March 1995, 

permission was granted for the importation of up to 90,000 tonnes per annum 
(tpa) of high-grade gypsum by road for a temporary period up to 31st December 

1996. In October 1996, planning permission was granted for the importation of 
up to 120,000tpa by road for a further temporary period up to 31st December 
2001. In October 2001, a permanent permission was granted for the importation 

of up to 90,000tpa (ref. 2001/2001/2). This permission varied planning 
permission 87/1467/2.  

 

9



DC&REG. BOARD 07/08/2025 

 
Figure 1. Extent of the application area. 

 
 
 

 
 

10



DC&REG. BOARD 07/08/2025 

 
9. In 2005 a temporary planning permission was sought for the additional 

importation of up to 170,000 tonnes of high-grade gypsum (ref. 2005/2313/2) 
owing to operational issues with extracting sufficient gypsum to meet demand 
for plaster. At the time, it was not considered that there were any substantive 

planning or highway reasons for refusing the increased importation of a limited 
amount of gypsum to the Barrow works for a temporary period, given the 

proposed routes and the level of lorry movement that would be involved. 
Approval was given for the importation of additional gypsum for a 6-month 
period. Following the six months of increased numbers of lorry movements the 

planning permission ceased and imports continued as approved under the 
permanent permission ref. 2001/2001/2 which allows for the importation of up to 

90,000tpa of high-grade gypsum.  
 
10. In 2013 planning permission was granted for the erection of a building for load 

securing operations which enable hauliers and drivers to secure their load onto 
despatch vehicles (ref. 2013/0019/02).  

 
11. In 2016, planning permission was granted for the use of land for stockpiling 

gypsum (ref. 2016/0644/02).   

 
12. Most relevant to this planning application, in 2018 planning permission was 

sought to vary Condition 10 of planning permission 87/1467/2 which controls 
the hours of movement of heavy goods vehicles (HGVs) leaving and entering 
the works (ref. 2018/2588/02). Additionally in 2018, planning permission was 

sought to vary conditions 8 and 10 of planning permission 2001/2001/2 to 
increase imports of high-grade gypsum and the associated HGV movements 

and to reduce the permitted hours of importation of such gypsum (ref. 
2018/2589/02). Both applications were refused on the 23rd June 2020, following 
a resolution at a Development Control and Regulatory Board meeting, on the 

11th of June 2020.  
 

13. In 2022 planning permission was sought for the erection of a customer centre 
(planning application reference 2022/CM/0164/LCC). This application was 
withdrawn.  

 
14. In 2023, planning permission was granted for a replacement welfare block to 

provide facilities for those staff who assist with securing pallets of plaster 
products onto lorries for dispatch (ref. 2022/CM/0117/LCC). 

 

15. In 2023, planning permission was granted for the variation of planning 
conditions no.8 and no. 10 of planning permission reference 2001/2001/2 to 

increase imports of gypsum and the associated numbers of HGV movements 
and a reduction in the permitted hours of importation  (ref. 2022/2260/02). This 
application was approved on the 20th November 2023 following a Board 

meeting on the 22nd June 2023 and the completion of a legal agreement to 
ensure the continued imposition of lorry routeing to and from the site. This legal 

agreement requires all vehicles over 3 tonnes in weight when leaving the 
access road to do so by turning right upon reaching the Paudy Lane junction 
and proceed directly to the junction of the B676 Six Hills with the A46 as 

illustrated in Figure 2. All vehicles are only permitted to use Class A and B 
roads, except in cases where no such road link exists or delivery to premises 

having access only via a road that is not A/B Class.  

11



DC&REG. BOARD 07/08/2025 

 
 

 
Figure 2. Existing routeing agreed for ‘Designated Vehicles’ accessing and 

egressing the site where ‘Designated Vehicles’ is defined as all vehicles 

weighing in excess of 3 tonnes unladen and whether unladen or laden 
travelling to or from the application site. Routeing agreed by legal agreement 

dated 16th November 2023 pursuant to planning permission ref. 2022/2260/02. 

12



DC&REG. BOARD 07/08/2025 

16. By way of information since this application relates to those HGV movements 
associated with the importation of gypsum please note below the approved 

details:  
 

•     Condition 4 states, ‘The importation of gypsum shall be limited only to 

desulphogypsum or other high quality gypsum to be used for the purpose of 
enhancing the quality of gypsum rock extracted from the Barrow Mine’. 

 

•     Condition 5 states ‘The number of lorry movements associated with the 

importation of gypsum to the Barrow Works shall not exceed 50 for 
weekdays (Monday-Friday) and a maximum of 26 on Saturdays, with no 
more than 6 in any one hour on Saturdays. A record of daily lorry 

movements pertaining to those lorries associated with the importation of 
gypsum shall be maintained and shall be made available to the Mineral 

Planning Authority at any time upon request. All records shall be kept at 
least 12 months. 

 

•     Condition 6 states ‘No lorries carrying gypsum shall enter the site except 
between the hours of 0700 and 1900 on weekdays (Monday to Fridays) and 

0800 and 1300 on Saturdays. No lorries carrying gypsum shall operate on 
any Sunday or any Public or Bank Holiday’.  

 

•     Condition 7 states ‘The sole means of vehicular access to the site shall be 
restricted to the access road and junction from Paudy Lane. All alternative 

accesses shall remain permanently closed to the satisfaction of the Mineral 
Planning Authority’.  

 

17. Additionally, Condition 8 of ref. 2022/2260/02 required a detailed ecological 
mitigation and biodiversity enhancement scheme to be submitted to, and 

approved by, the Mineral Planning Authority. This condition was discharged on 
the 3rd February 2025 and provides for enhancement of existing habitat on the 
site and a timetable for its implementation.  

 
18. In 2024 planning permission was granted for a two-storey quality centre and 

external works (ref. 2024/CM/0025/LCC).   
 
Background Information on the Existing Site  

 
19. Barrow Works manufactures a range of bagged plasters for the construction 

industry. To meet an ongoing growth in demand for products, an expansion of 
the plant was completed in September 2002, which increased capacity by 
around 30% to a production capability of 900,000 tonnes per annum. The 

product range produced by the site ranges from a series of undercoat to topcoat 
plasters.  

 
20. Raw gypsum material for the production of plaster at the site comes from two 

main sources:  

 

•     The on-site mine, which has been in operation since the plant first opened 

in 1992; and  
 

•     High-grade gypsum (currently from Bantycock Quarry at Newark, which is 
part of the Saint-Gobain Formula business group).  

13



DC&REG. BOARD 07/08/2025 

 
21. The plant runs 24 hours per day, 7 days per week, with the only planned break 

in production being over the Christmas period. The works currently produce 
approximately 800,000 tonnes of plaster a year.   

 

Description of Proposal 
 

22. This planning application seeks to amend Condition 7 attached to permission 
no. 2000/0381/02 to allow the back-hauling of low grade gypsum from the site. 
Condition 7 states, “All gypsum extracted from the mine shall be transported to 

the covered storage building at the adjacent works site by enclosed conveyor. 
No unprocessed gypsum shall be exported from site”. It is proposed to vary this 

condition to allow low-grade gypsum (<70%) to be exported from the site on a 
back-haul basis. It is proposed to amend the wording of Condition 7 to read, “No 
gypsum that has a quality of >70% shall be exported from the site. Gypsum that 

has a quality of <70% shall not be exported from the site other than on a back-
haul basis using only heavy goods vehicles that contain and are bringing in 

gypsum to Barrow Works site from elsewhere”.  
 

23. It is proposed that low-grade gypsum is exported from the site on a back-haul 

basis only. It is proposed that no gypsum shall be exported from the site other 
than on a back-haul basis using only heavy goods vehicles that contain and are 

bringing in gypsum to the Barrow Works site from elsewhere. Therefore, the 
proposal would not result in any additional vehicle movements. Additionally, 
only gypsum with a quality of less than 70% would be exported. These back-

haul movements would be in full compliance with existing HGV movement 
limitations, as per Condition 6 of Planning Permission 2002/2260/02, whereby 

HGV movements are currently limited to the hours of 0700-1900 Monday to 
Friday and 0800-1300 Saturday. No changes are proposed to these hours. 

 

24. The applicant, Saint-Gobain Construction Products UK Limited, has set out the 
need for the development within the submitted supporting planning statement. It 

has been identified that there are around 10 million tonnes of low-grade (<70%) 
gypsum at Barrow that is of a quality that cannot be used by the adjoining plant, 
as even when blended with higher quality gypsum, it would not meet the 

specification to make plaster. The proposed development therefore enables this 
gypsum to be used at one of their other sites in the manufacture of 

plasterboard. It is proposed that this would ensure that these reserves are not 
needlessly sterilised and that the best use is made of them. 

 

25. Barrow Mine has a reserve life of over 25 years and this would not be impacted 
by the proposed development. If not exported for use elsewhere, the gypsum 

reserves of <70% would be sterilised. 
 

26. The low-grade exported gypsum would be transported to one of the company’s 

plasterboard factories. It is anticipated that this would predominantly be at 
Sherburn-in-Elmet (North Yorkshire), but also at East Leake (Nottinghamshire). 

The plant at Sherburn relies on 100% imported gypsum, currently from Spain 
(the site no longer has an adjoining mine, which was closed in 1987). This 
would reduce imports from Spain and make the best use of the mined gypsum 

from Barrow Mine. All vehicle movements would continue to be in accordance 
with the existing legal agreement, which controls lorry routeing. 

 

14



DC&REG. BOARD 07/08/2025 

Planning Policy 
 

The Development Plan 
 
27. Section 38(6) of the Planning and Compulsory Purchase Act 2004 requires 

planning applications to be determined against the Development Plan, unless 
there are material considerations which indicate otherwise.  

 
28. At the current time, the Development Plan comprises the Saved Policies of the 

Borough of Charnwood Local Plan (2004) and the adopted Charnwood Local 

Plan 2011 to 2028 Core Strategy (2015). The Council are in the process of 
preparing a new Local Plan for the Borough and have been working in 

conjunction with other Local Planning Authorities in the preparation of a 
Strategic Growth Plan for Leicestershire. Given the expanse of the application 
area, the Policies of the Barrow-upon-Soar Neighbourhood Plan (2016-2028), 

the Sileby Neighbourhood Plan Review 2022-2037 – Made 2022 and The 
Wolds Villages Neighbourhood Plan 2018-2028 – Made 2021, are also part of 

the Development Plan. The policies of the Leicestershire County Council 
Minerals and Waste Local Plan are also part of the Development Plan and are 
directly relevant, as set out below.  

 
  Leicestershire Minerals and Waste Local Plan - adopted September 2019 

(LMWLP) 
 
29. The following policies are relevant: Policy DM1: Sustainable Development, 

Policy DM2: Local Environment and Community Protection, Policy DM7: Sites 
of Biodiversity/Geodiversity Interest, Policy DM9: Transportation by Road, 

Policy DM10: Public Rights of Way, Policy DM11: Cumulative Impact.  
 
  The adopted Charnwood Local Plan 2011 to 2028 Core Strategy – adopted 

2015 (CLP) 
 

30. The adopted Local Plan for Charnwood is made up of the Charnwood Local 
Plan 2011 to 2028 Core Strategy (2015) and the saved policies from the 
Borough of Charnwood Local Plan (2004). The following policies are relevant: 

Policy CS 10 (Rural Economic Development), Policy CS 11 (Landscape and 
Countryside), Policy CS 13 (Biodiversity and Geodiversity), Policy CS 25 

(Presumption in Favour of Sustainable Development).  
 
 Barrow Upon Soar Neighbourhood Plan 2016-2028 – Made 2017 (BuSNP) 

 
31. The following policies are relevant: Policy BuS1: Ecology and Biodiversity and 

Policy BuS19: Rural Economy.  
 
  Sileby Neighbourhood Plan Review 2022-2037 – Made 2022 (SNPR) 

 
32. The following policies are relevant: Policy G1 (Limits to Development), Policy 

ENV2 (Protection of sites of environmental significance), Policy ENV6 
(Biodiversity, hedges and habitat connectivity), Policy ENV7 (Protection of 
Important Views), Policy ENV9 (Footpaths and bridleways) and Policy T2 

(Highway Safety).  
 

 

15



DC&REG. BOARD 07/08/2025 

The Wolds Villages Neighbourhood Plan 2018-2028 – Made 2021 (WVNP) 
 

33. The WVNP was prepared jointly by two parish councils, Burton on the Wolds, 
Cotes and Prestwold Parish Council and Hoton Parish Council. The following 
policies are relevant: Policy WV1: Landscape Character and Locally Important 

Views, Policy WV2: Green Infrastructure, Policy WV3: Trees, Policy WV5: 
Water Management and Policy WV7: Local Heritage Assets.  

 
National Policy  
 

 National Planning Policy Framework (NPPF) – December 2024 
 

34. The following paragraphs are identified as particularly relevant to the 
consideration of this application.  

 

35. Paragraph 11 refers to the presumption in favour of sustainable development in 
decision-making.  

 
36. Paragraph 116 states that development should only be prevented or refused on 

highways grounds if there would be an unacceptable impact on highway safety, 

or the residual cumulative impacts on the road network, following mitigation, 
would be severe, taking into account all reasonable future scenarios. 

 
37. Paragraph 163 states that the need to mitigate and adapt to climate change 

should also be considered in preparing and assessing planning applications, 

taking into account the full range of potential climate change impacts.  
 

38. Paragraph 222 recognises that it is essential that there is a sufficient supply of 
minerals to provide the infrastructure, buildings, energy and goods that the 
country needs. Minerals are a finite resource and can only be worked where 

they are found. As such, best use needs to be made of them to secure their 
long-term conservation. Gypsum is listed as a mineral resource of local and 

national importance in Annex 2 of the NPPF. 
 
 Planning Practice Guidance (PPG) 

 
39. Paragraph: 221 (Reference ID: 27-221-20140306) of Planning Practice 

Guidance for Minerals defines industrial minerals as minerals which are 
necessary to support industrial and manufacturing processes and other non -
aggregate uses. These include minerals of recognised national importance 

including gypsum.   
 

40. Paragraph: 086 (Reference ID: 27-086-20140306) states that Mineral Planning 
Authorities should recognise that there are marked differences in geology, 
physical and chemical properties, markets and supply and demand between 

different industrial minerals, which can have different implications for their 
extraction. These include:  

 

• geology influencing the size of an industrial mineral resource, how it may be 
extracted and the amount of mineral waste generated; 

• the fact that markets are based on the consistent physical and/or chemical 
properties of each mineral. Different uses can require different 

specifications, and industrial minerals are often not interchangeable in use; 

16



DC&REG. BOARD 07/08/2025 

• the potential for the quality of a mineral extracted from a single site varying 
considerably. This may require multiple extraction faces within one quarry, 

or supplies of specific feedstock from several different quarries, to enable 
blending of lower specification material with that of higher grade. 
Alternatively, it may result in only a small proportion being suitable for 

specific industrial end-uses, with remaining minerals occasionally being 
used for alternative purposes such as aggregates; 

• industrial minerals being essential raw materials for a wide range of 
downstream manufacturing industries. Their economic importance therefore 

extends well beyond the sites from which they are extracted; 

• some industries are dependent on several industrial minerals. The loss of 
supply of one mineral could create difficulties for manufacturers even if the 

other minerals remain available. 
 

Other Policy Considerations 
 
41. Charnwood Borough Council published the Draft Charnwood Local Plan 2021-

37 (Pre-Submission Draft July 2021) as part of the process it is following to 
prepare a new local plan. Now that the Charnwood Local Plan 2021-37 has 

been submitted to Government, it has entered the examination phase. The 
following policies within the Draft Charnwood Local Plan (2021-37) form a 
material consideration in decision-making but do not yet form part of the 

Development Plan; Policy DS1: Development Strategy, Policy E3: Rural 
Economic Development, Policy EV1: Landscape, Policy EV2: Green Wedges, 

Policy EV6: Conserving and Enhancing Biodiversity and Geodiversity, Policy 
EV8: Heritage, Policy EV11: Air Quality and Policy INF2: Local and Strategic 
Road Network.  

 

Consultations 

 
42. Charnwood Borough Council (Environmental Health Officer) – No 

objection.  
 
43. Local Highway Authority (Leicestershire County Council) – No objection. 

The LHA note that the Applicant intends to amend the wording of Condition 7 to 
read as follows: ‘No gypsum that has a quality of >70% shall be exported from 

the site. Gypsum that has a quality of <70% shall not be exported from the site 
other than on a back-haul basis using only heavy goods vehicles that contain 
and are bringing in gypsum to Barrow Works site from elsewhere’. 

 
44. The LHA are aware, as is referenced within the British Gypsum Planning 

Statement (dated December 2024), that HGV movements to and from the site 
are restricted as per Conditions 5 and 6 related to planning permission 
2022/2260/02 (2022/VOCM/0161/LCC). In addition, all current and existing 

access arrangements are to remain unchanged. 
 

45. Therefore, the proposals will have no impact on the highway as the traffic 
generated by the operation is controlled through planning permission 
2022/2260/02. The LHA therefore concludes that it has no objection to the 

variation of condition application. 
 

46. Former member for Sileby & The Wolds ED, Mr Richard Shepherd – 
Objection. I would like the matter to be decided by the Development Control and 

17



DC&REG. BOARD 07/08/2025 

Regulatory Board. I wish to state, in the interests of openness and 
transparency, that I have been appointed by the County Council as a member 

of the British Gypsum (Barrow Project) Liaison Committee. 
 
47. My reasons: You will have received letters of objection which give reasons for 

their objections to the Planning Application. I believe their objections justify 
refusal of the Application and that the DCRB should be given the opportunity to 

consider them. However, if officers decide they would have refused permission 
had the Application remained delegated please let me know that, with the 
reasons officers would give. 

 
48. Notwithstanding the above I should like to add my own view, as set out below, 

of some matters I think need consideration and my own request for refusal of 
the Application. 

 

49. British Gypsum’s policy of a maximum speed of 40 mph for vehicles serving the 
Barrow Works: The query raised by the conversation which a resident reports 

he had with “a manager based at East Leake and obviously in charge at Barrow 
Works”, in which the manager told the resident that “these same HGVs do not 
have in their contracts a specification that they should only travel at a maximum 

speed on Paudy Lane of 40mph…”.  
 

50. The provision of speed signs: Whilst the provision of speed signs is not a 
planning condition DCRB Members took an interest in the offer concerning them 
made by British Gypsum at the DCRB Meeting on 22nd June 2023, at which 

Planning Application 2022/2260/02 (2022/VOCM/0161/LCC) was granted 
permission. The Minutes of the Meeting record that: “The Board asked officers 

to send an Informative to the applicant specifying that the offer to give 
consideration to further speed monitoring would be welcomed.” 

 

51. Progress with the provision appears to have stalled. The principal cause seems 
to be the siting of the signs, as now proposed. It is also worth noting that there 

have been some mixed messages from British Gypsum about responsibility for 
any long-term costs for maintenance of the signs.  

 

52. The two Parish Councils with which British Gypsum has been in contact, 
seeking participation in the scheme, Seagrave and Walton on the Wolds, do not 

wish to proceed. Seagrave Parish Council was initially supportive but withdrew 
support on hearing that the siting of signs eventually proposed was not as 
residents wished, despite the fact that the signs were offered by the company 

as a way of addressing residents’ concerns. Ownership of the signs is also an 
issue for Seagrave Parish Council. 

 
53. The meaning of “back-hauling”: Clarification as to whether or not the application 

does concern what is strictly speaking “back-hauling”, an issue referred to by 

objectors. 
 

54. Request for refusal: In view of the above and the objections made by residents I 
request that the Planning Application be refused.  

 

55. Leicestershire County Council (LCC) Ecology – No comment. 
 

56. LCC Public Rights of Way - No objection.  

18



DC&REG. BOARD 07/08/2025 

 
57. Charnwood Borough Council (Planning), Sileby Parish Council, Barrow 

upon Soar Parish Council, Walton on the Wolds Parish Council, East 
Midlands Health Protection Team – No response received. 

 

58. Quorn & Barrow ED Former member Mrs Hilary Fryer CC – Was notified of 
the application. 

 
First Consultation Period Publicity and Representations 

 

59. The application has been publicised by means of site notice, press notice and 
neighbour notification letters sent to the nearest occupiers in accordance with 

the County Council’s adopted Statement of Community Involvement. A total of 
five representations were received, of which four comprised objections and one 
comprised comments on the application. 

 
60. In summary, objections have been raised on the following grounds:   

 

• The transport of imported gypsum rock to the site is not being carried out in 
accordance with the details contained within the application documents 

which comprised permission reference 2022/VOCM/0161/LCC. Namely, 
that in their application it was implied that all HGV vehicles entering and 

leaving the Barrow Works and travelling along the only legal route of Paudy 
Lane, would be required to travel at a voluntary maximum speed of 40mph. 
It is alleged that this voluntary speed limit is not being adhered to.   

 

• This application is to be carried out by these same HGVs and must be 

refused until implied conditions of transport by these contracted HGVs is 
confirmed as a requirement by Saint-Gobain. 

 

• An informative was placed on the decision notice for permission reference 
2022/VOCM/0161/LCC which read as follows, ‘The Development Control 

and Regulatory Board would welcome the proposed signage measures set 
out within the application documents if the Applicant wished to proceed. If 

they wished to do so, they should contact the Traffic & Signals team at 
trafficandsignalconsultation@leics.gov.uk for further information. Please 
note that consideration to further speed monitoring would be welcomed ’. No 

signage has been installed since the permission was issued.  
 

• This application is based upon the premise of backhauling and the details of 
which are flawed in terms of source location and destination of those HGVs 
which would be making the proposed exports. As such, the movements to 

and from source to destination, via Barrow Mine, would result in an increase 
in mileage and thus carbon footprint.  

 

• The application does not comprise back hauling as stated, it is exporting of 

mined product to and from different source locations and does not comprise 
sustainable development.  

 

• Speeding HGVs are impacting upon local amenity. 
 

• Sustainability now and in the future is being undermined by this mined 
product being taken such a long way by road transport. 

19



DC&REG. BOARD 07/08/2025 

 
61. In summary, comments/queries have been raised on the following grounds:  

whether the exportation of low-grade gypsum would utilise empty HGVs leaving 
the site and whether the gypsum would be classified as a waste product. The 
case officer for the application confirmed that the exportation would utilise 

empty HGVs leaving the site and that the gypsum would not be a waste 
material, it would comprise mineral.  

 
62. The issues raised are considered in the Assessment of Proposal section of this 

report. 

 
Further Information  

 
63. In support of the application the Applicant submitted a package of further 

information on the 2nd June 2025 following the initial consultation period. This 

package of information contained a covering letter addressing comments raised 
by residents, a copy of the site rules for HGVs contracted to the Company and 

driving within and/or outside Barrow Mine, a Barrow Mine speed adherence 
notice, correspondence in relation to the provision of speed signage outside the 
application site along Paudy Lane, and a carbon assessment.  

 
Response to residents  

 
64. Regarding concerns around speeding of HGVs along Paudy Lane, the Applicant 

highlights that this is not considered to be a material planning consideration in 

the determination of this application, it is a matter controlled by civil law. Other 
supporting information relating to the Applicant’s contract hauliers and matters 

relating to speed were also provided including a copy of the site rules for HGVs 
and Barrow Mine speed adherence notice.  

 

65. Regarding concerns around the provision of speed signs, the Applicant notes 
that the provision of speed signs is not considered to be a material 

consideration in the determination of this application, The matter was 
considered when planning application ref. 2022/2260/02 was determined at 
Board. It was considered that speeding vehicles outside of the site boundary is 

a matter for civil law and not relevant to planning. In addition to this, the 
Applicant has provided correspondence in relation to the provision of speed 

signage outside the application site. 
 
66. With regards to the definition of back-hauling, the applicant states that the 

definition of back-hauling here (for the purposes of this planning application) 
refers to “a return journey of a vehicle after it has transported and delivered 

goods”, rather than a commercial vehicle transporting a load on their trip back to 
their origin point. This definition has been sourced from the Cambridge 
Business English Dictionary. To clarify, the applicant would be utilising the 

same vehicles (HGVs) transporting high-grade gypsum into the application site 
to transport low-grade gypsum out. Whilst there may be other definitions and 

interpretations of the term ‘backhauling’, clarification has been provided by the 
applicant to provide transparency for consultees and residents.  

 

67. With regards to HGV routeing, if travelling from British Gypsum’s Barrow-upon-
Soar Plant to the Sherburn-in-Elmet Plant, HGVs would travel along Paudy 

Lane, join the A46 North and pass Newark. These back-hauling HGVs would 

20



DC&REG. BOARD 07/08/2025 

therefore be returning to Newark, but then continue their journey Northwards 
along the A1 to Sherburn. The purpose of taking low-grade gypsum from 

Barrow to Sherburn is to reduce the need for the importation of gypsum from 
Spain, so the carbon emissions would be lower overall. No formal HGV routeing 
is proposed however.  

 
Sustainability – Carbon Impact of the Proposed Development  

 
68. The applicant commissioned an independent external company to carry out a 

comparative whole-life carbon assessment of the existing and proposed 

scenarios that determines how the proposal contributes to climate change 
mitigation. The scenarios are as follows;  

 

•     Existing Scenario: 180,000 tonnes of high-grade gypsum per year is 
transported domestically from Newark-on-Trent Quarry to Barrow-upon-

Soar Plant, while an additional 180,000 tonnes of additional of high -grade 
gypsum per year is imported from Spain (extracted from Placo Sorbas 

Quarry) and delivered to Sherburn-in-Elmet Plant (North Yorkshire) via the 
Port of Garrucha and Teesside Docks.  

 

•     Proposed Scenario: 180,000 tonnes of high-grade gypsum per year to be 
transported domestically from Newark-on-Trent Quarry to Barrow-upon-

Soar Plant, with 180,000 tonnes of low-grade gypsum per year to be 
transported from the mine located at Barrow-upon-Soar Plant to Sherburn-

in-Elmet Plant.  The latter would replace the 180,000 tonnes of gypsum 
imported from Spain under the Existing Scenario. This would utilise HGV 
(Heavy Goods Vehicle) movements from the site that would otherwise be 

empty.  
 

69. The assessment has been undertaken by independent consultants WSP. The 
methodology has been undertaken in line with BS EN 15978:2011 Sustainability 
of construction works, Assessment of environmental performance of buildings. 

Calculation method and the Royal Institution of Chartered Surveyors. (2017). 
RICS Professional Statement: Whole life carbon assessment for the built 

environment. The assessment quantifies emissions for the two scenarios from 
mineral extraction and also transportation. Processing was excluded from the 
assessment as no changes in processing are proposed.  

 
70. With regard to material extraction emissions, the proposal would deliver a 

reduction of 349.24 tCO2e/year – a 71% reduction of emissions, equating to a 

saving of 1.940 kgCO2e/tonne of gypsum. This is driven by 180,000 tonnes of 
gypsum being extracted from Barrow-upon-Soar Plant rather than Placo Sorbas 

Quarry annually, as the former is more fuel efficient than the latter and is 
powered by a renewable energy supply. With regard to transport emissions, the 
proposal would result in a reduction of 1,609.35 tCO2e/year – a 36% reduction 

of emissions, equating to a saving of 8.941 kgCO2e/tonne of gypsum. This is 
due to the reduction in transport distance for 180,000 tonnes of gypsum per 

year.  
 
71. Overall, in total the proposal would lead to a reduction of 1,958.59 tCO2e/year, 

a 39% reduction of emissions, equating to 10.881 kgCO2e/tonne of gypsum. 
Notwithstanding the above, it should be noted that the applicant could transport 

21



DC&REG. BOARD 07/08/2025 

exported gypsum elsewhere and the destination of exported gypsum would not 
be controlled by any permission granted.  

 
Second Consultation Period Publicity and Representations 
 

72. Given that the additional information largely served to respond to residents’ 
comments, the additional information was advertised by way of direct 
neighbour notifications sent to residents. Additionally, the submitted whole 

life carbon assessment was sent out for consultation to the Leicestershire 
County Council Carbon Reduction Team. Hoton Parish Council and Burton 
on the Wolds, Cotes and Prestwold Parish Council were also consulted on 

the application as they were omitted from the first round due to a technical 
error. Additionally, Mr. P. Rudkin CC – Quorn & Barrow ED and Mrs. N. 

Bottomley CC – Sileby & The Wolds ED have been notified of the application 
following their appointments. The following responses have been received 
following the consultations.  

 

73. Leicestershire County Council Carbon Reduction Team: No objection. 
The Carbon Reduction team have reviewed the documentation provided and 
have no major concerns regarding the proposal. There are, however, some 

minor points of feedback on the comparative life cycle assessment (WSP, 
May 2025): When comparing the electricity consumption of gypsum 
extraction under life cycle stage A1 at the Barrow and Placo Sorbas sites, 

the methodology assumes 100% renewable energy for Barrow and the 
standard Spanish grid mix for Placo Sorbas. Unless the Barrow site has a 

power purchase agreement (PPA) with a physical ‘private wire’ or a ‘sleeved’ 
PPA then we would also like to see the emissions from electricity 
consumption calculated on a location basis as well. The final results should 

also be calculated on a market and location basis. This would provide 
greater transparency of actual emissions based on the UK electricity grid. 

For module A2, it is notable that, while transport emissions as a whole will 
decrease and HGV movements at the Barrow plant will remain as they are, 
HGV movements elsewhere will increase. For example, HGV movements 

around the Newark-on-Trent quarry will increase with a new route being 
added that will see unladen lorries travel there from Sherburn -in-Elmet. This 

has implications for the community there which may need to be considered. 

 

74. Hoton Parish Council and Burton on the Wolds, Cotes and Prestwold 
Parish Council: No response received at the date of publication of this 
report. If a response is received then this will be reported at the meeting.  

 

75. Mr. P. Rudkin CC – Quorn & Barrow ED and Mrs. N. Bottomley CC – 
Sileby & The Wolds ED: Have been notified of the application.  

 

76. One representation raising concern and comment over the content of the 
appendices was received. This raised concern over the appropriateness of 
sharing emails relating to Appendix 2 (speed signs). Additionally, concern 

regarding the details of Appendix 1 and whether these are correct. 
Additionally, further concerns regarding speeding of HGVs along Paudy Lane 

were raised. The further information, additional consultation responses and 
representations are considered in the assessment below.  

22



DC&REG. BOARD 07/08/2025 

Assessment of Proposal 
 

Principle of the Development  
 
77. This planning application seeks to amend Condition 7 attached to planning 

permission reference 2000/0381/02 to allow the exportation of low-grade 
gypsum from the site.  

 
78. The existing Condition 7 reads as follows, ‘All gypsum extracted from the mine 

shall be transported to the covered storage building at the adjacent works site 

by enclosed conveyor. No unprocessed gypsum shall be exported from site’.  
 

79. The proposed development lies within designated countryside which is 
comprised of predominantly open and undeveloped character of Areas of Local 
Separation and therefore Policy CS 11 of the CLP applies. Policy CS 11 states 

that the Authority will protect the predominantly open and undeveloped 
character of Areas of Local Separation unless new development clearly 

maintains the separation between the built-up areas of these settlements.  
 

80. Given the lateral extent of the application area, a number of other countryside 

protection policies apply. The proposed development also lies outside of the 
limits to development as defined within the SNPR, therefore Policy G1 (Limits to 

Development) applies. Policy G1 states that land outside the defined Limits to 
Development will be treated as open countryside, where development will be 
carefully controlled in line with local and national strategic planning policies. 

 
81. Additionally, the application area lies on land outside the Barrow upon Soar 

Limits to Development as defined on the Policies Maps for the BuSNP. 
Therefore, Policy BuS19 (Rural Economy) of the BuSNP applies. Policy BuS19 
states that the sustainable growth and expansion of all types of business and 

enterprise in The Countryside (land outside the Barrow upon Soar Limits to 
Development as defined on the Policies Maps) through the conversion of 

existing buildings, well-designed new buildings and sustainable tourism and 
leisure developments will be supported where the development: 1. is in keeping 
with the scale, form and character of its surroundings; 2. does not generate 

significant additional traffic through Barrow upon Soar Village; and 3. Has safe 
and suitable access to the site for all users of the site. 

 
82. Further to this, Policy WV1: Landscape Character and Locally Important Views 

of the WVNP applies as the application area lies in the Countryside (land 

outside the Burton on the Wolds Limits to Development as defined on the 
Policies Map). Policy WV1 states that new development should conserve or 

enhance the character of the local landscape. This proposal does not represent 
new development, rather a variation of existing development and established 
operations. There would be no alterations to the physical footprint or built nature 

of the development and no additional HGV movements would arise. Therefore, 
the proposal would serve to conserve the local landscape character and 

associated views.  
 
83. In land use terms only, the application is in accordance with the development 

plan as it is proposing variations to an existing mining permission within the 
same footprint of that permission. The proposed change would not alter the 

scale of the operations within the countryside but does represent a change in 

23



DC&REG. BOARD 07/08/2025 

the nature of the operations in that low grade raw mineral would be distributed 
from the site for the first time in its history. The proposal would not generate 

additional traffic through villages and the access to the site would remain safe 
and suitable access for all users of the site. The proposal would not result in 
any changes to the physical form of the existing works; lead to any changes to 

processing undertaken at the works or intensify any operations.  
 

84. With regard to the principle of development only, the proposal would not alter 
the scale of the operations within the countryside, the proposal would continue 
to protect the character and appearance of the landscape, countryside and 

Areas of Separation and given the above, the proposal accords with Policies CS 
10 and CS 11 of the CLP, Policy BuS19 of the BuSNP, Policy G1 of the SNPR 

and Policy WV1 of the WVNP.  
 
85. The environmental considerations of the proposal within the locality are 

considered further below. Although it is noted that the proposal is not for a 
material change to the character of the works from that previously approved, it 

is noted that there are impacts already imposed by the existing workings and as 
such, the environmental impacts of the proposal in conjunction with the existing 
impacts are assessed.  

 
Ecology and Biodiversity 

 
86. The proposal would not result in any impacts upon surrounding local habitats, 

trees, ecology or biodiversity. As such, the proposal accords with Policy DM7 of 

the LMWLP, Policy CS 13 of the CLP, Policy BuS1 of the BuSNP, Policies 
ENV2 and ENV6 of the SNPR, and Policies WV2 and WV3 of the WVNP.  

 
HGV Traffic, Access and Vehicle Routeing 
 

87. The proposal would not result in any increase in HGV movements. HGV 
movements to and from the site would remain restricted as per Conditions 5 

and 6 of planning permission 2022/2260/02. In addition, all existing access 
arrangements are to remain unchanged. Therefore, the proposals will have no 
impact on the highway as the traffic generated by the operation is controlled 

through planning permission 2022/2260/02. The Local Highway Authority has 
no objection to the variation of condition application. 

 
88. Both Paudy Lane and Melton Road (B676) have long been recognised as an 

access route for the Site and have an established HGV traffic flow. The 

proposed development would not create any impact on highway safety, and it is 
not considered that any mitigation measures are required to make the proposals 

acceptable in planning terms.  
 
89. The site has existing mitigation measures to limit the impacts of transporting 

materials by road and the routes HGVs can take to access the site. These 
include an existing legal agreement which controls the routeing of all lorries to 

and from the site. This ensures all HGV movements are made via the strategic 
road network and avoid passing though residential areas where possible. A 
planning condition requires that all gypsum imported to the site only uses the 

site access off Paudy Lane. These requirements would be retained.  
 

24



DC&REG. BOARD 07/08/2025 

90. A legal agreement is in place at Barrow that controls, amongst other things, 
lorry routeing. This requires all vehicles over 3 tonnes in weight when leaving 

the Access Road to do so by turning right upon reaching the Paudy Lane 
junction and proceed directly to the junction of the B676 Six Hills with the A46. 
The applicant does not propose to alter or amend the requirements as set out 

by this legal agreement. Given the above, and subject to conditions, the 
proposal accords with Policy DM9 of the LMWLP, Policy T2 of the SNPR and 

paragraph 116 of the NPPF. Since the proposal would not generate additional 
traffic through Barrow upon Soar village and safe and suitable access to the site 
for all users of the site would remain, the proposal accords with the criteria set 

out within Policy BuS19 of the BuSNP. 
 

Public Rights of Way (PRoW) 
 
91. The access road to the site is 2.3km in length.  Two public rights of way cross 

the site access road, Bridleway I4 and Footpath I23. Signage and traffic calming 
measures are in place where these rights of way cross the access road. The 

proposals would not alter the existing public rights of way which cross the site’s 
access road, nor introduce any additional HGV movements which would cross 
these routes. As such, there would not be direct impacts on the network or 

impacts upon the amenity of PRoW users. The proposal accords with Policy 
DM10 of the LMWLP and Policy ENV9 of the SNPR. 

 
Noise 
 

92. With regards to noise impacts, the impacts of noise and/or other disturbances 
and activities on the site as a result of the proposal and the impacts of such has 

been considered in full, as well as any potential for cumulative noise impacts. 
The proposal would not result in any additional HGV movements to and from 
the site. However, it is noted that those HGVs which would enter the site laden 

(to bring imported gypsum into the site) and would otherwise leave unladen, 
would now leave laden. This may generate additional negligible minor noise 

when travelling along the private access road and Paudy Lane. Notwithstanding 
this, these HGV movements are already occurring and when set against the 
context of the properties and their setback distance from Paudy Lane and the 

existing traffic along that road, it is not considered that any negligible increase in 
noise would be considered unacceptable. The application has been considered 

by Environmental Health and no objections to the proposal or the details 
contained therein are raised. Overall, there would be no significant noise 
impacts as a result of the proposal. With regards to noise, the proposal accords 

with Policy DM2 of the LMWLP.  
 

Air Quality/Dust 
 
93. As above, the impacts upon air quality and/or dust from the proposal in 

conjunction with existing activities on the site as a result of the proposal and the 
impacts of such has been considered in full and as well as any potential for 

cumulative impacts. No impacts upon air quality or dust are anticipated and 
Environmental Health raise no objections to the proposal, or the details 
contained therein. With regards to air quality/dust the proposal accords with 

Policy DM2 of the LMWLP. 
 

 

25



DC&REG. BOARD 07/08/2025 

Landscape, Visual Impact and Local Amenity  
 

94. Policy DM2 of the LMWLP relating to the local environment and community 
protection states that planning permission will be granted for minerals and 
waste development where it is demonstrated that the potential effects from 

(inter-alia) emissions, illumination, noise or traffic to adjoining land uses and 
users and those in close proximity to the proposal would be acceptable.  

 
95. As outlined above, the exportation of gypsum would take place on a back-haul 

basis only, and no additional vehicle movements are proposed. The vehicles 

would be travelling along Paudy Lane regardless of this proposed development. 
The proposed variation in condition does not give rise to any direct or indirect 

landscape impacts. No impacts from emissions, illumination, noise or traffic to 
adjoining land uses and users and those in close proximity to the proposal 
would arise. 

 
96. As such, it is considered that there would be no additional amenity or wellbeing 

impacts in terms of noise, disturbance or otherwise or local residents as a result 
of the development. Overall, with regards to all aspects of the local environment 
and community protection, the proposal accords with Policy DM2 of the 

LMWLP, and with regard to landscape, tranquillity, visual impact and local 
amenity within the locality the proposal accords with Policy CS 11 of the CLP 

and Policy ENV7 of the SNPR.  
 

Waste and Water 

 
97. The proposals would not lead to any change in waste arising or the methods of 

managing the waste or water at the Works. As such, there would be no impacts 
upon waste management, creation of waste or the water environment.  
 

Heritage 
 

98. Given the nature of the proposal, there would be no impacts upon built heritage 
or archaeology. 

 

 Sustainability and Climate Change 
 

99. In considering sustainability and climate change regard is had to paragraph 163 
of the NPPF and Policy DM1 of the LMWLP. Paragraph 163 of the NPPF states 
that the need to mitigate and adapt to climate change should be considered in 

preparing and assessing planning applications, taking into account the full 
range of potential climate change impacts. 

 
100. Policy DM1 of the LMWLP, relating to sustainable development states that 

when considering proposals for minerals and waste development the Council 

will take a positive approach that reflects the presumption in favour of 
sustainable development contained in the National Planning Policy Framework. 

Proposals should contribute to the three dimensions (economic, environmental 
and social) of sustainable development, as well as providing clear evidence of 
how a proposal would make a positive contribution to reducing its effects on 

climate change. The Council will always work proactively with applicants jointly 
to find solutions which mean that proposals can be approved wherever 

26



DC&REG. BOARD 07/08/2025 

possible, and to secure development that improves the economic, social and 
environmental conditions in the county of Leicestershire.  

 
101. With regard to the environmental strand of sustainability, it is considered that 

there would not be any adverse environmental impacts identified given the 

crossover with existing HGV movements already making those trips to the 
application site. There would be environmental benefits to fully utilising the 

natural resource rather than allowing the low-grade resources, estimated at 
approximately 10 million tonnes of low-grade gypsum, to be sterilised if not 
exported. As the gypsum would be exported as a raw mineral, there would be 

no additional use of energy, water and materials as no additional processing 
would occur on the site.  

 
102. Objection was received on the grounds that sustainability now and in the future 

is being undermined through the transportation of mineral across long distances 

by road transport. The use of rail as an option for importing gypsum into the site 
was explored previously as part of the determination of planning permission ref. 

2022/2260/02. It was found that Barrow Works does not have rail-sidings and 
as such it is not currently possible to bring in high-grade gypsum by rail. The 
company has previously investigated the viability of rail distribution to or from 

Barrow and it was found that rail-sidings would not currently be a viable option. 
 

103. With respect to emissions, the submitted whole life carbon assessment found 
that when comparing the two scenarios, planning permission being granted, 
and, planning permission being refused or gypsum being imported for use in the 

destination processing plants, the proposal if granted, would lead to a reduction 
of 1,958.59 tCO2e/year, a 39% reduction of emissions, equating to 10.881 

kgCO2e/tonne of gypsum. Whilst this application would not mitigate and/or 
adapt against the range of impacts arising from climate change, it is recognised 
that the reduction in global emissions would help to reduce greenhouse gas 

emissions.  
 

104. The Carbon Reduction Team at Leicestershire County Council were consulted 
on the whole life carbon assessment submitted. They do not object or raise 
‘major concerns’ to the proposal. However, they provided feedback on how the 

calculations could be further detailed to provide greater transparency of actual 
emissions based on the UK electricity grid. Additionally, the Team make 

comment on what would be the resultant increase in HGV movements at the 
destination, from a capacity and/or amenity perspective. Further clarity on this 
feedback was sought from the applicant. In response the applicant has provided 

a statement from their technical and independent consultants (WSP) in support 
of the submitted Technical Note, which compares the greenhouse gas (GHG) 

emissions associated with existing and proposed gypsum extraction and 
transportation arrangements across UK and Spanish sites. The additional 
statement provides additional context relating to the electricity source used at 

one of the assessed facilities in the UK - ‘Barrow-upon-Soar Plant’ and clarifies 
the assumptions made during the emissions calculations.  

 
105. With regard to renewable electricity usage at the plant at Barrow-upon-Soar, the 

applicant provided WSP with an Energy Label for Origin of Electricity Supply 

Certificate for the plant, covering the period from the 1st April 2023 to the 31st 
March 2024. This certificate provides evidence that electricity supplied to the 

site during that timeframe was fully derived from renewable sources. The label 

27



DC&REG. BOARD 07/08/2025 

confirms a total renewable electricity supply of 196,896 MWh. This Energy 
Label was used to justify applying a zero-emission factor (0 kgCO₂e/kWh) to the 

energy consumed during extraction (9 kWh per tonne of gypsum extracted) in 
WSP’s carbon calculations. The WSP team were informed by the applicant that 

the renewable energy supply arrangement is expected to continue under the 
same terms in future years. Based upon this information, and in the interests of 

creating the most accurate comparison using available contextual information, 
WSP reasonably assumed continued use of renewable electricity at this site for 
the purposes of forecasting and emissions calculations. However, it is noted 

that no formal Power Purchase Agreement (PPA) or other contractual evidence 
was provided to verify this long-term arrangement. The Carbon Reduction Team 

recommend that emissions from electricity should be reported on both a market 
and a location basis in the interests of transparency, but this is not something 
that they insist upon as necessary to be provided to support the report provided 

by the applicant.  
 

106. Overall, it should be noted that the whole life carbon assessment indicates that 
there would be a reduction in global emissions because of the proposal, and, 
that any destination for the exported low-grade gypsum would be subject to the 

necessary planning, or other environmental, controls. With respect to the latter 
point, the applicant has confirmed that there would be no increase in the 

number of HGV movements, and all movements onsite would remain in 
accordance with planning permission ref. 2022/2260/02. On the above basis, 
the proposal is considered to have successfully demonstrated how it would 

make a positive contribution to reducing its effects on climate change in 
accordance with Policy DM1.  

 
107. With regard to the social and economic strands of sustainability, it is not 

considered that there would be direct economic or social benefits from the 

proposal as there would be no additional jobs created.  
 

108. It is not considered there would be any direct social and economic impacts 
within the local community. There may be wider social and economic impacts 
through the generation of further activity throughout the economy. This is 

characterised by supply chain activity taking place as a result of the 
development along with indirect supply chain linkages that result from the 

development.  
 
109. Policy CS 10 of the CLP states that Charnwood Borough Council will maximise 

the potential of our rural economy by 2028, through supporting the sustainable 
growth of businesses in rural areas, provided that in all cases the scale and 
character of the development is designed and operated so as to cause no 

detriment to the character and appearance of the countryside. 
 

110. Utilising an otherwise sterilised resource would allow the continued sustainable 
growth of the existing business on the site in line with Policy CS 10 of the CLP. 
Given that the proposal would not result in additional HGVs travelling along 

roads in the locality, no negative socio-economic impacts upon residents 
through disturbance, noise, or otherwise are considered to arise upon residents 

and any local businesses as a result of the proposal. Overall, there may be 
some positive wider socio-economic impacts because of the proposal. 

 

28



DC&REG. BOARD 07/08/2025 

111. The proposed development would ensure that gypsum reserves are not 
needlessly sterilised. The proposal accords with paragraph 222 of the NPPF 

which states that it is essential that there is a sufficient supply of minerals to 
provide the infrastructure, buildings, energy and goods that the country needs. 
Since minerals are a finite natural resource, and can only be worked where they 

are found, best use needs to be made of them to secure their long-term 
conservation.  

 
112. Overall, the proposal represents sustainable development and accords with 

Policy DM1 of the LMWLP, Policy CS 25 of the CLP and paragraph 163 of the 

NPPF.  
 

Cumulative Impact  
 
113. It is always appropriate to consider the cumulative impact of a number of 

separate effects from a single site. Adverse cumulative impacts may include 
increased levels of noise or dust or impacts upon the local highway network. No 

other live planning applications are being considered within or surrounding the 
immediate vicinity of the site which would be relevant to the consideration of the 
proposed development within this report with regards to local amenity. It is not 

considered that the proposed development when considered in addition to the 
existing operations onsite would result in adverse cumulative impacts in terms 

of local amenity, noise or other environmental pollution. No statutory consultees 
have highlighted concerns regarding potential cumulative impacts. The LHA 
does not object to the proposal or raise any concern that the residual 

cumulative impacts on the road network would be severe. Overall, the proposal 
is found to accord with Policy DM11 of the LMWLP. 

 
Other Issues 
 

114. In undertaking this assessment regard has been had to all relevant material 
planning considerations including those raised by consultees and any 

representations received.  Concerns raised which stray into other legislation or 
civil matters are recognised as matters of local importance and/or concern, 
however, are not given any material weight in this assessment.  

 
115. During the application process, a query was raised in relation to when the mine 

was first given planning permission and whether the proposal would mean that 
they would breach tonnage limits relating to extraction . To clarify, there are no 
conditions limiting annual extraction on the site. However, the processing of 

mineral onsite is limited by the factory’s processing capacity which is 
approximately 900,000 tonnes per annum (information taken from the planning 

application ref. 2001/2001/02). Additionally, the applicant has confirmed that the 
proposal here would not increase the rate of mineral extraction beyond historic 
levels. The currently permitted high-grade imports of gypsum are currently 

displacing gypsum that would otherwise have been sourced from the mine. This 
is necessitated due to the decline of mined rock purity. It should be noted that 

the exportation of low-grade gypsum offsite here (and therefore also extraction) 
would be limited by the number of HGVs importing gypsum into the site. The 
number of HGVs importing gypsum into the site is controlled by Condition 5 of 

permission ref. 2022/2260/02. This permission allows for the importation of up 
to 180,000 tonnes/annum of high-grade gypsum. The proposal here is on a 

back-haul basis only, and as such the proposed transportation of low-grade 

29



DC&REG. BOARD 07/08/2025 

gypsum from Barrow Mine is therefore limited to the same tonnage as that 
which the company are importing under the restricted limit.  

 
116. The opportunity has been taken to update the planning conditions attached to 

the planning permission to be varied (permission reference 2000/0381/02) so 

that those which required information to be submitted, now refer to the 
submitted information. Additionally, given the age of the planning conditions 

some amendments to the wording have been made to bring them up to date 
and meet the requirements of paragraph 57 of the NPPF (planning conditions 
should be kept to a minimum and only imposed where they are necessary, 

relevant to planning and to the development to be permitted, enforceable, 
precise and reasonable in all other respects). That which was requested to be 

varied (Condition 7) has also been updated. The applicant has had prior sight of 
the proposed amended conditions. Further to this, clear and precise reasons 
have been added for every condition in accordance with Part 6, 35. (1)(a)(i), of 

The Town and Country Planning (Development Management Procedure) 
(England) Order 2015 (as amended).  

 

Conclusion 
 

117. By reason of the above assessment, it is considered that the proposal is in 
general accordance with the development plan. In particular, policies DM1, DM2 
and DM7 of the LMWLP which relate to sustainable development, local 

environment, community protection and sites of biodiversity interest and policies 
DM9 and DM11 of the LMWLP which relate to the transportation of mineral by 

road and cumulative impact.  
 
118. The relevant development control policies within the development plan provide 

the basis for the assessment. The proposal has also been assessed against 
national planning policies and guidance contained in NPPF and PPG and is 

considered to reflect the principles of sustainable mineral development.  
 
119. It is considered that subject to the imposition of planning conditions, the 

proposed development would be acceptable.  
 

Statement of Positive and Proactive Engagement 
 

120. In determining this application, the Minerals Planning Authority has worked 

positively and proactively with the applicant by assessing the proposals against 
relevant Development Plan policies, all material considerations, consultation 

responses and all valid representations received. This approach has been in 
accordance with the requirement set out in the National Planning Policy 
Framework. 

 
Recommendation 
  

121. PERMIT subject to the conditions as set out in the Appendix A. 

 
Officer to Contact  
 

Amelia Mistry (Tel: 0116 305 7326)  
 

E-Mail planningcontrol@leics.gov.uk 
 

 

30



 

 
 

 
 

Conditions   
 

Scope of Permission  
 

1. This permission relates to the underground working of gypsum and anhydrite 
within the area as shown edged purple on plan no.1 submitted with the review 
submission dated 17th February 2000. The development hereby permitted 

shall be commenced from the date of this permission. 
 

Reason: To comply with the requirements of Section 91 of the Town and 
Country Planning Act 1990, as amended by Section 51 of the Planning and 
Compulsory Purchase Act 2004. 

 
Duration  

 
2. No extraction of gypsum or anhydrite shall take place from the site after 21st 

February 2042, and the site shall be fully restored in accordance with a 

scheme agreed under condition no.15 below, within 12 months following this 
date or the permanent cessation of mineral extraction whichever is the earlier 

or in the case of mineral extraction ceasing for a period of more than 2 years.  
 
Reason: To provide for the restoration of the site within an agreed timescale in 

the interests of the amenities of the area. To accord with Policy DM12 of the 
Leicestershire Minerals and Waste Local Plan (Adopted 2019) and paragraph 

224 e) of the National Planning Policy Framework (December 2024).  
 

Approved Details  

 
3. Unless required by the conditions attached to this permission, the 

development hereby approved shall be carried out in accordance with the 
details contained in the submitted application no. 2000/0381/02 dated 17 th 
February 2000. 

 
Reason: For the avoidance of doubt and to ensure that the development is 

carried out in a satisfactory manner. 
 
Access 

 
4. The means of access to and egress from the mine site for all vehicles shall be 

via the Company’s existing private road from its junction off Paudy Lane. 
 

Reason: In the interests of highway safety and the amenity of the area, to 

provide a safe and suitable access to the site for all users of the site and to 
accord with Policies DM2 and DM9 of the Leicestershire Minerals and Waste 

Local Plan (Adopted 2019), Policy T2 of the Sileby Neighbourhood Plan 
Review 2022-2037 – Made 2022, Policy BuS19 of the Barrow Upon Soar 

APPENDIX A 

31



DC&REG. BOARD 07/08/2025 

Neighbourhood Plan 2016-2028 – Made 2017 and paragraph 116 of the 
National Planning Policy Framework (December 2024).  

  
Working Programme  
 

5. No access to or egress from the underground workings for the movement of 
plant, personnel, mineral or mineral waste shall take place except from the 

existing Barrow Mine adits.  
 
Reason: In the interests of highway safety and the amenity of the area and to 

accord with Policies DM2 and DM9 of the Leicestershire Minerals and Waste 
Local Plan (Adopted 2019), Policy T2 of the Sileby Neighbourhood Plan 

Review 2022-2037 – Made 2022, Policy BuS19 of the Barrow Upon Soar 
Neighbourhood Plan 2016-2028 – Made 2017 and paragraph 116 of the 
National Planning Policy Framework (December 2024).  

 
6. All gypsum extracted from the mine shall be transported to the covered 

storage building at the adjacent works site by enclosed conveyor. No gypsum 
that has a quality of >70% shall be exported from the site. Gypsum that has a 
quality of <70% shall not be exported from the site other than on a back-haul 

basis using only heavy goods vehicles that contain and are bringing in gypsum 
to Barrow Works site from elsewhere.   

 
Reason: In the interests of highway safety and the amenity of the area. 
Additionally, to limit the environmental impacts upon dust, noise and local 

amenity arising from mineral extraction and the exportation of low grade 
gypsum from the site. To accord with Policies DM2 and DM9 of the 

Leicestershire Minerals and Waste Local Plan (Adopted 2019), Policy T2 of 
the Sileby Neighbourhood Plan Review 2022-2037 – Made 2022 and 
paragraph 116 of the National Planning Policy Framework (December 2024).  

 
7. No mineral shall be extracted from the underground planning permission area 

other than in conformity with a Mining Development Plan that indicates the 
programme of working. This plan shall be submitted to the Mineral Planning 
Authority for approval every five years. A plan indicating the current position of 

workings shall also be submitted to the Mineral Planning Authority on an 
annual basis. This plan shall be in accordance with the 5 year Mining 

Development Plan.  
 
Reason: To allow for effective monitoring of the planning permission. 

 
8. No mineral shall be extracted from the underground planning permission area 

other than in conformity with the system of regular partial, pillar and stall 
extraction. The maximum ratio of mineral extracted to mineral retained as 
pillars of support shall not exceed 75%.  

 
Reason: For the purposes of additional safety measures against the possibility 

of any land instability issues within the locality.  
 

9. No underground working shall take place nearer to any permanently inhabited 

building in existence on 1st January 1980 or constructed in pursuance of a 
planning permission extant at that date than a distance equivalent to half of 

the depth at which the seam lies at that point.  

32



DC&REG. BOARD 07/08/2025 

 
Reason: For the purposes of additional safety measures against the possibility 

of any land instability issues within the locality.  
 

10. No production blasting shall take place at the mine until a blasting action plan 

has been submitted to and approved by the Mineral Planning Authority. The 
action plan shall include details relating to the following:  

 
i) Location and nature of blast(s); 
ii) Any nearby surface or sub-surface structures/installations; 

iii) Probability of old mining areas within affecting distance; 
iv) Timing of blast(s);  

v) A scheme of monitoring 
vi) Vibration limits;  
vii) Contingency procedures for dealing with any emergency.  

 
Following approval of the action plan blasting for the production of minerals 

shall be carried out in accordance with the approved details unless otherwise 
agreed in writing with the Mineral Planning Authority. Any non-production 
blasts that are necessary due to unforeseen emergencies or other essential 

operations shall be notified to the Mineral Planning Authority within 24 hours of 
the occurrence. The notification shall be accompanied by a full and detailed 

explanation.  
 

Reason: To control the environmental impacts of any vibration and/or blasting 

upon the locality and local amenity. To accord with Policy DM2 of the 
Leicestershire Minerals and Waste Local Plan (Adopted 2019) and paragraph 

224 c) of the National Planning Policy Framework (December 2024). 
 
Restriction of Permitted Development Rights 

 
11. Notwithstanding the provisions of the Town and Country Planning General 

Development Order 1995 as amended, no buildings, plant, structures or 
machinery shall be erected on the site without the prior written approval of the 
Mineral Planning Authority. 

 
Reason: There is an exceptional need here to secure control over additional 

plant, machinery and lighting, in the interests of the amenity of the area and 
bearing in mind the degree of discretion otherwise allowed by the GPDO. To 
accord with Policy DM2 of the Leicestershire Minerals and Waste Local Plan 

(Adopted 2019).  
 

Safeguarding Conditions  
 

12. All oil, fuel and chemical storage tanks and their associated filling points, 

vents, gauges, sight glasses, and pipework are to be placed on impervious 
bases and enclosed within a bund of at least 110% capacity of the combined 

capacity of all tanks and vessels. The drainage system of the bund shall be 
sealed with no discharge to any watercourse, land or underground strata. All 
filling points and overflow outlets shall discharge downwards into the bund. In 

the event of a leak or spillage the material shall be removed and disposed of 
to a facility licensed for that purpose.  

 

33



DC&REG. BOARD 07/08/2025 

Reason: To protect the local water environment from any potential pollution 
and/or other degradation. To accord with Policy DM2 of the Leicestershire 

Minerals and Waste Local Plan (Adopted 2019) and paragraph 224 b) of the 
National Planning Policy Framework (December 2024). 

 

13. There shall be no discharge of foul or contaminated drainage from the site into 
either groundwater or any surface waters whether direct or via soakaways.  

 
Reason: To protect the local water environment from any potential pollution 
and/or other degradation. To accord with Policy DM2 of the Leicestershire 

Minerals and Waste Local Plan (Adopted 2019) and paragraph 224 b) of the 
National Planning Policy Framework (December 2024). 

 
14. No new surface outfalls or alternative methods of disposal of mine water shall 

be undertaken without the prior written approval of the Mineral Planning 

Authority. 
 

Reason: To protect the local water environment from any potential pollution 
and/or other degradation. To accord with Policy DM2 of the Leicestershire 
Minerals and Waste Local Plan (Adopted 2019) and paragraph 224 b) of the 

National Planning Policy Framework (December 2024). 
 

Restoration  
 

15.  A scheme for the restoration of the site shall be submitted to the Mineral 

Planning Authority for approval in accordance with the timescales set out in 
condition no.2 above. The scheme shall:  

 
(i) Provide for the closure of all the existing adits and ventilation shafts at 

the mine with an impervious barrier;  

(ii) Provide for the treatment of the land adjacent to and surrounding the 
mine entrances in order to secure a beneficial after-use(s) of the land; 

(iii) Cover the removal of all plant, machinery, buildings and other 
structures erected in connection with the mine;  

(iv) Have due regard for the provisions of condition no.28 of planning 

permission no. 87/1467/2 covering the works site; and,  
(v) Include appropriate timescales for implementing and completing the 

restoration works  
 

Reason: To ensure satisfactory restoration of the site and to accord with 

Policy DM12 of the Leicestershire Minerals and Waste Local Plan (Adopted 
2019) and paragraph 224 e) of the National Planning Policy Framework 

(December 2024). 
 

Aftercare 

 
16. Following the final restoration of any part of the site in accordance with the 

requirements of condition no.15 above, the land shall be treated for a 5 year 
period in accordance with an approved aftercare scheme. The scheme shall:  
 

(i) Be submitted for the written approval of the Mineral Planning Authority 
not later than 3 months prior to the date on which it is expected that the 

34



DC&REG. BOARD 07/08/2025 

replacement of topsoil or other approved final treatment of the site shall 
take place;  

(ii) Provide an outline strategy for the 5 year aftercare period stating the 
steps to be taken throughout this period in order to return the land to 
beneficial use involving agriculture, forestry, nature 

conservation/amenity after-uses; 
(iii) Arrange for annual site meetings between the operator, Mineral 

Planning Authority and other appropriate agencies; and,  
(iv) Provide for the submission of an annual report to the Mineral Planning 

Authority one month in advance of the annual site meeting detailing 

where appropriate work undertaken during the previous year and work 
proposed for the coming year.  

 
Reason: To ensure that a suitable regime of high quality aftercare is secured 
to bring the land to the required standard for the approved afteruse. To accord 

with Policy DM12 of the Leicestershire Minerals and Waste Local Plan 
(Adopted 2019) and paragraph 224 e) of the National Planning Policy 

Framework (December 2024). 
 

17. Unless otherwise agreed in writing with the Mineral Planning Authority the 

aftercare of the site shall only be carried out in accordance with the approved 
scheme.  

 
Reason: To ensure high quality aftercare of the site is delivered and to accord 
with Policy DM12 of the Leicestershire Minerals and Waste Local Plan 

(Adopted 2019) and paragraph 224 e) of the National Planning Policy 
Framework (December 2024). 

 
 

 

 

35



DC&REG. BOARD 07/08/2025 

DEVELOPMENT CONTROL AND REGULATORY BOARD 
 
The considerations set out below apply to all the preceding applications.  
 
EQUALITY AND HUMAN RIGHTS IMPLICATIONS 

 
Unless otherwise stated in the report there are no discernible equality and human rights implications.  
 

IMPLICATIONS FOR DISABLED PERSONS 
 
On all educational proposals the Director of  Children and Family Services and the Director of  

Corporate Resources will be informed as follows: 
 
Note to Applicant Department 

 
Your attention is drawn to the provisions of  the Chronically Sick and Disabled Person’s Act 1970 and 
the Design Note 18 “Access for the Disabled People to Educational Buildings” 1984 and to the 

Equality Act 2010. You are advised to contact the Equalities function of  the County Council’s Policy 
and Partnerships Team if  you require further advice on this aspect of  the proposal.  
 

COMMUNITY SAFETY IMPLICATIONS 
 
Section 17 of  the Crime and Disorder Act 1998 places a very broad duty on all local authorities 'to 

exercise its various functions with due regard to the likely ef fect of  the exercise of  those functions on, 
and the need to do all reasonably can to prevent, crime and disorder in its area'.  Unless otherwise 
stated in the report, there are no discernible implications for crime reduction or community safety.  
 

BACKGROUND PAPERS 
 
Unless otherwise stated in the report the background papers used in the preparation of  this report are 

available on the relevant planning application f iles.  
 
SECTION 38(6) OF PLANNING AND COMPULSORY PURCHASE ACT 2004 

 
Members are reminded that Section 38(6) of  the 2004 Act requires that:  
 

“If  regard is to be had to the development plan for the purpose of  any determination to be made under 
the planning Acts the determination must be made in accordance with the plan unless material 
considerations indicate otherwise.” 

 
Any relevant provisions of  the development plan (i.e. any approved Local Plans) are identif ied in the 
individual reports. 

 
The circumstances in which the Board is required to “have regard” to the development plan are given 
in the Town and Country Planning Act 1990: 
 

Section 70(2) : determination of  applications; 
Section 77(4) : called-in applications (applying s. 70); 

Section 79(4) : planning appeals (applying s. 70); 
Section 81(3) : provisions relating to compensation directions by Secretary of  State (this 

section is repealed by the Planning and Compensation Act 1991);  

Section 91(2) : power to vary period in statutory condition requiring development to be begun;  
Section 92(6) : power to vary applicable period for outline planning permission;  
Section 97(2) : revocation or modif ication of  planning permission; 

Section 102(1) : discontinuance orders; 
Section 172(1) : enforcement notices; 
Section 177(2) : Secretary of  State’s power to grant planning permission on enforcement appeal;  

Section 226(2) : compulsory acquisition of  land for planning purposes;  
Section 294(3) : special enforcement notices in relation to Crown land; 
Sched. 9 para (1) : minerals discontinuance orders. 

 
 

 

36



 

 
DEVELOPMENT CONTROL AND REGULATORY BOARD 

 
7th August 2025 

 
REPORT OF THE CHIEF EXECUTIVE 

 
COUNTY MATTER  

 
PART A – SUMMARY REPORT 

 
 
APP.NO. & DATE:  2023/CM/0053/LCC (2024/00041/03) - 21 December 2023
  

PROPOSAL:  Proposed Anaerobic Digestion Plant, Associated 
Infrastructure,  Lagoons and Feedstock Clamps  

 

LOCATION:  Marigold Farm, Welham Road, Great Bowden, LE16 7FN 
 

APPLICANT:  Great Bowden Green Energy Ltd  
  
MAIN ISSUES:  The need for additional capacity to manage agricultural 

waste and the need for low carbon, renewable energy; the 
principle of development in a countryside location; the 
loss of a residential property; traffic, access, and parking; 

odour; noise; landscape and visual amenity; lighting; 
heritage and conservation; pollution; public health; 

biodiversity and geodiversity; climate change; land 
contamination; flood risk, hydrology and hydrogeology; 
vibration; dust; agriculture/conservation of soil 

resources; economic growth and resilience; crime; 
minerals; and sustainability. 

 
RECOMMENDATION: PERMIT subject to the conditions set out in Appendix A. 

 

 
Circulation Under Local Issues Alert Procedure 
 

Dr. S Hill CC 
 

Former Local Member Mr Barry Champion CC 
 

 

Officer to Contact 
 

Charlie Cookson (Tel. 0116 305 1085).   
Email:  planningcontrol@leics.gov.uk 
  

37 Agenda Item 8



 

 

 
                                                                                                             DC&REG. BOARD – 07 August 2025 

 

PART B – MAIN REPORT 
 

The Site and Surroundings  
 
1. The application site is on land at Marigold Farm, Welham Road, Great Bowden, 

within the district of Harborough, Leicestershire. The site is located approximately 

0.85 kilometres (km) to the north-east of the centre of Great Bowden, 2.8km north-

east of the centre of Market Harborough, 1.75km south-west of the centre of Sutton 

Bassett, and 2.5km north-west of the centre of Dingley. Furthermore, the site sits 

approximately 0.7km to the west of the Leicestershire, North Northamptonshire 

border, with Sutton Bassett and Dingley of the aforementioned locations sitting 

within North Northamptonshire.  

 

2. The site is made up of two sections, a larger ‘southern’ area which consists of the 

proposed anaerobic digestion facility, hereinafter referred to as the ‘main 

compound’, and a smaller ‘northern’ area which consists of a National Grid 

compound, with the two areas connected via underground pipework. The site of 

the main compound including the proposed anaerobic digestion facility is bound to 

the west by Welham Road, on the opposite side of which lies a waste facility and 

Dimlicote Farm. To the south and east, the site is bound by improved grassland 

and arable fields separated by hedgerows and fences. To the immediate north of 

the site lies Welham Lane Game Farm, in which the curtilage of the nearest 

residential receptor is situated; approximately 85 metres (m) north of the site. 

Welham Bush Poultry Farm is situated approximately 320m north of the main 

compound’s site boundary.  

 

3. The next closest residential properties are situated approximately 350m to the 

south-west of the site’s boundary along Welham Road. The north-western 

boundary of the Hursley Park development (including housing estate and country 

park) is situated approximately 200m to the south-west.  

 

4. The application site comprises 3.47 hectares (ha) of land. The northern and 

southern boundaries of the main compound are mostly defined by hedgerows with 

an area of scattered trees at the western end of the proposed development area. 

The western extent of the main compound predominantly consists of vacant 

buildings associated with its previous use as a mushroom farm, including old 

polytunnels, a derelict bungalow and extensive areas of concrete, tarmac and 

gravel hardstanding. The eastern extent of the main compound consists of 

undeveloped scrubland and a small pond in the north-eastern corner. Regarding 

topography, the land gently rises east to west from a low point of approximately 

70.5m Above Ordnance Datum (AOD) on the eastern boundary to a high point of 

approximately 72.5m AOD at the western tip of the site, west of the existing 

bungalow.  

 

38



 

 

 
                                                                                                             DC&REG. BOARD – 07 August 2025 

 

5. The proposed main compound, which includes the anaerobic digestion facility, 

would be connected to a National Grid compound situated approximately 500m 

north by an underground gas pipe, from the main compound’s eastern boundary, 

spanning approximately 550m in a northernly direction, beneath agricultural fields, 

Welham Lane, and Welham Bush Poultry Farm.  The site of the national Grid 

compound comprises an agricultural field, with Public Footpaths A55 and A56 (part 

bridleway) adjacent to the west.  

 

6. The site is accessed from the west off Welham Road, which runs in a north easterly 

direction from the connecting junction with the A6, approximately 120m to the 

south-west of the site’s boundary. Welham Road also extends in a northerly 

direction until it meets Welham Lane close to Welham Bush Poultry Farm, and in 

a south westerly direction into Great Bowden via a bridge which crosses over the 

A6. Route 64 of the National Cycle Network (NCN 64) runs along this section of 

Welham Road and Welham Lane to the north of the main compound site. There is 

a short section of Welham Road which runs for approximately 90m north-east of 

the A6/Welham Road junction which does not form part of NCN 64. 

 

7. The Great Bowden Borrowpit biological Site of Special Scientific Interest (SSSI) is 

situated approximately 590m to the west of the application site boundary. The 

application site lies within the SSSI Impact Risk Zone for the Great Bowden 

Borrowpit SSSI.  

 

8. The Great Bowden Conservation Area is approximately 380m to the south. The 

closest listed heritage assets to the main compound are: 

 

• The Grange, Grade II listed, situated approximately 560m south of the 

application site boundary; 

• 17 and 19 Welham Road, Grade II listed, situated approximately 590m 

south-west of the application site boundary;  

• Nether Green Stables, Grade II listed, situated approximately 660m 

south-west of the application site boundary.  

 

9. The main compound is situated within Flood Zone 1, indicating a low probability of 

flooding from rivers and the sea.  Regarding the annual chance of surface water 

flooding at the main compound, most of the site is in an area of very low (less than 

1 in 1000) risk of surface water flooding in a given year. Small areas of the western 

portion of the site are at low (1 in 100 to 1 in 1000) risk of surface water flooding in 

a given year. There is a thin strip of high probability risk of surface water flooding 

(1 in 30) which runs parallel to the southern site boundary. The proposed pipeline 

would run through areas predominantly within Flood Zone 1 until it meets the site 

of the National Gas compound, which sits within both Flood Zones 2 and 3. The 

western extent of the National Gas compound area has a high annual likelihood of 

surface water flooding.  

 

39



 

 

 
                                                                                                             DC&REG. BOARD – 07 August 2025 

 

10. None of the trees within the site are covered by tree preservation orders (TPO).  

 

11. The site lies on land classified as Grade 3 on the Provisional Agricultural Land 

Classification map. 

 

12. The entirety of the site sits within a Nitrate Vulnerable Zone.  

 
 

 
 

 

Planning History 

 

13. The site has a long planning history. As such, the relevant planning history to this 

application is summarised within this section of the report to aid the reader. 

 

a) “Change of Use and redevelopment for B2 (industrial) use, to include 

demolition of existing buildings”. Ref: 15/00901/OUT – Refused 11th 

September 2015. 

b) “Change of Use to include demolition of existing buildings and redevelopment 

for B2 Use (revised scheme of 13/01765/OUT) – Refused 19th January 2015. 

c) “Removal of Condition 3 (agricultural occupancy) of 80/01332/3M. Ref: 

13/01778/VAC – Permission granted 18th June 2014. 

40



 

 

 
                                                                                                             DC&REG. BOARD – 07 August 2025 

 

d) Change of use to include demolition of existing buildings and proposed 

redevelopment for B2/B8 uses. Ref: 13/01765/OUT – Application withdrawn 

6th February 2014. 

e) “Erection of single storey toilet extension”. Ref: 03/00593/FUL – Permission 

granted 10th June 2003. 

f) “Siting of portakabin for office use and reduction in length of storage sheds 

adjacent to northern boundary”. Ref: 02/01336/FUL – Granted permission 28th 

October 2002. 

g) “Marigold Farm Welham Lane Great Bowden Erection of sterilisation shed 

and biofilter treatment plant Marigold Farm Welham Lane Great Bowden”. 

Ref: 92/01869/3P – Granted permission 10th March 1993. 

h) “Erection of 6 no growing sheds and covered way”. Ref 91/00091/3P – 

Granted permission 14th March 1991. 

i) “Demolition of effete growing sheds, enlargement of car parking area, 

erection of 5 no growing sheds and covered way, siting of portakabin”. Ref: 

90/01519/3P – Granted permission 5th October 1990. 

j) “Erection of cold storage building”. Ref: 82/00830/3M – Permission granted 

3rd August 1982. 

k) “Erection of single 20’ x 20’ lean to existing general purpose building for 

horticultural use. Ref 81/01499/3P - Permission granted 22nd September 

1981. 

l) “Erection of 3 bedroom bungalow”. Ref: 80/01332/3M – Permission dated 23 

September 1980. 

m) “8 growing sheds 4 spawnrunning sheds and basket store”. Ref: 77/00747/3M 

- Permission dated 10th August 1977. 

n) “The erection of a mushroom house”. Ref: MU/04579/MUDC – Permission 

granted, date unknown. 

 

Description of Proposal 

 

14. The proposal is for the erection of an anaerobic digestion (AD) plant, associated 

infrastructure, lagoons and feedstock clamps, for the purpose of generating 

biomethane, which would be exported to the National Gas Grid via underground 

pipeline to a connection point approximately 500m north of the AD facility.  

 

15. The applicant is proposing to lay the pipe to the point of the National Gas 

compound and would construct the 1.8m high weld mesh fencing enclosing the 

compound. Everything else within the fence line and the connection to the existing 

National Transmission System (NTS) is proposed to be constructed by National 

Gas.  

 

16. The pipeline to the compound is considered to benefit from permitted development 

rights afforded by the Town and Country Planning (General Permitted 

Development) (England) Order 2015 (GPDO), Schedule 2, Part 15, Class A (a), 

‘development by a gas transporter required for the purposes of its undertaking 

41



 

 

 
                                                                                                             DC&REG. BOARD – 07 August 2025 

 

consisting of the laying underground of mains, pipes or other apparatus’ . 

Therefore, this element of the proposal is not considered further within the report.  

 

17. The 20x20m, 1.8m high weld mesh fencing enclosing the compound is considered 

to benefit from permitted development rights afforded by the GPDO, Schedule 2, 

Part 2, Class A(b), ‘the erection, construction, maintenance, improvement or 

alteration of a gate, fence, wall or other means of enclosure’. Therefore, this 

element of the proposal is not considered further within the report.  

 
18. The proposal has been screened in line with the Town and Country Planning 

(Environmental Impact Assessment) Regulations 2017 and is not deemed to 

constitute EIA development. The full screening assessment is provided in 

Appendix D.  

 

Construction Phase  

 

19. The construction of the development would include the following structures: 

 

• Digester: Consisting of one concrete digester tank measuring 100.9m x 26m. 

The digester tank would measure 1.8m high above ground level and extends 

2.8m below ground level. The tank is surmounted by a 6m high dome used 

for collecting and holding gas. Overall, the digester measures 7.8m high to 

the crest of the semi-circular, green coloured, dual-skinned plastic dome roof. 

Eight gas mixing compressors lie to both the western and eastern sides of 

the domed gas holder (four on each side, atop the digestor tank). Two de-grit 

membranes sit to the west of the gas mixing compressors situated on the 

western side of the domed gas holder, atop the digester tank. Two 

recirculating pumps adjoin the northern and southern side of the digestor 

tank. A 30m x 10m plinth is located at the front of the digester tank (its western 

elevation), on which sit two feeders measuring 12.7m x 3m x 4.2m high. 

• Earth bunded feedstock clamp measuring 141m x 40.7m x 3m high.  

• Three feedstock bunkers measuring in total 19.6m x 9m x 5.2m high to the 

crest of the domed roof. Each feedstock bunker consists of 3.0m high grey 

concrete block walling, and domed canopy roofs in a light green colour.  

• Twin straw processing system, the enclosure of which measures 36m x 

11.2m x 6.8m high to the crest of the domed roof. The enclosure consists of 

4.0m high grey concrete block walling, and a domed canopy roof in a light 

green colour. Two straw bale conveyors extend 20m westwards from the 

enclosure, whilst a processed straw bunker lies within the eastern exten t of 

the enclosure.  

• Digestate separation bunker measuring 8.8m x 6.4m x 4m high  concrete 

walling. The bunker is surmounted by two digestate separators and 

associated gantry – increasing the height to 6m overall.  

• Combined Heat & Power (CHP) unit measuring 15m x 3m x 3m high. The 

roof of the containerised unit features associated equipment including safety 

42



 

 

 
                                                                                                             DC&REG. BOARD – 07 August 2025 

 

railings, table coolers, exhaust gas heat exchanger and silencer taking the 

unit to a total height of 7m. The unit would be of a light green profile metal.  

• Gas Upgrade Plant comprised of multiple components, including: a 5.5m x 

3m x 3m high compressor; a 10.8m x 3m x 3.2m high membrane separator 

unit surmounted by a 3.5m high vent stack; 4 carbon vessels measuring 3.6m 

high with a radius of 0.95m; a chiller unit measuring 2.3m x 1.2m x 2.5m high.  

• Carbon Dioxide (CO2) capture plant comprised of multiple components, 

including: a shed measuring 14m x 8m x 6.1m to the ridgeline; a Liquid 

Carbon Dioxide (LCO2) storage tank to the east of the shed measuring 14.6m 

long with a radius of 1.4m and overall height of 3.1m, with a capacity of 52m3. 

Situated to the north of the shed and LCO2 storage tank sits; a stripper, 

reboiler and CO2 condenser measuring 2.6m x 2.6m x 7.5m high; a 

refrigerant condenser measuring 5.6m x 1.2m x 1.8m high; a LC02 quality 

measuring unit measuring 2.5m x 2m x 2.4m high; a dry cooler measuring 

4.4m x 2.3m x 2.5m high.  

• Process building with mono pitch roof measuring 15m x 10m x 5.2m to the 

highest point.  

• 10.5m high flare stack atop a plinth.  

• Two compressor units with green metal sidings measuring 2.3m x 4.4m x 

2.4m high with a vent stack measuring 8.3m high in total. 

• Gas Entry Unit (GEU) measuring 6.6m x 3.1m x 2.7m high with green metal 

sidings.  

• Pressure reduction system measuring 2m x 1m x 2.2m high and would have 

a dark green metal cabinet.  

• 2985m2 covered digestate lagoon. The surrounding earth banks would 

measure 2.8m high.  

• 640m2 surface water lagoon. The surrounding earth banks would measure 

0.5m high and has a volume of up to 5,000 cubic metres (m3). 

• In-situ bungalow. Situated to the south western corner of the site, proposed 

to be retained and refurbished to provide on-site employee facilities – note, 

the application as submitted does not seek for the bungalow to be for 

residential purposes.  

 

20. The proposal would include the following noise attenuation features: 

 

• 3m high, 2.5m long barrier to the north of each louvre of the gas upgrading 

compressor enclosure.  

• 4m high, 11m long barrier to the immediate north of the digestate separator.  

• 2.5m high, 11m long barrier to the immediate north of each rotor cut/feed 

pump device.  

 

21. The boundary trees/vegetation which surround the site are proposed to be 

retained.  There is an area of scrub and semi-improved grassland to be retained 

at the south-west of the site, whilst the site’s easternmost extent would see 

43



 

 

 
                                                                                                             DC&REG. BOARD – 07 August 2025 

 

retention of the pond, tall ruderal, and semi-improved grassland. The rest of the 

site would see the removal of trees/saplings/bushes, tall ruderal, semi-improved 

grassland, and scrub, replaced with the above-mentioned buildings, plant and 

machinery, and hardstanding.  

 

22. The proposal would include the following highways works: 

 

• Strip widening of the exit to the A6 link with a minimum 6.0m corner radius, 

using land within the highway boundary.  

• Welham Road carriageway widening to a minimum of 6.5m between the site 

access and A6 link, using land within the highway boundary.  

• Site access inbound corner radius increased to 10m with taper from Welham 

Road north-east, using land within the highway boundary. 

• Provision of 4.5m x 47m visibility splay at the site access off Welham Road.  

• Clearance of existing trees and shrubs on western boundary of the site. 

Cleared area to be landscaped with planting not exceeding 0.5m in height 

above carriageway level. Landscaped area to be dedicated and maintained 

as public highway. 

 

23. The proposal would provide two trailer bays for HGVs and six 6m long bays for 

parking adjacent the process building.  

 

Operational Phase  

 

24. Once operational, the facility would be able to treat approximately 40,000 tonnes 

of feedstock per annum. This annual feedstock is proposed to comprise the 

following: 

 

• Poultry manure – 9,000 tonnes 

• Maize – 15,000 tonnes  

• Straw – 16,000 tonnes  

 

25. Poultry Manure: Making up approximately 22.5% of the overall input, one third 

(3,000 tonnes) would be sourced from a nearby poultry farm situated 

approximately 320m to the north of the site. The rest of the poultry manure would 

be imported from various farms within a 32km (20 mile) radius, including close to 

Kettering and Peterborough. There would be one sheeted-over HGV of poultry 

manure daily (2 movements – one in/one out). The manure would be brought to 

site to coincide with when the feeders are due to be filled and would be stored 

briefly in the feedstock bunkers.  

 

26. Maize: Making up approximately 37.5% of the overall input, the closest farm the 

maize is likely to be imported from is close to Dingley, with the rest being imported 

from various farms within an 8km (5mile) radius. The applicant has stated it would 

44



 

 

 
                                                                                                             DC&REG. BOARD – 07 August 2025 

 

not be possible to ascertain the proportion of maize coming from each farm as this 

would depend on crop rotation, and contracts with farms can vary. No contracts 

are in place until such time as planning permission has been granted. However, 

the maize would be the only purpose grown feedstock as part of the proposal . HGV 

movements associated with maize are restricted to the months of October to 

November with deliveries taking place over 30 days per year which would result in 

an additional 36 daily movements during this peak. 

 

27. When the maize is brought on-site to the feedstock clamps it would be covered 

quickly to avoid the crop from oxidising. If the crop begins to oxidise, the energy 

value of the crop decreases. When the digestion plant is ‘fed’ with the feedstock, 

the sheet from the leading edge of the clamp is lifted briefly to allow an agricultural 

teleporter to take enough material to put into the process. 

 

28. Straw: Making up approximately 40% of the overall input, this would be sourced 

from farms within a 40km (25 mile) radius, including farms close to Desborough, 

Rothwell, Corby, Kettering, and Husbands Bosworth. The amount from each farm 

would depend on crop rotation and contracts with the farms. There would be 4 

daily HGV movements associated with the straw feedstock. The straw would be 

delivered to site largely on a ‘just in time’ basis to avoid stockpiling on site and 

would be processed (crushed) by the on-site straw processing system for use in 

the anaerobic digestion process.  

 

29. The proposal also requires circa 30,000 cubic metres (m3) – 45,000m3 of clean 

water annually to allow for processing. Up to approximately 15,000m3 of this 

comprises reused water. Any shortfall in required water volume relies on taking 

potable water from the mains. It is therefore essential to capture as much surface 

water onsite as possible, to reduce reliance on the water mains. Surface water 

captured on site is fed into the Surface Water Lagoon. There would be no positive 

outfall from the site, as all surface water is fed into the anaerobic digestion process. 

 

The Process  

 

30. The proposed anaerobic digestion process would operate at the mesophilic 

(moderate) temperature range of around 42 degrees centigrade. The poultry 

manure, straw and maize (biomass) are mixed together with water, heated and 

then retained within the concrete digester tank for a period of up to 85 days. Within 

the tank, the biomass is broken down by mesophile micro-organisms in the 

absence of air, releasing a natural decomposition product of biogas. The biogas is 

collected in the green coloured dual-skinned plastic dome on top of the tank. It is 

then cleaned (removing the CO2 etc) creating biomethane and transported by 

pipeline and injected directly into the existing National Gas Grid pipeline, which 

runs to the north of the site. 

 

45



 

 

 
                                                                                                             DC&REG. BOARD – 07 August 2025 

 

31. At the end of the digestion process digestate is formed, consisting of a liquid and 

solid fraction. The solid fraction is a fibrous material held in partial suspension that 

is separated from the liquid fraction via a screw press within the digestate 

separation bunker. 

 

32. The process is constant in that the feedstock is fed into the system at one end and 

the resultant digestate removed at the other while biogas is produced. 

 

Outputs 

 

33. As outlined above, the annual outputs consist of:  

 

• Biomethane – 7 megawatts (MW) 

• Liquid Digestate – 30,000 tonnes 

• Solid Digestate – 24,000 tonnes  

• CO2 – 10,000 tonnes  

 

34. The combined outputs amount to 64,000 tonnes which at face value is higher than 

the 40,000 tonnes of feedstock input, however the shortfall is effectively made up 

from the water that is introduced as to make the process work.  

 

35. As the biomethane would be transported by pipeline via the onsite gas entry unit 

and injected directly into the existing National Gas Grid pipeline, there would be 

no off-site vehicle movements associated with this output. 

  

36. The liquid fraction, would also be used as a fertiliser, going back on the land where 

the maize is grown and the residual straw is taken from, when spreading is 

permitted.  When spreading is not permitted, it would be stored in a covered lagoon 

on site. The liquid digestate would generate 8 HGV movements per day. 

 

37. The solid digestate would be used as a fertiliser and soil improver, going back on 

the land where the maize is grown, and the residual straw is taken from. 4,000 

tonnes of digestate would be back-hauled by the vehicles importing maize to the 

site during the October-November period. The remaining 20,000 tonnes would be 

stored in one of the feedstock bunker bays and would leave the site throughout the 

year, generating on average 6 HGV movements per day.   

 

38. The captured CO2 from the process would be stored on site in liquid form and sold 

to the food and drinks industry via a dealer. It would generate 2 HGV movements 

per day. As the dealer is not the end user, the applicant cannot ascertain the exact 

end location of the CO2. 

 

39. Through the combined heat and power unit, a small amount of the biogas is used 

to generate approximately 1,000 kilowatts (KW) of electricity which is used on site 

and the associated heat is used in the anaerobic digestion process. 

46



 

 

 
                                                                                                             DC&REG. BOARD – 07 August 2025 

 

 

Employment  

 

40. The development would lead to the employment of two full time equivalent staff 

members.  

 

Operating Hours 

 

41. The process of anaerobic digestion operates 24/7; the hoppers which feed the 

digestion tank hold enough material for 24 hours. Actual work on-site is largely 

confined to the working week, other than for the removal of digestate. However, 

deliveries and exports would take place between 06:00 to 18:00, Monday to 

Saturday.  

 

Planning Policy 

 

National Policy 

 

National Planning Policy Framework (2024) (NPPF) 

 

42. The NPPF sets out the Government’s planning policies for England and is a 

material consideration in planning decisions. Paragraph 11 requires plans and 

decisions to apply a presumption in favour of sustainable development. For 

decision making this means:  

 

a. approving development proposals that accord with an up-to-date plan without 

delay; or 

b. where there are no relevant policies or the policies which are most important 

for determining the application are out of date, granting planning permission 

unless:  

 

i. the application of policies in the NPPF that protect areas or assets of 

particular importance provides a strong reason for refusing the 

development proposed; or  

ii. any adverse impacts of doing so would significantly and demonstrably 

outweigh the benefits, when assessed against the policies in the NPPF as 

a whole, having particular regard to key policies for directing development 

to sustainable locations, making effective use of land and securing well-

designed places.  

 

43. Section 4: Decision Making sets out the Government’s policy with regard to 

decision making and states that local planning authorities should approach 

decisions on proposed development in a positive and creative way. Paragraph 56 

requires local planning authorities to consider whether otherwise un acceptable 

development can be made so through the use of conditions or obligations. 

47



 

 

 
                                                                                                             DC&REG. BOARD – 07 August 2025 

 

Planning obligations should only be used where it is not possible to address 

unacceptable impacts through a planning condition. 

 

44. Sections of the NPPF considered relevant to the determination of the application 

are:  

 

• Section 6: Building a strong and competitive economy (paragraph: 87(c));  

• Section 8: Promoting healthy and safe communities (paragraphs: 96(b;c) and 

105 (open space & recreation)); 

• Section 9: Promoting sustainable transport (paragraph 116 (considering 

development proposals));  

• Section 12: Achieving well designed spaces (paragraphs: 135(a;b;c;f), 

139(a;b)); 

• Section 14: Meeting the challenge of climate change, flooding and coastal 

change (paragraphs: 161, 163, ,168(a;b) (climate change); 181 (flood risk), 

182(a;b;c) (sustainable drainage)); 

• Section 15: Conserving and enhancing the natural environment (paragraphs: 

187(a;b;d;e;f); 193(a;b) (habitats and biodiversity); 196(a;c), 197, 198(a;c), 

199, 201 (ground conditions and pollution));  

• Section 16: Conserving and enhancing the historic environment (paragraph s: 

207, 208 (proposals affecting heritage assets); 218 (considering potential 

impacts). 

 

National Planning Policy for Waste October 2014 (NPPW)  

 

45. Paragraph 7 of the NPPW states that when determining waste planning 

applications, waste planning authorities should:  

 

• only expect applicants to demonstrate the quantitative or market need for 

new or enhanced waste management facilities where proposals are not 

consistent with an up-to-date Local Plan. In such cases, waste planning 

authorities should consider the extent to which the capacity of existing 

operational facilities would satisfy any identified need;  

• consider the likely impact on the local environment and on amenity against 

the criteria set out in Appendix B and the locational implications of any advice 

on health from the relevant health bodies. Waste planning authorities should 

avoid carrying out their own detailed assessment of epidemiological and 

other health studies;  

• ensure that waste management facilities in themselves are well-designed, so 

that they contribute positively to the character and quality of the area in which 

they are located;  

• concern themselves with implementing the planning strategy in the Local 

Plan and not with the control of processes which are a matter for the pollution 

control authorities. Waste planning authorities should work on the 

48



 

 

 
                                                                                                             DC&REG. BOARD – 07 August 2025 

 

assumption that the relevant pollution control regime will be properly applied 

and enforced. 

 

46. Appendix B of the NPPW outlines the locational criteria that waste planning 

authorities should use for testing the suitability of sites in determining planning 

applications. These include the protection of water quality and resources and flood 

risk management, land instability, landscape and visual impacts, nature 

conservation, conserving the historic environment, traffic and access, air 

emissions, odours, vermin and birds, noise, light and vibration, litter and potential 

land use conflict.  

 

Planning Practice Guidance (PPG) 

 

47. Climate Change (revision date 06 March 2014) (PPG-CC): Paragraph: 001 

Reference ID: 6-001-20140306. 

 

48. Flood Risk and Coastal Change (revision date 25 August 2022) (PPG-FRCC): 
Paragraph: 079 Reference ID: 7-079-20220825.  

 
49. Renewable and Low Carbon Energy (revised date 06 March 2014) (PPG-RLCE): 

Paragraph: 001 Reference ID: 5-001-20140306; Paragraph: 003 Reference ID: 5-

003-20140306. 

 

50. Use of Planning Conditions (revision date 06 March 2014) (PPG-UPC): Paragraph: 

001 Reference ID 21a-001-20140306; Paragraph: 006 Reference ID: 21a-006-

20140306. 

 

51. Waste (revised date 16 October 2014) (PPG-W): Paragraph: 002 Reference ID: 

28-002-20141016; Paragraph: 051 Reference ID: 28-051-20141016; Paragraph: 

055 Reference ID: 28-055-20141016. 

 

The Climate Change Act 2008 (2050 Target Amendment) Order 2019 (CCA):  

 

52. The Climate Change Act 2008 (2050 Target Amendment) Order 2019 created a 

legally binding climate change mitigation target for at least 100% reduction in 

greenhouse gas emissions (compared to 1990 levels) in the UK by 2050. 

 

Biomass Strategy (August 2023) (BMS):  

 

53. Sets out the role biomass can play in reaching net zero, what Government is doing 

to enable that objective, and where further action is needed. 

 

Waste Management Plan for England (2021) (WMPE) 

 

49



 

 

 
                                                                                                             DC&REG. BOARD – 07 August 2025 

 

54. The WMPE sets out the Government’s aim of securing greater reuse and recycling 

rates across all waste streams, thereby moving waste up the hierarchy.  

 

The Development Plan 

 

55. Leicestershire Minerals and Waste Local Plan (adopted September 2019) 

(LMWLP). 

 

• Policy M11: Safeguarding of Mineral Resources 

• Policy W1: Waste Management Capacity 

• Policy W3: Strategic Waste Facilities  

• Policy W4: Non-strategic Waste Facilities 

• Policy W5: Locating Waste Facilities 

• Policy W6: Biological Treatment of Waste Including Anaerobic Digestion and 

Open Air Windrow Composting 

• Policy DM1: Sustainable Development 

• Policy DM2: Local Environment and Community Protection 

• Policy DM5: Landscape Impact 

• Policy DM6: Soils 

• Policy DM7: Sites of Biodiversity/Geodiversity Interest 

• Policy DM8: Historic Environment 

• Policy DM9: Transportation by Road 

• Policy DM10: Public Rights of Way  

• Policy DM11: Cumulative Impact 

 

56. Harborough Local Plan 2011-2031 (adopted April 2019) (HLP). 

 

• Policy GD1: Achieving sustainable development 

• Policy GD3: Development in the countryside  

• Policy GD5: Landscape character  

• Policy GD8: Good design in development  

• Policy HC1: Built heritage  

• Policy GI1: Green infrastructure networks  

• Policy GI5: Biodiversity and geodiversity 

• Policy CC1: Mitigating climate change  

• Policy CC2: Renewable energy generation  

• Policy CC3: Managing flood risk  

• Policy CC4: Sustainable drainage  

• Policy IN2: Sustainable transport  

 

57. Great Bowden Neighbourhood Plan (Review Version May 2020) (GBNP). 

 

• Policy H2: Settlement Boundary 

50



 

 

 
                                                                                                             DC&REG. BOARD – 07 August 2025 

 

• Policy H3: Windfall Sites 

• Policy H6: Design Standards 

• Policy T3: Cycle Routes and Bridleways  

• Policy ENV6: Non-designated Heritage Assets  

• Policy ENV7: Protection of Important Views 

• Policy ENV8: Protection of Other Sites and Features of Natural 

Environmental Significance 

• Policy ENV9: Biodiversity 

• Policy ENV10: Footpaths and Cycleways 

• Policy EMP2: New Employment Opportunities  

 

Other Policy Considerations  

 

58. Regulation 19 consultation has recently finished (06 May 2025) for the Proposed 

Submission Draft Harborough Local Plan 2020-2041 (Draft Local Plan) (DHLP). 

Therefore, the draft local plan holds some weight as a material consideration. The 

relevant policies from this document include:  

 

• Policy DS03: Development Strategy: Tackling Climate Change and 

Enhancing the Natural Environments 

• Policy SA01: Site Allocations  

• Policy AP04: Development in the Countryside (Commercial/ Non-Residential) 

• Policy AP05: Locating Renewable and Low Carbon Energy Development  

• Policy DM01: High Quality Inclusive Design  

• Policy DM02: Amenity and Wellbeing 

• Policy DM03: Heritage Asset Conservation and Design Standards 

• Policy DM04: Landscape Character and Sensitivity  

• Policy DM06: Transport and Accessibility  

• Policy DM07: Managing Flood Risk  

• Policy DM08: Sustainable Drainage  

• Policy DM09: Sustainable Construction and Climate Resilience 

• Policy DM10: Biodiversity and Geodiversity  

• Policy DM11: Managing Impacts on Land and Water Quality  

 

Harborough District Council Landscape Character Assessment (August 2024) 

(HDCLCA). 

 

59. Sets out a detailed framework for understanding, conserving, and managing the 

distinct landscape character areas across the district to guide future development 

and land use planning.  

 

Consultations 

 

60. Harborough District Council Planning (HDCP) – Comments.  

51



 

 

 
                                                                                                             DC&REG. BOARD – 07 August 2025 

 

 

61. Provided an initial response dated 30 January 2024 providing comments regarding 

the proposal’s conformity with the polices of the HLP and GBNP. 

 

HLP Policy Considerations  

 

62. The site is located within the countryside. Policy GD3 permits development in the 

countryside where it is required for the following c) minerals and waste 

development and d) renewable energy production. 

 

63. Policy GD5, Landscape Character, requires development to be located and 

designed in such a way that it is sensitive to its landscape setting and landscape 

character area. The site falls within the Welland Valley Landscape Character Area. 

Refer to the Council’s Landscape Character Assessment 2007 for further 

information. It is considered that particular attention should be given to preserving 

and enhancing: the landscape setting of the village of Great Bowden and its 

landscape setting distinctiveness; the preservation of features of landscape 

importance in the vicinity; safeguards important public views, skylines and 

landmarks; and restores or provides equivalent mitigation for damaged features 

and/or landscapes that would be damaged or degraded as a result of the 

development. There are elevated points in the landscape nearby to the site and it 

is considered that considerable care and attention will be needed to ensure that 

views and vistas into and out from the site are maintained and where possible 

enhanced. In the light of the information presented at the time of providing these 

comments, HDCP were not convinced that the proposal would achieve all of these 

local plan policy objectives and therefore express concern with the proposal as 

presented at the time.  

 

64. Policy GD8, Good Design in Development, permits development proposals where 

it achieves a high standard of design which includes meeting a list of criteria, 

including points: e, g, m, n, amongst others. The proposal is likely to be a large 

modern facility that, taken together, would be noticeable in the landscape. As such, 

consideration should be given to ensure high quality design that effectively 

integrates the facility into its landscape setting. Failure to achieve this would be a 

cause for concern for HDCP. 

 

65. Policy GI5 permits development proposals where there would be no adverse 

impact on protected species. Notwithstanding the considerable Preliminary 

Ecological Appraisal that has been undertaken, HDCP raised concerns whether 

sufficient detailed analysis of ecological matters has been undertaken and 

requests that the determining authority critically evaluates this. 

 

66. Policy CC1 requires major development to demonstrate how it will be designed to 

mitigate climate change. HDCP requests that as much permeable surfacing and 

SuDs are incorporated into the development should it be permitted to allow the 

52



 

 

 
                                                                                                             DC&REG. BOARD – 07 August 2025 

 

natural management of surface water. HDCP requests that construction methods 

follow sustainable development principles and practices to minimise the impact of 

the facility on the environment. Materials sourced from sustainable sources should 

be used whenever practicable. Outlined that Harborough District Council have 

declared a climate emergency and are concerned whether sustainable 

development that contributes to combatting climate change can be achieved in the 

light of the information submitted at the time of commenting. Furthermore, the 

location of the facility will rely on private vehicle access which contributes to the 

HDCP’s concerns that this proposal will not adequately contribute to combatting 

climate change. 

 

67. Policy CC2 permits development for renewable and low carbon energy generation 

subject to several criteria including location and impact. HDCP is keen to ensure 

that full advantage is taken of the potential to generate low carbon energy if those 

objectives can be reconciled with location and impact. HDCP were concerned that 

full advantage was not being taken in the proposal, at the time of providing these 

comments, to achieve this. 

 

68. Policy CC3 reflects the specific guidance contained within the NPPF and PPG with 

regards to managing flood risk. The policy sets out quite detailed criteria which 

HDCP would expect to be met in relation to this proposal. HDCP notes the 

relatively low-lying nature of the site and request that permeable material surfacing 

is used wherever possible on this site, should it be permitted, to ensure effective 

protection for the local area from any net increase in flood risk as a result of this 

development. 

 

69. Policy CC4 requires major development to incorporate SuDs, HDCP request that, 

given the low lying nature of this site the use of SuDs is maximised including the 

use of permeable surfacing wherever possible. 

 

70. Policy IN2 requires development to provide mitigating measures to deal with the 

impacts of development on the transport network and to provide safe access and 

sustainable transport options. HDCP notes the rural location of this development 

and the likely challenges to be able to provide sustainable transport to serve the 

site. HDCP raised concerns, as this is likely to be a significant facility in the district 

that will potentially attract considerable vehicle movements using access points 

from the strategic road network that could be considered sub-optimal for use by a 

potential significant increase in vehicles, including large vehicles manoeuvres. 

Also raised concerns in relation to increased traffic movements onto and from the 

A6 which is part of the 60mph strategic road network in the county. In light of such, 

HDCP propose the consideration of a new roundabout to be installed at an 

appropriate access point to secure the safe access and egress of traffic serving 

the site. Emphasised that Welham Lane is a popular walking and cycling route 

(part of National Cycle Route 64) and therefore requested to see safeguards put 

in place to protect the interests of these highway users should the proposal be 

53



 

 

 
                                                                                                             DC&REG. BOARD – 07 August 2025 

 

permitted and implemented. HDCP did not have specific views on what such 

measures should comprise and asked the County Highway authority to consider 

this matter. 

 

GBNP Policy Considerations 

 

71. Outlined that the submitted documentation made no reference to the GBNP, an 

important part of the Development Plan which requires the appropriate amount of 

weight by the decision maker.  

 

72. Policy H2 advises land outside the defined Settlement Boundary (which this site 

is) “will be treated as open countryside, where development will be carefully 

controlled in line with local and national strategic planning polices”. Raised 

concerns that this considerable proposal in bulk and massing is proposed in a rural 

countryside location. Concerned that the provisions of this policy are not 

appropriately satisfied and ask that the County Planning Authority critically 

evaluate this. 

 

73. Policy H3, whilst not an application for housing, this policy applies to all 

development proposals for infill and redevelopment sites, in particular points a,d, 

and e. 

 

74. Policy H6 reflects Policy GD8 of the HLP in terms of development proposals 

demonstrating high quality design and layout, outlining requirements for good 

design from development proposals. 

 

75. Policy T3 supports the enhancement of cycle routes to the village centre, to which 

the proposal should contribute. The proposal, through increases in traffic, may 

have a detrimental effect on National Cycle route 64. HDCP emphasises the 

importance of safeguards to protect the interests of walkers and cyclists should the 

proposal be permitted and implemented. 

 

76. Policy ENV9 reflects Policy GI5 of the HLP in terms of development proposals 

protecting local habitats and species and increasing biodiversity. 

 

77. Policy EMP2, notably points a, b, d, and e, could be relevant to this proposal as 

there is likely to be an element of new employment opportunities. It is recognised 

that the proposal could bring forward new employment opportunities into the 

district. However, based on the information submitted at the time of providing these 

comments, it was not considered that they outweigh the concerns set out above.  

 

Summary  

 

78. In the opinion of HDCP, the HLP supports the principle of re-using previously 

developed land and waste development / renewable energy proposals within the 

54



 

 

 
                                                                                                             DC&REG. BOARD – 07 August 2025 

 

countryside. However, HDCP are concerned that the proposal is likely to increase 

traffic movements: onto and off of the A6; Welham Lane; through Great Bowden 

village and could increase accidents, especially when turning right from the 

Welham Lane onto the A6 through an increase of large, slow-moving vehicles. 

There is also a concern that the increased traffic could impact upon the fleet 

movements of the HDC depot.  

 

79. HDCP raised concern that the proposal could result in harm to nearby residents in 

terms of noise and odour and referred to comments from the Harborough 

Environmental Health Officer which represents a significant concern to HDCP.  As 

such, it is questioned whether this proposal and the associated facility is in the 

correct place. 

 

Further Comments 

 

80. HDCP provided additional comments dated 12 September 2024 in light of the 

submission of further information from the applicant.  

 

81. Within such, concerns were once again raised in relation to traffic generated by 

the proposal and emphasised the consideration of a roundabout to allow safe 

access and egress to the site. 

 

82. Raised concern regarding the extent to which the proposal would give rise to an 

inappropriate increase in ammonia and associated nitrate density into local soil 

substrates and the risk of such increase in nitrate concentration contaminating 

local watercourses. There are newly set wildflower meadows near to the site and 

any increase in nitrate levels in local soils would be likely to have the effect of 

reducing the biodiversity of those new wildflower meadows. This could have the 

undesirable effect of reducing the overall richness of the existing, and potential 

future, biodiversity of the surrounding area to the application site.  

 

83. Outlined incidents involving the District Council’s Environmental Health Officers 

around window openings in the existing facility on the site being left open with the 

result that significant numbers of insects have been able to get into the local 

environment and cause some loss of amenity to local residents. This is an 

important issue to local people and therefore, should the new facility be 

recommended for approval, it is requested that the new facility is built as a sealed 

unit with appropriate air conditioning facilities to prevent windows and doors being 

opened and insects potentially escaping into the wider environment in the same 

way that has happened in the past 

 

84. It is considered that there are a number of technical environmental health related 

issues that have been raised in the initial and second response of HDCP and 

Environmental Health. In the light of this, it is considered that if these environmental 

health related issues are not found to be capable of being satisfactorily mitigated 

55



 

 

 
                                                                                                             DC&REG. BOARD – 07 August 2025 

 

there would appear to the District Council to be sufficient grounds to justify a 

recommendation of refusal of this planning application. 

  

85. Harborough District Council Environmental Health Officers (EHO) – 

Comments. 

 

86. Provided two formal consultation responses, the most recent of which was 

separated into matters relating to noise and matters relating to odour:  

 

Noise 

 
87. Outlined that a worst-case approach to selecting background noise levels would 

have been preferable. The use of the modal background level was not necessarily 

inappropriate, but the EHO highlighted that a large number of readings fell 

below the chosen representative background level. The EHO clarified that they did 

not recommend using the lowest recorded value as the representative background 

level, nor did they state that the chosen figures were incorrect.  

 
88. Confirmed they are comfortable with the assessment using another site.  

 
89. In relation to deliveries of maize, outlined that ideally this would have been carried 

out during the busiest time, but accept that the factoring in of the increased number 

of vehicular movements has been used in the assessment. The applicant explains 

why undertaking the assessment during the busiest months for maize deliveries 

would delay the application, which is deemed an acceptable response.  

 
90. In terms of the proposed barriers, confirmed the detail if already part of the model 

assessment is satisfactory. Agreed that there is no benefit to re-modelling with a 

lesser alternative and this has not been requested.  

 
91. The EHO accepted the applicant’s response regarding noise reduction through 

openable windows but noted that BS8233 includes a footnote (Note 3) which 

highlights that the level of sound insulation through a partially open window can 

vary significantly, depending on the window type and the frequency content of the 

external noise. The EHO explained that this is why they often provide a range of 

attenuation values.  

 
92. In terms of assessing the likelihood of complaints, confirmed noise complaints will 

come into an Environmental Health Team, and it will be on those worse case 

scenarios that residents are disturbed. On a warm summer for example, when they 

may have windows and doors completely open, this noise reduction maybe much 

less, even negligible. 

 

Odour  

 

56



 

 

 
                                                                                                             DC&REG. BOARD – 07 August 2025 

 

93. Confirmed having reviewed the consultant’s response most of the points raised by 

the EHO have been covered, apart really from the low wind speed non prevailing 

wind question in relation to odour. From the EHO’s perspective, the consultants 

have followed accepted guidance and used what they deem appropriate 

meteorological data. Given such, it would be difficult to continue to object. 

 

94. Accepted that not all sites will be covered by nearby meteorological stations and 

local conditions do play an important part in odour dispersion. The chosen site of 

Wittering may be similar to the chosen site, and it is also accepted that the model 

requires data from a suitable site. 

 

95. Accepted that downwind of the prevailing would give the most impact from odour. 

Downwind from a south-westerly is more often associated with higher wind 

speeds, and thus more dispersion. The sitting high-pressure systems with low wind 

speeds, do in the EHO’s experience, often lead to more odour complaints, due to 

the more stable nature of the weather systems. The issue of low wind speeds and 

sitting high pressure systems is not acknowledged in the modelling, as prevailing 

winds are used to determine likely receptors.  

 
96. The classification of the odour would be better described in the most offensive 

category, as if there was an episode or breakdown, this worse case odour is what 

would be potentially smelt locally. However, the EHO acknowledges that issues 

would only occur in abnormal operations. 

 
97. Overall, it is accepted that the plant will be a fully enclosed system, and odour 

comments have been in relation to abnormal operations or deliveries etc. The main 

concern in terms of odour relates to the low wind speed sitting high pressure 

weather systems. The assessment relates to issues that are deemed as unlikely. 

The EHO would still have some concerns relating to the dispersion of odour at 

these low wind speeds but also accept that the methodology is in line with accepted 

guidance. 

 

Additional Input  

 
98. In light of the above, the applicant provided some further points of clarification to 

address the EHO comments. The EHO were formally re-consulted but did not 

provide an additional formal response. Although not submitted as part of the formal 

re-consultation process, the EHO subsequently provided a follow-up email stating, 

“I have had another look at the reports and at the comments and responses. In 

terms of noise and odour my comments are really aimed at worse-case scenarios, 

and the responses back for both odour and noise obviously look at normal 

operations. There are comments relating to worse case such as abnormal or 

breakdown of the plant, and again these would be very unlikely and hopefully short-

lived. I therefore have no further comments in relation to both noise and odour.” 

 

57



 

 

 
                                                                                                             DC&REG. BOARD – 07 August 2025 

 

99. In advance of the report being published the EHO were consulted on the draft 

conditions seeking to control environmental health related matters which were 

raised both in their original response and more generally. The EHO confirmed the 

conditions appear very comprehensive and cover all aspects of concern.  

 

100. Great Bowden Parish Council (GBPC) – Objection.  

 

101. Provided an initial response dated 02 February 2024 raising an objection, the 

reasons for which can be broadly categorised by the following elements (please 

note reference to the NPPF was made in relation to the now superseded 2023 

version): 

 

Traffic and Highways 

 

102. Raised contravention with policy 108 of the NPPF, regarding the lack of a safe and 

suitable site access given the proposal would lead to an increase in vehicular 

movements generated on a road unsuitable in width and design to cater for such 

an increase. Furthermore, outlined contravention with Policy CS11 of the 

Harborough Core Strategy in relation to the proposal not incorporating safe design 

in respect of intensification of the A road access and potential impacts on highway 

safety. The proposal could, “result in an unacceptable increase in traffic turning 

onto or off an A road in an area remote from main development and where traffic 

speeds are generally high. Such an increase would not be in the best interests of 

highway safety”. Further detail is provided below:  

 

103. “The proposed development would be served by an existing access onto Welham 

Lane, which is an unclassified, adopted road, subject to the national speed limit. 

From the junction with the A6 access road, Welham Lane is a narrow, single track 

lane that provides vehicular access to a small number of farms and other 

commercial businesses, as well as linking to a public right of way to the east. There 

is poor inter-visibility between vehicles heading eastbound from the A6 access 

road junction to the west of the site and those exiting from the access road on the 

eastern boundary of the site. Given the lack of a viable passing point along the 

50m lane between the two points, this could lead to drivers having to reverse back 

up over 50m down the narrow lane, or around the ninety degree bend back in to 

the site, risking collisions with other vehicles accessing the development or with 

existing traffic. An intensification of use of the site, generating additional vehicle 

movements, would serve to increase this risk further. There are obvious limitations 

with regards to Welham Lane's geometry for two-way traffic, specifically its width, 

which at its narrowest point is approximately 3m, and its widest point is 3.3m. In 

addition to this the road is bound by soft verges (no kerb) and has no footways.  

The LHA has also previously conducted a site visit and there is visible evidence of 

vehicles over running the carriageway. In principle, carriageway widths should be 

appropriate for the particular context and uses of the road. Furthermore the LHA 

58



 

 

 
                                                                                                             DC&REG. BOARD – 07 August 2025 

 

has long considered that Welham Lane is unsuitable for two-way traffic, and 

especially two-way HGV-traffic.”  

 

104. Raised contravention with Policy EMP2(e) of the GBNP whereby new development 

should, “not generate severe levels of traffic movement”. Stated, “The Transport 

Statement as part of the application states that the development would at its peak 

receive 15000tonnes during the busiest 30 days of the year using Artic Vehicles 

this is 1000 HGV movements per day (500 in each direction) if 20 tonne vehicles 

are used this figure rises to 1500 vehicle movements a day. This is at odds with 

the developer’s statement that these would be spread throughout the working day 

with a maximum of 4 two-way HGV movements per hour”. 

 

105. Raised concerns that feedstuff materials proposed to be used would typically be 

transported by tractors and trailers, rather than HGVs. Concern that this could 

increase the number of vehicle movements, a number of which would be slow 

moving vehicles which could lead to tailbacks and overtaking on the single lane (in 

each direction) of the A6. Furthermore, given the tight nature of the turn off from 

the A6 junction, vehicles carrying agricultural loads would be required to slow to 

very low speeds causing further disruption. Concerned that these issues would be 

worse on the single track Welham Lane, having significant public use, including its 

designation as SUSTRANS National Cycle Network Route 64. 

 

106. With reference to Section IN5, paragraph 1.29 of the 6Cs Design Guide, 

highlighted cause for concern given the, “significant increase of vehicles turning at 

the junction of the A6 and Welham Lane could lead to a highway safety danger as 

vehicles on the A6 are travelling at high speeds”. 

 

107. Stated, “The Applicant has failed to demonstrate that their proposal will be in a 

location where services are readily and safely accessible by walking, cycling and 

public transport. Leicestershire County Council policy contained in the Local 

Transport Plan 3 & Policy IN6 of the 6Cs Design Guide seeks to deliver new 

development in areas where travel distances can be minimised, and genuine, safe 

and high quality choices are available (or can be provided) for people to walk, cycle 

and use public transport facilities and services nearby. The LTP3 and the 6Cs 

Design Guide reflects Government guidance contained in the NPPF”. Outlined the 

nearest public transport being a bus stop situated approximately 1km from the site 

and the requirements of Section IN6, paragraph 1.41 of the 6Cs Design Guide. 

The footway links for walking to and from the site are very limited, raising concerns 

that vulnerable pedestrians would be put at risk when walking to this site. 

Therefore, the majority of trips are likely to be car-borne raising concern over the 

sustainability of the site. 

 
108. Referred to previous applications proposed off Welham Lane where the Local 

Highways Authority had raised concerns. These include application reference: 

59



 

 

 
                                                                                                             DC&REG. BOARD – 07 August 2025 

 

2009/1253/03 and 2010/0023/03. Application reference: 20/01497/FUL was 

recommended refusal on highways grounds.  

 
109. Attention drawn to the refusal of application reference: 15/00901/OUT, which was 

previously made at the site due to highways impacts. Noted that as part of the 

Transport Assessment submitted with application reference: 15/00901/OUT, the 

previous use as a mushroom farm generated a total of 40 car trips and 10 HGV 

trips per day on average. Therefore, there is concern that trip generation is 

predicted to rise significantly due to the proposed development, which could lead 

to added congestion on the highway and associated safety issues. 

 

110. Given the above, GBPC believe the application conflicts with policy and should be 

refused. 

 

Air Quality and Odour  

 
111. Questioned statements made within the submitted Qualitative Odour Risk 

Assessment (dated 2023). In particular, the assessment states, “With regard to 

odour, the main potential source of emissions will be associated with the loading 

of feedstock into the AD Plant. Agricultural odours, including those associated with 

livestock rearing, are likely to be characteristic of the wider area”.  However, it is 

claimed there is no activity producing smells on this scale nearby.   

 

112. Outlined the policy requirements of W4, W6, and DM2 of the LMWLP, and 

questioned compliance with such given the close proximity to a number of 

residential properties, and where the majority of the population of the village of 

Great Bowden are within 1km of the site.  

 
113. Outlined the policy requirements of Policy EMP2(d) of the GBNP and referenced 

other AD Plant across the UK where odour and poor air quality are reported 

despite, “proposes made during planning that this would not be the case”. A 

number of case studies have been provided. 

 
114. Given the above, GBPC believe the application conflicts with policy and should be 

refused.  

 
Water Pollution  

 

115. Outlined the requirements of paragraph 109 of the NPPF in relation to water 

pollution and stated the application contravenes this policy.   

 

Flooding and Drainage  

 

116. Referenced that the submitted application form suggests the proposal would not 

increase the risk of flooding elsewhere and is not in an area at risk of flooding, 

however questioned that the submitted Landscape and Visual Statement (dated 

60



 

 

 
                                                                                                             DC&REG. BOARD – 07 August 2025 

 

June 2023) notes that, “the application site and its immediate surroundings fall into 

Group 3, River Valley Floodplains, more specifically into 3A, Floodplain Valleys 

landscape character type.” 

 

117. Outlined concerns that introducing buildings, structures and hardstanding onto the 

current undeveloped parts of the site would increase the risk of surface water run -

off and associated impacts on neighbouring properties. Concerned that, during 

intense rain, the proposal would be unable to capture enough rainwater to avoid 

impacts of surface water run-off on neighbouring properties.  

 
Landscape and Heritage Impact  

 
118. Outlined the policy requirements of DM5 of the LMWLP and EMP2(b) of the GBNP 

and suggested these requirements are not met given the number of objections 

from residents.  

 

Ecology and Biodiversity  

 

119. Highlighted that the Great Bowden Borrowpit SSSI is approximately 800 metres 

west from the site. Furthermore, highlighted that the recommendations outlined 

within the submitted Preliminary Ecological Appraisal by Archer ecology (March 

2023) had not been acted upon, such as the Reptile Survey. 

 

Safety  

 

120. Reference to examples of accidents at other AD facilities in England: In 2014 

Harper Adams University, Shropshire, processing tower collapse; 2017 Colwick, 

Nottinghamshire, slurry tank explosion; 2023 Cassington, Oxfordshire, lightning 

strike explosion and fire. GBPC also added, “the proposed site is in the bottom of 

the Welland Valley and nearby residents confirm they have been the subject of 

lightning strikes whilst in occupation.”  

 

121. General concern raised that residential dwellings are within 100m of the site, the 

proposal increases risk and should be refused on safety grounds.  

 

Boundary Ownership 

 

122. Raised concerns regarding the ownership of the drainage ditch between the site 

and the neighbouring property; “The neighbours state that they have previously 

established ownership of this drainage ditch.  Despite this, the applicant shows this 

as belonging to the property they are making the application on.” 

 

Further Responses  

 

61



 

 

 
                                                                                                             DC&REG. BOARD – 07 August 2025 

 

123. A second response was provided on 28 August 2024 in light of further information 

submitted by the applicant, maintaining an objection and repeating the reasons 

outlined in the previous response.  

 

124. A third response was provided on 11 September 2024, maintaining an objection 

and providing specific comments on the additional information submitted. 

  

125. GBPC comments on the ‘revised Odour Assessment’ include the following: 

 

1)  The applicant’s report uses only one assessment method. The assessment 

methods utilised involve a large number of assumptions. The Institute for Air 

Quality Management recommend more than one method is used and the 

results are compared to achieve a fair assessment. 

2)  The report fails to take into account the 2 nearest receptors.  

3)  There is no construction phase assessment.   

4)  Ammonia risk has not been assessed correctly so this is a risk to the nearby 

SSSI.  

5)  The report fails to take into account the handling of the stored material while 

being unloaded, removed and moved.   

6)  The report, “cherry picks” assessment methods and data and is not in 

accordance with guidance issued by Institute for Air Quality Management. 

 

126. GBPC comments on the ‘revised Traffic Assessment’ include the following: 

 

1)  The additional highways information paints a positive picture but ignores the 

reality of slow moving vehicles leaving and joining a fast road (A6).  

2)  Referenced application 20/01497/FUL (proposal for the erection of a light 

industrial building on a neighbouring site on Welham Lane) which was 

refused on highways grounds. In consideration of this refusal, questioned 

what has changed since to improve the situation. 

3)  Given the above-mentioned points, the application contravenes Policy 

EMP2(e) of the GBNP. 

 

127. GBPC also highlight that the Design and Access and supporting documentation 

makes no reference to the Neighbourhood Plan and conclude by stating, “This 

proposal is the wrong type of operation for the site given the proximity to the village 

and especially very nearby residents.” 

 

128. North Northamptonshire Council – No objection. 

 

129. Raised no objection subject to consultation with Sutton Bassett Parish Meeting and 

Dingley Parish Council, and that due consideration is given to the impact of the 

development on residents of these settlements in relation to noise, traffic, and the 

emission of odours. 

 

62



 

 

 
                                                                                                             DC&REG. BOARD – 07 August 2025 

 

130. Dingley Parish Council – Comments.  

 

131. “Dingley Parish Council is very concerned that the proposed anaerobic digestion 

plant, which is expected to have 50 heavy vehicle movements per day, will result 

in an increase in HGV’s through Dingley. The A427 is narrow through the centre 

of the village and struggles to accomodate (sic) two passing lorries. These often 

make contact, particulary (sic) at night, disturbing residents whose properties abutt 

(sic) the road and are already affected by heavy traffic vibrations. The Council 

would like to see all HGV’s diverted onto the A6 and A14”.  

 

132. Mr Neil O’Brien MP – Objection. 

 

133. Traffic: Concern that the development would generate a maximum of 52 two-way 

HGV movements per day (26 in each direction) during the busiest 30 days of the 

year, spread throughout the working day with a maximum of 4 two-way HGV 

movements per hour. Outlined concern that this assumes 13 hours of continual 

deliveries, with no peaks or troughs, and each load unloaded with no delays or 

snags every half hour. Concern that feedstuff such as straw and maize are typically 

transported by tractors and trailers, rather than HGVs, and that this is what would 

be likely to happen in practice, generating more vehicle movements. Concern the 

lower speed of these vehicles could cause tailback and overtaking on the A6, 

particularly when navigating the turn off the A6. Concern regarding the impact on 

Welham Lane and its pedestrian users. Outlined conflict with Policy EMP2, “(3)” of 

the GBNP. Referred to the refusal of application reference 20/01497/FUL on 

Welham Lane based on highways concerns.   

 

134. Air quality and smells: Questioned the claims in the Air Quality Assessment and 

stated there are no activities producing agricultural odours on such a scale in the 

area. Outlined conflict with Policy W6 and DM2 of the LMWLP and Policy EMP2(d) 

of the GBNP. Outlined a number of other cases in England and Wales where 

anaerobic digestion facilities have been reported producing odour and poor air 

quality, despite promises made during the planning process this would not be the 

case.  

 

135. Flooding and drainage: Concern that despite the application form claiming the 

proposal would not increase the risk of flooding elsewhere and the proposal is not 

within an area at risk of flooding, the landscape and visual statement notes, “the 

application site and its immediate surroundings fall into Group 3, River Valley 

Floodplains, more specifically into 3A, Floodplain Valleys landscape character 

type.” Outlined the neighbouring farm has previously experienced damage from 

surface water flooding and concern that building on the undeveloped part of the 

site would increase risk of surface run-off. Raised concern regarding the ownership 

of the drainage ditch between the site and the neighbouring farm. Reinforced the 

concerns raised within the Lead Local Flood Authority’s response.  

 

63



 

 

 
                                                                                                             DC&REG. BOARD – 07 August 2025 

 

136. Landscape and heritage impact: Outlined conflict with Policy DM5 of the LMWLP 

and Policy EMP2(b) of the GBNP. Stated the significant number of objections from 

residents suggest the tests of these conditions are not met.  

 

137. Ecology and biodiversity: Concern regarding the potential impact on the Great 

Bowden Borrowpit SSSI and that reptile and bat surveys are recommended/ 

warranted but had not been conducted.  

 

138. Safety: Concern the proposal is not a safe distance from nearby residential 

properties and outlined a number of incidents which had occurred at other 

anaerobic digestion facilities in England.  

 

139. Dr Sarah Hill CC (local member for Market Harborough East)– Has been 

notified of the application. 

 

140. Mr Barry Champion CC (Former County Councillor for Market Harborough 

East) – Has been notified of the application.  

 

141. Leicestershire County Council Highways Authority (LHA) – No objection 

subject to conditions and/or planning obligations.  

 

142. Confirmed the LHA are satisfied that the proposed access arrangements are 

sufficient to serve the proposed development and accepted that trip generation 

details provided by the applicant are a likely reflection of the movements which 

would be associated with the proposed development.  

 

143. Confirmed the proposed development would result in modest increases in Ration 

to Flow Capacity (RFC) values and the A6/Welham Lane junction, so there would 

still be significant capacity for the junction to operate efficiently with minimal 

queuing in all scenarios. 

 

144. Confirmed the onsite parking facilities are acceptable and given the nature of the 

proposed development and that a Servicing and Delivery Plan would be provided 

via condition to control the movement of HGVs the LHA had no further comments 

in relation to the internal layout of the site. 

 

145. Requested: a pre-commencement condition relating to the provision of a 

Construction Method Statement; pre-occupation condition relating to the provision 

of a Delivery and Service Management Plan; pre-occupation condition relating to 

off-site works on Welham Road; pre-occupation condition relating to the 

implementation of access arrangements; pre-occupation condition relating to the 

provision and maintenance of vehicular visibility splays at the site access; and a 

pre-occupation condition relating to the provision of off street car and/or HGV 

parking provision with turning facilities.  

 

64



 

 

 
                                                                                                             DC&REG. BOARD – 07 August 2025 

 

146. Leicestershire County Council Public Rights of Way (PROW) – Comments.  

 

147. The appropriate licenses may need to be applied for in order to open up the surface 

of the bridleway (highway surface) and apply for a temporary closure. If any 

incidents or circumstances arise whereby the construction phase causes problems 

for the public, then there are powers available under the provisions of the Highways 

Act 1980 to work to resolve them. 

 

148. Leicestershire County Council Lead Local Flood Authority (LLFA) – No 

objection subject to conditions. 

 

149. Requested pre-development conditions relating to the provision and approval of a 

surface water drainage scheme and details in relation to the management of 

surface water on site during construction.   

 

150. Requested a condition requiring details in relation to the long-term maintenance of 

the surface water drainage system within the development prior to first use of the 

development. 

 

151. Leicestershire County Council Ecology – No objection subject to conditions. 

 

152. Confident that sufficient information has been provided in relation to the 

biodiversity of the site and that the protected species and/or habitats found on site 

would not be impacted with appropriate mitigation and enhancements.  

 

153. In relation to Biodiversity Net Gain (BNG), as the application was submitted prior 

to February 2024, the development is not subject to mandatory BNG. However, to 

comply with the NPPF a measurable net gain for biodiversity should be 

demonstrated post development (1% rather than 10%). 

 

154. The current metric shows the proposed development would result in a net loss of 

-41.22% in habitat units. It is also noted that hedgerows have not been included in 

this version and five hedgerows are present across the site. An updated metric 

should be provided which demonstrates a measurable net gain  for both habitat and 

hedgerow units. 

 

155. Therefore, conditions requiring implementation in strict accordance with the 

submitted ecological documents, including photographic evidence of bird and bat 

box installation, and the provision of a Biodiversity Offsetting Management Plan 

(BOMP) prior to development commencing are recommended.  

 

156. Leicestershire County Council Landscape – No objection subject to a condition 

securing the submission of a detailed landscaping scheme. 

 

65



 

 

 
                                                                                                             DC&REG. BOARD – 07 August 2025 

 

157. Leicestershire County Council Archaeology – No objection subject to 

conditions.  

 

158. Requested a pre-development condition requiring a programme of archaeological 

works including an initial phase of trial trenching to inform a final archaeological 

mitigation scheme. Each stage is to be completed in accordance with a written 

scheme of investigation (WSI) which has been submitted to, and approved in 

writing by, the Waste Planning Authority. 

 

159. Leicestershire County Council Public Health – Comments.   

 

160. Outlined the application is not within an Air Quality Management Area (AQMA), 

with the closest being Kibworth AQMA.  

 

161. Outlined health data for the area’s postcode: Chronic Obstructive Pulmonary 

Disease (COPD) prevalence (all ages) for 2023/24 is 1.6%, lower (better) than the 

England value of 1.9% and the East Midlands value of 2.0%. Mortality rate from 

COPD, all ages for 2021-2023 is 26.8 per 100,000 in Harborough which is lower 

(better) than the England value of 44.1 per 100,000 and East Midlands value of 

43.9 per 100,000.  

 

162. 2023/2024 data for Asthma for Harborough is 7.0% higher (worse) than the East 

Midlands value of 6.8% and England value of 6.5%. Under 75 mortality rate from 

respiratory disease considered preventable for 2021-2023 for Harborough is 9.1 

per 100,000, lower (better) in comparison to 17.8 per 100,000 for East Midlands 

and 18 per 100,000 for England. 

 

163. Outlined air quality data for the area’s postcode: Fraction of mortality attributable 

to particulate air pollution in 2023 for Harborough was 5.4% in comparison to the 

East Midlands value of 5.6% and England value of 5.2%. Fine particulate matter 

in 2023 for Harborough was 7.2 μg/m3 (per cubic metre of air) compared to the 

East Midlands value of 7.5 μg/m3 and the England value of 7.0 μg/m3. 

 

164. Outlined the area’s index of multiple deprivation score, with the area ranking 

32,499 out of 32,844 in England (1 being most deprived and 32,844 being least 

deprived).  

 

165. Environment Agency (EA) – Comments.  

 

166. The proposal would require a permit under Schedule 1, Section 5.4 of the 

Environmental Permitting Regulations (England and Wales) 2016. The EA would 

consider the following areas of potential harm when assessing the permit: 

Techniques for pollution control including in process controls, emission control, 

management, waste feedstock and digestate, energy, accidents, noise and 

monitoring; emission benchmarks for combustion products, temperature and pH; 

66



 

 

 
                                                                                                             DC&REG. BOARD – 07 August 2025 

 

air quality impact assessment, including odour and Habitats Regulations 

Assessment.  

 

167. Natural England (NE) – No objection. 

 

168. Considered that the proposed development would not damage or destroy the 

interest features for which the Great Bowden Borrowpit Site of Special Scientific 

Interest (SSSI) has been designated. The modelling outputs outlined within the 

submitted Dispersion Modelling Assessment (dated July 2024) indicate that the 

proposal would not give rise to an increase in ammonia concentration or nitrogen 

deposition of more than 1% of the relevant critical load and level at the Great 

Bowden Borrowpit SSSI. Therefore, the development alone is considered unlikely 

to have a significant adverse effect on this SSSI.  

 

169. It is noted NE have not received consultation upon any other development which 

may impact upon the air quality of Great Bowden Borrowpit SSSI which fit the 

criteria set out in their previous response dated 29th January 2024. As such, NE 

raised no further concern in relation to in combination effects.  

 

170. National Highways – No objection.  

 

171. The A6 near the site does not form part of the Strategic Road Network and is not 

a National Highways asset.  

 

172. National Grid Electricity Transmission – No objection. 

 

173. Provided profile drawings outlining the height clearance considerations when 

travelling beneath National Grid lines and guidelines to be followed when carrying 

out works.  

 

174. National Gas Transmission – No objection.  

 

175. There are no National Gas Transmission assets affected in the area.  

 

176. Active Travel England (ATE) – No comment. 

 

177. The application does not meet the statutory thresholds for ATE’s consideration.  

 

178. UK Health Security Agency (East Midlands Health Protection Team) (UKHSA) 

– No comment.  

 

179. UKHSA are not a statutory consultee and would not normally comment on this type 

of application unless there are specific chemical and environmental hazard 

concerns which have the potential to impact the health of local communities. 

Impacts on public health from local air quality, noise and contaminated land fall 

67



 

 

 
                                                                                                             DC&REG. BOARD – 07 August 2025 

 

under the remit of the local planning authority and it is their responsibility to decide 

whether or not to comment on these aspects of the planning application. 

 

180. Health and Safety Executive (HSE) – Comments.  

 

181. HSE does not advise on safety grounds, against the granting of planning 

permission in this case. 

 

182. Severn Trent Water Limited (Ltd); Cadent Gas Ltd; Leicestershire & Rutland 

Wildlife Trust; Sustrans; Sutton Bassett Parish Meeting – No comments 

received at the time of writing this report.  

 

Publicity and Representations 

 

183. The application has been publicised by means of two site notices, press notice 

(Harborough Mail) and neighbour notification letters sent to the nearest occupiers 

in accordance with the County Council’s adopted Statement of Community 

Involvement. 

 

184. 13 representations were submitted directly to Harborough District Council (at the 

time of writing this report). These representations are included in the summary of 

representations below.  

 

185. A second round of publicity was conducted on 22 August 2024 in light of the 

submission of additional information from the applicant. Those who had raised 

representations during the first consultation were re-consulted. 

 

186. In total, 330 representations have been received, 1 in support, 316 raising 

objections, and 13 raising comments.  

 

187. The first consultation period ran from 15 January 2024. A summary of the 

objections are set out below. However, given the number of representations and 

length of such once filtered, a full, detailed summary has been included within 

Appendix B. 

 

a. Highways and traffic: impacts on Welham Road and Welham Lane; impacts on  

National Cycle Network Route 64; impacts on the Welham Road Bridge (over the 

A6); impacts on the A6/Welham Road junction; impacts on local road 

infrastructure and capacity; parking; construction phase; refusal of previous 

applications on highways grounds;  concern with the submitted Transport 

Statement, Rev C, dated June 2023; highways and traffic mitigation.  

b. Odour: impacts of odours from transport and delivery; impacts of odours from 

storage; impacts of odours from the spreading of digestate; odour mitigation; 

concern with the submitted Qualitative Odour Risk Assessment.  

68



 

 

 
                                                                                                             DC&REG. BOARD – 07 August 2025 

 

c. Ecology and local environment: impacts on Hursley Park Country Park; impact on 

nearby ecological projects; concern with the submitted Preliminary Ecological 

Appraisal.  

d. Climate change and pollution: spreading of digestate. 

e. Public health. 

f. Noise: concern with the submitted Sound Assessment Report. 

g. Landscape and visual amenity: design, materials and finishes.  

h. Flood risk and drainage: surface water; drainage; concern with the submitted 

Flood Risk Assessment and Drainage Strategy. 

i. Heritage and conservation.  

j. Light pollution.  

k. Pests. 

l. Use of maize, straw, and poultry manure.  

m. Risk of accidents/incidents. 

n. Employees. 

o. Land ownership. 

p. Concerns with the submitted application form.  

q. Reference to other anaerobic digestion facilities.  

r. Economic impacts. 

s. Conflict with national and local policy.  

t. National Grid Connection and Compound  

 

188. In addition to the above representations, a number of specialist documents/reports 

were submitted in response to application. These included: 

 

a. Air Quality and Odour Review: Marigold Farm Anaerobic Digestion Plant, dated 

Feb 2024 

b. Letter of objection by planning agent, dated Feb 2024.   

c. Review of the highway and transportation related issues dated Feb 2024.   

 
189. These reports were forwarded to the relevant technical consultees and applicant 

for consideration and comment. 
 

190. One representation was received in support outlining biomass as an important 

contributor to UK’s energy mix. 
 

191. A second round of publicity was conducted on 22 August 2024 in light the 

submission of additional information from the applicant, whereby those who had 

raised representations were re-consulted. Likewise, a summary of objections are 

included below, with a full, detailed summary set out in Appendix C. 
 

a. Highways, traffic and proposed mitigation measures  

b. Odour 

c. Public health 

69



 

 

 
                                                                                                             DC&REG. BOARD – 07 August 2025 

 

d. Ecology and local environment  

e. Pollution 

f. Heritage and conservation 

g. Landscape and visual impacts 

h. Pests 

i. New residential development  

j. Light pollution  

k. Pests 

l. Conflict with national and local policy 

m. Planning conditions  

 

192. In addition to the above representations, a specialist report was submitted in 

response to application: Review of Air Quality and Odour Assessment, dated 

August 2024. This report was forwarded to the relevant technical consultees and 

applicant for consideration and comment.  
 

193. The issues raised from both consultation periods are considered in the 

Assessment of Proposal section of this report. 

 
Assessment of Proposal 

 

194. Section 38(6) of the Planning and Compulsory Purchase Act 2004 requires that 

planning applications are determined in accordance with the development plan 

unless material considerations indicate otherwise.  
 

195. The application relates to proposed anaerobic digestion plant, associated 

Infrastructure, lagoons and feedstock clamps in a countryside location. The plant 

would import and process 9,000 tonnes of poultry manure, 15,000 tonnes of maize, 

and 16,000 tonnes of straw annually. As a result, the plant would produce 7mw of 

biomethane annually which would be piped to a National Gas compound via 

connecting pipework and injected directly into the National Transmission System. 

The proposal would also produce and export 30,000 tonnes of liquid digestate, 

24,000 tonnes of solid digestate, and 10,000 tonnes of CO2 annually. 

 

196. The issues for the determination of this proposal can be summarised as: the need 

for additional capacity to manage agricultural waste and the need for low carbon, 

renewable energy; the principle of development in a countryside location; the loss 

of a residential property; traffic, access, and parking; odour; noise; landscape and 

visual amenity; lighting; heritage and conservation; pollution; public health; 

biodiversity and geodiversity; climate change; land contamination; flood risk, 

hydrology and hydrogeology; vibration; dust; agriculture/conservation of soil 

resources; economic growth and resilience; crime; minerals; and sustainability.  

 

Need for Development  

70



 

 

 
                                                                                                             DC&REG. BOARD – 07 August 2025 

 

 

Renewable and low carbon energy 

 

197. In relation to the need for renewable and low carbon energy, paragraph 161 of the 

NPPF states that the planning system should support the transition to net zero by 

2050 and should, amongst other things, help to: support renewable and low carbon 

energy and associated infrastructure. This is underpinned by the legally binding 

climate change mitigation target created by the CCA for at least 100% reduction in 

greenhouse gas emissions in the UK by 2050. 

 

198. The proposal would utilise the process of anaerobic digestion, the inputs of which 

primarily consist of agricultural waste, to produce biogas which is cleaned to 

produce biomethane. This is proposed to be injected directly into the National 

Transmission System. The site would produce 7mw of gas per annum. Chapter 2 

of the BMS outlines that sustainable biomass is a versatile low carbon resource 

that is needed to meet the UK’s net zero target, helping to displace the use of fossil 

fuels in hard-to-decarbonise parts of the economy and by delivering negative 

emissions. Chapter 7 of the BMS explains that biomethane is a renewable gas 

capable of contributing to increasing energy security, by virtue of being produced 

domestically, sustainably, and delivering steady production volumes, provided 

feedstock supply is stable. The Government recognises biomass will continue to 

play an important role in optimising the path to net zero and increasing energy 

security. 

 

199. Paragraph 161 of the NPPF outlines that the need to mitigate and adapt to climate 

change should be considered in assessing planning applications, accounting for 

the full range of potential climate change impacts. Importantly, paragraph 168(a;b) 

of the NPPF states, “a) local planning authorities should: give significant weight to 

the benefits associated with renewable and low carbon energy generation and the 

proposal’s contribution to a net zero future; b) recognise that small -scale … 

projects provide a valuable contribution to cutting greenhouse gas emissions”.  

  

200. The PPG-CC states that addressing climate change is one of the core land use 

planning principles which the NPPF expects to underpin both plan -making and 

decision-taking (Reference ID: 6-001-20140306). As per PPG-RLCE, increasing 

the amount of energy from renewable and low carbon technologies will help ensure 

the UK has a secure energy supply, reduce greenhouse gas emissions to slow 

down climate change, and stimulate investment in new jobs and businesses 

(Reference ID: 5-001-20140306). PPG-RLCE subsequently states that planning 

has an important role in the delivery of new renewable and low carbon energy 

infrastructure in locations where the local environmental impact is acceptable 

(Reference ID: 5-001-20140306).  

 

201. In consideration of the above, there is a demonstrable need for low carbon 

renewable energy, including anaerobic digestion, particularly in achieving net zero 

71



 

 

 
                                                                                                             DC&REG. BOARD – 07 August 2025 

 

and increasing energy security. Significant weight is offered through paragraph 

168(a) of the NPPF to the benefits associated with renewable and low carbon 

energy generation in achieving net zero; the use of biomass plays an important 

role in optimising the path to net zero and increasing energy security. 

Notwithstanding such, there is a duty to have regard to the local environmental 

impact of low carbon renewable energy infrastructure, which is assessed further 

throughout the report. 

 

Waste 

 

202. In relation to the need for additional capacity to manage agricultural waste, Policy 

W1: Waste Management Capacity, of the LMWLP outlines that provision will be 

made for a sufficient range of waste facilities within the County to manage the 

equivalent of the predicted arisings for the County up to and including 2031 and to 

meet the recycling, composting and recovery targets as a minimum, subject to any 

new arisings forecasts published in the Council’s Annual Monitoring Reports  

(AMR). These are presented within a number of tables within the supporting text 

of Policy W1. In this instance, the supporting text for Policy W1 (paragraph 4.10) 

and Table 10 of the LMWLP are pertinent. Table 10 (reproduced below) identifies 

a shortfall for the whole plan period up to 2031 of around 650 tonnes per annum 

(tpa). 

 

 
 

203. The supporting text (paragraph 4.10) for Policy W1 states, “The vast majority of 

agricultural waste … is dealt with on site. Only a small percentage (0.57% of the 

total) needs to be transferred off site for management at specialist waste facilities. 

Table 10 displays the estimated shortfall, however, the tonnes required may be of 

such a small scale that they would not justify the existence of a new specialised 

facility. The shortfall could be taken up by existing waste facilities, but a small-scale 

recycling or recovery facility well located to managing agricultural wastes may be 

a more sustainable option than relying upon existing facilities”. Paragraph 7 of the 

NPPW also reiterates that waste planning authorities should consider the extent to 

which the capacity of existing operational facilities would satisfy any identified 

need. 

 

72



 

 

 
                                                                                                             DC&REG. BOARD – 07 August 2025 

 

204. It is therefore acknowledged that the need to manage additional agricultural waste 

is low. Supporting text in the LMWLP highlights the use or extension of existing 

facilities to meet the identified capacity shortfall but also acknowledges that it could 

be bridged by a small-scale facility well located to managing agricultural wastes.  

 

Principle of Development - Location  

 

205. Policy W3: Strategic Waste Facilities of the LMWLP provides support for new 

strategic waste facilities, including extensions to existing waste facilities which 

would in combination with the existing use(s) create a strategic facility. Paragraph 

4.24 of the supporting text to Policy W3 outlines that waste facilities will be 

considered as strategic where they have all of the characteristics outlined by points 

A-D:  

 

A.  facilities which have the capacity to make a significant contribution to Local 

Authority Collected Waste (LACW) or Commercial and Industrial (C&I) 

waste recovery by reducing the amount of residual waste going to landfill or 

are of a very specialist nature;  

 

B.  facilities that offer potential for the co-location of complimentary waste 

facilities and/or end users of recovered materials or energy; 

 

C.  facilities which have potential to deal with LACW and/or C&I waste; and  

 

D.  facilities of sufficient area and characteristics to deliver a strategic function.  

 

206. Given the proposal is to utilise agricultural waste, and that not all the input would 

be waste, it is not considered to fall within all of points A-D and would not be subject 

to Policy W3 of the LMWLP. Therefore, Policy W4 of the LMWLP is the appropriate 

policy against which to assess this application.  

 

207. Policy W4: Non-strategic Waste Facilities of the LMWLP seeks to locate non-

strategic waste facilities within or close to areas where major growth is planned. 

The policy states that planning permission will be granted for new non -strategic 

waste facilities, including extensions to existing waste facilities, within the following 

areas taking into account the principles set out in Policy W5:  

 

i. the Broad Locations for Strategic Waste Facilities, that is, in or close to the 

urban areas of Loughborough/Shepshed, Hinckley/Burbage and Coalville 

and close to the urban area of Leicester;   

ii. in or close to the main urban areas of Melton Mowbray and Market 

Harborough; and   

iii. within major growth areas.  

73



 

 

 
                                                                                                             DC&REG. BOARD – 07 August 2025 

 

 

208. The supporting text to Policy W4 (paragraph 4.25) provides further clarification on 

small scale facilities stating, “Such smaller non-strategic waste facilities will be 

sought in the first instance within the Broad Locations for strategic waste facilities 

but also in other key urban areas within the County – Melton Mowbray and Market 

Harborough; both urban areas are seeking to accommodate over 3,000 further 

homes and will be the focus for new employment areas within the district/borough”.  

 

209. Marigold Farm does not fall within one of the broad locations for strategic waste 

facilities outlined by W4(i), but is close to the main urban area of Market 

Harborough (W4(ii)).  It is not within a major growth area (W4(iii)).  Overall, due to 

the site’s proximity to Market Harborough, the proposal accords with the criteria 

set out in policy W4 (ii).  
 

210. As one of the criteria in the first part of Policy W4 has been met, the second part 

of the policy does not require assessment. Nevertheless, because the facility 

would primarily source waste from rural rather than urban areas, for completeness, 

consideration is given to second part of the policy which states that waste facilities 

outside of the areas identified in the first half will only be granted where they accord 

with the following:  
 

a. facilities for the biological treatment of waste including anaerobic digestion and 

open-air windrow compositing;    

b. the treatment of wastewater and sewage;  

c. landfilling of waste; or  

d. facilities that require a more dispersed location to provide a clear link between 

the proposed location and the waste managed which would result in transport, 

operational and environmental benefits subject to the principles set out in Policy 

W5. Such a proposal must demonstrate there is an overriding need for the 

development and that this cannot be met within the urban areas set out above 

in (i) to (iii). 

 

211. The application proposes an anaerobic digestion plant, associated infrastructure, 

lagoons and feedstock clamps, therefore according with Policy W4(a). 

Furthermore, the supporting text to Policy W4 (paragraph 4.26) of the LMWLP 

states, “Not all waste management facilities can or should be located in the largest 

urban areas. Some facilities, such as the biological treatment of waste … subject 

to conformity with the rest of the Local Plan would be acceptable in more rural 

areas”. The application site lies with in the countryside/open countryside as defined 

by Policy GD3 of the HLP and Policy H2 of the GBNP. Both policies will be 

assessed in detail further within the report. Therefore, in principle, support is 

provided by Policy W4 for the countryside location of the proposal, subject to 

conformity with the rest of the development plan. 

74



 

 

 
                                                                                                             DC&REG. BOARD – 07 August 2025 

 

 

LMWLP Policy W5: Locating Waste Facilities  

 
212. Policy W5 of the LMWLP is the next relevant waste policy which can also be 

analysed in two parts. Firstly, it states that planning permission will be granted for 

waste facilities in accordance with the objectives of Policy W4 upon the following:   

 
i. on land with an existing waste management use, where transport, operational 

and environmental benefits can be demonstrated either as a consequence of 

proximity to the existing waste management uses or the co-location of waste 

management facilities;  

ii. on existing or planned industrial/employment land;  

iii. on previously developed, contaminated and/or derelict land; and  

iv. on existing mineral working sites. 

 

213. The Marigold Farm application site is not of a description that would meet the 

requirements of Policy W5 i, ii, and iv. In consideration of point iii, the western half 

of the application site predominantly consists of vacant buildings associated with 

the site’s previous use as a mushroom farm, including old polytunnels, a derelict 

bungalow and extensive areas of concrete, tarmac and gravel hardstanding. Given 

the site’s previous use and its current poor condition, it is likely this ground could 

be contaminated. Notwithstanding such, the eastern extent of the site consists of 

undeveloped scrubland and a small pond in the north -eastern corner. Both areas 

make up significant elements of the application site, therefore the proposal would 

partially accord with Policy W5(iii) of the LMWLP.  

 
214. Given the above, it is necessary to review the second part of Policy W5, which 

states, “Land not included in (i)-(iv) above will be considered where there is a clear 

link between the proposed location and the waste managed which would result in 

transport, operational and environmental benefits, and there is an overriding need 

for the development which cannot be met within the urban areas set out in (i)-(iii) 

of Policy W4”.  
 

215. The need for the proposed development has already been established. Regarding 

the establishment of a clear link between the proposed location and the waste 

managed which would result in transport, operational and environmental benefits, 

it is first necessary to understand the waste which would be managed at the site. 

In this instance the poultry manure and straw residue mixed together are classified 

as the waste elements of this proposal. 
 

216. In relation to the poultry manure, the proposed input would constitute 9,000 tpa. 

This would equate to approximately 22.5% of the overall input. One third (3,000 

75



 

 

 
                                                                                                             DC&REG. BOARD – 07 August 2025 

 

tonnes) would be sourced from a nearby poultry farm situated approximately 320m 

to the north of the site. There is, therefore, a link between the proposed location 

and some of the waste to be managed. However, it is noted that the nearby farm 

exports poultry manure to another AD plant 32km away, and whilst the proposal 

would in theory provide a much closer connection for this poultry manure to be 

managed, the proposed development would not intrinsically prohibit the farm from 

continuing to export poultry manure this distance which would negate any 

environmental, transport or locational benefits which may otherwise arise. 
 

217. The rest of the poultry manure would be imported from various farms within a 32km 

(20 mile) radius, including within the Kettering and Peterborough areas.   
 

218. Regarding the residual straw, the proposed input would constitute 16,000 tpa 

(approximately 40% of the total input). This would be sourced from farms within a 

40km (25 mile) radius, including farms close to Desborough, Rothwell, Corby, 

Kettering, and Husbands Bosworth. The applicant has stated that it would not be 

possible to ascertain what proportion of residual straw would come from the closest 

farm as the amounts from each farm would depend on crop rotation and contracts 

with farms would vary.  
 

219. A significant proportion of the waste feedstock would be imported from up to 32km 

for the poultry manure, and up to 40km for the straw residue. These are extensive 

distances in a countryside location. Whilst some material would be imported from 

within close proximity, including within 320m of the site, the majority of the waste 

feedstock would not be.  
 

220. As part of managing waste at the site, it is important to also consider the outputs 

produced by the process. The process would produce 7mw of biomethane 

annually, which would be transported by pipeline and injected directly into the 

existing National Gas Grid pipeline. This means there are no vehicle movements 

associated with the biomethane and the site is largely defined by its proximity to 

the gas injection point. Therefore, the site’s proximity to the National Transmission 

System provides clear transportational, operational and environmental benefits 

associated with the production of biomethane.  
 

221. However, it is also important to consider the other outputs (solid digestate, liquid 

digestate, CO2). Whilst approximately 4,000 tonnes of the solid digestate 

(approximately 17% of the solid digestate) would be backhauled annually, the 

majority of solid digestate and liquid digestate would not. As these are to be spread 

on land in which the maize and straw originates, the digestate would be transported 

distances of up to 40km. Furthermore, as the CO2 is collected by a dealer who is 

not the end user, it is not possible to ascertain the locations the CO2 would be 

transported. Therefore, a close link which would result in  transportational, 

operational and environmental benefits associated with the digestate, and CO2 

are not demonstrated.  

76



 

 

 
                                                                                                             DC&REG. BOARD – 07 August 2025 

 

 

222. When considering the waste inputs and associated outputs of the process as a 

whole, it is deemed that there is some link, but not enough to say that there is a 

clear link, between the location of the proposed site and the waste managed which 

would result in transport, operational and environmental benefits. Whilst there is 

policy evidence which points towards an overriding need for low carbon, renewable 

energy, Policy W5 of the LMWLP emphasises that there should be both a clear 

link between the proposed location and the waste managed which would result in 

transport, operational and environmental benefits, and an overriding need for the 

development which cannot be met within the urban areas set out in (i)-(iii) of Policy 

W4. In this instance, both of these elements cannot be clearly demonstrated, and 

therefore there is some conflict with Policy W5 of the LMWLP, in relation to the 

portion of the site which is not considered to be previously developed, 

contaminated and/or derelict land.  
 

Policy W6: Biological Treatment of Waste Including Anaerobic Digestion and Open 

Air Windrow Composting 

 

223. Policy W6 of the LMWLP states, “Planning permission will be granted for waste 

facilities for anaerobic digestion, open air composting, and other forms of biological 

treatment outside of those areas set out in (i)-(iii) of Policy W4 where the proposal 

is an appropriate distance from any sensitive receptors and is located on either: 
 

i. land meeting the requirements of (i)-(iv) of Policy W5, or  

ii. land associated with an existing agricultural, livestock, or food processing use 

where it is demonstrated that there are close links with that use”.  

224. As set out above, the site is within the area set out in (i i) of Policy W4, in that it is 

close to Market Harborough. As such, Parts (i) and (ii) of Policy W6 do not apply. 

Essentially, Policy W6 is silent on waste facilities for anaerobic digestion which do 

fall within those areas identified in Parts (i)-(iii) of Policy W4.  
 

225. It is noted the supporting text to Policy W6 (paragraph 4.35) states (in relation to 

the biological treatment of waste), “it does provide an opportunity for agricultural 

wastes to be treated alongside other wastes. For example, anaerobic digestion 

can take poultry and bovine manures and produce a digestate which is less 

odorous and more readily available to plants than the untreated, raw manure. A 

more rural location also allows the end product, i.e. the soil improver, to be applied 

to land in the vicinity of the waste site thereby reducing the distance travelled by 

the resultant product. It is expected that proposals in rural areas will need to justify 

the selection of the site in terms of the opportunities for treating agricultural wastes 

and the spreading of the end product on adjacent land. Where operations include 

the spreading of compost or other residues over land, the material spread must 

meet the recognised quality standards to be no longer regarded as waste (BSI 

PAS 100 for compost and BSI PAS 110 for digestate from anaerobic digesters)”. 

77



 

 

 
                                                                                                             DC&REG. BOARD – 07 August 2025 

 

 

226. The location of the project is defined by the relationship to the gas injection point 

and the proximity of a small proportion of the poultry manure and the applicant’s 

ability to source the straw as a residue. In relation to treating agricultural wastes in  

this location, it is accepted that the proximity to the farm 320m north would provide 

locational benefits, however imports from this farm would represent a minority of 

the waste feedstock, with the rest being imported from distances of up to 32km for 

the poultry manure, and up to 40km for the straw residue. 
 

227. With regard to the end products, this consists of biomethane, solid and liquid 

digestate, and CO2. The proximity to the National Transmission System provides 

locational benefits given it eliminates the need for biomethane to be transported 

off site.  Regarding the solid and liquid digestate, the process is described as 

cyclical in that the solid and liquid digestate go back on the land where the maize 

is grown and the residual straw is taken from. The closest maize farm is likely to 

be in the Dingley area to the south-east, however, the maize is also sourced from 

farms within an 8km (5 mile) radius, whilst the straw residue would be sourced 

from farms within a 40km (25 mile) radius. Therefore, the spreading of end product 

would not be on adjacent land, and in many instances would be transported some 

distance from the site. The exact end destination which the CO2 would be 

transported to are unknown. In relation to the spreading of material meeting the 

recognised quality standards, this would be controlled and monitored by separate 

mechanisms to planning, in this case by Environmental Permitting Regimes.  
  

228. Therefore, whilst there is some justification as to the selection of the site in terms 

of the opportunities for treating the 3,000 tonnes of poultry manure from the farm 

situated 320m north of the site, and the site’s proximity to the National 

Transmission System, there is uncertainty about the source location of much of 

the feedstock, and the destination of digestate and CO2 outputs. This is largely 

due to the commercial contracts having to be secured, which is unlikely to take 

place until there is more certainty about the development and delivery of the facility. 

Overall, Policy W6 is silent on AD proposals which meet the locational 

requirements of Policy W4, as this proposal does.   
 

Countryside  

 

229. The application site lies within the countryside as defined by Policy GD3 of the 

HLP. Policy GD3 permits development in the countryside where it is required for: 

c) minerals and waste development; d) renewable energy production. This is 

repeated within Policy AP04 of the DHLP, whereby development within the 

countryside, will be permitted for f) minerals and waste development and g) 

renewable energy production. The requirements for such a facility have previously 

been established when assessing need. In summary, there is strong policy support 

for renewable energy production. However, the requirement for managing waste 

78



 

 

 
                                                                                                             DC&REG. BOARD – 07 August 2025 

 

in this location has been partially demonstrated. Overall, the proposal is 

considered to accord with Policy GD3 (d) of the HLP, and Policy AP04 of the DHLP.  
 

230. The application site lies within open countryside as defined by Policy H2 of the 

GBNP. Policy H2 states, “Land outside the defined Settlement Boundary will be 

treated as open countryside, where development will be carefully controlled in line 

with local and national strategic planning policies”. A number of these core local 

and national policies have been assessed above; however, it is noted that 

concerns have been raised by HDCP in relation to this policy and the proposal ’s 

bulk and massing in an open countryside location. This concern is considered 

within the ‘Landscape and Visual Impact’ section further on in the report and is not 

considered to influence the principle of development. 
 

231. Policy CC2 of the HLP states that development will be permitted for renewable and 

low carbon energy generation where:  

 

a. “it is an appropriate technology for the site;  

 

b. it does not create a significant noise intrusion for existing dwellings;  

 

c. it includes measures to mitigate against any adverse impacts on the built and 

natural environment resulting from the construction, operation and 

decommissioning of any equipment/infrastructure;  

 

d. it does not contribute towards an unacceptable cumulative visual impact from 

renewable energy developments when considered in conjunction with nearby 

developments and permitted proposals within the District or adjoining local 

authority areas; and  

 

e. adequate conditions are imposed and/or a legal agreement is entered into 

ensuring that once the use ceases operating permanently, it is fully 

decommissioned and the site appropriately restored.” 

 

232. Policy AP05 of the DHLP largely reflects points c-e of the above. In relation to this, 

and to points b-e of Policy CC2 of the HLP, these are assessed further within this 

report. In order to determine whether anaerobic digestion is an appropriate 

technology for the site, it is not only important to consider the site’s functionality, 

as has been discussed above in relation to feedstock supply and grid access, but 

also the environmental and community impacts of the proposal. Therefore, this 

policy will be considered throughout the report.  

 

Loss of Residential Property 

 

233. Planning permission for a three bedroom bungalow was granted by HDC in 1980 

(Ref: 80/01332/3M), which is located at the western extent of this application site. 

79



 

 

 
                                                                                                             DC&REG. BOARD – 07 August 2025 

 

Condition 3 of the 1980 permission restricted occupancy of the dwelling to “…a 

person employed, or last employed, locally in agriculture…”. In 2014 permission 

was granted for the removal of this condition (Ref: 13/01778/VAC), meaning the 

bungalow no longer had any agricultural occupancy ties. 

 

234. This planning application as defined in the description of development is for a 

“Proposed Anaerobic Digestion Plant, Associate Infrastructure, Lagoons and 

Feedstock Clamps” and the red-line defining the extent of the application site 

encompasses the bungalow. There is no reference to ancillary residential use 

within the description of development.  

 

235. There is little reference within the submitted documents to the bungalow, but the 

Design and Access statement includes a line stating “…a bungalow at the western 

end of the site which will be occupied by a company employee…”. There is no 

reference to the occupation of the bungalow being on a residential basis. 

Furthermore, the bungalow has not been treated as a residential receptor in the 

technical assessments when considering impacts (e.g. noise). As such, the 

application is assessed on the basis the bungalow would no longer form a 

residential dwelling.  

 
236. Part c. of Policy EMP2 (New Employment Opportunities) of the GBNP states that 

in supporting additional employment opportunities, new development will be 

required not to involve the loss of dwellings. The proposed development is contrary 

to this policy.  

 
237. Regard is had to Paragraph 61 of the NPPF which supports the Government’s 

objective of significantly boosting the supply of homes and that an overall aim 

should be to meet an area’s identified housing need. In addition, the NPPF requires 

local planning authorities to identify a supply of deliverable sites sufficient to 

provide a minimum of five years’ worth of housing. Harborough District Council 

housing supply sits at 3.55 years (annual requirement of 759 dwellings), as of 

January 2025, which is below the minimum five year supply required by the NPPF.  

 

238. The loss of the use of the bungalow as a residential dwelling is contrary to the 

Government’s overall aim of boosting the supply of homes, particularly in the 

context of Harborough’s current housing supply. However, it is also recognised 

that the loss of a single dwelling in the context of having to delivery 759 dwellings 

per annum is insignificant. In addition, it is also noted that a residential dwelling in 

this location would not ordinarily be acceptable (as stated by HDC in the decision 

notice Ref: 13/01778/VAC). As such, the loss of the use of the bungalow as a 

residential dwelling is afforded very little weight.  

 

239. Given that planning permission has not been sought for the continued use of the 

bungalow as a residential dwelling, and that no technical assessment (e.g. noise 

impact) as to its suitability for such use has been undertaken, it is recommended 

80



 

 

 
                                                                                                             DC&REG. BOARD – 07 August 2025 

 

for clarity that a condition precluding the use of the bungalow for residential use is 

attached to any permission granted.  

 

Principle of Development - Conclusion  

 

240. Overall, in establishing the principle of an anaerobic digestion facility in the 

proposed location, there is partial conflict with Policy W5 of the LMWLP, as some 

of the site is undeveloped scrub land, as well as conflict with Policy EMP2 of the 

GBNP and the NPPF due to the loss of a residential dwelling. Whilst some conflict 

with these policies is noted, it is important to consider that part of the site is 

previously developed, which does comply with Policy W5. Balanced against the 

identified conflict, paragraph 168(a) of the NPPF states, “a) local planning 

authorities should: give significant weight to the benefits associated with renewable 

and low carbon energy generation and the proposal’s contribution to a net zero 

future”. This is a material planning consideration of significant weight. When 

considered in line with the UK’s legally binding net zero targets established through 

the CCA, it is deemed that on balance, any partial noncompliance with Policy W5 

is outweighed by the delivery of low carbon, renewable energy. Furthermore, the 

countryside location of the proposal is deemed to accord with Policy GD3 of the 

HLP and Policy H2 of the GBNP.  

 

Traffic, Access and Parking 

 

241. Policy DM9 of the LMWLP supports waste development involving the 

transportation of material by road where it is the only practicable and 

environmentally preferable option; where access arrangements  impact on road 

safety from traffic would be safe; where the highway network is able to 

accommodate the traffic generated and the impact on the environment of local 

residents is acceptable; where the proposal is in close proximity to the County’s 

lorry network; and in the case of new facilities, where the proposal is in close 

proximity to the waste arisings that would be managed.  

 

242. Parts (l) and (m) of Policy GD8 of the HLP state that development will be permitted 

where safe access, adequate parking and servicing areas are ensured; and that 

safe efficient and convenient movement of all highway users are ensured, 

including cyclists, pedestrians and horse riders. Part 1 of Policy IN2 of the HLP 

outlines that development proposals should have regard to the transport policies 

of the Local Transport Authority (LCC LHA) (and where appropriate, adjoining 

transport authorities) and where there are impacts on the national road network be 

aligned with policies of Highways England (now known as National Highways). 

Proposals should seek to maximise the use and efficiency of existing transport 

facilities and where necessary provide mitigating measures to deal with the 

impacts of development on the transport network, both within and outside the 

District. Part 2 (a) of Policy IN2 of the HLP states development proposals will be 

81



 

 

 
                                                                                                             DC&REG. BOARD – 07 August 2025 

 

permitted, subject to the provision of safe access, servicing and parking 

arrangements having regard to highways authority guidance and standards.  

 
243. Policy H3 (e) of the GBNP supports development for in fill and redevelopment sites 

where they provide safe vehicular and pedestrian access to the site and any traffic 

generation and parking impact created does not result in a severe direct or 

cumulative impact on congestion or road and pedestrian safety unless appropriate 

mitigation measures are undertaken. In addition, Policy EMP2 of the GBNP 

supports additional employment opportunities and, at Part (e) requires new 

development to not generate severe levels of traffic movements and provide on-

site car parking for all employees and visitors.  

 
244. Policy DM06 of the DHLP relates entirely to transport and accessibility and 

supports development subject to safe, connected and convenient movement 

across the transport network; that it provides safe access, servicing and parking 

arrangements and ensures that additional traffic movements are not detrimental to 

highway safety or result in severe cumulative impact on the highway network. The 

policy also requires major development to be supported by a Transport 

Assessment and supports sustainable transport modes and mitigation for any 

adverse impacts. 
 

245. Part 2 (a) of Policy GI1 of the HLP outlines that traffic free cycle routes, and long-

distance recreational paths and bridleways will be safeguarded by ensuring that 

development does not compromise their integrity or value. Part 2 (b and c) of Policy 

IN2 of the HLP state development proposals will be permitted, subject to the 

provision of measures to facilitate and encourage safe access by cycle and on foot 

and the protection of existing pedestrian, cycle and equestrian routes. Policy 

ENV10 of the GBNP outlines that development proposals should include measures 

to facilitate and encourage safe access by cycle and on foot; and the protection of, 

connection to, and extension where practicable of existing pedestrian and cycle 

routes. Part 1 (a) of Policy DS03 of the DHLP states development will be permitted 

where it prioritises sustainable active travel modes. Part 3 (b) of Policy DS03 of 

the DHLP states that existing green and blue infrastructure networks must be 

retained and, where possible, enhanced including (…) traffic free cycle routes, and 

long-distance recreational paths and bridleways. Part 2 (e) of Policy DM01 of the 

DHLP states that development will be permitted where it ensures safe and 

accessible movement for all users, including the promotion of opportunities for 

sustainable public transport and active travel modes like walking and cycling. 
 

246. Paragraph 116 of the NPPF makes it clear that development should only be 

prevented or refused on highways grounds if there would be an unacceptable 

impact on highway safety, or the residual cumulative impacts on the road network, 

following mitigation, would be severe, taking into account all reasonable future 

scenarios.  

 

82



 

 

 
                                                                                                             DC&REG. BOARD – 07 August 2025 

 

247. To support the planning application, the applicant has provided a Transport 

Statement which covers, inter alia, the existing transport policy context; existing 

site conditions; traffic surveys on Welham Road and the A6/Welham Road (link 

road) junction; traffic collision history; vehicular access, visibility splays and swept 

path analysis; parking; and trip generation. The application has also been 

supported by Road Safety Audit and Vehicle Swept Path Assessments of the 

access arrangements. 
 

248. As the site is a former mushroom farm, there would have been vehicle movements 

associated with that operation. However, the submitted Transport Statement 

acknowledges that there is no operational activity from the site at present, and 

therefore previous vehicle movements associated with the site have not been 

taken into account within the assessment. As such, there would be an increase in 

vehicular movements compared to the current status of the site. The following table 

sets out the HGV traffic forecasts: 
 

 
 

249. The LHA has comprehensively considered the proposed development and all 

supporting information, having provided a total of six formal consultation responses 

over the course of the assessment of the application, a number of which have 

resulted in further information having to be submitted.  

 

250. With regard to the site access and off-site highways works, the LHA has reviewed 

the Stage 1 Road Safety Audit and design response and confirmed that the 

proposed access arrangements are sufficient to serve the proposed development.  

 

251. In relation to trip generation, the LHA note that on a typical day the site would 

generate 22 HGV movements and six light vehicle movements, and during the 

peak 30 days of the year the maximum number of HGV movements would rise to 

52 per day. Taking this level of trip generation into account, the LHA has 

considered the capacity of the A6/Welham Road junction to accommodate the 

additional traffic and confirm that there is significant capacity for the junction to 

operate efficiently with minimal queuing in both current and future scenarios.  

83



 

 

 
                                                                                                             DC&REG. BOARD – 07 August 2025 

 

 
252. The LHA has confirmed that the proposed internal layout including parking 

arrangements are acceptable subject to conditions.  

 

253. In conclusion, the LHA advise that the impact on highway safety would not be 

unacceptable, and when considered cumulatively with other development the 

impact on the road network would not be severe and, on this basis, the 

development does not conflict with paragraph 116 of the NPPF. The LHA also 

recommend a series of conditions relating to the submission of a Construction 

Method Statement; a Delivery and Service Management Plan (which will be 

required to include, but not be limited to: HGV routeing arrangements; vehicle 

types and tonnage; timing of deliveries; unloading/loading arrangements; control 

of dust and dirt; wheel wash facilities); the delivery of offsite improvements to 

Welham Road; the full implementation of access arrangements and visibility 

splays; and the delivery of hard surfaced HGV parking and turning within the site, 

in line with the submitted details, prior to occupation.  

 

254. A specialist report outlining highways concerns dated 13 February 2024 was 

presented to the Waste Planning Authority. The report was passed onto the LHA 

which confirmed that, given the date of the report and that it does not consider the 

proposed highway mitigation works, and the Junction Capacity assessment on the 

A6 Junction which were later submitted at the request of the LHA, the content of 

the report would not alter the LHA’s current observations.  

 
255. National Highways were consulted on the proposed development but offered no 

comment as the A6 near the site does not form part of the Strategic Road Network 

and is not a National Highways asset.  

 
256. Many objections have been raised relating to a number of highways related 

concerns. Many of these were raised during the first consultation period, since 

which numerous amendments were made to the proposal and additional 

information was provided by the applicant, which led to the LHA providing no 

objection. Notwithstanding such, the general themes of these objections are 

addressed below for clarity.  

 
257. Regarding the site access, the site is accessed via an existing access point from 

Welham Road. Visibility splays are to be provided through the removal of existing 

trees and shrubs across the western boundary of the site, the cleared areas are to 

be landscaped with planting not exceeding 0.5m in height above carriageway level. 

The landscaped area would be dedicated and maintained as a public highway. 

Furthermore, the site access inbound corner radius would be increased to 10m 

with a taper from Welham Road to the north-east (using land within the highway 

boundary). These improvements have been developed in liaison with the LHA and 

the LHA have confirmed they are satisfied with these arrangements. Conditions 

would be imposed to ensure that the visibility splays and access arrangements are 

84



 

 

 
                                                                                                             DC&REG. BOARD – 07 August 2025 

 

provided prior to occupation of the site and that the visibility splays are permanently 

maintained with nothing within those splays being higher than 0.6m above the level 

of the adjacent footway/verge/highway (as required in the Leicestershire Highway 

Design Guide - LHDG). 

 

258. In relation to routing, this will be secured through the Delivery and Service 

Management Plan condition and would limit HGV access and egress of the site to 

the A6/Welham Road Junction. Traffic generated by the development would not 

use Welham Road or Welham Lane to the north of the site, other than for imported 

poultry waste from Welham Bush Poultry Farm. Furthermore, HGVs associated 

with the development would not use Great Bowden or the bridge which crosses 

the A6.  

 
259. There have been concerns raised in relation to the potential highways related 

impact on the Great Bowden bridge which crosses the A6. However, given the 

routing of traffic outlined above, HGVs associated with the proposal would not use 

Great Bowden or this bridge. There is concern that such conditions controlling this 

could be broken and would be unenforceable. However, if a breach of condition 

were to occur, the Waste Planning Authority has established enforcement powers 

to address such. Therefore, speculative concerns about future non -compliance 

carry very limited weight in the determination of this application.  

 

260. Regarding Welham Road and Welham Lane, a limited stretch would be affected 

by the development. Traffic associated with the proposal using the approximate 

470m stretch of Welham Road and Welham Lane between the site access and the 

poultry farm to north would account for 3,000 tonnes of feedstock (7.5% of the total 

feedstock to be used, and one third of the total poultry manure feedstock). There 

would be one HGV trip associated with the poultry manure per day. Therefore, 

depending on the mix and timing of deliveries, this could mean that some days see 

no HGV movements associated with the development along this section of 

Welham Road/Lane. Furthermore, the movements of waste along Welham Road 

and Welham Lane to/from the poultry farm already take place. The proposed 

development would not add to these movements but would divert some of the 

existing loads into the proposed site. As such, the impact of traffic on this specific 

stretch of Welham Road and Welham Lane as a result of the proposal is 

considered negligible. The majority of the traffic generated by the proposal would 

be using the approximate 220m section of Welham Road between the A6/Welham 

Road Junction and the site access only. In response to vehicle tracking undertaken 

by the applicant, widening of this section of Welham Road is proposed. This would 

include, strip widening of the exit to the A6 link with minimum 6.0m corner radius, 

additional strip widening of entry from A6 link, and Welham Road carriageway 

widened to minimum 6.5m between the site access and A6 link.  The proposed 

widening would use land within the highway boundary. These features have been 

reviewed by the LHA and are deemed acceptable. A condition has been imposed 

85



 

 

 
                                                                                                             DC&REG. BOARD – 07 August 2025 

 

to secure these works prior to the development being occupied and routing will be 

secured via the Delivery and Service Management Plan condition.  

 

261. Of particular concern amongst those raising representations is the potential impact 

on the safety of users of the National Cycle Network (NCN) Route 64 which runs 

along Welham Road and Welham Lane. In consideration of the above, the stretch 

of NCN Route 64 which could face the largest impact is the section which runs 

from the site access to the segment of Welham Road which links to the A6, south-

west of the site. This is approximately an 130m stretch of NCN Route 64. Sustrans 

(the charity who manage the NCN) did provide a representation as part of the initial 

publicity period outlining reservations regarding the interaction of HGVs and non-

motorised users of NCN Route 64. Since this representation a host of additional 

highways information has been provided by the applicant and the LHA has 

comprehensively reviewed the proposal, including its potential impact on the NCN. 

Whilst Sustrans’ are the charity which manage the NCN, it is the LHA who hold 

statutory responsibility for assessing impacts on the public highway and associated 

cycle infrastructure and any implications for the NCN in this context fall within the 

LHA’s remit to assess. Likewise, a representation questioned whether Cycling UK 

were consulted as part of the determination process. Cycling UK are a national 

advocacy group not a statutory consultee. Whilst they can comment as part of the 

public consultation process like any member of the public or interest group, there 

is no duty on the Waste Planning Authority to consult them specifically. Active 

Travel England were consulted however they confirmed that the proposal does not 

meet the statutory thresholds for their formal consideration and therefore offered 

no comment.  

 

262. Concerns are raised regarding the safety of pedestrians using Welham Road and 

NCN Route 64 (including those approaching from the direction of Great Bowden 

where the road descends) and the importance of such as a key access to public 

rights of way and local countryside. The proposed access to the site and 

amendments to Welham Road, including visibility splays and carriageway 

widening to accommodate the unlikely event of two-way movements of large, 

articulated vehicles, has been reviewed by the LHA and deemed appropriate. The 

carriageway widening will improve passing opportunities and mitigate potential 

risks to non-motorised users. Although representations make reference to 

Sustrans’ design principles, including full segregation and cyclist priority, the LHA 

has not identified these as necessary or proportionate in this case. Accordingly, 

these concerns are not considered to give rise to a highway safety issue. The 

Delivery and Service Management Plan, which would be conditioned, will include 

provisions to manage the timing of vehicle deliveries and departures, helping to 

prevent queuing or vehicles coming to a standstill on the public highway. These 

operational controls, alongside the proposed carriageway widening and access 

improvements, are considered appropriate by the LHA and would minimise 

disruption and ensure the safe flow of traffic.  

 

86



 

 

 
                                                                                                             DC&REG. BOARD – 07 August 2025 

 

263. A representation raised concern that the proposed carriageway widening could 

reduce driver caution and lead to increased speeds. Whilst the theory of such is 

understood, the widening proposed here is limited in extent and intended to 

facilitate safe two-way vehicle movements between the A6 and the site access. 

The LHA did not identify any safety concerns or risk of speed related impacts 

arising from the proposed improvements.   

 

264. Regarding the Welham Road/A6 junction, a junction capacity assessment has 

been undertaken. The LHA has reviewed the modelling file and is satisfied that the 

geometry of the junction accurately reflects the design of the existing junction. The 

base traffic flows for the model have been obtained from a classified turning count 

undertaken at the A6 junction on Thursday 11 April 2024. Having reviewed the 

model, the LHA is satisfied that the results confirm that the existing junction 

currently operates within capacity (2024) and would continue to do so at the 

assessment year (2031) which factor in background traffic growth factors with the 

proposed development in place. The proposed development would result in 

modest increases in Ratio to Flow Capacity (RFC) values at the junction, so there 

is still significant capacity for the junction to operate efficiently with minimal queuing 

in all scenarios. Therefore, the junction capacity assessment concludes that no 

improvements are required for this junction. It is acknowledged that a number of 

objections have raised safety concerns relating to this junction, particularly in 

relation to the speed of the A6, the turning movements of HGVs and tractors with 

trailers, and visibility at the junction. Specific concerns include slow-moving 

vehicles turning right onto 60mph road, the absence of a diverging taper of central 

island, and the potential for unsafe overtaking/delays. Reference has also been 

made to accident data at the junction and the lack of a swept path analysis at this 

junction. Ultimately, the LHA has assessed the proposal and have stated that the 

impacts of the development on highway safety would not be unacceptable, and 

when considered cumulatively with other developments, the impacts on the road 

network would not be severe, raising no objection subject to conditions. The LHA 

has also not identified a need for physical intervention at this junction. In the 

absence of an objection from the statutory consultee, the proposal is not 

considered to give rise to an unacceptable highway safety risk at this location.  

 
265. Regarding trip generation, the LHA is satisfied that the figures provided by the 

applicant are a likely reflection of the movements which will be associated with the 

proposed development. Notwithstanding such, conditions have been imposed to 

restrict the amount of imported feedstock to 40,000 tonnes per annum, as well as 

restricting the total number of HGV movements (in and out) to/from the site to not 

exceed 52 during any 24-hour period and recording such movements. These will 

help to ensure that trip generation figures remain accurate and constant throughout 

the life of the development. Concern has outlined that the trip generation figures 

do not account for potential peaks, troughs or delays. The Delivery and Service 

Management Plan, secured via condition at the request of the LHA, will include 

provisions to manage the timing of vehicle deliveries and departures to help ensure 

87



 

 

 
                                                                                                             DC&REG. BOARD – 07 August 2025 

 

movements remain consistent with the assumptions set out in the Transport 

Statement and reduce the potential of queues. Furthermore, concern has been 

raised about the wider traffic impacts on the A6 corridor; however, vehicle 

movements related to the development are not considered to be of a scale that 

would significantly affect strategic junctions or traffic flow on the wider road 

network. Again, subject to conditions, no objection has been raised by the LHA. 

There has also been concern raised around the accuracy of the feedstock volume 

and subsequent vehicle numbers within the Transport Statement, citing 

comparison with an anaerobic digestion facility at Cassington which allegedly 

produces 2.1MW from 50,000 tonnes of feedstock, solid and liquid waste. In 

response, the applicant has clarified that the example used has an electrical 

output, not thermal (gas). The technologies used for gas production also differ and 

the energy profile of each feedstock significantly differs. For example, liquid 

feedstock can have a quarter of the energy value of maize and straw. In the 

absence of contrary technical evidence, there is no basis to reject the figures in 

the Transport Assessment as provided.  

 

266. Concern has been raised that some of the feedstock is typically transported by 

tractors and trailers, rather than HGVs which could generate additional vehicle 

movements given the payload/capacity of such are usually less. The applicant has 

clarified that all imports and exports, with the exception of some maize deliveries, 

will be undertaken using HGVs as set out in the Transport Statement. Whilst some 

maize will be delivered by HGV depending on availability, a portion of the maize 

may be delivered by a Fastrac (or equivalent) and trailer units. These vehicles 

would be capable of carrying loads of approximately 20 tonnes. Given such, it is 

accepted that this would have a negligible impact on the overall traffic movements. 

Notwithstanding such, the Delivery and Service Management Plan condition, 

which has been included at the recommendation of the LHA, will add further control 

of specific vehicle types and tonnages. 
 

267. The proposal would have 6 car parking bays, with each 6m in length to the south 

of the process building. There are 2 trailer bays situated to the east of the CO2 

storage tank. The LHA has reviewed these arrangements and confirmed that the 

car parking bays exceed the requirements in the LHDG and are therefore 

acceptable. Regarding the trailer bays, the LHA notes that, given the nature of the 

proposed development and that a Servicing and Delivery Plan will be provided to 

control the movement of HGVs, the LHA has no further comments in relation to the 

internal layout of the site. Given the facility would employ the equivalent of 2 full 

time members of staff, the level of parking proposed is considered proportionate 

to the operational needs of the site and allows for sufficient capacity to 

accommodate occasional visitors, thereby avoiding the need for off-site parking. A 

condition has been included to ensure that off-street car and HGV parking 

provision with turning facilities has been provided, hard surfaced and demarcated 

in accordance with the relevant plan prior to first occupation of the site.  

 

88



 

 

 
                                                                                                             DC&REG. BOARD – 07 August 2025 

 

268. Regarding accessibility and sustainable transport methods to the site, objectors 

have raised concern about the lack of dedicated sustainable transport 

infrastructure, including wheelchair accessible parking spaces, cycle parking and 

electric vehicle charging points. Whilst such facilities are encouraged by policy, the 

scale and nature of the proposed development are critical in this context. The 

facility would employ only two full-time members of staff and is not expected to 

generate significant regular visitor traffic. The submitted Transport Statement 

acknowledges that, although the site is in a rural location, it could be accessed by 

foot, cycle or public transport in principle. However, given the limited staffing 

requirements, the level of demand for non-car access is expected to be minimal. 

On this basis, the absence of designated sustainable transport infrastructure is not 

considered to conflict with relevant policy objectives.  

 
269. GBPC make reference to the 6Cs Design Guide within their consultation response. 

This is no longer used by Leicestershire County Council and has been replaced by 

the Leicestershire Highways Design Guide. Reference is also made to the Local 

Transport Plan 3. However, these do not form part of the adopted development 

plan, and no conflict has been identified with such by the LHA in their assessment 

of the application. 

 

270. Highways related impacts related to construction are to be assessed and 

controlled through the Construction Method Statement condition at the request of 

the LHA which requires a plethora of information which shall be adhered to 

throughout the construction period. This information would be submitted for the 

written approval of the Waste Planning Authority prior to any development 

commencing on site.  

 
271. A significant focal point of objections was previous applications on or near the site 

that were refused on highways grounds, questioning what had changed since 

those decisions. Whilst this concern is noted, each planning application must be 

assessed on its own merits, based on the specific development proposed and the 

supporting technical evidence provided. The LHA has confirmed that its 

assessment process is evidence led and consistent with current local and national 

guidance. The current application includes supporting information specific to the 

proposal which has been reviewed by the LHA and found to be acceptable. Whilst 

past decisions may provide context, they do not determine the outcome of new 

applications, which are considered independently on the basis of the current 

advice.  

 

272. Reference to the potential degradation of local roads, including Welham Road and 

Lane, from an increase in HGV usage is noted, however the maintenance of the 

public highway falls within the responsibility of the LHA and is not a matter for 

control through the planning system. There is no evidence to suggest that the traffic 

generated by the proposal would give rise to an unacceptable level of wear or 

degradation beyond that which would normally be managed through routine 

89



 

 

 
                                                                                                             DC&REG. BOARD – 07 August 2025 

 

highways maintenance. In relation to the deposition of material on roads, the 

Construction Method Statement and the Delivery and Service Management Plan 

will help outline, and where necessary secure, the provision of wheel wash facilities 

and transportation methods to help mitigate the spillage of material. Furthermore, 

a condition is proposed which would require the surfacing of the site access to be 

maintained in a good state of repair and kept clean and free of mud and other 

debris at all times. 

 
273. Questions have been raised as to who would let HGVs on site outside of the hours 

of 09:00 to 17:00. The applicant has confirmed that the site would be manned 24/7 

through a combination of staff working normal daytime hours and the occupation 

of the existing bungalow on site out of hours. 

 
274. Concern has been raised that highways impacts could be worsened during peak 

hours and during winter. The Delivery and Service Management Plan, secured via 

condition, would provide flexibility to manage the timing of vehicles movements 

and reduce the likelihood of clustering during peak hours. The LHA has not 

identified a requirement for additional seasonal controls or raised concern that the 

site would generate unacceptable impacts under typical winter conditions.  

 

275. Whilst a representation has raised concern about the ability of vehicles to pass 

horses in accordance with Highway Code guidance, the LHA has not identified any 

shortfall in road width or safety in this regard subject to the proposed conditions.  

 
276. Concerns have been raised about driver conduct however individual driver conduct 

remains the responsibility of the operators and is subject to existing road traffic 

legislation, not planning.  

 
277. It is acknowledged that within HDC’s initial response, they proposed consideration 

for a potential roundabout in order to mitigate highways impacts. However, this 

feature does not form part of the development proposal and has not been 

considered further. 

 
278. Reference to conflict with Policy T3 of the GBNP has been made in objections. 

However, this policy supports the delivery of new cycle routes and bridleways, 

particularly towards Welham Lane and the village centre. As the proposal does not 

significantly affect or relate to these corridors, and no new cycle infrastructure is 

proposed, the policy is not considered directly relevant to the determination of this 

proposal.  

 

279. Representations have suggested that in order to make the proposal suitable and 

safe for horses and walkers and to preserve the existing cycle route, a footpath 

should be installed from the bridge to beyond the new development. Both the LHA 

and PROW have reviewed the application, and proposed works to Welham Road. 

No requirement for a new footpath has been identified through the consultation 

90



 

 

 
                                                                                                             DC&REG. BOARD – 07 August 2025 

 

process and this is not considered to be necessary by the LHA or PROW in the 

acceptability of the proposal.   

 
280. As part of the consultation response from North Northamptonshire Council, they 

requested due consideration be given to the villages of Sutton Bassett and Dingley 

in relation to the impact of the development on residents from traffic. Dingley Parish 

Council also outlined concern that the proposal could cause an increase in HGVs 

travelling through Dingley and requested that all HGVs be diverted onto the A6 and 

A14. It is noted that Sutton Bassett and Dingley lie approximately 1.75km and 

2.5km from the site respectively. At this distance, it becomes increasingly difficult 

to identify, influence and monitor precise HGV routes, particularly as contracts with 

the individual feedstock suppliers are yet to be finalised until such time as planning 

permission is in place and is liable to change. HGVs will inevitably need to use 

some local roads when accessing or departing from farms, and complete reliance 

on strategic roads may not always be practical or enforceable. However, a Delivery 

and Service Management Plan is to be secured by condition which will include 

provisions for routing and record keeping for HGV movements. It should be noted 

that the Highway Authority at North Northamptonshire Council recorded no 

comments on the proposal. There is not sufficient evidence in place before the 

Waste Planning Authority to suggest that the development would result in a 

significant or demonstrable traffic impact on these villages.  

 

281. In consideration of the above and the relevant planning policy, points (i-iv) of DM9 

of the LMWLP are demonstrated. However, point (v) relates to new waste 

management facilities being in close proximity to the waste arisings that would be 

managed to minimise the transportation of waste. As has been explained in the 

‘Principle of Development’ section, whilst some sources would be in close 

proximity, including from the poultry farm located approximately 320m north of the 

site, not all of the waste arising are considered to be within close proximity. 

Although this means the proposal does not fully comply with criterion (v), the 

degree of conflict is not considered sufficient to warrant refusal, particularly given 

that the proposed development is not considered to conflict with Policies GD8 (l;m), 

IN2 (1; 2a,b,c), GI1 (2a) of the HLP; Policies H3 (e), EMP2 (e), and ENV10 of the 

GBNP; Policies DM01 (2e), DM06 and DS03 (1a; 3b) of the DHLP; and paragraph 

116 of the NPPF. 

 

Public Rights of Way  

 
282. Policy DM10 of the LMWLP and paragraph 105 of the NPPF outline that 

permission will be granted for waste development where it is demonstrated that 

the proposal would protect public rights of way and access. Where disruption of a 

right of way is unavoidable, convenient and safe diversion or the creation of an 

alternative route both during operations and following restoration of the site will be 

required. The opportunity will be taken, wherever possible, to secure appropriate, 

improved access into the countryside. Paragraph 105 of the NPPF states planning 

91



 

 

 
                                                                                                             DC&REG. BOARD – 07 August 2025 

 

decisions should protect and enhance public rights of way and access, including 

taking opportunities to provide better facilities for users. 

 

283. For clarity, National Cycle Network (NCN) routes and public rights of way are 

distinct designations. Whilst they might sometimes overlap, NCN routes are not 

themselves classified as public rights of way unless they coincide with a legally 

recorded path. In this instance, the section of the NCN route 64 along Welham 

Road and Welham Lane does not overlap with a public right of way and has 

therefore been considered within the ‘Traffic, Access and Parking’, section  above.  

 

284. The closest public rights of way are Public Footpaths A55 and A56 (part bridleway). 

It is acknowledged that part of the underground pipework and the site of the 

National Grid compound run adjacent to these rights of way. However, as has 

previously been outlined, these elements of the proposal are considered to 

constitute permitted development under the Town and Country Planning (General 

Permitted Development) (England) Order 2015 (GPDO), Schedule 2. In terms of 

the main compound site, Footpaths A55 and A56 are situated approximately 315m 

and 525m to the north respectively.  

 
285. Notwithstanding such, LCC PROW have been consulted as part of the application 

process and outlined that the developers may need to apply for the appropriate 

licences to open up the surface of the bridleway (highway surface) and apply for a 

temporary closure. If any incidents or circumstances arise whereby the 

construction phase causes problems for the public, then there are powers available 

under the provisions of the Highways Act 1980 to work to resolve them. Informative 

notes to the applicant have been included within Appendix A to emphasise such.  

 
286. In consideration of the above, direct effects on public rights of way as a result of 

the proposal are considered to be negligible and will be managed through 

mechanisms outside of the planning process. In relation to indirect impacts, the 

impacts of traffic generated from the proposed development have been assessed 

in the previous section, and matters relating to odour and the visual amenity for 

rights of way users are assessed in the relevant sections of this report. No 

unacceptable impacts are identified in relation to the continued use or enjoyment 

of the public rights of way network.  

 
287. Therefore, the proposal is considered to accord with policy DM10 of the LMWLP 

and paragraph 105 of the NPPF.  

 

Odour 

 

288. Policy DM2 of the LMWLP is supportive of development which can demonstrate 

that the potential effects of odour to adjoining land uses and users would be 

acceptable. Policy DM11 of the LMWLP outlines that permission will be granted 

for waste development where it is demonstrated that cumulative impacts on the 

92



 

 

 
                                                                                                             DC&REG. BOARD – 07 August 2025 

 

environment of an area or on the amenity of a local community, either in relation 

to the collective effect of different impacts of an individual proposal, or in relation 

to the effects of a number of developments occurring either concurrently or 

successively, are acceptable.  

 

289. Policy GD8 of the HLP (e(ii)) and policy DM02 (1a) of the DHLP states 

development should not generate a level of unpleasant odour emission which 

cannot be mitigated to an appropriate standard. 

 
290. Policy EMP2 (d) of the GBNP outlines new development should not increase odour 

levels to an extent that would unacceptably disturb occupants of near-by 

residential properties.  

 
291. Paragraph 187 (e) of the NPPF outlines that new development should be 

prevented from contributing to unacceptable levels air pollution. 

 
292. To support the planning application, the applicant has provided a Qualitative Odour 

Risk Assessment and Technical Note. The assessment notes that the main 

potential sources of odour at the site are associated with the loading of feedstock 

into the anaerobic digestion facility. The anaerobic digestion facility will operate a 

sealed internal process, with limited associated potential for the direct release of 

odour to the atmosphere. The feedstock for the facility will be delivered in an 

enclosed load every day and deposited into specifically constructed manure 

bunkers which are covered. The poultry manure will be fed into the digester tanks 

each day and therefore each new load will be fed on the same day it is delivered 

or, dependent upon the time of the delivery, the next morning, ensuring that no 

poultry manure is left in its bunker for more than a maximum period of 24 hours. 

The straw will be extruded on a daily basis and fed directly into the digester tanks 

making sure that all feed is cleared on the day that it is prepared. There is no odour 

associated with extruded straw. Although not noted in the assessment, once the 

maize is brought on-site to the clamp, it has to be covered quickly to avoid the crop 

from oxidising. It is in the best interests of the applicant to stop the crop from 

oxidising as once the crop begins to oxidise it loses its energy value. When the 

digestion plant is ‘fed’ with the feedstock the sheet from the leading edge of the 

clamp is lifted briefly to allow an agricultural teleporter to take enough material to 

put into the process. The liquid digestate would be stored in a covered digestate 

lagoon and the solid digestate would be stored in a bay within the covered 

feedstock bunkers until they are exported off-site. It is understood that the 

digestate would be dosed daily with a biodegradable bag of Ferric Oxide to keep 

the digestate slightly acidic to help mitigate the release of Hydrogen Sulphide. The 

applicant has stated that this all happens in the absence of oxygen so there are no 

releases to the atmosphere.  

 

293. The Qualitative Odour Risk Assessment found that the source odour potential of 

the proposal is considered medium, and that there is an ineffective pathway to 

93



 

 

 
                                                                                                             DC&REG. BOARD – 07 August 2025 

 

receptors, with respect to the Institute of Air Quality Management (IAQM) 

guidance. The resulting risk of odour exposure at residential receptors is therefore 

considered to be negligible. The sensitivity of the proposed users of the site is 

considered to be 'high'. However, in line with the (IAQM) impact assessment 

criteria for a 'high sensitivity' receptor and a 'negligible risk’ of odour exposure, this 

results in a 'negligible effect'.  Therefore, an effect of this magnitude would be 

considered not significant and that the odour emissions associated with the 

operation of the proposal would not result in significant loss of local amenity and 

consequently the resulting risk of potential odour complaints is negligible. Given 

the findings of the assessment, no additional mitigation measures in relation to 

odour were proposed.  

 

294. Both the Qualitative Odour Risk Assessment and technical note have been 

reviewed by the EHO, who in their most recent response outlined the documents 

cover most points of concern and have followed accepted guidance and used what 

they deem appropriate meteorological data. Given such, the EHO stated that it 

would be difficult to sustain an objection. They accepted that not all sites will be 

covered by nearby meteorological stations, and local conditions do play an 

important part in odour dispersion. The chosen site of Wittering observation station 

may be similar to the chosen site, and it is also accepted that the model requires 

data from a suitable site. They also accepted that downwind of the prevailing wind 

direction would give the most impact from odour but downwind from a south-

westerly prevailing wind is more often associated with higher wind speeds, and 

thus more dispersion. The classification of the odour would be better described in 

the most offensive category, as if there was an episode or breakdown, this worse 

case odour is what would be potentially smelt locally. However, the EHO accepted 

that the plant will be a fully enclosed system, and their odour concerns are in 

relation to abnormal operations. Their main concern in terms of odour relates to 

the ‘low wind speed sitting high pressure weather systems’ due to the more stable 

nature of the weather systems; the issue of low wind speeds and sitting high 

pressure systems is not acknowledged in the modelling, as prevailing winds are 

used to determine likely receptors. The EHO would have some concerns relating 

to the dispersion of odour at these low wind speeds but also accept that the 

methodology used in the submitted assessment is in line with accepted guidance.  

 

295. In response, the applicant provided a further point of clarification to the EHO’s 

remaining concern. They outlined that the presence of continuous odour emissions 

is considered to be a prerequisite for any odour effect to occur during 'low wind 

speed sitting high pressure weather systems'. The delivery/loading of feedstock 

are identified as being the only potential source for odours at the site. These 

processes will take place for approximately 1-hours per day (with only 0.5-hour 

loading time), this window is insufficiently low for any potential odours to reach 

sensitive receptor locations during 'low wind speed sitting high pressure weather 

systems'.  

 

94



 

 

 
                                                                                                             DC&REG. BOARD – 07 August 2025 

 

296. The EHO was formally re-consulted in light of this but did not provide an additional 

formal response. The Waste Planning Authority has received a number of reports 

dated February 2024 and August 2024, submitted as representations which raise 

concern relating to odour and the submitted Qualitative Odour Risk Assessment 

and Technical Note. These reports were forwarded to the EHO for comment. 

 

297. Although not submitted as part of the formal re-consultation process, the EHO 

subsequently provided a follow-up email outlining that they have re-reviewed the 

reports, comments and responses. Regarding odour, the EHO confirmed their 

comments are really aimed at worse-case scenarios, and the applicant’s response 

primarily covers normal operations. However, there are comments relating to 

worse-case scenarios such as abnormal operations or breakdown of the plant, and 

the EHO is satisfied that these events would be very unlikely, and if they were to 

occur would likely be short-lived. Therefore, they have no further comments in 

relation to odour. 

 

298. In advance of the report being published, the EHO was consulted on the proposed 

conditions seeking to control environmental health related matters including odour. 

Of note, given that poultry manure has been highlighted as the most odorous 

feedstock, the amount of poultry manure present on site at any single time has 

been conditioned to not exceed 175 tonnes. This ensures the volume of poultry 

manure used in the modelling of the Qualitative Odour Risk Assessment is not 

exceeded. A Feedstock Management Plan has been conditioned which will be 

submitted prior to first occupation of the site. This will include measures to minimise 

and manage the odour impacts of feedstock delivery, handling, storage, and 

processing which can be clearly monitored for the duration of the development by 

the Waste Planning Authority. Likewise, a Digestate Management Plan has been 

conditioned which will be submitted prior to exportation of digestate from the site. 

Again, this will include details of storage and export arrangements, handling, 

containment measures, and the prevention of odour which can be clearly 

monitored for the duration of the development by the Waste Planning Authority.  

 
299. In the Waste Planning Authority’s view, these conditions are considered 

appropriate for mitigating the potential impact of odour from likely sources on local 

amenity, including on receptors just north of the site. Whilst the EHO has 

emphasised a preference for the worst-case scenarios to be considered, such as 

abnormal operations or breakdown of the plant, it is acknowledged that such 

scenarios do not reflect the realistic, day-to-day operation of the site. The technical 

note outlines that these abnormal operational situations are considered within the 

Site's Operational and Management Plan. This is typically considered a separate 

mechanism to the planning process, with its contents usually going beyond what 

planning can regulate, focusing instead on operational compliance. The detailed 

regulation of pollution and accident risk lies with other statutory bodies, namely the 

EA and HSE. The facility will be subject to the Environmental Permitting regime, 

which sets out strict operational and safety requirements. In assessing the permit 

95



 

 

 
                                                                                                             DC&REG. BOARD – 07 August 2025 

 

required for the site, the EA will consider site management and the potential for 

accidents. Therefore, accounting for such regulatory controls, it is considered that 

these worst-case scenarios would be unlikely and, if they were to occur, would be 

promptly addressed.  

 

300. Upon a review of all of the proposed conditions, the EHO has confirmed the 

conditions appear very comprehensive and cover all aspects of concern  relating to 

odour. 

 

301. Notwithstanding the above, matters relating to odour from the proposed 

development are also addressed through the Environmental Permitting regime, 

administered by the EA. As has been outlined in the consultation response from 

the EA dated 16th January 2024, the facility would require an Environmental Permit 

under Environmental Permitting Regulations (England and Wales) 2016. The 

permit process involves detailed technical assessment and ongoing regulation.  

Within the EA’s response, they have stated that the following areas of potential 

harm will be considered when assessing the permit: techniques for pollution control 

including in process controls, emission control, management, waste feedstock and 

digestate, accidents, and monitoring; air quality impact assessment, including 

odour. Imperatively, paragraph 201 of the NPPF outlines that the focus of planning 

decisions should be on whether proposed development is an acceptable use of 

land, rather than the control of processes or emissions (where these are subject 

to separate pollution control regimes). Planning decisions should assume that 

these regimes will operate effectively. This is emphasised by paragraph 7 of the 

NPPW which outlines that Waste Planning Authorities should concern themselves 

with implementing the planning strategy in the Local Plan and not with the control 

of processes which are a matter for the pollution control authorities. Waste 

planning authorities should work on the assumption that the relevant pollution 

control regime will be properly applied and enforced. Furthermore, PPG-W 

paragraph 051 states, “The role of the environmental permit, regulated by the 

Environment Agency, is to provide the required level of protection for the 

environment from the operation of a waste facility. The permit will aim to prevent 

pollution through the use of measures to prohibit or limit the release of substances 

to the environment to the lowest practicable level. It also ensures that ambient air 

and water quality meet standards that guard against impacts to the environment 

and human health”.  

 

302. A number of concerns have been raised in relation to the submitted Qualitative 

Odour Risk Assessment and technical note. A number of third-party reports dated 

February 2024 and August 2024 have also been submitted which review the 

submitted assessments and outline concerns with such. Such concerns include, 

but are not limited to, the omission of sensitive receptors, the use of Wittering 

meteorological station, the adopted assessment methodology, and consistency 

with guidance and good practice. The EHO has comprehensively reviewed the 

96



 

 

 
                                                                                                             DC&REG. BOARD – 07 August 2025 

 

submitted information, the context of the site and has been provided with the third-

party reports. These were shared to ensure the EHO had full sight of the material 

and an opportunity to review any potentially new information. In response, the EHO 

did not identify any issues requiring revisions to their original comments and 

subsequently confirmed that the draft planning conditions comprehensively 

address the relevant considerations. On this basis, the proposed mitigation 

measures are considered appropriate and proportionate from a regulatory 

standpoint. With these measures, and further regulatory controls imposed by the 

EA in place, it is not considered that odour impacts would be so significant as to 

warrant refusal of planning permission.  

 

303. The submitted air quality assessment is now marginally over two years old. Whilst 

technical guidance notes that such reports are generally valid for two years, this 

threshold is advisory rather than absolute and should be interpreted in the context 

of material changes. In this case, the report was submitted as part of the original 

application submission, and the delay in determination has resulted from 

procedural factors rather than changes in site circumstances. There is no available 

evidence to suggest that these parameters have materially shifted in a way which 

could undermine the assessment. Notwithstanding such, as has been outlined 

above, the proposal has been reviewed by the EHO, who is satisfied with the 

proposed conditions. Again, odour will be subject to regulation through the 

Environmental Permit, providing a further layer of control. Planning conditions 

including the Feedstock and Digestate Management Plans, will further ensure 

operational controls on odour. On this basis and considering the relatively short 

exceedance of the two-year period, the assessment is considered to retain 

sufficient evidential weight in informing the planning judgment on odour impacts in 

this context. 

 

304. Concerns have been raised regarding the transport, delivery and storage of 

feedstock and digestate in relation to odour, and the amount of odour mitigation 

proposed. Although some information relating to feedstock and digestate 

management has been submitted as part of the application, the requirement for a 

standalone Feedstock and Digestate Management Plan via condition will ensure 

this information is clearly consolidated. The Waste Planning Authority would 

expect these plans contain, but not be limited to, vehicle containment, 

unloading/loading procedures, handling protocols to minimise exposure of 

materials to air, and timeframes and methods for on-site storage to minimise odour 

risk. The authority would also look for the inclusion of broad contingency provisions 

to account for foreseeable distributions such as temporary shutdowns to ensure 

the site continues to minimise the risk to amenity. 

 

305. Prior to discharge, these plans will be reviewed in consultation with the EHO. This 

approach allows the Waste Planning Authority to monitor and enforce site 

operations against clearly defined parameters once the site is active and for the 

duration of the development, thereby providing greater transparency and 

97



 

 

 
                                                                                                             DC&REG. BOARD – 07 August 2025 

 

operational accountability. In response to concerns regarding long-term adherence 

to mitigation measures, it is noted that the Waste Planning Authority retains 

enforcement powers to ensure compliance with planning conditions, providing a 

clear mechanism to address any potential breach of condition. Again, the EA will 

also be regulating such through their own separate permitting regime. It is 

acknowledged that, as with any facility of this nature, mitigation measures cannot 

guarantee the complete elimination of odour under all circumstances. However, 

the proposed controls including those secured through planning conditions and 

regulated via other authorities are designed to minimise the risk of odour 

emissions, including during abnormal scenarios. This approach aligns with 

planning policy, where the emphasis is on minimising risks to an acceptable level.  

 

306. In relation to the potential odour impacts of the poultry manure being imported from 

the poultry farm to the north of the site, it should be noted that this farm already 

exports poultry manure to another anaerobic digestion facility. Therefore, the 

movements of waste along Welham Road and Welham Lane to/from the poultry 

farm already take place. The proposed development would not add to these 

movements but would divert some of the existing loads into the proposed site. As 

such, the impact of odour from importing poultry manure from this site is not 

considered to exacerbate the existing conditions. Regardless, all imports of 

feedstock, including those from the poultry farm to the north, will be subject to the 

requirements of the Feedstock Management Plan.  

 

307. Concern has been raised regarding the potential of odour from the spreading of 

digestate. The spreading of digestate is regulated under separate environmental 

legislation under the remit of the EA. Furthermore, the application site and its 

surroundings are located within a nitrate vulnerable zone (NVZ). NVZ are areas 

designated as being at risk of agricultural nitrate pollution. Where land is located 

within an NVZ, landowners are required to have regard to relevant legislation (the 

Nitrate Pollution Prevention (Amendment) Regulations 2016) and follow more 

detailed guidance in respect of the use and storage of nitrogen fertilisers, including 

anaerobic digestate. These matters fall under the regulation of the Environment 

Agency. 

 

308. Representations have questioned whether there would be any odour impacts 

associated with the flare stack. For clarity, the flare is a safety feature of the 

anaerobic digestion plant, with the purpose of burning off excess biogas if pressure 

builds in the system. The Flare only operates when the gas entry system is down, 

and on-site gas storage is full. Given such, any potential odour release from the 

flare is anticipated to be in exceptional scenarios and not part of the day-to-day 

operation of the facility. In-fact, the submitted Dispersion Modelling Assessment, 

in order to represent a worst-case scenario in relation to likely operational impacts, 

has assumed that the Flare would run 52-hours per year (1-hour per week).  

Notwithstanding such, emission benchmarks for combustion products, 

98



 

 

 
                                                                                                             DC&REG. BOARD – 07 August 2025 

 

temperature and pH will be considered by the EA when assessing the sites 

Environmental Permit.  

 
309. In relation to cumulative effects of odour, the submitted Qualitative Odour Risk 

Assessment considers baseline conditions for odour, acknowledging that 

agricultural activities predominate in the vicinity of the site and are likely to be the 

primary source of baseline odour emissions in general area. The assessment also 

includes analysis of cumulative effects of the directional winds and wind speeds. 

Again, the EHO has reviewed the proposed planning conditions and confirmed 

they are comprehensive. When considered in conjunction with controls expected 

through the Environmental Permitting regime, the proposal is not considered to 

result in a cumulative odour impact that would be so significant as to warrant 

refusal.  

 
310. An objection has referenced a separate energy-from-waste facility where chicken 

manure is required to be stored under negative pressure, and queries why a similar 

requirement is not applied in this case. However, each planning application must 

be assessed on its own merits, taking into account the specific context of each 

individual proposal. The facilities referenced are not directly comparable and in this 

case, appropriate odour controls are secured via planning conditions and 

regulatory regimes, as has been outlined by the EHO and EA’s inputs. 

 

311. Concerns have been raised that odour emissions may be more pronounced during 

warmer months or at different times of the day. Whilst these seasonal and temporal 

variations are understood, the meteorological data used within the submitted 

Qualitative Odour Risk Assessment was obtained over a 10- year period from 

January 2013 to December 2022. Furthermore, the key controls over odour as 

outlined within this section are designed to function year-round. The EHO has 

reviewed the proposal and controls, and considers such measures 

comprehensively address the relevant odour risks.  

 

312. A request has been made for a council officer to visit another anaerobic digestion 

facility unannounced to experience the impacts of odour firsthand. Whilst noted, 

planning applications must be determined on their own merits. Observations from 

other sites cannot replace site-specific evidence or formal assessment.  

 

313. As part of their consultation response North Northamptonshire Council requested 

due consideration be given to the impact of the development on residents of Sutton 

Bassett and Dingley in relation to the emission of odours. The proposed 

development sits 1.75km south-west of the centre of Sutton Bassett, and 2.5km 

north-west of the centre of Dingley. Given these separation distances, and the 

presence of the above-mentioned controls, the risk of significant odour impacts at 

these locations is considered to be low. It is also noted that North 

Northamptonshire Council Environmental Health recorded no comments regarding 

the proposal. 

99



 

 

 
                                                                                                             DC&REG. BOARD – 07 August 2025 

 

 
314. Overall, in consideration of the above, the proposal is not considered to conflict 

with; Policy DM2 and DM11 of the LMWLP; Policy GD8 (e(ii)) of the HLP; Policy 

EMP2 (d) of the GBNP; Policy DM02 (1a) of the DHLP; and Paragraph 187 (e) of 

the NPPF.   

 

Noise 

 
315. Policy DM2 of the LMWLP is supportive of development which can demonstrate 

that the potential effects of noise to adjoining land uses and users would be 

acceptable. Policy DM11 of the LMWLP outlines that permission will be granted 

for waste development where it is demonstrated that cumulative impacts on the 

environment of an area or on the amenity of a local community, either in relation 

to the collective effect of different impacts of an individual proposal, or in relation 

to the effects of a number of developments occurring either concurrently or 

successively, are acceptable.  

 

316. Policy GD8 (e(ii)) of the HLP and policy DM02 (1a) of the DHLP state development 

should not generate a level of noise which cannot be mitigated to an appropriate 

standard. Policy CC2 of the HLP (1b) suggests development for renewable and 

low carbon energy generation will be permitted where it does not create a 

significant noise intrusion for existing dwellings. Part 2 (g) of Policy IN2 of the HLP 

states development proposals will be permitted, subject to the provision of 

mitigation for residential amenity, including traffic noise. Policy DM02 (1b) of the 

DHLP outlines that development with 24-hour operations must not have an 

unacceptable impact which cannot be mitigated to an acceptable level on 

residential amenity or other existing development within the immediate and wider 

surrounding area.  

 

317. Policy H3(f) of the GBNP outlines that development proposals for infill and 

redevelopment sites will be supported where they do not result in an unacceptable 

loss of amenity for neighbouring occupiers by reason of noise. Policy EMP2 (d) of 

the GBNP outlines new development should not increase noise levels to an extent 

that would unacceptably disturb occupants of near-by residential properties.  

 
318. Paragraph 198 (a) of the NPPF states planning decisions should mitigate and 

reduce to a minimum potential adverse impact resulting from noise from new 

development and avoid noise giving rise to significant adverse impacts on health 

and quality of life. 

 
319. As part of the application, a Noise Assessment has been submitted. The 

assessment acknowledges that the anaerobic digestion process itself is quiet and 

outlines the primary sources of sound for consideration as HGV movements, 

telehandler movements, rotor cut and feed pumps, gas mixing compressors, the 

100



 

 

 
                                                                                                             DC&REG. BOARD – 07 August 2025 

 

combined heat power unit, gas upgrading systems, straw processors and 

extruders, and digestate separators.  

 
320. The process of anaerobic digestion operates 24/7, however nighttime operation is 

restricted to the rotor cut and feed pumps, gas mixing compressors, combined heat 

power unit, gas upgrading, and digestate separators. Deliveries and exports would 

take place between 06:00 to 18:00 hours, Monday to Saturday. Actual work on-

site is largely confined to the working week, other than for the removal of digestate.  

 

321. Section 3.0 of the report proposes that all significant noise generation areas be 

provided with acoustic enclosures and acoustic louvres and that no louvres or 

doors should be located so as to face north, as this is towards the nearest 

dwellings. Furthermore, enclosures should be provided to the combined heat 

power unit area, the gas upgrade compressor area, the carbon dioxide capture 

plant, and the 8no gas mixing compressors. The loudest operations within each 

enclosure should be positioned to the south end in each case, with acoustic louvres 

facing south as much as is possible. The 2no rotor cut and feed pump areas should 

be barriered to the north, as should the gas upgrade compressor doors / louvres 

and digestate separators. The straw processing and extruding area should be 

partially enclosed in order to prevent direct radiation of sound towards the northern 

dwellings. Vehicles using the site should have no reversing bleepers whilst 

manoeuvring onsite. In order to secure and assess these features, a condition has 

been imposed requiring a scheme setting out further details relating to the noise 

mitigation measures outlined above prior to development commencing.  

 

322. The submitted Noise Assessment is undertaken on the basis that the proposal 

would include a number of noise attenuation features including: 3m high, 2.5m long 

barrier to the north of each louvre of the gas upgrading compressor enclosure; 4m 

high, 11m long barrier to the immediate north of the digestate separator; 2.5m high, 

11m long barrier to the immediate north of each rotor cut/feed pump device. These 

features are depicted on the proposed site layout plan, however a condition has 

been attached to ensure that these measures are erected prior to first occupation 

of the site.  

 

323. The report used two residential receptors close to the site. Location 1 was within 

the garden of one of the houses associated with the game farm to the north of the 

site which is considered to be suitably representative of both of those houses. 

Location 2 was within the garden of one of the closest houses to the south of the 

site on Welham Road which is considered to be suitably representative of all of the 

houses in this vicinity. In the daytime (0700 to 2300 hours), external noise levels 

are expected to be 41dB LAeq at the nearest dwellings as a result of the proposed 

operation. This, added to the 49dB LAeq that is already present, yields a result of 

50dB LAeq. This is well within the garden criteria of British Standard 8233: 2014, 

‘Guidance on sound insulation and noise reduction for buildings’ (BS8233:2014), 

and internal noise levels will be around 35dB LAeq inside the dwellings, assuming 

101



 

 

 
                                                                                                             DC&REG. BOARD – 07 August 2025 

 

a partially open window. Most of this noise is not related to the site. This meets the 

BS8233 criteria. At nighttime (2300 to 0700 hours), external noise levels are 

expected to be 32dB LAeq at the nearest dwellings as a result of the proposed 

operation. This, added to the 41dB LAeq that is already present, yields a result of 

42dB LAeq. Internal noise levels will be around 27dB LAeq inside the dwellings, 

assuming a partially open window. These values have been conditioned to ensure 

both daytime and nighttime noise levels at these locations are not exceeded. In 

terms of site context, the report notes that the previous agricultural use of the 

application site would also have generated sound of an industrial nature, with 

similar operational characteristics. This was likely experienced at the assessment 

location during the previous use of the site, and thus the proposed new operations 

are not thought to introduce sound of a notably different character to the pre-

existing local acoustic climate.  

 

324. Overall, the results of the assessment show that the operation of the site will likely 

generate a sound impact of around +5dB, which is adverse impact in the term of 

British Standard 4142:2014+A1:2019 ‘Methods for rating and assessing industrial 

and commercial sound’ (BS4142:2014) but is a less than significant adverse 

impact. This magnitude of impact can be considered acceptable in BS4142:2014 

terms. 

 
325. The EHO has reviewed the submitted Noise Assessment and associated 

information. Some points of clarification were sought throughout the process, 

however their most recent position largely accepts the responses from the 

applicant and Noise Assessment. Further commentary on the matter was provided 

by the applicant, which the EHO was consulted upon but did not provide further 

specific comment. Notwithstanding such, in advance of the report being published, 

the EHO was consulted on the draft conditions including those seeking to control 

noise related matters which were raised in their original response. The EHO 

confirmed these conditions were comprehensive and cover all aspects of concern 

from the EHO.  

 
326. In relation to the condition restricting the hours of deliveries and exports, the EHO 

has reviewed the condition and concluded that the given the access point is very 

close to a busy dual carriageway (A6), the hours provided should not cause 

additional noise concerns, thus raising no objection.  

 
327. Furthermore, it is recommended that a condition is imposed outlining additional 

measures to ensure that the operations carried out on the site do not give rise to 

noise nuisance/disturbance in the locality. Such measures include: the effective 

silencing and maintenance of all engines, exhausts, machinery, plant and 

equipment, whether fixed or mobile;  the location and organisation of on-site 

operations so as to minimise any noise impact on nearby properties; the 

minimisation, so far as is practicably and legally possible, of the level and 

102



 

 

 
                                                                                                             DC&REG. BOARD – 07 August 2025 

 

penetration of noise emissions from reversing warnings fitted to vehicles; no use 

of pure tone audible reversing bleepers.  

 
328. In the response from North Northamptonshire Council, it requested due 

consideration is given to the impact of the development of residents of  Sutton 

Bassett and Dingley in relation to noise. Given the above noise modelling was 

based and found to be acceptable on receptors in much closer proximity to the site 

than those in the Sutton Bassett and Dingley areas, it is not considered that the 

proposal would give rise to significant noise impacts on these more distant 

locations. 

 

329. Concerns have been raised in relation to the noise impacts associated with the 

construction phase of the development. However, both a Demolition Works 

Management Plan and a Construction Method Statement has been conditioned 

which requires best practice measures for noise mitigation during demolition and 

construction to be submitted to, and approved by, the Waste Planning Authority 

prior to demolition/construction starting on site. 

 
330. An objection has been raised regarding the potential for noise from the 

development to startle passing horses. Whilst the concern is acknowledged, there 

is no evidence to suggest that noise levels would be of a magnitude or character 

likely to cause such effects. The application site and surrounding area are already 

characterised by agricultural and light industrial activity including traffic and 

machinery noise and the proposed operations are not anticipated to introduce a 

substantially different acoustic character to the area.  

 

331. In consideration of the above, and subject to compliance with the proposed 

conditions, the proposal is considered to accord with : Policies DM2 and DM11 of 

the LMWLP; Policies GD8 (e(ii)); CC2 (1b); IN2(g) of the HLP; Policies H3(f) and 

EMP2 (d) of the GBNP; Policies DM02 (1a; 1b) of the DHLP; Paragraph 198 (a) of 

the NPPF.  

 
Landscape and Visual Impact 

 
332. Policy DM2 of the LMWLP is supportive of development which can demonstrate 

that the potential effects of visual intrusion to adjoining land uses and users would 

be acceptable. Policy DM5 of the LMWLP seeks to ensure that proposals for 

minerals and waste development are well designed, contributing positively to the 

character and quality of the area in which they would be located.  

 

333. Policy GD5: Landscape Character of the HLP seeks to avoid detrimental / 

unacceptable impacts to local landscape and its character. Policy GD8: Good 

design in development of the HLP seeks to secure a high standard of design for 

all development, including inter alia, respecting the context and characteristics of 

the individual site, street scene and the wider local environment to ensure that it is 

integrated as far as possible into the existing built form. Policy CC2 (1d) is 

103



 

 

 
                                                                                                             DC&REG. BOARD – 07 August 2025 

 

supportive of development for renewable and low carbon energy generation where 

it does not contribute towards an unacceptable cumulative visual impact from 

renewable energy developments when considered in conjunction with other nearby 

developments within the district or adjoining local authority areas.  

 

334. Policy H6: Design Standards of the GBNP seeks to ensure a high quality of design, 

layout and materials in order to make a positive contribution towards the special 

character of the parish. Proposals should have regard to the following design 

principles: to enhance and reinforce the local distinctiveness and character  of the 

area in which a development is situated and show how the general character, 

scale, mass, density and layout of the site or building fits in with the aspect of the 

surrounding area (a); follow a consistent design approach in the use of materials, 

fenestration and roofline with materials chosen to add to the quality or character of 

the surrounding area (b); and use appropriate enclosure materials (g). Policy 

EMP2 of the GBNP is supportive of additional employment opportunities where: it 

is sited in existing buildings, on areas of previously developed land or within the 

settlement boundary for Great Bowden (a); be of a size and scale not adversely 

affecting the character, infrastructure and environment of the village and the wider 

Plan area, including the countryside (b); and contribute to the character and vitality 

of the local area (f). Policy ENV7 of the GBNP outline three important views within 

the area in which development proposals should not have a significant adverse 

impact upon.   

 

335. Draft Policy DM01 of the DHLP is supportive of development where it respects and 

enhances the context and characteristics of the individual site and local wider 

environment (2(a)); protects and enhances existing natural assets as an integral 

part of the development (2(b)); and is sympathetic to the local vernacular, including 

in terms of building materials, and is individual and innovative where appropriate 

(2(c)). Draft Policy DM02 of the DHLP requires development to protect the 

wellbeing of occupiers of development and those in existing development by, inter 

alia, adopting appropriate screening or other measures to prevent adverse impacts 

on the character and appearance of the locality and other land uses. Draft Policy 

DM04: Landscape Character and Sensitivity of the DHLP requires development to 

be located and designed to ensure that it is sensitive to its landscape setting and 

character area by respecting and, where possible, enhancing local landscape, the 

landscape setting of settlements; avoiding the loss of, or substantial harm to 

features of importance in the landscape; safeguarding important public views, 

skylines and landmarks; and restores or provides equivalent mitigation for 

damaged features and /or landscapes that would be regarded as a result of the 

development.  

 

336. Paragraph 135 of the NPPF requires planning decisions to ensure that 

development will function well and add to the overall quality of the area, over the 

lifetime of the development. It also directs development to be visually attractive as 

a result of appropriate and effective landscaping; and be sympathetic to local 

104



 

 

 
                                                                                                             DC&REG. BOARD – 07 August 2025 

 

character and history, including, inter alia, the surrounding landscape setting. 

Paragraph 187 requires planning decisions to contribute to and enhance the 

natural and local environment by protecting and enhancing valued landscapes (in 

a manner commensurate with the statutory status or identified quality in the 

development plan). Paragraph 7 of the NPPW requires waste management 

facilities to be well-designed, so that they contribute positively to the character and 

quality of the area in which they are located. 

 
337. The application is accompanied by a Landscape and Visual Statement (LVS) 

which provides an assessment of the likely landscape and visual impacts 

associated with the development. Based on a study area of 3km, the LVS provides 

an overview of the baseline landscape and visual conditions and identifies 

representative viewpoints as well as visual receptors. At a national level, the site 

is identified as being in the Natural England Leicestershire Vales National 

Character Area (NCA) and close to the Northamptonshire Vales and High 

Leicestershire NCA. At a regional level, as set out in the East Midlands Regional 

Landscape Character Assessment (EMRLCA) the site is in the River Valleys 

Floodplains landscape character area (LCA) and specifically within the Floodplain 

Valleys landscape character type (LCT). At a local level, Harborough District 

Council Landscape Character Assessment (2007) (HDCLCA), which was current 

at the time the application was submitted, outlines the site as being within the 

Welland Valley LCA. The LVS assesses the landscape character of the site as 

having a high to medium capacity to accommodate sensitively designed 

development with the susceptibility of the landscape to change as being low. Whilst 

the LVS notes that the site contains green infrastructure of value to the local 

community, due to the poor condition of the site, its previous intensive use and 

general lack of tranquillity due to adjacent development and nearby highways 

infrastructure, the value of the landscape character is considered to be low.   

 

338. The LVS identifies five viewpoints/visual receptor locations (all within the public 

domain) within a 3km radius of the site. These are the junction of Welham Road 

and A6 220m southwest of the existing site access (PVP001); Welham Road 

immediately south of Welham Poultry farm (PVP002); Midshires Way at the 

junction with Sutton Road (PVP003); public footpath adjacent to Mill House 

(PVP004); and public highway at junction of public footpath and Langton Road 

(PVP005). Of these, two viewpoints (PVP001 and PVP002) were representative of 

road users; two (PVP003 and PVP004) of walkers/users of the long-distance 

footpath and one (PVP005) of both road and PROW users. Views northwards 

towards the site from the south/south-west, southwards from the north of Welham 

Bush Poultry Farm and longer distance views in excess of 3km were screened out 

during the initial, desk-based assessment as they would be screened by the local 

topography and existing vegetation. Based on these viewpoints, the LVS indicates 

that the application site has a sense of enclosure, with restricted views out and 

limited intervisibility. Any views would be restricted to glimpsed views from a limited 

number of viewpoints (PVP002 and PVP003). The site would be visible from 

105



 

 

 
                                                                                                             DC&REG. BOARD – 07 August 2025 

 

PVP004 (approx. 2.5km) but would be viewed in the context of other built 

development and partially screened by intervening vegetation.  

 

339. The LCC Landscape officer has reviewed the proposal and outlined that PVP002 

would be considered of greatest relevance in assessing the visual impact of the 

proposed flare stack (tallest element of the proposal). An additional illustrative 

photomontage of PVP002 was provided, which reaffirmed that based on existing 

building height, set-back position, and surrounding visual context, the proposed 

10.5m flare stack is expected to appear similar in height to nearby buildings and 

trees, and may be partially screened by existing vegetation. Consequently, its 

presence in the view is considered to have a negligible visual impact on the 

surrounding environment and receptors. It should also be noted that the proposed 

development would not impact upon any of the viewpoints outlined in Policy ENV7 

of the GBNP.  

 
340. It is considered that the LVS provides an accurate assessment of the proposal. It 

is noted, however, that the LVS bases its assessment on the Harborough District 

Council Landscape Character Assessment (2007) which, since the submission of 

the application, has been superseded by an updated document which was 

published in 2024. The purpose of the 2024 HDCLCA is to reassess the five LCA 

previously contained in the 2007 document, sub-dividing these LCA into smaller 

landscape character types more suitable for assessment at the district level. 

Specifically with regard to the proposed development, the Welland Valley LCA has 

been re-categorised as ‘Landscape Character Type 7: River Valley Floodplain’ 

within which there are two smaller LCA of which the application site is located in 

LCA7a: Great Bowden to Welham. The 2024 HDCLCA outlines guidance for both 

development management and landscape management in LCA:7a. New 

development within LCA7a should: incorporate sustainable drainage systems; 

avoid prominent large-scale buildings in the open landscape; maintain rural 

character and low settlement density; retain separation between closely spaced 

villages; improve the integration of modern urban edge into historic villages; use 

local vernacular where appropriate; preserve tranquillity; protect dark skies (i.e. to 

minimise artificial lighting to preserve natural night-time conditions).  Sustainable 

drainage systems and lighting are covered further on in the report. LCA7a also 

outlines guidance in relation to landscape management. Habitats and biodiversity 

are heavily referenced which are considered further in the report, however also 

referenced is: the conservation and enhancement of hedgerows; the appropriate 

planting, monitoring and management of new trees; protection for the rural pastoral 

character of the floodplain; protection of historic fields patterns; maintenance of 

open character of the landscape; enhanced network of recreational routes across 

the area. The impact on the latter has already been assessed. Overall, it is not 

considered the difference between the 2007 and 2024 HDCLCA is so significant 

that it would render the assessment and findings of the submitted LVS invalid.  

 

106



 

 

 
                                                                                                             DC&REG. BOARD – 07 August 2025 

 

341. The proposal would see the erection of a number of large structures, of which the 

tallest would be the flare stack which would have a maximum height of 10.5m. 

Other structures would have maximum heights of up to 8.3m which would have the 

potential to result in adverse landscape and visual impacts. The application site is 

close to an existing game farm (immediately to the north), as well as another waste 

management facility (which is to the west beyond Welland Road) both of which 

contain agricultural and industrial scale buildings and structures of a similar scale 

to those proposed here. Viewed in this context, the proposed scale, massing and 

design of the proposed development is not considered inappropriate in this 

countryside location. It is further noted that many of the proposed structures e.g. 

storage tanks, lagoons and clamps are akin to those found on modern farms. 

Furthermore, the western part of the application site contains buildings of an 

industrial nature associated with its previous use as a mushroom farm. These 

buildings occupy a significant proportion of the western half of the application site 

and, whilst not as high as some of the structures proposed in respect of the 

proposed development, in landscape terms, represent an intensity of development 

which would not be present under the current proposal. The development would 

also extend into an undeveloped parcel of land located immediately to the east of 

the former mushroom farm site. Whilst the introduction of built development into 

this land would result in landscape and visual changes through the loss of 

previously undeveloped land, it is noted that the digester tank has been positioned 

close to the northern site boundary and therefore closer to existing built 

development in the application site and the game farm to the north. This would 

assist in minimising landscape and visual impacts as the tank would be viewed in 

the context of existing, albeit lower height, development. The earth bunded 

feedstock clamp (3m high), the digestate lagoon (surrounding earth banks 2.8m 

high), and the surface after lagoon (surrounding earth banks 0.5m high) represent 

the other elements of the proposal to be developed on the currently undeveloped 

land. Whilst these elements extend into undeveloped land, they represent some of 

the less significant elements of the proposal in terms of their height and visual 

prominence. Their earth-banked construction, low profile, and functional, 

agricultural character are considered to be appropriate in the rural context. 

Furthermore, the existing boundary planting would offer a degree of natural 

screening when viewed from the surrounding area. Therefore, these elements are 

not anticipated to result in significant visual intrusion within the wider landscape.  

 

342. In consideration of the above, the larger built parts of the proposed development 

are either on the site of previously developed land or close to build development 

on adjacent land. Consequently, these structures would be viewed in the context 

of these existing structures, mitigating the visual impact of the proposal.  It is noted 

that whilst there are a number of buildings still present on site, due to vandalism 

and lack of use, they are now in a state of disrepair which significantly detracts 

from the visual character and appearance of the site. The redevelopment of the 

western part of the site would therefore represent the opportunity to remove 

visually harmful structures and introduce a more coherent and managed built form. 

107



 

 

 
                                                                                                             DC&REG. BOARD – 07 August 2025 

 

Furthermore, infrastructure planting would be implemented to integrate the new 

development into its surroundings and reduce and mitigate any adverse impact on 

the landscape setting and character of the area. The finer details of such will be 

secured through condition requiring a detailed landscaping scheme.  

 

343. Existing vegetation along the northern, southern, and eastern site boundaries is to 

be retained which would assist in minimising landscape and visual impacts 

associated with the proposed development.  Whilst some vegetation on the 

western site boundary would need to be cut back to enable appropriate visibility 

splays to be created, it is not considered that such works would be so significant 

as to warrant refusal of the application on landscape/visual impact grounds.  It is 

further noted that the application proposes to enhance existing hedgerows on the 

northern and southern boundaries through new native hedgerow and tree planting. 

A further, more extensive area of planting is also proposed to the eastern site 

boundary. This approach is welcomed and would assist in enhancing and 

reinforcing the landscape character of the site and the wider area. It would also 

assist in meeting one of the Landscape Management targets (conserve and 

enhance hedgerows as an important habitat) as recommended in the 2024 

HDCLCA. It is recommended that detailed information relating to the additional 

planting is secured by condition through the detailed landscaping scheme. 

 

344. Representations have been received which object to the proposed development 

on the basis that it is located in an Area of National beauty (now called National 

Landscapes) or in the green belt. The application site is not subject to any national 

landscape designations, including that of National Landscape, and there is no 

Green Belt within the county of Leicestershire. The site is not identified as having 

any special or valued characteristics in the development plan. In this respect, it is 

noted that figure 3.11: Tranquillity of the 2024 HDLCA identifies the site as being 

in a relatively less tranquil area due to proximity to nearby transport infrastructure 

e.g. the A6 and the Midland Mainline.  

 
345. Concerns have been raised that the application does not provide sufficient detail 

on external materials and finishes, and this makes it difficult to judge the quality 

and visual impact of the proposed design should further information be 

conditioned. This objection is noted in two parts. Firstly, the application documents 

do include some indicative design, though it is accepted that these are limited in 

scope. To address this, it is recommended that a condition is imposed requiring 

the submission and approval of full details of all external materials, finishes, and 

colours prior to the commencement of site clearance and demolition. In terms of 

the second point (that the absence of full material details at this stage makes it 

difficult to assess visual quality), the scale, layout and massing of the proposed 

development have already been assessed and found to be acceptable within the 

context of the site and landscape setting. It is considered appropriate and 

reasonable to address the finer design details through condition, which allows for 

scrutiny and assessment at the discharge of condition stage. This approach is 

108



 

 

 
                                                                                                             DC&REG. BOARD – 07 August 2025 

 

supported by national guidance within the PPG-UPC, whereby conditions should 

be tailored to tackle specific problems and may relate to matters not fully described 

in the application (paragraph 001 and 006). This will further help ensure and control 

high quality design of the facility to aid in integrating the facility into its landscape 

setting. 

 

346. An Arboricultural Impact Assessment (AIA) was submitted as part of the 

application which outlines that the impact of the proposed built development would 

be negligible; the main landscape features of the site would be retained and the 

trees with the most value (those along Welham Lane) would not be impacted. The 

retained hedgerows would greatly benefit from having the surrounding detritus 

cleared and from being brought back under management. Any losses from the site 

could be mitigated by gapping-up and making good other boundaries such as the 

northern and eastern boundaries. This could be secured and appropriately 

managed via the detailed landscaping scheme required by condition. Furthermore, 

the AIA contains an arboricultrual method statement which includes a number of 

protective measures on site including pre-commencement tree operations and the 

establishment of root protection areas. The AIA also makes provision for ground 

protection, dust management, biosecurity, mitigation planting in relation to on-site 

landscape works. A condition has been included to ensure compliance with the 

details outlined within the AIA.  

 

347. In respect of all of the above, LCC Landscape officer raises no objection to the 

proposal in respect of landscape and visual impacts subject to a detailed 

landscaping scheme being secured by condition. 

 
348. Concern has been raised regarding the potential loss of sunlight/daylight to 

neighbouring properties, including rearing sheds and pens. It is acknowledged that 

the larger buildings including the digester, would be sited close to the northern 

boundary of the site, close to existing rearing shed and pens. Due to its scale and 

position, some localised overshadowing of these structures could be possible, 

particularly at certain times of the day and year. The curtilage of the closest 

residential property is situated approximately 85m to the north of the proposed 

development. Given the separation and presence of intervening structures and 

vegetation, the impact on daylight and sunlight to the dwelling itself is anticipated 

to be limited. Whilst the concern is valid and the relationship between the proposed 

structure and neighbouring land uses has been considered, the level of impact is 

not judged to result in a significant loss of amenity sufficient to warrant refusal of 

the application in planning terms.  

 
349. Concern has been raised that the proposed development would be visible from 

nearby gardens. In relation to the property situated approximately 85m to the north 

of the site, it is acknowledged that the proposed development would be visible from 

the garden of this property. However, a number of existing agricultural buildings lie 

between the curtilage of this property, alongside the established boundary 

109



 

 

 
                                                                                                             DC&REG. BOARD – 07 August 2025 

 

landscaping along the northern edge of the site. Together, these features provide 

a degree of visual separation and screening, helping to mitigate the prominence of 

the proposed structures. In relation to the property at Welham Lane Poultry Farm 

approximately 320m north of the proposed site, PVP002 was taken from this 

location, the impacts of which have already been assessed above. The residential 

properties situated approximately 350m to the south-west of the site and beyond 

are separated from the site by the A6 and established intervening landscaping. 

From these more distant locations, views of the development would be significantly 

filtered or screened, and the visual impact is considered to be limited.  

 

350. Concern has been raised that the policy requirements of DM5 of the LMWLP and 

EMP2(b) of the GBNP are not met given the number of objections from residents. 

However, whilst concerns are acknowledged and have been considered, the 

number of objections in itself is not a determining factor in the planning process. 

Applications must be assessed against the relevant planning policies and material 

considerations (as has been done above), not by volume of opposition.  

 

351. In conclusion, and subject to the recommended conditions, it is considered that the 

proposal would be compliant with: Policies DM2 and DM5 of the LMWLP; Policies 

GD5, GD8, CC2(1d) of the HLP; Policies H6(a,b,g) and EMP2(a,b,f) of the GBNP; 

Policies DM01 (2a,b,c), DM02, and DM04 of the DHLP; paragraphs 135 and 187 

of the NPPF; paragraph 7 of the NPPW.  

 

Lighting  

 
352. Policy DM2 of the LMWLP suggests that planning permission will be granted for 

waste development where it is demonstrated that the potential effects from 

illumination to adjoining land uses and users and those in close proximity to the 

proposal would be acceptable. Policy GD8 (g) of the HLP, and Policy DM01 (2d) 

and DM02 (1a) of the DHLP seek to minimise pollution from glare or spillage of 

light from the proposed development. Policy H6 (e) of the GBNP states that 

proposals should minimise the impact on general amenity giving careful 

consideration to lighting, and that light pollution should be minimised wherever 

possible. Paragraph 198 (c) of the NPPF outlines that planning decisions should 

limit the impact of light pollution from artificial light on local amenity, intrinsically 

dark landscapes and nature conservation.  

 

353. Details relating to lighting as part of the proposed development have not been 

submitted as part of the current application. However, a detailed lighting scheme 

secured by condition is recommended, which will ensure full compliance with the 

above policies, including appropriate design, specifications and controls to mitigate 

any adverse impact, prior to the installation of any lighting at the site. Subject to 

conformity with this condition, the proposal accords with Policy DM2 of the 

LMWLP, Policy GD8 (g) of the HLP, Policy DM01 (2d) and DM02 (1a) of the DHLP, 

Policy H6 (e) of the GBNP, and paragraph 198 (c) of the NPPF.  

110



 

 

 
                                                                                                             DC&REG. BOARD – 07 August 2025 

 

 
354. Concerns have been raised regarding the potential for increased light pollution as 

a result of the development, including its potential impact on nearby ecological 

receptors and the laying stock housed at the neighbouring farm. There is concern 

that lighting has not been covered as part of the application. These concerns are 

understood and to ensure this matter is appropriately controlled, the 

aforementioned condition requires the submission and approval of a detailed 

lighting scheme prior to the installation of any lighting at the site. This will ensure 

that any future lighting associated with the development is designed to avoid 

adverse impact on neighbouring uses and meet ecological guidance.  

 

Heritage and Conservation  

 
355. Policy DM8 of the LMWLP is supportive of proposals for waste development where 

it is demonstrated that the proposal would retain and protect heritage assets, 

including their setting. There will be a presumption against waste development that 

will be detrimental to the significance of a heritage asset. Policy GD8 (c) and HC1 

of the HLP and Policy DM03 of the DHLP seek to conserve and enhance the 

districts’ historic environment by ensuring that development affecting heritage 

assets (including designated assets, Conservation Areas, and non -designated 

assets) preserves their significance, character and setting. Policy H3(c) of the 

GBNP outlines that development proposals for infill and redevelopment sites will 

be supported where they reflect the character and historic context of existing 

developments within Great Bowden. Policy ENV6 of the GBNP highlights a number 

of non-designated heritage assets in the area and states that their features and 

settings will be protected wherever possible. Any harm arising from a development 

proposal will need to be balanced against their significance as heritage assets. 

Paragraph 208 of the NPPF states that local planning authorities should identify 

and assess the particular significance of any heritage asset that may be affected 

by a proposal (including by development affecting the setting of a heritage asset).  

 

356. The application site does not sit within a conservation area, the closest of which 

being the Great Bowden Conservation Area which is approximately 380m to the 

south of the proposed site. The closest listed heritage assets to the main 

compound are: The Grange, Grade II listed, situated approximately 560m south of 

the application site boundary; 17 and 19 Welham Road, Grade II listed, situated 

approximately 590m south-west of the application site boundary; and Nether 

Green Stables, Grade II listed, situated approximately 660m south-west of the 

application site boundary. Ridge and furrow earthworks, as indicated in the GBNP, 

do not extend over the development site. However, the Waste Planning Authority’s 

GIS records indicate there may be minimal overlap in the south-western corner, 

although no physical development is proposed in this part of the site. The south-

eastern corner contains probable ridge and furrow; nevertheless, a site visit by 

Waste Planning Authority officers confirmed that there is no clear evidence of ridge 

and furrow present on-site. Outside of ridge and furrow earthworks in Great 

111



 

 

 
                                                                                                             DC&REG. BOARD – 07 August 2025 

 

Bowden, the closest non-designated heritage asset is Nether House, situated 

approximately 515m to the south-west of the site. 

 

357. The proposed development would not result in significant direct physical impact on 

the fabric of these assets. In terms of setting, the separation distances involved, 

the lack of visual connectivity, and the intervening vegetation and built form, all as 

outlined in the previous section, contribute to limiting any influence the proposal 

may have on how these assets are experienced. Given such, and that the 

development is not anticipated to result in significant visual intrusion within the 

character of the wider landscape, it is considered that the proposal would not cause 

detrimental harm to the significance of any designation or non-designated heritage 

assets, either through direct impact or by affecting their setting.  

 
358. Representations were received raising concern of the potential impacts on the 

Great Bowden Conservation Area, and the listed buildings which lie within through 

the reduction in air quality, increased traffic and noise generated by the proposal. 

As already outlined in this assessment, HGVs associated with the proposal would 

not be routed through Great Bowden. Furthermore, there is no evidence to suggest 

that the development would cause levels of pollution that would result in physical 

harm to the fabric or setting of listed buildings or the wider Conservation Area.   

 
359. Therefore, the proposal is considered to accord with  Policy DM8 of the LMWLP, 

Policy GD8 (c) and HC1 of the HLP, Policy DM03 of the DHLP, Policies H3(c) and 

ENV6 of the GBNP, and paragraph 208 of the NPPF.  

 
Archaeology  

 

360. Policy DM8 of the LMWLP outlines that proposals affecting heritage assets or their 

settings would be expected to: (ii) “include an appropriate desk-based assessment 

and field evaluation where a site includes or has the potential to include heritage 

assets of archaeological interest setting out proposals and justification for the 

preservation in situ or excavation”, and (iii), “identify the requirement for a 

programme of post-permission works including any mitigation measures, long-term 

monitoring and recording of any affected heritage assets or archaeological 

remains”.  

 

361. In accordance with paragraph 207 of the NPPF, the development area is of 

archaeological interest and has the potential for further unidentified archaeological 

deposits. Paragraph 218 of the NPPF states that Local Planning authorities should 

require developers to record and advance understanding of the significance of any 

heritage assets to be lost (wholly or in part) in a manner proportionate to their 

importance and the impact of development, and to make this evidence (and any 

archive generated) publicly accessible. 

 

112



 

 

 
                                                                                                             DC&REG. BOARD – 07 August 2025 

 

362. LCC Archaeology has reviewed the proposed development and has requested a 

pre-commencement condition relating to a programme of archaeological work. 

This approach is considered appropriate to ensure that the archaeological 

significance of the site is investigated and where necessary, preserved by record 

prior to development. Therefore, the proposal is considered to accord with Policy 

DM8 of the LMWLP, and paragraphs 207 and 218 of the NPPF.  

 
Pollution  

 

363. Policy DM2 of the LMWLP and paragraph 181 of the NPPF seek to ensure that 

emissions do not impact adjoining users and those in close proximity. Policy GD8 

(e(ii)) of the HLP and Policy DM02 (1a) of the DHLP outlines that proposals should 

not generate a level of pollution which cannot be mitigated to an appropriate 

standard. Policy DM11 of the LMWLP outlines that permission will be granted for 

waste development where it is demonstrated that cumulative impacts on the 

environment of an area or on the amenity of a local community, either in relation 

to the collective effect of different impacts of an individual proposal, or in relation 

to the effects of a number of developments occurring either concurrently or 

successively, are acceptable. Part 2 (g) of Policy IN2 of the HLP relates to 

sustainable transport and states development proposals will be permitted, subject 

to the provision of mitigation for any adverse impact on air quality, especially in Air 

Quality Management Areas. Policy EMP2 (d) of the GBNP states new development 

should not increase fumes to an extent that would unacceptably disturb occupants 

of near-by residential properties. Policy DM06 (2f) of the DHLP seeks to ensure 

development includes mitigation for any adverse impact on air quality from 

transport associated with the development, especially in Air Quality Management 

Areas (AQMA). Paragraph 187 (e) of the NPPF outlines that new development 

should be prevented from contributing to unacceptable levels of soil and air 

pollution. Paragraph 199 of the NPPF states that planning decisions should 

contribute towards compliance with the relevant limit values for pollutants and that 

opportunities to mitigate impacts on air quality should be identified. Policy DM11 

of the DHLP and paragraph 187 of the NPPF aims to protect water quality and 

ensure that development does not adversely affect watercourses, either during 

construction or over the lifetime of the development.  

 

364. The site does not lie within or near to an Air Quality Management Area. The 

application is accompanied by a Qualitative Odour Risk Assessment which also 

encapsulates air quality. The assessment outlines the main potential sources of 

air pollution were identified as emissions from road transport using the local road 

network and that there are no combustion sources identified within the immediate 

vicinity of the site that would influence the local air quality.  

 
365. In relation to the construction period, the assessment outlines that given the nature 

of the proposed development, it is not anticipated that there would be ongoing 

demolition or construction activities that would have the potential to significantly 

113



 

 

 
                                                                                                             DC&REG. BOARD – 07 August 2025 

 

impact local air quality. Traffic generation associated with the demolition and 

construction phase is expected to be minimal, and short-term. A Review of Air 

Quality and Odour Assessment, dated August 2024, was submitted by a local 

residents’ group in response to the application. Within the review, it is stated that 

given the two sensitive receptors within the immediate vicinity to the proposed 

development which had not been identified, a ‘construction phase assessment’ 

should not have been scoped out and should be provided. Whilst the Waste 

Planning Authority accept that the demolition and construction phases would 

represent a short term, temporary form of impact, a condition requiring the 

submission and approval of a Construction Method Statement, including best 

practice measures for the mitigation of air quality during construction and 

measures to prevent the pollution of surface water is recommended. 

 

366. In relation to the operational phase, the Qualitative Odour Risk Assessment 

outlines that the proposal is expected to result in a nominal change in Annual 

Average Daily Traffic (AADT), drawing on reference to the Transport Statement 

stating, “The Transport Statement has estimated ten two-way Heavy Goods 

Vehicle (HGV) movement per day, associated with the Site.”  Given such, the 

report outlines that the development is expected to result in AADT flows below the 

EPUK/IAQM criteria and would therefore result in a negligible impact associated 

with the operational phase of traffic. The resulting effect of the proposal on local 

air quality is, therefore, considered to be not significant within the report. However, 

it is noted that the Transport Statement referenced is a superseded version which 

does not represent the up-to-date figures, these being 22 daily movements, going 

up to 52 during the October-November period. The affected section of the 

assessment relates only to the road vehicle exhaust emissions during the 

operational phase. Notwithstanding the error, the corrected traffic levels remain 

below the relevant screening thresholds for detailed assessment under 

EPUK/IAQM guidance, which require a change of 100 Heavy Duty Vehicle (HDV) 

flows AADT, or 25 HDV AADT in an AQMA. The site is not located within an AQMA, 

and peak operational traffic does not exceed these values. As such , the overall 

conclusions of the assessment regarding the negligible impact of vehicle exhaust 

emissions remain valid and appropriate. Furthermore, the Transport Statement 

estimates a maximum of 8 light vehicles movements to/from the site per day 

primarily associated with the two- full-time staff members. The facility is not 

expected to attract regular visitors, and as such, light vehicle traffic would remain 

limited. Given this, any associated emissions associated with light vehicular traffic 

are considered negligible and would not give rise to any significant air quality 

impact.  

  

367. The impacts of air quality from the poultry manure and the combined heat and 

power system and the flare are considered in the context of ecological receptors 

within the ‘Biodiversity and Geodiversity’ section of this report. These elements are 

also given further consideration in ‘Public Health’ section below.  

 

114



 

 

 
                                                                                                             DC&REG. BOARD – 07 August 2025 

 

368. Notwithstanding the Qualitative Odour Risk Assessment, matters relating to 

harmful emissions and pollution from the proposed development are principally 

addressed through the Environmental Permitting regime, administered by the EA. 

As has been outlined in the consultation response from the EA dated 16th January 

2024, the facility would require an Environmental Permit under Environmental 

Permitting Regulations (England and Wales) 2016. The permit process involves 

detailed technical assessment and ongoing regulation of emissions, operational 

practices, and pollution control measures. Within the EA’s response, they have 

stated that the following areas of potential harm will be considered when assessing 

the permit: techniques for pollution control including in process controls, emission 

control, management, waste feedstock and digestate, energy, accidents, and 

monitoring; emission benchmarks for combustion products, temperature and pH; 

and air quality impact assessment. Imperatively, paragraph 201 of the NPPF 

outlines that the focus of planning decisions should be on whether proposed 

development is an acceptable use of land, rather than the control of processes or 

emissions (where these are subject to separate pollution control regimes). 

Planning decisions should assume that these regimes will operate effectively. This 

is emphasised by paragraph 7 of the NPPW which outlines that Waste Planning 

Authorities should concern themselves with implementing the planning strategy in 

the Local Plan and not with the control of processes which are a matter for the 

pollution control authorities. Waste planning authorities should work on the 

assumption that the relevant pollution control regime will be properly applied and 

enforced. Furthermore, PPG-W paragraph 051 states, “The role of the 

environmental permit, regulated by the Environment Agency, is to provide the 

required level of protection for the environment from the operation of a waste 

facility. The permit will aim to prevent pollution through the use of measures to 

prohibit or limit the release of substances to the environment to the lowest 

practicable level. It also ensures that ambient air and water quality meet standards 

that guard against impacts to the environment and human health”.  

 

369. Furthermore, the EHO, who provides specific advice on environmental impacts 

including local air quality, has reviewed the submitted information and has also 

been forwarded the reports submitted as representations. Whilst the EHO did not 

issue a formal ‘no objection’ response, they have indicated that, based on the 

technical evidence provided, it would be difficult to sustain an objection. In addition, 

the EHO has reviewed the proposed planning conditions and confirmed they are 

comprehensive and cover all aspects of concern. These controls will help in 

securing appropriate mitigation measures relating to air emissions and will operate 

alongside regulatory oversight through the Environmental Permit. On this basis, 

the EHO has not raised any outstanding concerns in relation to the potential air 

quality effects of the development.  

 

370. Whilst it is acknowledged that some other pieces of plant and machinery on-site 

could be powered using combustion engines, given the above controls and input 

115



 

 

 
                                                                                                             DC&REG. BOARD – 07 August 2025 

 

from the relevant consultees, this is not expected to be of detriment in the 

determination of the application.  

 

371. Concern has been raised that improper handling of digestate, leaks from the 

digester tanks, and the spreading of digestate could result in elevated levels of 

nitrates, phosphates, ammonia, and other pollutants entering the environment, 

either through air release or surface water run-off, potentially impacting nearby 

water courses and increasing health risks. However, as outlined above, the 

storage, use and spreading of digestate are regulated under separate 

environmental legislation under the remit of the EA. Furthermore, the application 

site and its surroundings are located within a nitrate vulnerable zone (NVZ). NVZ 

are areas designated as being at risk of agricultural nitrate pollution. Where land 

is located within an NVZ, landowners are required to have regard to relevant 

legislation (the Nitrate Pollution Prevention (Amendment) Regulations 2016) and 

follow more detailed guidance in respect of the use and storage of nitrogen 

fertilisers, including anaerobic digestate. These matters fall under the regulation of 

the Environment Agency. However, to provide further reassurance and oversight 

within the planning framework, a condition requiring a Digestate Management Plan 

has been included within which would govern how digestate is managed on-site in 

relation to storage, handling, and export arrangements.  

 

372. Likewise, there is concern in relation to the spillage of feedstock, most notably 

poultry manure, including leakages along approach roads and whilst being 

unloaded at the site. There is concern that, via surface run-off, these could find 

their way into the surrounding ditches at the site which are said to feed the River 

Welland. Whilst it acknowledged that the poultry manure deliveries would be 

sheeted over, a condition is recommended requiring the submission and approval 

of a Feedstock Management Plan, which will include clear measures to minimise 

and manage the environmental impacts of feedstock delivery, handling, storage, 

and processing. Furthermore, in assessing techniques for pollution control as part 

of the Environmental Permit, waste feedstock would be a specific consideration. 

Therefore, subject to the implementation of both the Feedstock Management Plan 

and the Environmental Permit, the risk of off-site pollution cause by feedstock 

spillages is considered to be acceptably mitigated.  

 
373. Concern has been raised that pollution from the development, including potential 

bund collapse or leakage from tanks, could affect a neighbouring farm where 

pheasants are reared for human consumption. Whilst this concern is noted, again 

the day-to-day management of the site infrastructure, including bunds and tanks, 

falls under the control of the site’s Environmental Permit, regulated by the 

Environment Agency.  

 

374. Accounting for the above and subject to the recommended conditions and the 

granting of an Environmental Permit, the proposal is considered to accord with 

Policy DM2 of the LMWLP, Policies GD8 (e(ii)) and IN2 (g) of the HLP, Policies 

116



 

 

 
                                                                                                             DC&REG. BOARD – 07 August 2025 

 

DM02 (1a), DM06 (2f) and DM11 of the DHLP, and paragraphs 181, 187 (e), 199 

of the NPPF. 

 
Public Health 

 
375. Paragraph 96(c) of the NPPF seeks to enable and support healthy lives, through 

both promoting good health and preventing ill-health, especially where this would 

address identified local health and well-being needs and reduce health inequalities 

between the most and least deprived communities. Paragraph 198 of the NPPF 

outlines that planning should ensure that new development is appropriate for its 

location taking into account the likely effects (including cumulative effects) of 

pollution on health. 

 

376. LCC Public Health was consulted and provided contextual information regarding 

the public health profile of the area. The site is not located within an Air Quality 

Management Area (AQMA), and local indicators for air pollution and respiratory 

disease are generally favourable compared to regional and national averages. 

They note that the mortality rate from chronic obstructive pulmonary disease 

(COPD) and under 75 preventable repository disease mortality in Harborough is 

lower than the England and East Midlands averages, although asthma prevalence 

is slightly higher. The fraction of mortality attributable to particulate air pollution in 

2023 for Harborough was 5.4%, which is slightly below the East Midlands average 

of 5.6% and close to the England average of 5.2%. In relation to f ine particulate 

matter, in 2023 for Harborough this was 7.2 μg/m3 (per cubic metre of air), which 

is again slightly below the East Midlands average of 7.5 μg/m3 and close to the 

England average of 7.0 μg/m3. The Index of Multiple Deprivation ranks the area 

as one of the least deprived nationally.  

 

377. The EHO, who provides specific advice on environmental impacts relevant to 

public health, has reviewed the submitted air quality, odour and noise information, 

and has been forwarded the reports submitted as representations. Whilst the EHO 

did not issue a formal ‘no objection’ response, they have indicated that, based on 

the technical evidence provided, it would be difficult to sustain an objection. In 

addition, the EHO has reviewed the proposed planning conditions and confi rmed 

they are comprehensive and cover all aspects of concern from the EHO. These 

controls will secure appropriate mitigation measures relating to air emissions, 

odour management, and noise, and will operate alongside regulatory oversight 

through the Environmental Permit. On this basis, the EHO has not raised any 

outstanding concerns in relation to the public health effects of the development. 

The reports submitted as representations were also forwarded to the EHO who 

had no specific comments on such.  

 
378. The UKHSA was consulted on the application as a national public health body. 

UKHSA advised that it does not normally comment on proposals of this nature 

unless specific chemical or environmental hazard concerns are identified that may 

117



 

 

 
                                                                                                             DC&REG. BOARD – 07 August 2025 

 

impact human health and reaffirmed that routine public health matters such as 

local air quality, noise and land contamination fall within the remit of the local 

planning authority to assess. UKHSA further advised that, should the local 

authority have a particular concern relating to chemical or environmental hazard 

exposure, it would welcome being contacted for additional advice. In this case, no 

specific concerns of that nature and scale have been raised by the EHO or the EA 

which have been consulted on the proposal, and no exceptional public health risks 

were indicated by UKHSA in their review of the application. Furthermore, UKHSA 

outlined that depending on the nature of the Environmental Permit required for the 

proposal, they may be consulted by the EA to identify any public health concerns. 

 

379. As previously discussed, the information submitted to assess air quality in support 

of this application includes consideration of potential impacts from vehicle 

movements, as well as impacts on ecological receptors from emissions associated 

with the use of poultry manure, the combined heat and power unit, and the flare 

(notably ammonia and nitrogen oxides). The submitted Qualitative Odour Risk 

Assessment sets out the predicted background pollutant concentrations at the site 

relevant to human health; being, nitrogen dioxide (NO2) and particulate matter 

(PM10), and fine particulate matter (PM2.5). The report outlines predicted 

background NO2, PM10 and PM2.5 concentrations are below the relevant Air 

Quality Objectives across the assessment area and concludes that the residual 

effects of such are considered to be not significant against the assessment criteria. 

The review of the Air Quality and Odour Assessment Report, dated August 2024, 

submitted as a representation, states that the assessment omits new 

environmental targets for PM2.5 which had been introduced at the time of the 

assessment, however it then outlines that the omission of the PM2.5 targets is 

minor given there would be expected to be low emissions of particulate matter from 

this proposal. 

 

380. A number of public representations raise concerns about the potential release of 

air pollutants and other trace components from the process, and the potential for 

adverse and long-term health impacts, including the worsening of existing health 

conditions. The review of the Air Quality and Odour Assessment Report, dated 

February 2024 submitted as a representation, outlines that the effects of the 

combined heat and power unit should be assessed for its impacts on nearby 

human sites and that it would be robust to compare the impacts of ammonia 

against human health air quality standards (albeit adding that from experience this 

would unlikely be an issue). The EHO has reviewed the submitted information and 

raised no specific concern in relation to emissions affecting human health. 

Furthermore, the EA has not raised concerns, and the operation of the combined 

heat and power unit and the flare would be subject to control through the 

Environmental Permit, which will set emission benchmarks for combustion 

products, as has been outlined within the EA’s response. The permit will also 

assess and consider the air quality impact assessment, as well as techniques for 

pollution and emission controls. Again, the UKHSA was consulted and advised that 

118



 

 

 
                                                                                                             DC&REG. BOARD – 07 August 2025 

 

it would not normally comment on proposals of this nature unless there are specific 

chemical or environmental hazard concerns outside the scope of routine air quality 

matters. The Feedstock Management Plan condition will further assess and control 

the environmental impacts associated with the delivery, handling, storage, and 

processing of the poultry manure and the site is not located within an AQMA, which 

further reduces the likelihood of significant air quality effects on nearby receptors. 

Therefore, accounting for the views of the relevant consultees, the proposed 

planning conditions, and the regulatory controls in place, the absence of receptor 

specific modelling is not considered to undermine the overall acceptability of the 

development in air quality and public health terms.  

 

381. The submitted air quality assessment is now marginally over two years old. Whilst 

technical guidance notes that such reports are generally valid for two years, this 

threshold is advisory rather than absolute and should be interpreted in the context 

of material changes. In this case, the report was submitted as part of the original 

application submission, and the delay in determination has resulted from 

procedural factors rather than changes in site circumstances. There is no available 

evidence to suggest that these parameters have materially shifted in a way which 

could undermine the assessment. Notwithstanding such, as has been outlined 

above, the proposal has been reviewed by the EHO, who is satisfied with the 

proposed conditions. Again, emissions will be subject to regulation through the 

Environmental Permit, providing a further layer of control. Planning conditions 

including the Feedstock and Digestate Management Plans, will further ensure 

operational controls on emissions. On this basis and considering the relatively 

short exceedance of the two-year period, the assessment is considered to retain 

sufficient evidential weight in informing the planning judgment on public health 

impacts.   

 

382. A number of representations have raised concern about the potential release of 

bioaerosols arising from the development. The poultry manure is delivered to site 

in limited quantities on covered trailers and tipped directly into a covered bay, with 

it used on a near daily basis, minimising opportunities for prolonged exposure. The 

anaerobic digestion process itself is fully enclosed and carried out in the absence 

of oxygen, with the resultant digestate held in a covered lagoon prior to exportation 

from the site. Whilst bioaerosols are a recognised environmental consideration in 

the context of organic waste handling, the site design and operational practices 

proposed, including enclosure of storage, regular throughput, and the absence of 

prolonged exposure of organic materials to open air, are such that the risk of 

airborne biological emissions are considered to be low. The development will also 

be subject to an Environmental Permit, which will further control waste feedstock 

pollution. Furthermore, conditions requiring a Feedstock Management Plan and a 

Digestate Management Plan will ensure the delivery, storage, handling and export 

arrangement on-site are managed to avoid environmental emissions. No 

objections or concerns regarding bioaerosols have been raised by the EHO or EA.  

 

119



 

 

 
                                                                                                             DC&REG. BOARD – 07 August 2025 

 

383. Concern has been raised regarding the absence of a formal Health Impact 

Assessment (HIA), with suggestions this omission could cause a risk to public 

health. Specific reference to Policy DM02 (3b) of the DHLP has also been 

referenced, which states that a HIA is required for applications for all other uses 

where the site area exceeds 1,000 sqm. As the draft Local Plan has recently 

completed Regulation 19 consultation, it holds some weight as a material 

consideration but cannot be afforded full policy weight at this stage. As discussed 

above, none of the relevant consultees have indicated that a HIA is necessary or 

identified unaddressed public health risks in this case. There is no evidence to 

suggest that the absence of a formal HIA would undermine the planning authority’s 

ability to properly assess health related matters.  

 

384. Several representations raise concern that the proposal may negatively affect 

residents’ mental wellbeing, physical health, and quality of life, particularly through 

increased traffic and odour that could discourage outdoor activity or lead to indoor 

confinement. Reference is made to impacts on local clubs, scout groups, and 

recreation grounds, particularly during summer months. Whilst the planning 

system recognises the importance of amenity and wellbeing, these concerns are 

addressed through other sections of this report, including highways, noise and 

odour. Whilst the representations reflect genuine concern, there is not considered 

to be such evidence before the Waste Planning Authority to indicate that the 

impacts of highways, noise, odour, air pollution etc would reach a threshold that 

would significantly impair outdoor amenity or public health. The cumulative 

environmental effects have been considered and subject to the proposed 

mitigation, conditions, and regulatory controls, are not considered likely to result in 

substantial restrictions on residents’ ability to access and enjoy outdoor activities 

which would evidently justify the refusal of the application. In addition, the site 

operator will be required to maintain a formal complaints procedure, secured via 

condition, to record, investigate, and report complaints. This provides an additional 

layer of oversight and assurance that any future concerns relating to site impact, 

including traffic, odour, noise etc, can be promptly address and monitored by the 

Waste Planning Authority. 

  

385. Representations raise concern regarding the proximity of the proposed facility to 

educational institutions and the perceived vulnerability of children to potential 

emissions and odour. It is a recognised principle in public health that certain 

population groups, including children, may be more sensitive to environmental 

exposures. In considering such risks, the Waste Planning Authority must take into 

account the nature of the development, the proximity of sensitive receptors, and 

the views of specialist consultees with responsibility for environmental and public 

health. In this case, the closest educational institution, Great Bowden Pre-School, 

is situated approximately 710m to the south-west of the proposed development. 

There is no evidence before the Waste Planning Authority to indicate that 

emissions from the proposed development would reach levels of significance at 

this distance. Neither the EHO, the EA, LCC Public Health or UKHSA raised 

120



 

 

 
                                                                                                             DC&REG. BOARD – 07 August 2025 

 

concern in relation to health risks to vulnerable groups, or other sensitive 

receptors. Controls on air emissions would be secured through the Environmental 

Permit, and odour mitigation through planning conditions, namely the Feedstock 

and Digestate Management Plans. On this basis, it is not considered that the 

proposal would give rise to unacceptable health risks to nearby educational 

settings. 

 

386. Concern has been raised that open water could encourage wildfowl and increase 

the risk of avian flu. Whilst the source of open water is not specified, it is assumed 

this relates to the surface water lagoon. This lagoon is designed to manage surface 

water arising from the operational site and forms part of the site’s process water 

system. It is expected to be regularly pumped and reused within the anaerobic 

digestion process, which limits the potential for standing water to accumulate or 

attract wildfowl. The digestate lagoon by contrast, will be covered. The EA has 

raised no concerns about disease vectors in this regard.  

 
387. Another representation suggests the development could result in alkali rain 

affecting nearby areas. The potential for such is not supported by technical 

evidence specific to this proposal. Notwithstanding such, the emissions generated 

by the proposal are well characterised and regulated under the Environmental 

Permit. There is no indication that the proposal would release substances capable 

of alternating precipitation chemistry in such a way that would pose a health risk 

and lead to the refusal of this application.   

 
388. Overall, the proposal is considered to meet the requirements of paragraphs 96(c) 

and 198 of the NPPF.  

 

Biodiversity and Geodiversity  

 
389. Policy DM7 of the LMWLP outlines that proposals for waste development should 

contribute to and enhance the natural and local environment by minimising impacts 

on biodiversity and taking all opportunities to provide a net gain in biodiversity. 

Sites of Special Scientific Interest (SSSIs) will be safeguarded from inappropriate 

waste development. Permission will only be granted for waste development on 

land within or outside a SSSI where: the status and quality of the SSSI is retained 

and protected, or the benefits of developments likely to impact on SSSIs clearly 

outweigh such impacts and loss. Permission will be granted for waste development 

where the status and quality of locally designated sites of biodiversity conservation 

value, and sites meeting Local Wildlife Site criteria, and priori ty habitats and 

species identified in the Local Biodiversity Action Development Management Plan 

is retained and protected, and where the development cannot reasonably be 

located to an alternative site with less harmful impacts. If the benefits of the 

development outweigh the likely impact, the harm should be adequately mitigated 

or, as a last resort, compensated for, and the development will be required to 

deliver a net-gain in biodiversity through the creation of local BAP priority habitat.  

121



 

 

 
                                                                                                             DC&REG. BOARD – 07 August 2025 

 

 

390. Policy DM11 of the LMWLP states permission will be granted for waste 

development where it is demonstrated that cumulative impacts on the environment 

of an area either in relation to the collective effect of different impacts of an 

individual proposal, or in relation to the effects of a number of developments 

occurring either concurrently or successively, are acceptable. 

 
391. Part 1 of Policy GI5 of the HLP outlines that nationally and locally designated 

biodiversity and geodiversity sites will be safeguarded. Part 2 (a) states 

development will be permitted where there is no adverse impact on: i) the 

conservation of priority species; ii) irreplaceable habitats; iii) nationally designated 

sites; iv) locally designated sites; unless, in all cases, the need for, and benefits of, 

the development in that location clearly outweigh the impact. This is largely echoed 

by Part 2 of Policy DS03 and Part 5 (c) of Policy DM10 of the DHLP. Part 2 (b) and 

(c) Policy GI5 of the HLP are covered within the ‘Agriculture/Conservation of Soil 

Resources’ and ‘Minerals’ sections respectively. Part 2 (d;e) states development 

will be permitted where: d) opportunities for improving habitats and for improving 

the water quality of local water courses to improve the aquatic habitat are 

incorporated; e) unavoidable loss or damage to habitats, sites or features is 

addressed through mitigation, relocation, or as a last resort compensation to 

ensure there is no net loss of environmental value.  

 

392. Part 3 (a-g) of Policy GI5 of the HLP suggests that development should contribute 

towards protecting and improving biodiversity and geodiversity through, as 

relevant: a) protecting and enhancing habitats and populations of priority species; 

b) protecting and enhancing the strategic biodiversity network and wildlife 

corridors, particularly river and canal corridors, disused railways and all 

watercourses; c) maintaining biodiversity during construction; d) providing 

contributions to wider biodiversity improvements in the vicinity of the development; 

e) including measures aimed at allowing the District’s flora and fauna to adapt to 

climate change; f) including measures to improve the water quality of any water 

body as required by the Water Framework Directive; and g) protecting features 

and areas of geodiversity value and enhancing them to improve connectivity of 

habitats, amenity use, education and interpretation. These features are largely 

echoed by Part 4 of Policy DM10 of the DHLP, however adding that development 

must contribute to the protection and improvement of biodiversity and geodiversity 

by: c) protecting and enhancing green and blue infrastructure assets; d) protecting 

riparian zones and watercourses.  

 

393. Policy H6 (f) of the GBNP outlines that development should be enhanced by 

biodiversity with existing trees and hedges preserved whenever possible, and 

wildlife provision. Policy ENV8 of the GBNP outlines twenty-eight sites of at least 

local significance for wildlife. It outlines that site 1 (Great Bowden Borrowpit (SSSI), 

will be subject to national and strategic local policies. Development proposals 

affecting the other sites should demonstrate that the need for, and benefits of, the 

122



 

 

 
                                                                                                             DC&REG. BOARD – 07 August 2025 

 

development in that location clearly outweigh the impact on the site and the 

identified features. Policy ENV9 of the GBNP states that: a) proposals will be 

expected to protect local habitats and species and where possible and viable, to 

create new habitats for wildlife and promote and increase biodiversity; b) the 

wildlife corridors shown on the Policies Map and listed in the supporting information 

will be maintained, promoted and supported as a biodiversity resource. 

Development proposals which impact on the corridors will be resisted.  
 

394. Part 1(d) of Policy DS03 of the DHLP states that development will be permitted 

where it contributes to the delivery of the national Nature Recovery Network and 

Leicestershire, Leicester and Rutland Nature Recovery Strategy through the 

delivery of Biodiversity Net Gain in accordance with Policy DM10.  

 
395. Part 1 and 2 of Policy DM10 of the DHLP related to biodiversity net gain, outlining 

that qualifying proposals must deliver at least a 10% measurable biodiversity net 

gain, with a preference for net gain to be provided on site. Part 3 states that 

development should avoid adverse impact on existing biodiversity and geodiversity 

features in line with the mitigation hierarchy.  

 
396. Paragraph 187 (a;d) of the NPPF emphasises planning decisions should contribute 

to and enhance the natural and local environment by: a) protecting and enhancing 

valued landscapes, sites of biodiversity or geological value and soils (in a manner 

commensurate with their statutory status or identified quality in the development 

plan); d) minimising impacts on and providing net gains for biodiversity, including 

by establishing coherent ecological networks that are more resilient to current and 

future pressures and incorporating features which support priority or threatened 

species. Paragraph 193 (a;b) of the NPPF states in determining applications, 

authorities should apply: a) if significant harm to biodiversity resulting from a 

development cannot be avoided (through locating on an alternative site with less 

harmful impacts), adequately mitigated, or, as a last resort, compensated for, then 

planning permission should be refused; b) development on land within or outside 

a Site of Special Scientific Interest, and which is likely to have an adverse effect 

on it (either individually or in combination with other developments), should not 

normally be permitted. The only exception is where the benefits of the development 

in the location proposed clearly outweigh both its likely impact on the features of 

the site that make it of special scientific interest, and any broader impacts on the 

national network of Sites of Special Scientific Interest. 

 
397. The application is supported by a Preliminary Ecological Appraisal, Environmental 

DNA Survey, Bat and Reptile Surveys, and Biodiversity Net Gain Metric. LCC 

Ecology has reviewed the submitted documentation and outlined it is confident that 

sufficient information has been provided in relation to the biodiversity of the site 

and that the protected species and/or habitats found on site will not be impacted 

with appropriate mitigation and enhancements. Regarding conditions 

recommended, these relate to the development being applied in strict accordance 

123



 

 

 
                                                                                                             DC&REG. BOARD – 07 August 2025 

 

with  the measures stated in Section 4.4 (Bat Avoidance/Mitigation/Enhancement 

Measures) and 5.4 (Reptile Avoidance/Mitigation/Enhancement Measures) of the 

Bat and Reptile Survey Report. Section 4.4 includes measures such as a 

precautionary ecological watching brief during key elements of work, the 

installation of four bat boxes suitable for use by pipistrelle species, and repeated 

bat surveys. Section 5.4 includes habitat manipulation measures and habitat 

creation and enhancement.  
 

398. In relation to Biodiversity Net Gain, as the application was validated prior to February 

2024; the development is not subject to mandatory net gain. However, to comply with 

the NPPF, a measurable net gain for biodiversity should be demonstrated post 

development (therefore, 1% rather than 10%). LCC Ecology has outlined that the 

current metric version submitted as part of the application shows the proposed 

development will result in a net loss of -41.22% in habitat units. It is also noted that 

hedgerows have not been included in this version and five hedgerows are present 

across the site. Therefore, an updated metric should be provided which 

demonstrates a measurable net gain  for both habitat and hedgerow units. LCC 

Ecology is satisfied this can be secured through a pre-development condition 

requiring a Biodiversity Offsetting Management Plan which is to provide 

measurable biodiversity net gain on the reported loss.  
 

399. Tree and hedgerow planting will be primarily addressed through a detailed 

landscaping scheme secured by condition at the request of the LCC Landscape 

Officer. The condition would include requirements for the consideration of the 

retention and enhancement of existing landscape features wherever possible, 

compensation for the loss of habitat and provision for measurable Biodiversity Net 

Gain in line with the ecologist recommendations, to include native, nectar-rich 

species to benefit pollinating insects and other wildlife as far as possible, 

incorporation of new bird and bat boxes as part of the new building design , and 

consideration of opportunities to include species rich grassland where possible. 

The submitted Arboricultural Impact Assessment and method statement outlines a 

number of protective measures to ensure the protection of trees to be retained on-

site. Compliance with such is secured by condition.  
 

400. Regarding the construction period, the Construction Method Statement condition, 

to be submitted and approved prior to development, would provide details 

pertaining to measures for the protection of the natural environment, including 

measures to prevent the pollution of surface water and protection of watercourses. 

This is considered an appropriate safeguard to be secured by condition which will 

mitigate potential ecological harm during this temporary period.  
 

401. Regarding internationally important sites, or potential internationally important 

sites, of biodiversity conservation value, there are none in proximity to the site and 

no concerns have been raised by Natural England in this regard.  
 

124



 

 

 
                                                                                                             DC&REG. BOARD – 07 August 2025 

 

402. Regarding nationally important sites of biodiversity conservation value, there are 

no National Nature Reserves, Regionally Important Geological Sites, Special 

Protection Areas, or Special Areas of Conservation  in proximity to the site and 

again no concerns have been raised by Natural England in this regard. However, 

the Great Bowden Borrowpit biological Site of Special Scientific Interest (SSSI) is 

situated approximately 590m to the west of the application site boundary. The 

application site lies within the SSSI Impact Risk Zone for the Great Bowden 

Borrowpit SSSI. The SSSI also includes Lowland Fen Marsh which is classified as 

an irreplaceable habitat.  
 

403. The application is supported by a Qualitative Odour Risk Assessment which includes 

an assessment of air quality, and a Dispersion Modelling Assessment. Natural 

England have considered the proposed development, providing two formal 

consultation responses. Their first response resulted in the request for further 

information, materialising in the form of the Dispersion Modelling Assessment. Upon 

comprehensively reviewing the submitted information, Natural England consider 

that the proposed development will not have significant adverse impacts on 

designated sites, and it has no objection. It outlined that the modelling outputs 

indicate that the proposal will not give rise to an increase in Ammonia concentration 

or Nitrogen deposition of more than 1% of the relevant critical load level at Great 

Bowden Borrowpit SSSI. Given such, the development alone is considered unlikely 

to have a significant adverse effect on this SSSI. The Dispersion Modelling 

Assessment notes in combination assessment which indicated that there are no such 

activities to be considered within the vicinity of the proposed development that could 

affect the surrounding environment and would require further consideration. Natural 

England outlined that, whilst no information is provided regarding how this 

screening review was undertaken, they had not received consultation upon any 

other development which may impact upon the air quality of Great Bowden 

Borrowpit SSSI which fit the criteria set out in their initial response and 

consequently raised no further concern in relation to in combination effects. Given 

the response provided by Natural England was from 09 September 2024, the 

Waste Planning Authority followed up with Natural England to see whether this had 

since changed. Natural England confirmed on 20 June 2025 that no other relevant 

consultations had been received since their last response.  

 

404. Two reports, dated February 2024 and August 2024, were submitted as 

representations which reviewed the Air Quality and Odour Assessment submitted 

as part of the application. Both reports were forwarded to Natural England for 

comment. In response to the report dated February 2024, they confirmed they have 

no further comment. Natural England outlined that the reports provided note the 

same points raised in Natural England’s initial response (dated 29 January 2024) 

regarding the insufficiency of the initial SCAIL assessment. However, these issues 

have now been addressed by the additional information provided by the applicant 

(Dispersion Modelling Assessment). Natural England confirmed that their updated 

response (dated 9 September 2024) remains unchanged in light of these reports. 

125



 

 

 
                                                                                                             DC&REG. BOARD – 07 August 2025 

 

 
405. Regarding locally important sites of biodiversity and geological conservation value, 

these sites are those designated in recognition of their significance at the local 

level and, as such, do not normally carry the weight of statutory protection. 

Leicestershire’s Local Nature Recovery Strategy (LNRS) (adopted July 2025) has 

been reviewed as part of the site’s ecological context. Whilst the LNRS does not 

form part of the statutory development plan, it is a material consideration insofar 

as it identifies locally important habitats and spatial opportunities for enhancing 

ecological networks. The application site does not lie within, or close to a Local 

Nature Reserves (LNR) or Local Wildlife Site (LWS), the closest of which being the 

Grand Union Canal LWS situated approximately 1,450m to the west of the site.  

The proposal does not lie within or close to any wildlife corridors, as identified 

within the GBNP.  
 

406. The closest non-statutory designated nature conservation sites are the: ‘Ash Tree 

1, Welham Lane’ situated approximately 320m north-east of the site; ‘Ash Tree 

Welham Lane 2’ situated approximately 400m south-west of the site; and ‘Old 

railway embankment’ situated approximately 530m west of the site. These are all 

potential Local Wildlife Sites (pLWS). The submitted Preliminary Ecological 

Appraisal has identified the Ash Trees and whilst it has not directly noted the ‘Old 

railway embankment’, the following rational is still considered relevant. In relation 

to these features, it outlines that considering the localised nature of the works and 

level of separation between the application site and these sites, there is no 

mechanism identified for the works to result in direct impacts upon their interest 

features. It should also be noted that vehicle movements associated with the 

development would not be routed in their vicinity. However, the report does note 

depending on the predicted levels of ammonia release during the operation of the 

proposal, these could incur indirect impacts upon biological interest features 

pertaining to these sites. Subsequently, non-statutory designated sites are 

considered potential receptors with respect to the proposed development. The 

potential impacts of ammonia of local ecological receptors will be discussed further 

in this section.  
 

407. Regarding Priority Habitats, the Preliminary Ecological Assessment has identified 

‘Lowland Fens’ occurring approximately 650m north-west of the application site, and 

‘Deciduous Woodland’ occurring approximately 700m south-west and 580m south-

east of the application site. It should be noted that the ‘Lowland Fens’ is situated at 

the site of the Great Bowden Borrowpit SSSI so the potential impacts of such have 

already been considered above. In relation to the deciduous woodland, as outlined 

in the report, the proposed works are expected to be confined entirely to within the 

boundaries of the application site and are expected to utilise existing roads, situated 

to the north-west for plant and vehicle access. These Priority Habitats will, therefore, 

be safeguarded throughout the works and the site activities are not expected to 

encroach into this area. Again, the report notes that depending on the predicted 

emission release levels, the operation of the proposal could result in indirect and 

126



 

 

 
                                                                                                             DC&REG. BOARD – 07 August 2025 

 

adverse impacts upon the integrity of these habitats. The potential impacts of 

emissions, including ammonia, on local ecological receptors will be discussed further 

in this section. 

 

408. The LNRS Local Habitat Map 5 and 6 identifies the western edge of the site as 

being suitable for the following priority species: Palmate Newt; Leisler’s Bat; and 

Rare Plants Gene Bank Assemblage. The whole site is identified as being suitable 

for all urban species; being House Sparrow, Swift, Starling and Hedgehog. In relation 

to the Leisler’s Bat and the urban species, the submitted Preliminary Ecological 

Appraisal and subsequent Bat Survey has considered the potential for nesting 

birds and roosting and foraging bats on-site. Recommended mitigation has been 

conditioned which includes those measures outlined in Section 4.4 (Bat 

Survey/Avoidance/Mitigation/Enhancement Measures) of the Bat and Reptile 

Survey, and the provision of new bird and bat boxes as part of the detailed 

landscaping scheme condition. Furthermore, an informative has also been 

included which outlines vegetation removal being undertaken to avoid the bird 

nesting season (March to Sept) unless an appropriately qualified ecologist has 

surveyed the trees and confirmed the absence of breeding birds. Whilst 

hedgehogs have not specifically been surveyed, the Preliminary Ecological 

Appraisal does consider them as part of the proposed mitigation for badgers on -

site, being, all excavations should be covered at night to avoid the accidental 

trapping of badgers and other terrestrial mammals, such as hedgehogs. This is 

recommended to be included as a note to the applicant. Both the LCC Landscape 

Officer and LCC Ecology have reviewed such and are satisfied with these 

measures. Therefore, the impact on-site of these priority species is considered to 

be suitably mitigated to not cause an adverse impact.  

 

409. In relation to Palmate Newt and the Rare Plants Gene Bank Assemblage, these 

mapped zones are situated on the westernmost edge of the site where only limited 

development is proposed. Although specific surveys for these species have not been 

undertaken, owing to there being no explicit requirement at the time of submission, 

in light of their identification in the LNRS mapping, the Waste Planning Authority has 

imposed a condition requiring a targeted survey prior to the commencement of 

development on-site. Depending on the outcome of this survey, a mitigation strategy 

must be implemented to ensure that any potential ecological impacts are 

appropriately addressed, and unnecessary harm is avoided. Furthermore, the 

Biodiversity Offsetting Management Plan which is also required by condition is to 

have regard to the LNRS, offering measurable biodiversity compensation on 

reported loss.  

 
410. Regarding the ‘Areas that Could Become of particular importance (ACB) as outlined 

in the LNRS Local Habitat Maps 2a, 3 and 4, these do not currently constitute formal 

ecological designations. However, the Biodiversity Offsetting Management Plan 

condition and the detailed landscaping scheme condition will be expected to have 

127



 

 

 
                                                                                                             DC&REG. BOARD – 07 August 2025 

 

regard to these mapped areas, ensuring that opportunities for habitat enhancement 

and alignment with local strategic ecological priorities are appropriately considered.  
 

411. Concerns have been raised regarding the potential for the development to give 

rise to an inappropriate increase in ammonia and associated nitrate density into 

local soil substrates and the risk of such increase in nitrate concentration 

contaminating local watercourses, including the River Welland. Objections have 

been raised regarding the potential ecological and amenity impacts on a number 

of ecological projects. Of particular concern is the Hursley Park Country Park, 

located approximately 200m south-west of the site. Concerns centre around 

possible harm to habitats within the park, particularly wildflower meadows, due to 

ammonia emissions from the proposed development. Whilst the formal designation 

of the area as a ‘country park’ does not itself confer statutory protection or specific 

planning weight, its ecological features such as restored wildflower meadows, 

native trees/hedgerows, and ponds, are recognised as locally valuable and have 

been considered in the assessment. Representations outline that the country park 

is in the process of being designated as a LWS. Whilst this is acknowledged, given 

the site is not currently a LWS it is considered of low material weight in this regard. 

Other ecological projects of concern raised included Haygates Farm, James Alder 

reserve, Harborough Woodland tree and hedgerow planting, and a proposed green 

corridor connecting the James Adler Nature Reserve, Hursley Park Country Park, 

and three newly secured rewilding plots by Harborough District Council. One such 

plot sits directly adjacent to the southern boundary of the site. However, whilst 

acknowledged, it is noted that the proposed rewilding is yet to form any formal 

ecological status and therefore is considered of low material weight.  

 

412. Given the self-contained nature of the proposed development, proposed vehicle 

routing, separation distances, and suite of proposed conditions to be imposed, the 

direct impacts of the proposed development on these projects and features are not 

considered to be of a significant nature. Regarding indirect impacts, it is 

acknowledged that one of the main sources of ammonia associated with the 

proposed development is from the use of poultry manure. There would be one 

sheeted-over HGV load of poultry manure delivered to the site each day which 

would be deposited into specifically constructed covered feedstock bunkers. The 

poultry manure would be fed into the digester tanks daily and therefore each new 

load would be fed on the same day it is delivered or, dependent upon the time of 

the delivery, the next morning, making sure that no poultry manure is left in its 

bunker for more than a maximum period of 24 hours. The Qualitative Odour Risk 

Assessment modelled potential ammonia emissions on the basis that 175 tonnes 

of manure would be present at all times. A condition is recommended to be 

imposed to ensure that no more than 175 tonnes of poultry manure will be present 

on site at any one time. Furthermore, the proposed Feedstock Management Plan 

condition will contain specific and measurable controls for the authority to monitor 

the site against in relation to feedstock delivery, handling, storage, and processing. 

Regarding digestate, the liquid fraction will be stored in a covered lagoon, whilst 

128



 

 

 
                                                                                                             DC&REG. BOARD – 07 August 2025 

 

the solid fraction will be stored within a bay in the building where the feedstock is 

stored and removed quickly to be used on the land. Again, the proposed Digestate 

Management Plan secured by condition would contain specific and measurable 

controls for the authority to monitor the site against in relation to storage and export 

arrangements. Both will help to mitigate off-site impacts. Furthermore, the control 

of emissions, including both ammonia and nitrates, fall under the remit of the 

Environmental Permitting regime administered by the EA, as do controls for the 

spreading of digestate. This system is designed to protect ecological receptors and 

will assess and regulate potential emissions from the facility, including the 

requirements specific to the site’s location within a Nitrate Vulnerable Zone, where 

additional scrutiny applies. LCC Ecology has also reviewed the proposed 

development and outlined no objection subject to conditions, including a 

Biodiversity Offsetting Management Plan. Taken as a whole, these controls are 

considered sufficient to prevent significant harm to the ecological interests of the 

country park and other surrounding ecological projects and features as a result of 

the proposed development. Furthermore, considering the above and drawing on 

the assessments of the other sections in relation to highways, noise and odour, 

the amenity value of the country park and other ecological features is not 

considered to be significantly hindered.  
 

413. Despite representations outlining otherwise, it should be noted that the Preliminary 

Ecological Assessment does not recommend further badger surveys but does 

recommend that all excavations be covered at night to avoid the accidental 

trapping of badgers and other terrestrial mammals, such as hedgehogs. It is further 

advised that the site is subjected to a pre-works inspection for badger activity in 

advance of any ground-penetrating activities, which has been included within 

Appendix A as a note to the applicant (also at the recommendation of LCC 

Ecology). Furthermore, it is acknowledged that representation outline that birds 

and bats have been observed in the area and could be present on site. The 

presence and mitigation of bats has already been covered above. Regarding birds, 

the Preliminary Ecological Appraisal included a Phase 1 Habitat Survey which 

assessed the likelihood of birds on site, recommending as a precautionary 

measure, vegetation removal and the demolition or dismantling of on -site buildings 

and temporary structures to be completed outside of the main nesting bird season 

(nesting season runs March-August, inclusive), where practicable. Alternatively, 

should these works be scheduled during the main nesting bird season, all suitable 

habitats should be firstly checked by a suitably experienced ecologist in advance. 

If active nests are found, these must be safeguarded and left undisturbed until all 

chicks have fledged. Again, this has been included as a note to the applicant. 

Furthermore, the appraisal outlines that as a positive, optional enhancement, 

artificial bird nesting features could be incorporated onto any new buildings and/or 

retained trees post-works. As part of the detailed landscaping scheme condition, 

the incorporation of new bird boxes as part of the new building design, as well as 

the consideration of installing bird nesting roosting boxes on existing mature trees 

129



 

 

 
                                                                                                             DC&REG. BOARD – 07 August 2025 

 

(if suitable) and in accordance with the ecologist recommendations to enhance the 

site for bird roosting, is required.  

  

414. There have been concerns raised with the submitted Preliminary Ecological 

Appraisal, including its findings that otter and water vole are not considered 

potential receptors and that the Phase 1 Habitat Survey was undertaken outside 

of the optimal survey window (April to mid-October). Furthermore, concerns have 

been raised that minimal, mainly desktop, surveys have been conducted to date 

which could underestimate the ecological impacts. Whilst the aforementioned is 

noted, the submitted assessments reflect standard methodologies which have 

been assessed by LCC Ecology, raising no objection subject to conditions.   

 

415. Concern has been raised regarding the potential impacts on Great Crested Newts, 

and that other ponds around the site should be surveyed. The Preliminary 

Ecological Appraisal recommended Environmental DNA testing (eDNA) of the small 

pond on site and connecting drain to determine whether these support breeding great 

crested newts. eDNA testing has been conducted and submitted as part of the 

application, returning a negative result. The pond is also to be retained as part of the 

development. Regarding the testing of other ponds around the site, LCC Ecology has 

not identified this as a necessary precaution. Therefore, their assessment is 

considered proportionate to the scale of the proposed development.  

 

416. Concerns have been raised regarding the potential Impact on local livestock. 

However, no evidence has been submitted to materially demonstrate that the 

proposal would result in harm to such animals. Environmental effects of the 

proposal, including noise, have been considered as part of the assessment and 

with the appropriate regulatory controls and mitigation through conditions, such 

impacts are considered to not result in unacceptable impacts, including on local 

livestock.  
 

417. Representations have outlined concerns regarding the potential for spores from 

rotting straw could cause lung disease in birds (aspergillosis). The management of 

feedstock, including straw, would be assessed and monitored throughout the life 

of the development through a Feedstock Management Plan condition. With the 

appropriate mitigation in place, there is not considered to be evidence to suggest that 

the proposed development would elevate the risk of aspergillosis.  
 

418. Overall, in consideration of the above the proposal is not considered to conflict with 

Policy DM7 and DM11 of the LMWLP; Policy GI5 of the HLP; Policy H6 (f), ENV8, 

Policy ENV9 of the GBNP; Policy DM10 and DS03 1(d) of the DHLP; and 

paragraphs 187 (a;d) and 193 (a;b) of the NPPF. 
  

Climate Change  

 

130



 

 

 
                                                                                                             DC&REG. BOARD – 07 August 2025 

 

419. Policy CC1 of the HLP, Policy H6 (i) of the GBNP, and Policy DS03 (1b) and DM09 

of the DHLP seeks to ensure that developments minimise carbon emissions and 

promote high standards of environmental and energy efficiency. They require 

proposals to demonstrate how they will reduce emissions through passive design, 

use of renewable energy, sustainable construction practices, and efficient use or 

reuse of existing buildings. There is encouragement to align with best practice 

standards and a responsible approach to both construction and long-term 

operation.  

 

420. Paragraph 163 of the NPPF specifies that the need to mitigate and adapt to climate 

change should be considered in assessing applications, taking into account the full 

range of potential climate change impacts. 

 
421. As previously assessed within the principle of development section, a key 

sustainability benefit lies in the site’s proximity to the National Transmission 

System which, in part, offsets the locations and distances of the imports and 

exports. The facility is also designed to operate with a degree of resource 

efficiency. Approximately 15,000m3 of water per annum would be reused in the 

process (as is elaborated and assessed in the following section) and some of the 

biogas generated by the process would be reused within the facility. Through the 

combined heat and power unit, a small amount of the biogas is used to generate 

approximately 1,000 kilowatts (KW) of electricity which is used on site and the 

associated heat is used in the anaerobic digestion process. The CO2 which is 

produced as part of the process is captured and sold on to the food and beverage 

industry. The proposal supports a cyclical process whereby the digestate, which in 

itself acts as a nutrient-rich soil improver, is spread back on the land in which the 

feedstocks are sourced. The use of the digestate enables a significant reduction 

in the reliance of fossil fuel dependant nitrogen on the land. 

 

422. A Construction Method Statement has been conditioned which includes measures 

for minimising the impact on the environment during the construction phase. A 

Demolition Works Management Plan has also been conditioned, though it does 

not directly address carbon optimisation via reuse of materials. An existing on-site 

bungalow is to be retained and refurbished for welfare facilities, though no 

information has been submitted regarding improvements to its energy efficiency. 

The remainder of the development comprises plant and infrastructure, for which 

conventional building-level energy efficiency criteria are less applicable.  

 
423. Concerns have been raised that the proposed development would contribute to 

climate change, and that such infrastructure may emit more CO2 than fossil fuel 

alternatives. It is also suggested that aspects of the anaerobic digestion process 

rely heavily on fossil fuel energy, such as deliveries and exports. Whilst it is 

acknowledged that the construction and operation of any facility involves some 

level of energy use, these are considered ancillary to the primary function of the 

development, which is to generate biomethane, with the NPPF specifically defining 

131



 

 

 
                                                                                                             DC&REG. BOARD – 07 August 2025 

 

the use of biomass as renewable energy. Again, the process is designed to be 

cyclical, with water and heat recovered and reused within the facility to reduce 

energy demand. Furthermore, the increase in vehicle movements associated with 

the maize imports would only be taking place over a 30-day period out of the year, 

with solid digestate being backhauled during this period. In this context, the carbon 

emissions associated with the operation of the plant are considered to be 

outweighed by the emissions savings from replacing fossil fuels with renewable 

gas and reducing the need for artificial fertilisers.  

 

424. Overall, the proposal broadly meets the policy intent of, Policy CC1 of the HLP, 

Policy H6 (i) of the GBNP, Policies DS03 (1b) and DM09 of the DHLP, and 

paragraph 163 of the NPPF. 

 
Water Consumption  

 

425. Paragraph 161 of the NPPF outlines that the planning system should support the 

transition to net zero by 2050 and take full account of all climate impacts including 

water scarcity. Policy GD8 (f) of the HLP, Policy H6 (i) of the GBNP, and Policy 

DM01 (2i) of the DHLP emphasise that development should minimise water 

consumption and maximise water efficiency.   

 

426. It is proposed that all surface water will be captured and stored on site for use 

within the anaerobic digester plant. The proposed development requires circa 

30,000m3 – 45,000m3 of clean water annually to allow for processing. Up to 

approximately 15,000m3 of this comprises reused water generated through the 

process itself. Any shortfall in required water volume relies on taking potable water 

from the mains. Consequently, the anaerobic digestion plant utilises between 

68.5m3 and 250m3 of water per day, taken from the surface water lagoon as a 

priority over utilising potable water from the mains. This amount of water is 

consistently being drawn down every day. The draw down of water on any given 

day is never less than 68.5m3, as the process would not be viable in this scenario. 

 
427. It is essential to capture as much surface water onsite as possible, to reduce 

reliance on the water mains. Not only does this benefit the facility with the 

accessibility to water on-site, but it also highly reduces the cost as this will not have 

to be purchased for the process to operate. Therefore, a significant proportion of 

the proposal’s annual water demand would be primarily sourced through the 

capture and reuse of surface water. 

 

428. Water consumption would also be minimised during the construction phase, 

secured by a planning condition requiring the submission of a Construction Method 

Statement, which would include a scheme for minimising the consumption of water 

during construction. 

 

132



 

 

 
                                                                                                             DC&REG. BOARD – 07 August 2025 

 

429. Objections have been raised outlining that some biomass crops may require 

significant amounts of water for cultivation, leading to concerns about water 

scarcity and competition with other water-intensive activities. Whilst the planning 

system can assess the impacts of the proposed development itself, including on-

site water use, it is not responsible for regulating existing off-site agricultural 

practices. Therefore, whilst concerns around the wider water use in the agricultural 

supply chain are understood, they are not considered to carry sufficient weight to 

influence the determination of this application. The same reasoning is applied to 

concerns raised regarding the environmental sustainability of planting, growing 

and harvesting of maize. Concerns regarding the use of maize are considered 

further within the ‘Use of maize, straw and poultry manure’ section of this report.  

 

430. In consideration of the above, the proposal is considered to accord with paragraph 

161 of the NPPF, Policy GD8 (f) of the HLP, Policy H6 (i) of the GBNP, and Policy 

DM01 (2i) of the DHLP.   

 

Land Contamination  

 
431. Policy GD8 (n) of the HLP and Policy DM11 (2) of the DHLP requires that 

previously developed land is assessed for contamination and to ensure any 

contamination is not relocated elsewhere to a location where it could adversely 

affect the water environment or other wildlife habitats. Correspondingly, paragraph 

187(f), 196(a and c), and 197 of the NPPF emphasise that planning decisions must 

ensure land is remediated for safe use, accounting for risks from contamination, 

with responsibility placed on the developer to secure a safe form of development.  

 

432. At the request of the EHO, two planning conditions have been recommended in 

relation to land contamination. The first relates to the submission of a Risk Based 

Land Contamination Assessment prior to development commencing (except 

demolition works). Should any unacceptable risks be identified in the Risk Based 

Land Contamination Assessment, a Remedial Scheme and a Verification Plan 

must be prepared and submitted to, and approved in writing by, the Waste 

Planning Authority.  The second condition outlines that, if no remediation was 

required, a statement from the developer should be received and approved 

confirming that no previously identified contamination was discovered during the 

course of development, or part thereof. If contamination was found, then a 

Verification Investigation shall be undertaken in line with the agreed Verification 

Plan for any works outlined in the Remedial Scheme. 

 

433. Therefore, the proposal is considered to accord with Policy GD8 (n) of the HLP, 

and paragraphs 187(f), 196(a and c), and 197 of the NPPF. 

 

Flood Risk, Hydrology and Hydrogeology 

 
434. Policy DM2 of the LMWLP and paragraph 181 of the NPPF seek to ensure flooding 

and run-off does not impact adjoining users and those in close proximity. Policy 

133



 

 

 
                                                                                                             DC&REG. BOARD – 07 August 2025 

 

CC3 of the HLP and Policy DM07 of the DHLP outline the requirement for major 

development to be accompanied by a site-specific flood risk assessment. Policy 

CC3 outlines that development proposals subject to a site-specific flood risk 

assessment will only be permitted where mitigation, management, resilience 

measures, and design requirements identified are satisfactorily addressed, and the 

design incorporates flood resilience measures to allow for increased risk due to 

climate change.  

 

435. Policy CC4 of the HLP, Policy H6 (j) of the GBNP, Policy DM08 of the DHLP, and 

paragraph 182 (a;b;c) of the NPPF outline the aim for major development to 

incorporate sustainable drainage systems (SuDS). Paragraph 182(a) of the NPPF 

specifies that the advice of the LLFA should be taken into account. Paragraph 163 

of the NPPF specifies that the need to mitigate and adapt to climate change should 

be considered in assessing applications, taking into account the full range of 

potential climate change impacts. 

 
436. The application site of the main compound is situated within Flood Zone 1, 

indicating a low probability of flooding from rivers and the sea.  Regarding the 

annual chance of surface water flooding at the main compound site, most of the 

site is located in an area of very low (less than 1 in 1000) risk of surface water 

flooding in a given year. Small areas of the western portion of the site are at low (1 

in 100 to 1 in 1000) risk of surface water flooding in a given year. There is a thin 

strip of high probability risk of surface water flooding (1 in 30) which runs parallel 

to the southern site boundary. 

 
437. The proposed development is supported by a Flood Risk Assessment and 

Drainage Strategy (Document Ref. R-FRA-26925-01-0, dated 12th October 2023). 

The assessment clarifies that the site is also at low risk of flooding from 

groundwater, sewers and artificial sources such as reservoirs. It is proposed that 

all surface water would be captured and stored on site for use within the proposed 

development via the surface water lagoon. Any shortfall in required water volume 

relies on taking potable water from the mains. It is therefore essential to capture 

as much surface water onsite as possible, to reduce reliance on the water mains. 

There is no positive outfall from the site, as all surface water is fed into the process. 

 
438. The required attenuation volume for the 1 in 100-year storm with 40% climate 

change event is 2,622.4m3, with the 1 in 30 year and 1 in 1-year scenarios requiring 

1,508.8m3 and 826.3m3 respectively. The surface water lagoon will have a capacity 

of storing up to 5,000m3. The lagoon is therefore more than sufficient to 

accommodate all modelled storm events, with the additional 40% climate change 

event factored in. 

 
439. Given the site lies within Flood Zone 1, there is no requirement to apply either the 

Sequential Test or the Exception Test in this instance. 

 

134



 

 

 
                                                                                                             DC&REG. BOARD – 07 August 2025 

 

440. The LLFA have reviewed the submitted Flood Risk Assessment and Drainage 

Strategy and have clarified the proposal is considered acceptable subject to pre-

development conditions relating to the provision and approval of a surface water 

drainage scheme and details in relation to the management of surface water on 

site during construction. A condition requiring details in relation to the long-term 

maintenance of the surface water drainage system within the development prior to 

first use of the development was also requested. These conditions can be viewed 

within Appendix A. 

 
441. Representations raised concern that the Flood Risk Assessment and Drainage 

Strategy does not provide information about proposed mitigation for an extreme 

storm event exacerbated by climate change. This has been covered in the report 

above.  

 
442. Concern has been raised in relation to paragraph 4.8 of the Flood Risk Assessment 

and Drainage Strategy, which acknowledges that in the highly unlikely event of a 

storm exceeding the 1 in 100 year and climate change design threshold, surface 

water systems may become overwhelmed and overland flows may occur. The 

strategy clarifies that in such a scenario, flows would be managed and captured 

for use within the proposal. The LLFA have reviewed the strategy and raised no 

objection, subject to conditions. On this basis, the exceedance provisions 

described in paragraph 4.8 are considered technically sound and do not give rise 

to unacceptable risk.  

 
443. Concern outlined that, as per paragraph 5.17 of the Landscape and Visual 

Statement, Ref: 1551 1 LVS GP, dated June 2023, the application site and its 

immediate surroundings fall into Group 3, River Valley Floodplains, more 

specifically into 3A, Floodplain Valleys landscape character type. However, it is 

important to understand that this is based on visual and topographical 

characteristics used to assess landscape sensitivity, value, and visual amenity, not 

flood risk. Notwithstanding such, topography of the site is accounted for within the 

Flood Risk Assessment and Drainage Strategy. 

 

444. Concern has been raised that the proposed development would replace a 

previously undeveloped part of the site, currently able to absorb rainwater, with 

built form and hardstanding. However, the part of the site in question is proposed 

to accommodate the surface water lagoon, a key component of the site’s surface 

water management. Whilst it is acknowledged that no system can capture 

absolutely all surface water in every conceivable scenario, the proposal includes a 

drainage strategy designed to accommodate rainfall up to the 1 in 100-year event 

with a climate change allowance. Again, the LLFA have raised no objections to this 

subject to conditions.  

 

445. Concerns were raised in relation to the SuDs techniques proposed and questioned 

why the green roof and pervious pavement techniques within paragraph 4.4.1 

135



 

 

 
                                                                                                             DC&REG. BOARD – 07 August 2025 

 

(Table 4.1) of the Flood Risk Assessment and Drainage Strategy have not been 

considered further. However, the strategy has been subject to full review by the 

LLFA, which has raised no objection subject to conditions including a surface water 

drainage scheme. This will provide the opportunity to review and refine the 

drainage features at the implementation stage, ensuring a compliant and effective 

approach is secured based on site-specific needs.   

 
446. Finally, there is concern that the application has not accounted for how existing 

drainage would be improved to handle the treatment of effluent discharge from the 

site and that there are no foul sewers in the area. However, the proposed process 

does not require a treatment effluent discharge. The system is designed to use 

water within a closed-loop process, where digestate is stored and reused for 

agricultural use, and no by-products or liquid waste are discharged offsite. As such, 

there is no outflow of treated or untreated effluent. This arrangement would remain 

consistent throughout the life of the development.  

 

447. Therefore, the proposal is considered to accord with Policy DM2 of the LMWLP, 

Policy CC3 and CC4 of the HLP, Policy DM07 and DM08 of the DHLP, Policy H6 

(j) of the GBNP, and paragraph 181 and 182 of the NPPF.  

 

Vibration  

 
448. Policy DM2 of the LMWLP states that planning permission will be granted for waste 

development where it is demonstrated that the potential effects from vibration to 

adjoining land uses and users and those in close proximity to the proposal would 

be acceptable. Policy GD8 (e(ii)) of the HLP and Policy DM02 (1a) of the DHLP 

also reference that development should be designed to minimise the impact on the 

amenity of existing and future residents by not generating a level of vibration which 

cannot be mitigated to an appropriate standard.  

 

449. Both a Construction Method Statement and Demolition Works Management Plan 

will be required prior to the relevant phases of development. These plans will 

include provisions for minimising vibration related impacts. Furthermore, the EHO 

has not raised an objection and is satisfied with these controls. Therefore, the 

proposal is considered to accord with Policy DM2 of the LMWLP, Policy GD8 (e(ii)) 

of the HLP, and Policy DM02 (1a) of the DHLP. 

 

Dust 

 
450. Policy DM2 of the LMWLP states that planning permission will be granted for waste 

development where it is demonstrated that the potential effects from dust to 

adjoining land uses and users and those in close proximity to the proposal would 

be acceptable.  

 

451. The application has been subject to review by the EHO, EA, and the LHA, and a 

number of planning conditions are proposed to ensure appropriate mitigation is in 

136



 

 

 
                                                                                                             DC&REG. BOARD – 07 August 2025 

 

place throughout the demolition, construction and operational phases. These 

documents are required to be submitted and approved prior to commencement of 

the relevant phases of development. Furthermore, a complaints procedure 

condition is recommended, which includes the provision for investigating and 

responding to complaints relating to dust. Taken together these measures are 

considered sufficient to ensure that dust impacts would be appropriately minimised 

and would not result in significant harm to neighbouring amenity.  

 
452. Therefore, the proposal is considered to accord with Policy DM2 of the LMWLP in 

relation to dust.  

 

Agriculture/Conservation of Soil Resources 

 
453. Policy DM6 of the LMWLP and Policy DM11 (3) of the DHLP outlines that planning 

permission will be granted for waste development that would result in the 

significant loss of the best and most versatile agricultural land (Grades 1, 2 and 

3a) where it is demonstrated that: (i) there is an overriding need for the facility; (ii) 

there is no suitable alternative site of lower agricultural quality that provides the 

same benefits in terms of sustainability. Policy GI5 (2b) of the HLP states 

development will be permitted where there is no loss of any 'best and most versatile 

agricultural land' unless this is demonstrably necessary to facilitate the delivery of 

sustainable development. Paragraph 187 (b) of the NPPF states that planning 

decisions should recognise the benefits of the best and most versatile (BMV) 

agricultural land. Concerns have also been raised relating to the loss of Grade 3 

agricultural land on site.  

 

454. The site lies on land classified as Grade 3 on the Provisional Agricultural Land 

Classification map. However, this mapping does not distinguish between Grade 3a 

(BMV) and Grade 3b (non-BMV). No detailed site-specific Agricultural Land 

Classification Survey has been submitted to confirm the precise grading. It is noted 

that the western half of the site consists of derelict buildings and hardstanding 

associated with the site’s former use as a mushroom farm and is not currently in 

productive agricultural use. Therefore, only a portion of the site may be classified 

as BMV land. Furthermore, the scale of permanent land loss is considered modest 

in the context of the wider agricultural landscape.  

 
455. The extent of potential agricultural land loss is not considered to be of sufficient 

weight to justify refusal, particularly in the context of the scheme’s contribution to 

renewable energy generation and circular waste management. Therefore, the 

proposal accords with Policy DM6 of the LMWLP, Policy GI5 (2b) and paragraph 

187 (b) of the NPPF. 

 

Economic Growth and Resilience 

 
456. Paragraph 87(c) of the NPPF supports development that enables the expansion 

or modernisation of other industries of local, regional or national importance to 

137



 

 

 
                                                                                                             DC&REG. BOARD – 07 August 2025 

 

support economic growth and resilience. By generating up to 7mw of renewable 

energy annually and incorporating modern waste to energy infrastructure, the 

facility contributes to the modernisation of the English energy sector, supporting 

growth in low-carbon industries and improving energy security. Furthermore, the 

application would lead to the creation of two fulltime equivalent jobs. Whilst this 

number is modest, it nonetheless represents a tangible positive contribution. 

Therefore, the proposal is considered to accord with paragraph 87(c) of the NPPF. 

  

457. Policy EMP2 (h) of the GBNP states new development will be required to be well 

integrated into and complement existing businesses. The development would 

create an economically circular model whereby poultry manure, maize and straw 

would be sourced from surrounding and regional farms, whilst exporting digestate 

for use as fertiliser in a reciprocal arrangement. Furthermore, the recovery of 

carbon dioxide as a by-product would support food and beverage industries. 

Therefore, the proposed development accords with Policy EMP2 (h) of the GBNP.  

 
458. Concerns were raised that the jobs associated with the proposal may not benefit 

local people. Whilst it cannot be guaranteed that these roles would be filled by 

residents, there is no evidence to suggest they would not be. It is not within the 

remit of the planning system to control or require who is employed by a 

development and this does not affect the assessment relating to employment. 

 

Crime   

 
459. Policy GD8(h) of the HLP and Policy DM01(2f) DHLP suggests development will 

be permitted where it achieves a high standard of design through minimising the 

opportunity for crime and maximising natural surveillance. Paragraph 96 (b) of the 

NPPF outlines that planning decisions should ensure developments are safe and 

accessible, so that crime and disorder, and the fear of crime, do not undermine the 

quality of life or community cohesion. 

 

460. The application site is currently in a derelict state and has been subject to recurrent 

incidents of anti-social behaviour which can detract from the safety and amenity of 

the surrounding area. The introduction of a managed and occupied development 

will bring passive surveillance, regular human activity, and formal access 

arrangements to the site. In replacing an underutilised and unsupervised space 

with an active land use, the proposal has the potential to reduce opportunities for 

unlawful or disruptive behaviour. It is therefore, considered that the proposed 

development would accord with Policy GD8 (h) of the HLP, Policy DM01(2f) of the 

DHLP, and paragraph 96 (b) of the NPPF.  

 
Minerals  

 

461. Policy M11 of the LMWLP seeks to safeguard mineral resources to protect 

permanent sterilisation by development. Part 2 (c) of Policy GI5 of the HLP states 

138



 

 

 
                                                                                                             DC&REG. BOARD – 07 August 2025 

 

development will be permitted where there is no net loss or sterilisation of natural 

resources. The development site lies within a Mineral Safeguarding Area for sand 

and gravel. However, given the scale of the site, in addition to its previous use, 

including the existing development on the western section, it is likely that much of 

the mineral on site has already been sterilised and would be of little value. 

Therefore, the proposal is considered to accord with Policy M11 of the LMWLP 

and Part 2 (c) of Policy GI5 of the HLP. 

 

Sustainability 

 

462. When considering proposals for waste development, the Waste Planning Authority 

takes a positive approach which reflects the presumption in favour of sustainable 

development contained within the Policy DM1 of the LMWLP, Policy GD1 of the 

HLP, and paragraph 11 of the NPPF. Proposals should contribute to the three 

aspects (economic, environmental and social) of sustainable development. In 

terms of economic sustainability, the proposal would generate up to 7mw of 

renewable energy annually, supporting both energy security and the wider 

transition to a low-carbon economy. It would also contribute to the rural and 

regional economy through the use of agricultural inputs and the beneficial use of 

outputs such as digestate and carbon dioxide. Whilst the overall scale of 

employment is modest, the proposal would still create two new full-time jobs, 

representing direct employment benefit. Therefore, the proposal is considered to 

accord with the NPPF in supporting economic growth, however, this must be 

balanced against the environmental and social objectives of sustainable 

development. 

 

463. Having regard to the social objective of sustainable development, the proposal 

contributes indirectly through the provision of renewable energy infrastructure that 

underpins long-term social well-being by supporting stable, affordable energy 

systems and contributing to the resilience of the communities they serve. Whilst 

not a community facility in itself, the proposed development does not result in a 

loss of, or significant impact to, any existing community assets, local services, or 

access to public infrastructure.  Furthermore, the proposal has been subject to 

technical scrutiny across a number of consultees, and conditions have been 

included to help mitigate any potential impacts on residential amenity, such as 

noise, lighting, traffic and pest management. The facilities operations would also 

be subject to further regulation via the Environmental Permitting regime. Whilst 

some objections have been raised regarding perceived impacts on local character 

and amenity, these concerns have been taken into account and are not considered 

to give rise to unacceptable harm when weighed against the benefits of the 

scheme. Therefore, on balance, the proposal is considered to accord with the 

social pillar of sustainability as outlined within Policy DM1 of the LMWLP, Policy 

GD1 of the HLP, and the paragraph 11 of the NPPF. 

 

139



 

 

 
                                                                                                             DC&REG. BOARD – 07 August 2025 

 

464. In consideration of the environmental objective of sustainable development, the 

proposal contributes positively through the generation of low-carbon, renewable 

energy, supporting national efforts to reduce greenhouse gases and respond to 

climate change. The use of agricultural feedstock along with the production of 

nutrient rich digestate helps to reduce the dependence on fossil fuels and 

manmade inorganic fertilisers, contributing to the circular use of resources. Whilst 

the development has the potential to result in some localised environmental 

effects, these have been carefully considered by the relevant technical consultees 

and are subject to control via planning conditions and where applicable, the 

Environmental Permitting regime. On balance, the environmental impacts are 

judged to be appropriately mitigated and would not outweigh the substantial 

climate related benefits of the scheme. The proposal is therefore considered to 

accord with the environmental sustainability objectives set out within Policy DM1 

of the LMWLP, Policy GD1 of the HLP, and the paragraph 11 of the NPPF. 

 
465. Overall, the proposal is found to accord with Policy DM1 of the LMWLP, Policy 

GD1 of the HLP, and the principles of sustainable development as set out in 

Paragraph 11 of the NPPF.  

 
Other Considerations 

 

Conflict with National and Local Policy  

 
466. Policy conflict was raised as part of many representations. The assessment 

section above contains a comprehensive analysis of the local and national policy 

relevant to the proposal, however there were some polices raised within 

representations which do not hold relevance. 

 

467. It is noted that references made to the NPPF within representations relate to an 

earlier iteration of the document. For the purposes of this report, such references 

have been updated and considered in the context of the most recent iteration of the 

NPPF available at the time of writing.  

 

468. Reference to the Harborough Core Strategy (2006-2028) is made in a number of 

representations received. However, the HCS has been superseded and no longer 

forms part of the adopted development plan.  

 
469. Reference to footnote 62 relating to the availability of agricultural land used for food 

production added into the 2023 iteration of the NPPF has since been removed and 

no longer holds statutory weight. 

 
470. Reference was made in some objections to a Policy EMP2, “(3)” of the GBNP. 

Whilst there is not a (3) subsection to Policy EMP2, the relevant sections of this 

policy have been considered throughout the assessment of this report.  

 
Requested planning condition 

140



 

 

 
                                                                                                             DC&REG. BOARD – 07 August 2025 

 

 
471. A condition was requested for, “a monthly review of operations with the biogas 

plant operators, attended by representatives of the Environment Agency, Hursley 

Park residents, Great Bowden residents and the Parish council.” Liaison 

committees are typically secured by legal agreement and not planning condition. 

While the request for a liaison committee is noted, it would be unusual to secure 

one for a facility of this scale and nature, especially given it is a non-strategic 

facility. The suggested frequency of monthly meetings is also considered 

unreasonable and unjustified. The majority of liaison committees in the County 

operate on a twice-yearly basis, with only one site (Mountsorrel Quarry) operating 

on a quarterly basis. Furthermore, it is considered that the proposed conditions 

and regulatory regimes offer a comprehensive approach for operations to be 

appropriately managed at the site. In particular, the requirement for the operator 

to maintain a complaint log has been conditioned, which will provide a clear and 

structured mechanism for residents to raise concerns and ensures the Waste 

Planning Authority are notified of all such matters in a timely manner. Therefore, 

the Waste Planning Authority do not consider that the requirements for a liaison 

committee would meet the planning obligations tests as set out in paragraph 58 of 

the NPPF.  

 

Use of planning conditions  

 

472. Concerns have been raised that the application would be approved via conditions, 

contrary to best practice. However, the use of planning conditions to make otherwise 

unacceptable development acceptable is explicitly supported by paragraph 56 of the 

NPPF, which confirms that this is a standard and appropriate mechanism for 

controlling development.   

 

Pests  

   

473. Concerns have been raised relating to the proposed development attracting pests 

and the potential impacts of such. In response, a condition has been imposed 

requiring the submission of a Pest Control Management Plan. This will ensure that 

effective measures are in place to prevent, control, and monitor pest activity 

associated with the development. With this condition in place, the risk of pest 

nuisance to the amenity of the local area is considered to be adequately mitigated. 

Whilst it has been requested by HDCP that, should the proposed development be 

granted, it should be, “built as a sealed unit with appropriate air conditioning 

facilities to prevent windows and doors being opened and insects potentially 

escaping into the wider environment”; the Pest Control Management Plan is 

considered a proportionate measure to mitigate such. HDC EHO has reviewed and 

is satisfied with the proposed conditions.   

 
Use of maize, straw and poultry manure 

 

141



 

 

 
                                                                                                             DC&REG. BOARD – 07 August 2025 

 

474. Concerns have been raised that the proposed use of maize grown specifically for 

the proposed development may conflict with Government policy objectives on food 

security, and that the use of straw as a feedstock does not align with the waste 

hierarchy, which priorities re-use before energy recovery.  

 

475. The scale of maize production proposed in this case has not been shown to have 

any measurable or strategic impact on local or national food supply. Furthermore, 

the maize would only constitute 37.5% of the total feedstock. The use of a limited 

area of land for energy crops is a recognised and lawful land use, and is not 

precluded by national or local planning policy, particularly where it supports the 

transition to net zero by 2050 as set out in the NPPF.  

 

476. The use of straw and poultry manure as additional feedstocks is consistent with 

established anaerobic digestion practice and supports the beneficial use of 

agricultural waste and by-products. Whilst both may have alternative uses, their 

use as an energy feedstock does not represent a conflict with the waste hierarchy, 

given they are produced as part of existing, managed agricultural systems.   

 
477. Objections have been received suggesting that growing maize could lead to land 

use changes that negatively impact local ecosystems, and that maize is associated 

with increased risk of soil degradation and compaction. There is also concern that 

the proposed development could lead to overharvesting, deforestation, or 

unsustainable agricultural practices (including the use of pesticides) through the 

maintenance of sufficient feedstock availability. Whilst this is acknowledged, it is 

understood that the land proposed for maize cultivation is already in agricultural 

use, and maize is a lawful and established crop within UK farming systems. There 

is no indication that the growth of maize to be used in the proposal would lead to 

demonstrable harm to local ecosystems or soil quality. Furthermore, there is no 

evidence to suggest that the proposed development would result in any new or 

intensified land use that would lead to deforestation and unsuitable harvesting. 

Regardless, issues relating to farming practices, soil management and agricultural 

biodiversity are primarily regulated outside of the planning system.  

 

478. Concern has been raised relating to the potential sourcing of poultry manure from 

intensive or factory farming systems, with concerns about the potential for such 

systems to harbour pathogens and contribute to poor animal welfare. It is also 

suggested that permitting the use of such manure may indirectly endorse factory 

farming. Whilst these concerns are acknowledged, in this case, the poultry manure 

is proposed to be sourced from existing, operational agricultural premises which are 

already regulated and hold appropriate consents. It is not anticipated that the 

proposed development would affect how these farms operate. Notwithstanding, 

these farms remain subject to their own permitting and regulatory controls. As such, 

this issue is not considered to carry significant weight in this context.  

 

Public safety and risk of accidents  

142



 

 

 
                                                                                                             DC&REG. BOARD – 07 August 2025 

 

 
479. Concerns have been raised about the potential for accidents or incidents at the 

proposed facility such as fire, gas leaks, explosions, breakdowns, and the spillage 

of hazardous material. Reference has been made to a number of incidents that 

have occurred at other anaerobic digestion facilities.  

 

480. Such concerns relating to incidents at other facilities are understandable, however 

planning decisions must be based on the specific circumstances and contexts of 

the application site and proposed development, not on isolated events elsewhere.  

Furthermore, whilst the planning system can consider public safety in land use 

terms, the detailed regulation of safety, emissions and accident risk lies with other 

statutory bodies, namely the EA and HSE. The facility will be subject to the 

Environmental Permitting regime, which sets out strict operational and safety 

requirements. Should thresholds be exceeded, the site may also fall under the 

Control of Major Accident Hazards (COMAH) Regulations 2015. The planning 

system is not responsible for regulating operational safety. Paragraph 201 of the 

NPPF outlines that the focus of planning decisions should be on whether proposed 

development is an acceptable use of land, rather than the control of processes or 

emissions (where these are subject to separate pollution control regimes). This is 

reiterated in section 7 of the NPPW. Planning decisions should assume that these 

regimes will operate effectively and will be properly applied and enforced. 

 

481. In addition to general concerns about accident risk, site-specific issues have been 

raised relating to the proximity of the proposed digester to neighbouring propane 

tanks and the presence of open flame heaters in nearby buildings. However, again, 

the detailed assessment and management of accident risk falls under the remit of 

other regulatory regimes. It is the responsibility of the operator to demonstrate 

compliance with these regimes. Again, the Waste Planning Authority is required to 

assume that these regimes will operate effectively and that statutory bodies will 

refuse or restrict the operation if unacceptable risks are identified, in line with 

paragraph 201 of the NPPF. 

 

Land ownership  

 

482. Concern has been raised that the northern and eastern boundary as outlined on 

the site plan are incorrect as the hedge and ditch on these boundaries are owned 

by the neighbouring property and there was concern neighbours had not been 

notified of this/ the red line allegedly extends farther than had previously been 

anticipated/discussed. 

 

483. As part of the Planning Application, dated 14th June 2023, the relevant Land 

Ownership Certificate- Certificate B has been submitted stating that the affected 

landowners have been given the requisite notice. The agent has also provided 

further clarification stating that in respect of the northern and eastern boundary, all 

land within the red line is within the ownership of the client.  

143



 

 

 
                                                                                                             DC&REG. BOARD – 07 August 2025 

 

 
484. Given the above, the applicant has fulfilled the notice requirements of Article 13 of 

the Town and Country Planning (Development Management Procedure) (England) 

Order 2015 (as amended). Notwithstanding such, this does not affect the 

assessment of the proposal on its planning merits, nor does it determine land 

ownership. Dispute over land ownership and boundaries are private, non -material 

issues which are civil matters governed outside of planning law.  

 
Demolition of existing buildings and asbestos 

 
485. Concerns were raised that the application does not include consideration for the 

demolition of the existing buildings on-site and that demolition works would occur 

without prior assessment. There is also concern that the existing buildings of the 

of the old mushroom farm are made of compressed corrugated asbestos which 

could contaminate the wider area.  

 

486. In consideration of such, the requirement for a Demolition Works Management 

Plan (DWMP) is recommended to be secured by condition prior to demolition works 

occurring, which will help to ensure demolition activities are carried out in a 

controlled manner, with appropriate measures to manage noise, dust, traffic, 

waste, and asbestos to protect neighbouring amenity and the wider environment.  

 
Changes to topography  

 

487. Concern has been raised that the proposal includes changes to the topography of 

the site through the creation of two large earth bunds. These bunds have been 

assessed as part of the proposed development within this report.  

 

Employee waste 

 

488. Concern has been raised relating to the disposal of waste/effluent generated by 

employees on site. The applicant has confirmed that such waste would be 

managed via the existing on-site bungalow, which is to be refurbished and used to 

provide welfare facilities. This is considered a suitable and proportionate 

arrangement for a facility of this scale. This matter does not weigh against the 

proposal.  

 

Reference to forthcoming residential developments 

 

489. Concerns have been raised relating to a separate planning application which has 

been submitted to Harborough District Council for the erection of eight dwellings 

on land located near the proposed development (reference: 25/00517/OUT).  

 

490. However, the application is pending consideration and has not been approved. 

Therefore, it cannot be treated as a committed development and holds limited 

144



 

 

 
                                                                                                             DC&REG. BOARD – 07 August 2025 

 

weight in the determination of this application. This application must be assessed 

on the basis of the current planning context and land uses, not in anticipation of 

other proposals which may or may not come forward. Should the nearby residential 

development later be approved, any relationship with existing or approved 

development, including this proposal, would be considered in that context.  

 

491. Reference has also been made to housing allocations, specifically allocations GB2 

and GB1 within the DHLP, parts of which are within 400m of the proposed 

development. These are outlined within Policy SA01 of the DHLP. Whilst the site 

is identified as a draft allocation, the DHLP is yet to be adopted and as such holds 

limited material weight. Furthermore, given the distance of the draft allocation from 

the proposal, and that the proposal has been assessed against residential 

receptors in closer proximity, it is not considered there is sufficient evidence to 

suggest that the proposal would prejudice the delivery of housing in the area.  

 

Concern with the submitted application form dated 14th June 2023 

 
492. There was concern that there are trees and hedges on land adjacent to the 

proposed development, not ‘no’ as noted on the application form. Whilst it is 

acknowledged that the application form should ideally reflect the full context of the 

site, the application as a whole has been fully assessed by the Council’s 

Landscape Officer, and the presence of trees and hedges in the vicinity has been 

properly considered through the submitted site plans and supporting 

documentation. Therefore, this is not considered to materially affect the 

consideration of the proposal.  

 

493. Concern has been raised that there are watercourses within 20m of the 

development running along the site boundary, not ‘no’ as noted on the application 

form. In response, the applicant has clarified that the ditches in question are an 

artificial feature, created to manage water run-off from the roofs of the former 

mushroom farm buildings. These do not form part of a defined watercourse, nor 

do they connect to any waterbody relevant to the application site’s flood risk status. 

The Waste Planning Authority is therefore satisfied that the information on the 

application form in this context does not materially misrepresent the nature of the 

site.  

 
494. Objections have raised concern that the application form states that no priority 

species are on the site, however the submitted Preliminary Ecology Appraisal 

accompanying the application confirms that the site provides a reasonable 

likelihood of sustaining reptiles, bats, and badgers. It is important to note that the 

question relating to protected and priority species on the application form does not 

ask whether such species are present on site, but whether there is a reasonable 

likelihood of them being affected adversely, or of opportunities for conservation 

and enhancement. This is to help identify where ecological information may be 

required. In this case, the Preliminary Ecology Appraisal was submitted, and the 

145



 

 

 
                                                                                                             DC&REG. BOARD – 07 August 2025 

 

potential presence of protected and priority species has been considered as part 

of the application. This is also the case for concerns raised relating to designated 

sites in the application form.   

 

495. Concern has been raised that the application form does not include any information 

pertaining to the existing floorspace of the farm buildings/bungalow. Whilst it is 

acknowledged that this information appears to be missed, it is not considered to 

materially affect the planning assessment. The proposal does not rely on existing 

floorspace calculations to justify policy compliance, and the application has been 

assessed based on the submitted drawings, supporting information , and site 

context. Furthermore, a condition has been included requiring the submission of a 

Demolition Works Management Plan, which will provide greater clarity over the 

extent and nature of demolition works to be undertaken. The concern is therefore 

noted, but this omission does not prejudice the Council’s ability to assess or 

determine the application.  

 

496. Concern has been raised that the application form incorrectly states the proposed 

development would not involve the use or storage of hazardous substance when 

in fact carbon dioxide, a by-product of the anaerobic digestion process, is to be 

produced, stored and exported from site. The applicant has since confirmed that 

the form should have indicated ‘Yes’ in response to this question but advises that 

this does not affect the overall description or scope of the proposed operations. 

Whilst the accuracy of the application form is important, the use or storage of 

hazardous substances is regulated separately under the Planning (Hazardous 

Substances) Regulations 2015, and any such use would require the developer to 

seek a Hazardous Substances Consent where relevant thresholds are exceeded. 

It is the applicant’s responsibility to ensure compliance with this regulatory regime 

and an informative note is recommended to draw attention to this requirement. 

Paragraph 201 of the NPPF outlines that the focus of planning decisions should 

be on whether proposed development is an acceptable use of land, rather than the 

control of processes or emissions (where these are subject to separate pollution 

control regimes). Planning decisions should assume that these regimes will 

operate effectively. In any event, where hazardous substances consent is required 

in relation to waste development, the Waste Planning Authority would also be the 

relevant authority to determine any such application. 

 

Economic impact on surrounding farms 

 

497. Some specific site related concerns regarding a neighbouring farm have been 

covered above. General economic impacts on surrounding farms must be based 

on specific and demonstrable effects. No technical objections have been raised by 

the EA, EHO, or the LHA in relation to potential impacts on surrounding agricultural 

operations. The development is not considered to result in evidenced materially 

significant harm to surrounding agricultural businesses.  

 

146



 

 

 
                                                                                                             DC&REG. BOARD – 07 August 2025 

 

Impact on local businesses 

 

498. Whilst planning can consider potential effects on economic activity, such concerns 

must be based on specific demonstrable land use impacts rather than general 

perceptions or speculation. 

 

499. The proposed use would not directly interfere with access to, or the functioning of, 

existing businesses. No technical objections have been raised in relation to traffic, 

noise, or environmental impacts that would be so significant as to warrant refusal 

on the basis of in-direct effects on local business operations.  

 

Impact to local tourism  

 

500. Whilst the planning system can consider potential impacts on tourism, such 

concerns must relate to demonstrable harm to landscape, heritage, or amenity that 

would materially affect tourism related activities. There is no evidence that the 

proposal would result in impacts of such significance as to warrant refusal on the 

grounds of direct or indirect effects on local tourism.  

 

Value to local community 

 

501. Concerns have been raised that the proposal would offer no value to the local 

community and may harm the social fabric of the community.  These concerns are 

acknowledged, however planning decisions must be based on the likely land use 

impacts and policy compliance, rather than subjective perceptions of benefit or 

harm.   

 

502. The proposed development would contribute to the generation of low carbon, 

renewable energy, supported by national and local policy. In addition, the 

development offers indirect local benefits from the management of some 

agricultural by-products from the surrounding area. Having assessed the proposal 

in detail, there is no material evidence to suggest that its impacts would be so 

significant as to affect the social fabric of the local community.  

 
Reference to other anaerobic digestion facilities  

 

503. Reference to the experiences and impacts of other anaerobic digestion facilities 

across the country have been raised. However, each planning application must be 

assessed on its own merits, taking into account a range of considerations including 

site specific contexts, design, scale, inputs/outputs, mitigation and the technical 

assessments provided. Whilst experiences at other sites are noted, they do not 

provide definitive evidence that this proposal would result in similar impacts. 

 

Refusal of another anaerobic digestion facility by the Council   

  

147



 

 

 
                                                                                                             DC&REG. BOARD – 07 August 2025 

 

504. Planning applications must be assessed on their own merits, based on the specific 

site contexts, scale, design, environmental impacts, and policy compliance of the 

proposal in question. The refusal of a different facility, involving its own unique 

circumstances, is not considered to carry sufficient weight to influence the 

determination of this application. This is also applicable for concerns raised in 

relation to the refusal of other developments by other authorities.  

 

Change of use 

 

505. Representations raised concerns that planning permission would be required to 

change the use of the eastern section of site from agricultural land to industrial. 

This was also raised in relation to the bungalow on site. However, this application 

is fundamentally proposing to change the current use of the site. A separate 

application/ permission is not required to achieve this.  

 

Precedent for future expansion  

 

506. Concerns were raised that if permitted, the proposed development would set a 

precedent for future expansion at the site which could be justified on the grounds 

that there is an existing operational facility. 

  

507. The granting of permission does not guarantee or imply approval of any future 

development. Any hypothetical future proposal to expand or alter the facility would 

be considered, and an assessment of the appropriate planning route would be 

made at the time, which may require a separate planning application and be 

subject to its own public consultation and assessment process. At that stage, the 

cumulative impacts of any intensification would be a relevant consideration. 

Consequently, concern regarding precedent is noted, but it does not amount to a 

material reason for withholding permission for the current proposal.  

 

Change in inputs 

 
508. Objectors have raised concerns that, over time, the types of feedstocks used in 

the proposed development could change to include more odorous materials such 

as food waste or even human waste.  

 

509. To address this, a planning condition has been included which explicitly limits the 

types of feedstocks permitted at the facility to maize, straw, and poultry manure. 

Any change to the feedstock beyond what is permitted would require a formal 

application to vary or remove the condition, which would be subject to public 

consultation and environmental assessment.  

 
Relocation of residents  

 

148



 

 

 
                                                                                                             DC&REG. BOARD – 07 August 2025 

 

510. Objections have been received expressing concern that the proposed 

development may deter people from moving to the area and lead to existing 

residents feeling compelled to leave. Whilst these concerns are acknowledged, 

such perceptions are not considered to carry sufficient weight to influence the 

determination of this application. Planning decisions must be made on the basis of 

land use impacts and planning policy, rather than broader perceptions about how 

the development may influence people’s future choices about where to live.  

 

County Matter 

 

511. Questions were raised as to why the application is with the County for 

determination, rather than Harborough District Council, as this appears to be a 

commercial enterprise primarily for generating gas from straw and other 

commercial feedstocks, with only a smaller proportion being for the processing of 

waste. 

 

512. The Town and Country Planning (Prescription of County Matters) (England) 

Regulations 2003 sets out the legislative framework which prescribe the classes 

of uses and operations which are to be ‘Country Matters’.  Regulation 2 of such 

states: 

 
‘The following classes of operations and uses of land are prescribed for the 

purposes of paragraph 1(1)(j) of Schedule 1 to the Town and Country Planning Act 

1990:—  

 

(a)(i)the use of land; 

 

(ii)the carrying out of building, engineering or other operations; or 

 

(iii)the erection of plant or machinery used or proposed to be used, 

 

wholly or mainly for the purposes of recovering, treating, storing, processing, 

sorting, transferring or depositing of waste’ 

 

513. As such, the proposed development should be ‘wholly or mainly’ for the purposes 

of waste for it to be considered a County Matter. In this instance, the amount of 

feedstock required for the proposed AD Plant consists of 15,000 tonnes of maize, 

16,000 tonnes of straw, and 9,000 tonnes of poultry manure. Whilst at face value, 

it appears only the poultry manure element would constitute waste, having had 

regard to the criteria within the Government’s ‘Check if your material is a waste’ 

webpage, the County Council is of the view that the proposed operation constitutes 

a County Matter. 

 

514. Furthermore, it is noted that PPG-W paragraph 002 outlines anaerobic digestion 

within a list of matters which can be considered as a waste operation.  

149



 

 

 
                                                                                                             DC&REG. BOARD – 07 August 2025 

 

Accessibility of the process buildings  

 
515. The accessibility of the proposed development has been considered in line with 

the relevant national and local planning policies promoting inclusive and accessible 

environments. Given the operational nature of the facility and the limited number 

of users, accessibility is not considered to raise significant planning concerns in 

this instance. Nevertheless, the applicant is expected to comply with the relevant 

building regulations and health and safety requirements relating to access for all 

users.  

 

National Gas Grid Connection and Compound  

 

516. Concern has been raised regarding how the plant would connect to the National 

Gas mains, including whether Welham Lane would need to be dug up to carry the 

connecting gas line. The report has previously outlined that the proposed 

development would be connected to the National Transmission System via 

underground pipework which is likely to benefit from permitted development rights 

afforded by the Town and Country Planning (General Permitted Development) 

(England) Order 2015 (GPDO), Schedule 2, Part 15, Class A (a). Notwithstanding 

such, these would be temporary works and Construction Method Statement has 

also been conditioned to ensure minimal disturbance.  

 

517. Concern has been raised that no technical reports for the National Grid Compound 

area have been submitted as part of the application. However, as has previously 

been referenced, the applicant will only be constructing 1.8m high weld mesh 

fencing enclosing the compound, everything within is proposed to be constructed 

by National Gas. Notwithstanding such, the fencing and compound is likely to 

benefit from permitted development rights afforded by the Town and Country 

Planning (General Permitted Development) (England) Order 2015 (GPDO). 

Technical reports are therefore not required to support this aspect of the proposal.  

 
Certainty of real-life impacts  

 

518. Concerns have been raised that data submitted as part of the application cannot 

categorically prove real life impacts from this application would be minimal, and 

that lived experiences are at odds with the data provided as part of the application. 

It is acknowledged that all predictive assessments carry a degree of uncertainty; 

however, the planning system relies on reasonable evidence-based judgments 

supported by professional standards to evaluate likely impacts. The assessments 

provided as part of the application have all been reviewed by the relevant statutory 

and technical consultees, the majority of which have raised no objections subject 

to conditions.  

 

Proximity to residential development  

 

150



 

 

 
                                                                                                             DC&REG. BOARD – 07 August 2025 

 

519. Concern has been raised that no other development like the proposal has been 

approved to be built as close to a residential area anywhere else in the UK. 

Regardless as to whether this is factually accurate, each planning application must 

be assessed on its own merits, taking into account site-specific circumstances, 

environmental constraints, mitigation and compliance with the development plan. 

The proposal has been assessed against the potential impacts on residential 

amenity. Consultees including Harborough District Council Environmental Health 

and the Environment Agency have reviewed the application and raised no 

objections subject to conditions and the relevant permitting regimes.  

 

Impact on allotments 

  

520. Concern has been raised regarding potential impacts on nearby allotments. Whist 

the specific location of the allotments has not been identified within the application 

material, the proposed development has been subject to assessment for potential 

indirect effects such as odour, air quality, and highways impacts. These matters 

have been addressed through technical submissions and reviewed by the relevant 

consultees, who have raised no object subject to a number of conditions. 

Therefore, any indirect impacts that could potentially influence allotments have 

been appropriately considered and mitigated within the wider assessment of the 

proposal.  

 

Positive/negative balance  

 

521. Concern has been raised that the 7MW of energy generated and two new jobs that 

would be created would not outweigh the negatives of the proposal. Whilst this 

view is noted, the planning balance must be assessed objectively, having regard 

to the development plan, relevant material considerations, and the evidence before 

the Waste Planning Authority, rather than broad perceptions of positives and 

negatives. 

 

Compliance with planning conditions  

 

522. Concern has been raised regarding whether the applicant would comply with 

planning conditions imposed. Whilst it is acknowledged that enforceability is a key 

test when drafting planning conditions, the planning system is based on the 

expectation that approved development will proceed in accordance with the 

permissions and attached conditions. If a breach of condition were to occur, the 

Waste Planning Authority has established enforcement powers to address such. 

Therefore, speculative concerns about future non-compliance carry very limited 

weight in the determination of this application.  

 

Market Harborough Model Aero Club (MHMAC) 

 

151



 

 

 
                                                                                                             DC&REG. BOARD – 07 August 2025 

 

523. MHMAC’s flying field is located in the field to the west of the Welham Bush Poultry 

Farm. MHMAC note that the proposed National Transmission System (NTS) 

connection is to be sited next to the Poultry Farm. It appears the height of the cabin 

and any other structural items to be placed in the NTS connection boundary will 

not exceed 3m above ground level. They outlined that this is unlikely to impact on 

model flying as there is also a hedge and small trees of a similar height at the 

boundary of their flying field. MHMAC ask as part of the decision-making process, 

decision makers: ensure that the NTS facility is designed to be safe for all variants 

of model aircraft and helicopters to overfly; be aware there is very small possibility 

the NTS facility could be struck by a model aircraft or helicopter in the event of a 

fault occurring; provide MHMAC with an agreed method to recover a model aircraft 

or helicopter should it end up in the NTS compound. Recovery from the NTS 

compound should have no penalty or cost to MHMAC members. Comments made 

by the MHMAC are acknowledged. However, these are operational/ civil matters 

that would need to be resolved privately between the applicant (or operator of the 

NTS facility) and MHMAC and therefore are not considered to carry sufficient 

weight to influence the determination of this application.  

 

Other issues 

 

524. A number of other matters have been raised in representations which have been 

considered; however, in the view of the Waste planning Authority, they are not 

considered to carry sufficient weight to influence the determination of this 

application. These matters are summarised below: 

 

• Impact on house prices  

• People paying a premium to live in the area 

• Applicant name, company history, and motivation  

• Funding or subsidy arrangements   

• Fluctuations in biomass feedstock prices 

• Efficiency and economic viability of the proposal 

• Preference for alternative technologies at the site 

• Preference for other, ‘better’, locations for the proposed development  

• Impact of investment into the area 

• Lack of pre-application consultation  

• Future site management and enforcement  

• Impact on funds available for the maintenance of historic buildings 

• Unevidenced financial benefit to the Waste Planning Authority  

• ‘Prioritisation’ of private commercial interests  

 

Conclusion 

 

525. The development would result in the construction and subsequent operation of an 

anaerobic digestion facility with an annual throughput of 40,000 tonnes of 

152



 

 

 
                                                                                                             DC&REG. BOARD – 07 August 2025 

 

feedstock which would be made up of poultry manure, maize, and straw and the 

export of approximately 54,000 tonnes of solid and liquid digestate, and 10,000 

tonnes of CO2. The facility would also generate up to 7MW of biomethane which 

would be exported to the National Gas transmission system via pipeline. The 

proposal would also see a change of use of an existing residential bungalow for 

use as office and welfare accommodation for the facility. 

 
526. Overall, in establishing the principle of an anaerobic digestion facility in the 

proposed location, there is partial conflict with Policy W5 of the LMWLP, as some 

of the site is undeveloped scrub land, as well as conflict with Policy EMP2(c) of the 

GBNP and the NPPF due to the loss of a residential dwelling. Whilst some conflict 

with these policies is noted, the western part of the site is previously developed, 

which does comply with Policy W5. Balanced against the identified conflict, 

paragraph 168(a) of the NPPF states, “a) local planning authorities should: give 

significant weight to the benefits associated with renewable and low carbon energy 

generation and the proposal’s contribution to a net zero future”. This is a material 

planning consideration of significant weight. When considered in line with the UK’s 

legally binding net zero targets established through the CCA, it is deemed that on 

balance, any partial noncompliance with Policy W5 of the LMWLP and EMP2 of 

the GBNP is outweighed by the delivery of low carbon, renewable energy. 

Furthermore, the countryside location of the proposal is deemed to accord with 

Policy GD3 of the HLP and Policy H2 of the GBNP.  

 

527. The development has the potential to result in environmental and amenity-based 

impacts. Key issues assessed relate to the potential effects of the facility in respect 

of impacts to traffic and highway safety; air quality and odour; noise; landscape 

and visual impact; flood risk and drainage; and impacts to biodiversity, including to 

the Great Bowden Borrowpit SSSI and protected species. These impacts have 

been carefully considered and assessed in full during the determination of this 

application. It has been demonstrated that the facility and its associated 

construction and operations are capable of operating in a manner which would not 

give rise to significant adverse impacts and that these can be suitably controlled 

by the recommended conditions as set out in Appendix A. These conditions ensure 

protection of the natural environment as well as residential and local amenity.  

Furthermore, the site would also be subject to dual regulation under the 

Environmental Permitting regime which would provide additional environmental 

control on matters which fall outside the scope of the planning system. In light of 

the above, it is not considered that there would be any unacceptable effects 

associated with the development and the proposal is considered to accord with 

Policy CC2 of the HLP. 

 

528. A significant number of representations have been received in respect of the 

application (as set out in Appendices B and C to this report). Concerns raised by 

153



 

 

 
                                                                                                             DC&REG. BOARD – 07 August 2025 

 

the local community and issues raised by consultees have been taken into account 

and have been addressed in the determination of the application.  

 
529. On balance, and subject to the controls and limitations set out in the recommended 

conditions, it is considered that the benefits of the scheme associated with the 

contribution it would make to the delivery of low carbon, renewable energy 

outweigh the partial conflict with Policy W5 of the LMWLP and EMP2 of the GBNP. 

Subject to these controls, the development accords with Policy DM1 of the 

LMWLP, Policy GD1 of the HLP and paragraph 11 of the NPPF and it is 

recommended that planning permission should be granted.  

 

Statement of Positive and Proactive Engagement 

 
530. In determining this application, the Waste Planning Authority has worked positively 

and proactively with the applicant by assessing the proposals against relevant 

Development Plan policies, all material considerations, consultation responses 

and all valid representations received. Issues of concern have been raised with the 

applicant and addressed through negotiation, the submission of further information 

and acceptable amendments to the proposals. This approach has been in 

accordance with the requirement set out in the National Planning Policy 

Framework. 
 

Recommendation 

 

531. PERMIT subject to the conditions set out in Appendix A.  
 

Officer to Contact  

 

Charlie Cookson (Tel. 0116 305 1085).   

Email:  planningcontrol@leics.gov.uk 
 

 
 

154



 

 

 
                                                                                                             DC&REG. BOARD – 07 August 2025 

 

DEVELOPMENT CONTROL AND REGULATORY BOARD 
 
The considerations set out below apply to all the preceding applications. 

 
EQUALITY AND HUMAN RIGHTS IMPLICATIONS 
 

Unless otherwise stated in the report there are no discernible equality and human rights implications. 
 
IMPLICATIONS FOR DISABLED PERSONS 

 
On all educational proposals the Director of  Children and  Family Services and the Director of  Corporate 
Resources will be informed as follows: 

 
Note to Applicant Department 
 

Your attention is drawn to the provisions of  the Chronically Sick and Disabled Person’s Act 1970 and 
the Design Note 18 “Access for the Disabled People to Educational Buildings” 1984 and to the Equality 
Act 2010. You are advised to contact the Equalities function of  the County Council’s Policy and 

Partnerships Team if  you require further advice on this aspect of  the proposal.  
 
COMMUNITY SAFETY IMPLICATIONS 

 
Section 17 of  the Crime and Disorder Act 1998 places a very broad duty on all local authorities 'to 
exercise its various functions with due regard to the likely ef fect of  the exercise of  those functions on, 

and the need to do all reasonably can to prevent,  crime and disorder in its area'.  Unless otherwise 
stated in the report, there are no discernible implications for crime reduction or community safety.  
 

BACKGROUND PAPERS 
 
Unless otherwise stated in the report the background papers used in the preparation of  this report are 

available on the relevant planning application f iles.  
 
SECTION 38(6) OF PLANNING AND COMPULSORY PURCHASE ACT 2004 

 
Members are reminded that Section 38(6) of  the 2004 Act requires that:  
 

“If  regard is to be had to the development plan for the purpose of  any determination to be made under 
the planning Acts the determination must be made in accordance with the plan unless material 
considerations indicate otherwise.” 

 
Any relevant provisions of  the development plan (i.e. any approved Local Plans) are identif ied in the 
individual reports. 

 
The circumstances in which the Board is required to “have regard” to the development plan are given in 
the Town and Country Planning Act 1990: 
 

Section 70(2) : determination of  applications; 
Section 77(4) : called-in applications (applying s. 70); 

Section 79(4) : planning appeals (applying s. 70); 
Section 81(3) : provisions relating to compensation directions by Secretary of  State (this 

section is repealed by the Planning and Compensation Act 1991);  

Section 91(2) : power to vary period in statutory condition requiring development to be begun;  
Section 92(6) : power to vary applicable period for outline planning permission; 
Section 97(2) : revocation or modif ication of  planning permission; 

Section 102(1) : discontinuance orders; 
Section 172(1) : enforcement notices; 
Section 177(2) : Secretary of  State’s power to grant planning permission on enforcement appeal;  

Section 226(2) : compulsory acquisition of  land for planning purposes;  
Section 294(3) : special enforcement notices in relation to Crown land; 
Sched. 9 para (1) : minerals discontinuance orders. 

 

155



This page is intentionally left blank



Conditions   
 

1. The development hereby permitted shall be begun within 3 years from the date 

of this permission. 
 

Reason: To comply with the requirements of Section 91 (as amended) of the 
Town and Country Planning Act 1990. 

 

2. The Waste Planning Authority shall be notified in writing of the date of 
commencement at least 7 days, but not more than 14 days, prior to the 

commencement of the development hereby permitted. 
 
Reason: To assist with the monitoring of conditions attached to the planning 

permission and for the avoidance of doubt.  
 

3. Unless otherwise required pursuant to conditions of this permission, the 
development hereby permitted shall be carried out in accordance with the 
submitted application as amended, documents and recommendations of reports, 

in particular the following plans and documents: 
 

a) Planning Application Form, dated 14th June 2023 
b) Drawing No. 1551-1_PL_LP01, titled ‘Location Plan’, dated 31st May 2023 
c) Drawing No 1551-1_PL_SP02 Revision D, titled ‘Proposed Site Plan’, dated 

15th July 2025 
d) Drawing No. 1551-1_PL_GA01, titled ‘Clamp’, dated 31st May 2023 

e) Drawing No. 1551-1_PL_GA02, titled ‘Digester’, dated 31st May 2023 
f) Drawing No. 1551-1_PL_GA03, titled ‘Feedstock Bunkers’, dated 31st May 

2023  

g) Drawing No. 1551-1_PL_GA04, titled ‘Straw system (twin)’, dated 31st May 
2023 

h) Drawing No. 1551-1_PL_GA05, titled ‘Digestate Separation bunker’, dated 
31st May 2023 

i) Drawing No. 1551-1_PL_GA06 Revision A, titled ‘Combined Heat & Power 

Unit (CHP)’, dated 1st June 2023 
j) Drawing No. 1551-1_PL_GA07, titled ‘Gas Upgrade Plant’, dated 2nd June 

2023 
k) Drawing No. 1551-1_PL_GA08, titled ‘CO2 Capture Plant’, dated 1st June 

2023 

l) Drawing No. 1551-1_PL_GA09, titled ‘Process Building’, dated 2nd June 2023 
m) Drawing No. 1551-1_PL_GA10, titled ‘Flare’, dated 2nd June 2023 

n) Drawing No. 1551-1_PL_GA11, titled ‘Compressor’, dated 2nd June 2023 
o) Drawing No. 1551-1_PL_GA12, titled ‘Gas Entry Unit (GEU)’, dated 2nd June 

2023 

p) Drawing No. 1551-1_PL_GA13, titled ‘Pressure Reduction System’, dated 2nd 
June 2023 

q) Drawing No. 1551-1_PL_GA14, titled ‘1.8m high weld mesh fence’, dated 2nd 
June 2023 

r) Drawing No. 1551-1_PL_SE01, titled ‘Lagoon Sections’, dated 31st May 2023 

s) Document Ref. 93745.566879, titled ‘Qualitative odour Risk Assessment’, 
dated 14th June 2023 

APPENDIX A 
157



t) Document Ref. 03776-130101, titled ‘BS4142:2014+A1:2019 Sound 
Assessment Report’, dated 19th December 2023 

u) Document titled ‘Preliminary Ecological Appraisal – Final Report’, Revision 
Version 1 (Final), dated 20th March 2023 

v) Document Ref. R-FRA-26925-01-0, titled ‘Flood Risk Assessment and 
Drainage Strategy’, dated 12th October 2023 

w) Document Ref. ES153, titled 'Arboricultural Impact Assessment: Marigold 

Farm, Great Bowden Leicestershire’, dated March 2024 
x) Document Ref. ES153, titled ‘Bat and Reptile Surveys Marigold Farm, Great 

Bowden, Leicestershire’, dated August 2024 
y) Document Ref. 591923.0000.0000.0001.r1, titled ‘Dispersion Modelling 

Assessment’, dated 18th July 2024  

z) Document Ref. C23003 Revision E, titled Transport Statement, dated 9 th 
August 2024 

aa) Document Ref. SA 4826, titled ‘Stage 1 Road Safety Audit’, dated 29 th 
January 2025  

bb) Document Ref. C23003 Revision A, titled ‘Section 278 Works: Stage 1 Road 

Safety Audit Response Report’, dated 20th February 2025 
cc) Drawing No. DR001 Revision C, titled ‘Site Access: Visibility Splays’, dated 

6th November 2024 
dd) Drawing No. DR002 Revision F, titled ‘Site Access: Vehicle Swept Path 

(Inbound), dated 3rd February 2025 

ee) Drawing No. DR003 Revision F, titled ‘Site Access: Vehicle Swept Path 
(Outbound)’, dated 20th February 2025 

ff) Drawing No. DR004 Revision E, titled ‘Site Access: Vehicle Swept Path (Left 
In)’, dated 20th February 2025 

gg) Drawing No. DR005 Revision C, titled ‘Site Access: Vehicle Swept Path (Two-

Way)’, dated 20th February 2025 
hh) Drawing No. DR006 Revision C, titled ‘Welham Road Improvements: 

Dimensions’, dated 20th February 2025 
ii) Drawing No. DR007 Revision B, titled ‘Site Access: Vehicle Swept Path 

(Detail 1)’, dated 20th February 2025 

jj) Drawing No. DR008 Revision B, titled ‘Site Access: Vehicle Swept Path 
(Detail 2)’, dated 20th February 2025 

kk) Drawing No. DR009 Revision B, titled ‘Site Access: Vehicle Swept Path 
(Detail 3)’, dated 20th February 2025 

ll) Drawing No. DR010 Revision B, titled ‘‘Site Access: Vehicle Swept Path 

(Detail 4)’, dated 20th February 2025 
mm) Drawing No. DR011 Revision A, titled ‘‘Site Access: Vehicle Swept Path 

(Detail 5)’, dated 20th May 2025 
nn) Drawing No. DR012 Revision A, titled ‘Welham Road Improvements: 

Vegetation Clearance Plan’, dated 20th February 2025 

 
Reason: For the avoidance of doubt as to the development that is permitted.  

 
4. No part of the development hereby permitted shall be used as a residential 

dwelling. 

 
Reason: For the avoidance of doubt as to the development that is permitted.  

 

158



Highways 
 

5. No development shall commence on site (including demolition, site clearance or 
construction), until a Construction Method Statement has been submitted to, and 

approved in writing by, the Waste Planning Authority. Details shall provide the 
following, which shall be adhered to throughout the construction period:  
 

a)  the parking of vehicles of site operatives and visitors;  
b)  loading/unloading and storage of plant, materials, oils, fuels, and 

chemicals;  
c)  the erection and maintenance of security hoarding including decorative 

displays and facilities for public viewing;  

d)  wheel washing facilities and road cleaning arrangements;  
f)  a scheme for recycling/disposing of waste resulting from site preparation 

and construction works;  
g)  measures for the protection of the natural environment, including measures 

to prevent the pollution of surface water and protection of watercourses;  

e)  hours of construction work, including deliveries and removal of materials;  
f)  full details of any piling technique to be employed, if relevant;  

g)  location of temporary buildings and associated generators, compounds, 
structures and enclosures; 

h)  routeing of construction traffic;  

i)  full details of any floodlighting to be installed associated with the 
construction of the development;  

j)  a highway condition survey, including any remedial works and timescales 
for completion;  

k)     a scheme for minimising the consumption of water during construction; and 

l)  best practice measures for air quality, noise, vibration, and dust mitigation 
during construction, having regard to the relevant guidance including BS 

5228-1:2009+A1:2014, BS 5228-2:2009+A1:2014, and the most up to date 
Institute of Air Quality Management (IAQM) – Guidance on the Assessment 
of Dust from Demolition and Construction.     

 
Reason: To minimise detrimental effects to the neighbouring amenities, the 

amenities of the area in general, detriment to the natural environment through 
the risks of pollution and dangers to highway safety, during the construction 
phase to comply with the requirements of LMWLP policy DM9, policy GD8 of the 

HLP and paragraph 116 of the NPPF. To minimise the impact the development 
would have on the use of water resources in line with paragraph 161 of the NPPF 

 
6. No part of the development hereby permitted shall be first occupied until a 

Delivery and Service Management Plan which sets out management and control 

measures for goods vehicle movements associated with that part of the 
development has been submitted to, and approved in writing by, the Waste 

Planning Authority. Thereafter the agreed Delivery and Servicing Management 
Plan shall be implemented in accordance with the approved details and 
maintained thereafter for the duration of the development.  

 
Reason: In order to ensure controlled movements of large goods vehicles to and 

from the site in the interests of general highway safety to comply with the 

159



requirements of LMWLP policy DM9, policy GD8 of the HLP and paragraph 116 
of the NPPF.  

 
7. No part of the development shall be occupied until such time as the offsite works 

shown on Drawing No. DR006 Revision C, titled ‘Welham Road Improvements: 
Dimensions’, dated 20th February 2025, have been implemented in full. 

 

Reason: To mitigate the impact of the development, in the general interests of 
highway safety to comply with the requirements of LMWLP policy DM9, policy 

GD8 of the HLP and paragraph 116 of the NPPF.  
 
8. No part of the development hereby permitted shall be occupied until such time 

as the access arrangements shown on Drawing No. DR006 Revision C, titled 
‘Welham Road Improvements: Dimensions’, dated 20th February 2025, have 

been implemented in full.  
 

Reason: To ensure that vehicles entering and leaving the site may pass each 

other clear of the highway, in a slow and controlled manner, in the interests of 
general highway safety to comply with the requirements of LMWLP policy DM9, 

policy GD8 of the HLP and paragraph 116 of the NPPF.  
 
9. No part of the development hereby permitted shall be occupied until such time 

as the vehicular visibility splays as illustrated on Drawing No. DR012 Revision A, 
titled ‘Welham Road Improvements: Vegetation Clearance Plan’, dated 20th 

February 2025, have been provided at the site access. These shall thereafter be 
permanently maintained with nothing within those splays higher than 0.6 metres 
above the level of the adjacent footway/verge/highway. 

 
Reason: To afford adequate visibility at the access to cater for the expected 

volume of traffic joining the existing highway network, in the interests of general 
highway safety to comply with the requirements of LMWLP policy DM9, policy 
GD8 of the HLP and paragraph 116 of the NPPF.  

  
10. The development hereby permitted shall not be occupied until such time as off 

street car and HGV parking provision with turning facilities has been provided, 
hard surfaced and demarcated in accordance with the details illustrated on 
Drawing No 1551-1_PL_SP02 Revision D, titled ‘Proposed Site Plan’, 15th  July 

2025. Thereafter the onsite parking and turning provision shall be kept available 
for such uses in perpetuity.  

 
Reason: To ensure that adequate off-street parking provision is made to reduce 
the possibility of the proposed development leading to on-street parking 

problems locally (and to enable vehicles to enter and leave the site in a forward 
direction) in the interests of highway safety to comply with the requirements of 

LMWLP policy DM9, policy GD8 of the HLP and paragraph 116 of the NPPF.  
 
11. The total number of HGV (including tractors and other agricultural or industrial 

vehicles) movements (in and out) to/from the site shall not exceed 52 during any 
24 hour period.  Records of such movements shall be maintained on a daily basis 

and shall be made available to the Waste Planning Authority on request.  All 

160



records shall be submitted annually to the Waste Planning Authority within the 
first quarter of each calendar year.  All records shall be kept on site for at least 

12 months.  
 

Reason: To limit the overall impacts of the development on the amenities of this 
countryside location, in the interests of amenity and to maintain control over the 
levels of activity generated by the proposal in acordance with the requirements 

of LMWLP policy DM2 and policies GD3 and GD8 of the HLP.  
 

12. The surfacing of the site access shall be maintained in a good state of repair and 
kept clean and free of mud and other debris at all times. 

 

Reason: In the interests of highway safety and safeguarding the local 
environment and to comply with the requirements of LMWLP policy DM9, policy 

GD8 of the HLP and paragraph 116 of the NPPF.  
 
Imports and Exports  

 
13. The feedstocks hereby permitted to be used in the development shall be 

restricted to maize, straw, and poultry manure.  
 
Reason: To limit the overall impacts of the development on local amenities and 

to maintain control over the levels of activity generated by the proposal in 
acordance with the requirements of LMWLP policy DM2 and policies GD3 and 

GD8 of the HLP. 
 
14. No more than 40,000 tonnes in total of maize/straw/poultry manure shall be 

imported to the site per annum, of which no more than 175 tonnes of poultry 
manure should be present on site at any one time.  

 
Reason: To limit the overall impacts of the development on local amenities and 
to maintain control over the levels of activity generated by the proposal in 

acordance with the requirements of LMWLP policy DM2 and policies GD3 and 
GD8 of the HLP.  

 
15. The development hereby permitted shall not be occupied until a Feedstock 

Management Plan has been submitted to, and approved in writing by, the Waste 

Planning Authority. The plan shall include, but not be limited to, the following: 
measures to minimise and manage the environmental impacts of feedstock 

delivery, handling, storage, and processing, including odour and dust control; 
protocol for recording and monitoring feedstock deliveries; contingency 
measures in the event of changes in the availability of the feedstock; and a 

programme of implementation.  The Feedstock Management Plan shall then be 
implemented as approved for the duration of the development.  

 
Reason: To limit the overall impacts of the development on the amenities of this 
countryside location, in the interests of amenity and to maintain control over the 

levels of activity generated by the proposal in accordance with the requirements 
of LMWLP policy DM2 and policies GD3 and GD8 of the HLP.  

 

161



16. There shall be no exportation of digestate from the application site hereby 
permitted until a Digestate Management Plan has been submitted to, and 

approved in writing by, the Waste Planning Authority. The Digestate 
Management Plan shall include details of both liquid and solid digestate 

including, but not limited to, the following: storage and export arrangements 
including on-site storage capacity, handling, containment measures, and 
prevention of leachate, run-off, odour or pollution; monitoring and record keeping 

including procedures for documenting digestate quality, movements application; 
and a programme for implementation. The Digestate Management Plan shall 

then be implemented as approved for the duration of the development. 
 

Reason: To limit the overall impacts of the development on the amenities of this 

countryside location, in the interests of amenity and to maintain control over the 
levels of activity generated by the proposal in accordance with the requirements 

of LMWLP policy DM2 and policies GD3 and GD8 of the HLP.  
 
Hours of Operation- Operational Phase 

 
17. All deliveries and exports of materials to and from the site shall take place 

between the following hours only:  
 

• 0600hrs – 1800hrs (Mondays to Saturdays (inclusive);  

 
There shall be no HGV movements on a Sunday, Public Holiday or Bank 

Holiday.  
 
Records of such movements shall be maintained on a daily basis and shall be 

made available to the Waste Planning Authority on request.  All records shall be 
submitted annually to the Waste Planning Authority within the first quarter of each 

calendar year.  All records shall be kept on site for at least 12 months. These 
restrictions shall not apply to emergency works required to protect public safety, 
prevent environmental harm, or prevent significant damage to infrastructure. In 

such cases, the Waste Planning Authority shall be notified in writing as soon as 
reasonably practicable, and a record of the nature, timing, and justification of the 

emergency works shall be maintained and made available for inspection upon 
request.   

 

Reason: In the interests of the amenity of the rural locality and to comply with 
policies DM2 of the LMWLP and GD8 of the HLP.  

 
Demolition  
 

18. No works associated with the demolition of any buildings onsite shall commence 
until a Demolition Works Management Plan (DWMP) has been submitted to, and 

approved in writing by, the Waste Planning Authority. The DWMP, which shall 
be implemented as approved, shall make provision for the following: 

 

• Programme and phasing of demolition works; 

• Measures to minimise noise, dust, and vibration, including reference to best 

practice guidance including BS 5228-1:2009+A1:2014, BS 5228-

162



2:2009+A1:2014, and the most up to date Institute of Air Quality Management 
(IAQM) – Guidance on the Assessment of Dust from Demolition and 

Construction where relevant; 

• Site security arrangements;  

• Hours of operation;  

• Parking provision for site operatives and HGVs;  

• Traffic management; 

• Identification and management of asbestos containing materials in accordance 

with the Control of Asbestos Regulations 2012, including pre-demolition 
asbestos survey, risk assessment, licensed removal procedures, and 
appropriate asbestos waste handling and disposal; 

• Provision for the removal and disposal of demolition waste at appropriate 
licensed facilities; and  

• A programme of implementation.  
 

Reason: To ensure that the approved development does not give rise to 
unacceptable impacts to local amenity and in the interest of public safety in line 
with policy DM2 of the LMWLP and policy GD8 of the HLP. 

 
Landscape and Visual Amenity  

 
19. No development shall commence (including demolition, site clearance or 

construction) until such time as a detailed landscaping scheme has been 

submitted to, and approved in writing by, the Waste Planning Authority. The 
scheme shall include details of proposed ground preparation, plant and seeding 

specification, numbers, method and density of planting, plant support and 
protection and maintenance and management measures and a programme of 
implementation. The landscape scheme, which shall be implemented as 

approved, shall have regard to the recommendations set out in Table 1 of the 
document titled ‘Preliminary Ecological Appraisal – Final Report’, Revision 

Version 1 (Final), dated 20th March 2023, and the measures stated in section 4.4 
and 5.4 of document Ref. ES153, titled ‘Bat and Reptile Surveys Marigold Farm, 
Great Bowden, Leicestershire’, dated August 2024, and be particularly mindful 

of sensitive site boundary treatments to enable the development to integrate into 
its wider surroundings. The landscape scheme shall: 

 

• Consider the retention and enhancement of existing landscape features 
wherever possible; 

• Compensate for the loss of habitat and provide for measurable Biodiversity Net 
Gain in line with the ecologist recommendations and NPPF Guidelines; 

• Include native, nectar-rich species to benefit pollinating insects and other 
wildlife as far as possible; 

• Incorporate new bird and bat boxes as part of the new building design , as well 
as the consideration of installing bird nesting and bat roosting boxes on existing 
mature trees (if suitable) and in accordance with the ecologist 

recommendations, to enhance the site for bird and bat roosting;  

• Consider opportunities to include species rich grassland where possible; and 

• Have regard to the Leicestershire, Leicester, and Rutland Local Nature 
Recovery Strategy, dated July 2025, including the Local Habitat Mapping. 

163



 
Reason: To enhance the development and biodiversity and safeguard the 

appearance of the locality in accordance with policies DM7 of the LMWLP and 
GI5 of the HLP.    

 
20. The development hereby permitted shall be carried out in strict accordance with 

the details outlined within the document entitled, ‘Arboricultural Impact 

Assessment: Marigold Farm, Great Bowden’, project ref: ES153, dated March 
2024. 

 
Reason: To ensure the existing vegetation on site is protected and minimal 
disturbance is caused to the root protection areas in accordance with policy DM7 

of the LMWLP.    
 

21. No development shall commence (including demolition, site clearance or 
construction) until an update to the drawing entitled, ‘Vegetation Plan’, drawing 
number 1551-1_PL_SP04, dated 29th February 2024, incorporating the 

landscaping requirements outlined by the drawing entitled, ‘Welham Road 
Improvements: Vegetation Clearance Plan’, drawing number DR012, revision A, 

dated 20th February 2025, has been submitted to, and approved in writing by, the 
Waste Planning Authority.  
  

Reason: To ensure that only the agreed vegetation is removed, to preserve the 
continuity of amenity afforded by existing trees, shrubs and hedgerows, and to 

afford protection to protected species in accordance with policies DM7 of the 
LMWLP and GI5 of the HLP.    

 

Lighting  
 

22. No lighting shall be installed at the site until a detailed lighting scheme has been 
submitted to, and approved in writing by, the Waste Planning Authority. The 
scheme, which shall then be implemented as approved and maintained 

thereafter for the duration of the development, shall include, but not be limited to, 
the following: 

 

• The location, height, type, design, and speciation of all external lighting and 
associated fittings to be installed at the site; 

• Lighting levels, including horizontal and vertical lux plans showing predicted 
light spill across the site and into surrounding areas; 

• Hours of operation for all external lighting, including any security or motion 
activated lighting;  

• Measures to minimise light spill, glare, and sky glow including the use of full 
cut-off lighting, timers, sensors, and directional shielding; and  

• An assessment of the lighting’s impacts on nearby residential receptors, local 

wildlife and ecology, and the character of the surrounding countryside area.  
 

Reason: To minimise the adverse impact of light generated by the operations on 
the local environment and to comply with policies DM2 of the LMWLP and GD8 

of the HLP.  
 

164



Materials, Design and Finishes  
 

23. No development hereby permitted shall take place, other than site clearance and 
demolition, until full details of the external materials, finishes and colours to be 

used in the construction of the plant and buildings outlined within the drawing 
entitled ‘Proposed Site Plan’, drawing number 1551-1_PL_SP02 Revision D, 
dated 15th July 2025, have been submitted to, and approved in writing by, the 

Waste Planning Authority. The submitted details should include the type, 
manufacturer, colour reference and finish of all external surfaces. The 

development shall thereafter be carried out in full accordance with the approved 
details and retained as such for the lifetime of the development.  

 

Reason: To ensure high quality appearance and design in order to minimise the 
visual impact on the surrounding area in line with policy DM5 of the LMWLP and 

policy GD8 of the HLP.  
 
Dust 

 
24. No part of the development hereby permitted shall be first occupied until a Dust 

Management Scheme has been submitted to and approved in writing by the 
Waste Planning Authority. The scheme, which shall be implemented as 
approved, shall include, but not be limited to, the following: 

 

• Identification of potential dust generating activities during the ongoing operation 

of the site; 

• Site specific dust risk assessment with consideration of meteorological 

conditions and proximity to sensitive receptors; 

• Best practice dust mitigation and suppression measures where required;  

• Appropriate methods for the monitoring of dust emissions;  

• A mechanism for review; and  

• A programme of implementation.  

 
Reason: To ensure the development does not give rise to unacceptable levels of 

dust and to minimise the generation and off-site transmission of dust to ensure it 
does not cause adverse impacts on human health, local amenity, or the 
environment to ensure compliance with policy DM2 of the LMWLP and policy 

GD8 of the HLP.    
 

Noise  
 
25. No development shall commence on site (including demolition, site clearance or 

construction), until a scheme setting out further details relating to the noise 
mitigation measures set out within Section 3.0 of the document entitled 

‘BS4142:2014+A1:2019 Sound Assessment Report’, Document ref. 03776-
130101, dated 19th December 2023, has been submitted to, and approved in 
writing, by the Waste Planning Authority.    

 
Reason: To ensure that the development does not become the source of adverse 

noise levels in the locality to ensure compliance with policy DM2 of the LMWLP 
and policy GD8 of the HLP.    

165



 
26. No part of the development hereby permitted shall be occupied until such time 

as the noise attenuation measures included within Drawing No 1551-1_PL_SP02 
Revision D, titled ‘Proposed Site Plan’, dated 15th July 2025, have been erected. 

 
Reason: To ensure that the development does not become the source of adverse 
noise levels in the locality to ensure compliance with policy DM2 of the LMWLP 

and policy GD8 of the HLP.    
 

27. Measures shall be taken to ensure that the operations carried out on the site do 
not give rise to noise nuisance/disturbance in the locality.  Such measures shall 
include:  

 

• the effective silencing and maintenance of all engines, exhausts, machinery, 

plant and equipment, whether fixed or mobile;  

• the location and organisation of on-site operations so as to minimise any noise 

impact on nearby properties;  

• the minimisation, so far as is practicably and legally possible, of the level and 
penetration of noise emissions from reversing warnings fitted to vehicles; and  

• no use of pure tone audible reversing bleepers.  
 

Reason: To ensure that the development does not become the source of adverse 
noise levels in the locality to ensure compliance with policy DM2 of the LMWLP 
and policy GD8 of the HLP.    

 
28. The free field Equivalent Continuous noise level LAeq, 1 hour, received at the 

noise sensitive receptors Location 1 and Location 2 as outlined within pages 33 
and 34 respectively of the Document Ref. 03776-130101, titled 
‘BS4142:2014+A1:2019 Sound Assessment Report’, dated 19th December 

2023, shall not exceed the following limits: 50dB LAeq for day, 42dB LAeq for 
night. 

 
Reason: To ensure that the development does not become the source of adverse 
noise levels in the locality to ensure compliance with policy DM2 of the LMWLP 

and policy GD8 of the HLP.    
 

Pests 
 
29. No development shall commence on site (including demolition, site clearance or 

construction), until a Pest Control Management Plan (PCMP) has been 
submitted to, and approved in writing by, the Waste Planning Authority. The plan, 

which shall be implemented as approved and maintained for the duration of the 
development, shall include, but not be limited to, the following: 

 

• Identification of potential pest risks and sources of attraction  during site 
preparation, construction and post-construction stages; 

• Preventative measures to minimise the risk of pest attraction and spread; 

• Monitoring and inspection protocols;   

• Details of pest control methods and contingency measures to be employed in 
the event of an infestation; and 

166



• A programme of implementation. 
 

Reason: To prevent nuisance and protect public health in the locality to ensure 
compliance with policy DM2 of the LMWLP and policy GD8 of the HLP. 

 
Archaeology    

 

30. No development shall commence on site (including demolition, site clearance or 
construction), until the necessary programme of archaeological work has been 

completed. The programme shall commence with an initial phase of trial 
trenching to inform a final archaeological mitigation scheme. Each stage will be 
completed in accordance with a Written Scheme of Investigation (WSI), which 

has been submitted to, and approved in writing by, the Waste Planning Authority. 
For land that is included within the WSI, no demolition/development shall take 

place other than in accordance with the agreed mitigation WSI, which shall 
include the statement of significance and research objectives, and:  

 

• The programme and methodology of site investigation and recording and the 
nomination of a competent person(s) or organisation to undertake the agreed 

works. 

• The programme for post-investigation assessment and subsequent analysis, 

publication & dissemination and deposition of resulting material. This part of the 
condition shall not be discharged until these elements have been fulfilled in 
accordance with the programme set out in the WSI. 

 
Reason: To ensure satisfactory archaeological investigation, recording, 

dissemination and archiving.  
 

Contamination  

 
31. No development (except any demolition permitted by this permission) shall 

commence on site, or part thereof, until a Risk Based Land Contamination 
Assessment has been submitted to and approved in writing by the Waste 
Planning Authority, in order to ensure that the land is fit for use as the 

development proposes.  The Risk Based Land Contamination Assessment shall 
be carried out in accordance with: 

 

• BS10175:2011+A2:2017 Investigation of Potentially Contaminated Sites Code 
of Practice;  

• BS8576:2013 Guidance on Investigations for Ground Gas – Permanent Gases 
and Volatile Organic Compounds (VOCs);  

• BS 8485:2015+A1:2019 Code of practice for the design of protective measures 
for methane and carbon dioxide ground gases for new buildings; and  

• Gov.uk Land contamination risk management (LCRM) website 
https://www.gov.uk/government/publications/land-contamination-risk-
management-lcrm. 

• Or any documents which supersede these. 
 

Should any unacceptable risks be identified in the Risk Based Land 
Contamination Assessment, a Remedial Scheme and a Verification Plan must 

167

https://www.gov.uk/government/publications/land-contamination-risk-management-lcrm.
https://www.gov.uk/government/publications/land-contamination-risk-management-lcrm.


be prepared and submitted to and agreed in writing by the Waste Planning 
Authority.  The Remedial Scheme shall be prepared in accordance with the 

requirements of: 
 

• Gov.uk Land contamination risk management (LCRM) website 
https://www.gov.uk/government/publications/land-contamination-risk-
management-lcrm; and 

• BS 8485:2015+A1:2019 Code of practice for the design of protective measures 
for methane and carbon dioxide ground gases for new buildings;  

• Or any documents which supersede these. 
 

The Verification Plan shall be prepared in accordance with the requirements of: 
 

• Evidence Report on the Verification of Remediation of Land Contamination 

Report: SC030114/R1, published by the Environment Agency 2010;  

• Gov.uk Land contamination risk management (LCRM) website 

https://www.gov.uk/government/publications/land-contamination-risk-
management-lcrm;  

• BS 8485:2015+A1:2019 Code of practice for the design of protective measures 
for methane and carbon dioxide ground gases for new buildings; 

• CIRIA C735, “Good practice on the testing and verification of protection 

systems for buildings against hazardous ground gases” CIRIA, 2014; 

• Or any documents which supersede these. 

 
If, during the course of development, previously unidentified contamination is 

discovered, development must cease on that part of the site and it must be 
reported in writing to the Waste Planning Authority within 10 working days.  Prior 
to the recommencement of development on that part of the site, a Risk Based 

Land Contamination Assessment for the discovered contamination (to include 
any required amendments to the Remedial Scheme and Verification Plan) must 

be submitted to and approved in writing by the Waste Planning 
Authority.  Thereafter, the development shall be implemented in accordance with 
the approved details and retained as such in perpetuity. 

 
Reason: To ensure that the land is fit for purpose and to accord with the aims 

and objectives of Policy GD8 (n) of the HLP, and paragraphs 187(f), 196(a and 
c), and 197 of the NPPF. 

 

32. Prior to occupation of the completed development, or part thereof, Either: 
 

a) If no remediation was required by Condition 30, a statement from the developer 
or an approved agent confirming that no previously identified contamination was 
discovered during the course of development, or part thereof, should be received 

and approved in writing by the Waste Planning Authority, or 
 

b) A Verification Investigation shall be undertaken in line with the agreed Verification 
Plan for any works outlined in the Remedial Scheme and a report showing the 
findings of the Verification Investigation relevant to the whole development, or 

part thereof, shall be submitted to and approved in writing by the Waste Planning 
Authority.  The Verification Investigation Report shall: 

168

https://www.gov.uk/government/publications/land-contamination-risk-management-lcrm
https://www.gov.uk/government/publications/land-contamination-risk-management-lcrm
https://www.gov.uk/government/publications/land-contamination-risk-management-lcrm
https://www.gov.uk/government/publications/land-contamination-risk-management-lcrm


 

• Contain a full description of the works undertaken in accordance with the 

agreed Remedial Scheme and Verification Plan; 

• Contain results of any additional monitoring or testing carried out between the 

submission of the Remedial Scheme and the completion of remediation works; 

• Contain Movement Permits for all materials taken to and from the site and/or a 

copy of the completed site waste management plan if one was required; 

• Contain Test Certificates of imported material to show that it is suitable for its 

proposed use; 

• Demonstrate the effectiveness of the approved Remedial Scheme; and 

• Include a statement signed by the developer, or the approved agent, confirming 

that all the works specified in the Remedial Scheme have been completed.   
 

Reason: To ensure that the land is fit for purpose and to accord with the aims 
and objectives of Policy GD8 (n) of the HLP, and paragraphs 187(f), 196(a and 
c), and 197 of the NPPF. 

 
Ecology 

 
33. The development hereby approved shall be implemented in strict accordance 

with the measures stated in Section 4.4 (Bat 

Survey/Avoidance/Mitigation/Enhancement Measures) and 5.4 (Reptile 
Avoidance/Mitigation/Enhancement Measures) of the Bat and Reptile Survey 

Report (ESL, August 2024). Photographs of the installed bird and bat boxes shall 
be provided in order to discharge this condition.  
 

Reason: To ensure the protection and enhancement of biodiversity in 
accordance with policy DM7 of the LMWLP.  

 
34. No development shall take place (including ground works and vegetation 

clearance) until a Biodiversity Offsetting Management Plan (BOMP) has been 

submitted to, and approved in writing by, the Waste Planning Authority. The 
BOMP is to be based on the Biodiversity Net Gain Assessment undertaken by 

ESL Ecological Services (July 2024) and is to provide measurable biodiversity 
net gain on the reported loss. The plan shall include the following details: 

 

• Description and location plan of the area to be used for off-setting;  

• Description and evaluation of the features to be managed/created; 

• Aims and objectives of management;  

• Appropriate management options for achieving aims and objectives;  

• Prescriptions for management actions;  

• Work schedule;  

• Seed mixes/species to be sown/planted;  

• Ongoing monitoring and remedial measures; 

• Regard for the Leicestershire, Leicester, and Rutland Local Nature Recovery 
Strategy, dated July 2025, including the Local Habitat Mapping; and  

• Details on the mechanism by which this plan is to be legally secured for a period 
of 30 years.  

 

169



The plan shall be supported by a BNG metric calculation using the latest DEFRA 
version of the metric. The approved plan shall be implemented in accordance 

with the approved details.  
 

Reason: To ensure the development delivers measurable biodiversity net gain to 
compensate for biodiversity losses arising from the proposal, and to secure the 
long term management and enhancement of off-site habitat in accordance with 

policy DM7 of the LMWLP and policy GI5 of the HLP. 
 

35. No development shall commence on site (including demolition, site clearance or 
construction) until a targeted ecological surveys have been undertaken on-site 
to establish the presence, or likely absence, of Palmate Newt and species 

forming part of the Rare Plants Gene Bank Assemblage as outlined within the 
Leicestershire, Leicester, and Rutland Local Nature Recovery Strategy, dated 

July 2025. The surveys shall be carried out by a suitably qualified ecologist and 
submitted in a written report to the Waste Planning Authority for its prior written 
approval.  

 
If the survey confirms the presence of either species or associated habitats, a 

detailed Mitigation Strategy shall be submitted to, and approved in writing by, the 
Waste Planning Authority prior to the commencement of development. The 
strategy shall include measures to avoid, mitigate, and where necessary, 

compensate for any adverse impacts. The approved Mitigation Strategy shall be 
implemented in full accordance with the agreed details prior to and through the 

affected phases of development.   
 

Reason: To ensure the protection and enhancement of priority species in 

accordance with policy DM7 of the LMWLP and policy GI5 of the HLP.  
 

Flood Risk and Drainage   
 
36. No development shall commence on site (including demolition, site clearance or 

construction) until a surface water drainage scheme has been submitted to, and 
approved in writing by, the Waste Planning Authority. The scheme shall include: 

the utilisation of holding sustainable drainage techniques with the incorporation 
of sufficient treatment trains to maintain or improve the existing water quality; the 
limitation of surface water run-off to equivalent greenfield rates; the ability to 

accommodate surface water run-off on-site up to the critical 1 in 100 year return 
period event plus an appropriate allowance for climate change, based upon the 

submission of drainage calculations. Full details for the drainage proposal should 
be supplied including, but not limited to:  

 

• Construction details; 

• Cross sections; 

• Long sections; 

• Headwall details; 

• Pipe protection details (e.g. trash screens); and  

• Full modelled scenarios for event durations up to the 24 hour (or longer where 

required) for the 1 in 1 year, 1 in 30 year and 1 in 100 year plus climate change 

170



return periods with results ideally showing critical details only for each return 
period. 

 
The development must be carried out in accordance with these approved details 

and completed prior to first occupation.  
 

Reason: To prevent flooding by ensuring the satisfactory storage and disposal of 

surface water from the site. 
 

37. No development shall commence on site (including demolition, site clearance 
and construction) until details in relation to the management of surface water on 
site during construction of the development have been submitted to, and 

approved in writing by, the Waste Planning Authority. Details shall demonstrate 
how surface water will be managed on site to prevent an increase in flood risk 

during the various construction stages of development from initial site works 
through to completion. This shall include temporary attenuation, additional 
treatment, controls, maintenance and protection. The construction of the 

development must be carried out in accordance with these approved details. 
 

Reason: To prevent an increase in flood risk, maintain the existing surface water 
runoff quality, and to prevent damage to the final surface water management 
systems though the entire development construction phase. 

 
38. Prior to first use of the development approved by this planning permission, details 

in relation to the long-term maintenance of the surface water drainage system 
within the development shall be submitted to, and approved in writing by, the 
Waste Planning Authority. Details of the surface water maintenance plan shall 

include for routine maintenance, remedial actions and monitoring of the separate 
elements of the surface water drainage system, this shall also include 

procedures that must be implemented in the event of pollution incidents. The 
surface water drainage system shall then be maintained in accordance with 
these approved details in perpetuity.  

 
Reason: To establish a suitable maintenance regime that may be monitored over 

time; that will ensure the long-term performance, both in terms of flood risk and 
water quality, of the surface water drainage system (including sustainable 
drainage systems) within the proposed development. 

 

Complaints 

 
39. The site operator shall maintain a complaints log for the site from the 

commencement of development outlined by Condition 2 of this permission, and 
throughout the duration of the development. The log shall record all complaints 
received relating to highways and traffic, noise, odour, lighting, dust, pests, or 

any other issue associated with the development. Each complaint entry shall 
include the following:  

 

• Date and time of the complaint; 

• Nature of the complaint including the issue raised;  

• Name and contact details of the complainant if provided;  

171



• Actions taken by the operator to investigate and resolve the issue; and 

• Outcomes of the investigation and any remedial actional taken . 

 
The operator shall notify the Waste Planning Authority in writing of any complaint 

received within five working days, including a summary of the issue and proposed 
or completed actions. The log shall be made available for inspection by the 

Waste Planning Authority within 24 hours of a request made.  
 
Reason: To ensure that any issues arising from the operation of the site are 

appropriately recorded, addressed, and monitored to prevent adverse impact on 
the local environment and residential amenity in accordance with policy DM2 of 

the LMWLP.  
  

172



 

Notes to the Applicant 
Highways  

1. Planning Permission does not give you approval to work on the public highway. 
To carry out off-site works associated with this planning permission, separate 

approval must first be obtained from Leicestershire County Council as Local 
Highway Authority. This will take the form of a major section 184 permit/section 

278 agreement. It is strongly recommended that you make contact with 
Leicestershire County Council at the earliest opportunity to allow time for the 
process to be completed. The Local Highway Authority reserve the right to charge 

commuted sums in respect of ongoing maintenance where the item in question 
is above and beyond what is required for the safe and satisfactory functioning of 

the highway. For further information please refer to the Leicestershire Highway 
Design Guide which is available at 
https://www.leicestershirehighwaydesignguide.uk/. 

2. Prior to construction, measures should be taken to ensure that users of the Public 
Right of Way are not exposed to any elements of danger associated with 

construction works.  

3. Public Rights of Way must not be re-routed, encroached upon or obstructed in 
any way without authorisation. To do so may constitute an offence under the 

Highways Act 1980.  

4. If there are any Public Rights of Way which the applicant considers impracticable 

to retain on their existing lines, a separate application for diversion is required. It 
should be submitted under the Town and Country Planning Act 1990 to the Local 
Planning Authority. The applicant is not entitled to carry out any works directly 

affecting the legal line of a Public Right of Way until a Diversion Order has been 
confirmed and become operative.  

5. If the developer requires a Right of Way to be temporarily diverted, for a period of 
up to six months, to enable construction works to take place, an application should 
be made to networkmanagement@leics.gov.uk at least 12 weeks before the 

temporary diversion is required.  

6. Public Rights of Way must not be further enclosed in any way without undertaking 

discussions with the Highway Authority (0116) 305 0001.  

7. Any damage caused to the surface of a Public Right of Way, which is directly 
attributable to the works associated with the development, will be the 

responsibility of the applicant to repair at their own expense to the satisfaction of 
the Highway Authority.  

8. No new gates, stiles, fences or other structures affecting a Public Right of Way, 
of either a temporary or permanent nature, should be installed without the written 
consent of the Highway Authority. Unless a structure is authorised, it constitutes 

an unlawful obstruction of a Public Right of Way and the County Council may be 
obliged to require its immediate removal. 

Landscape  

173



9. Any vegetation removal should be undertaken to avoid the bird nesting season 
(March to Sept) unless an appropriately qualified ecologist has surveyed the trees 

and confirmed the absence of breeding birds. 

10. If construction works are carried out near an existing hedgerow which is to be 

retained, a 5-10 m buffer (hedge protection) zone alongside the hedge should be 
maintained wherever possible or at least one metre from the spread of the hedge 
and reinforced by erecting a temporary fence for the duration of the works. There 

should be no access, storage of materials, ground disturbance, burning or 
contamination within this buffer zone. 

Archaeology  
11. The Written Scheme of Investigation (WSI) must be prepared by a suitable 

archaeological contractor. To demonstrate that the implementation of this written 

scheme of investigation has been secured the applicant must provide a signed 
contract or similar legal agreement between themselves and their approved 

archaeological contractor. 
12. The Historic and Natural Environment Team, as advisors to the planning authority, 

will monitor the archaeological work, to ensure that the necessary programme of 

archaeological work is undertaken to the satisfaction of the planning authority. 
Ecology 

13. Slow-worm, common lizard, adder and grass snake are protected under 
Schedule 5 of the Wildlife and Countryside Act 1981 (as amended). This 
legislation makes it an offence to deliberately kill, injure or take slow-worm, 

common lizard, adder or grass snake. As such, care should be taken to avoid 
impacting reptiles during the development. 

14. All excavations should be covered at night to avoid the accidental trapping of 
badgers and other terrestrial mammals, such as hedgehogs. It is further advised 
that the site is subjected to a pre-works inspection for badger activity in advance 

of any ground-penetrating activities.  
Environment Agency  

15. The proposed anaerobic digestion plant will require a permit under Schedule 1, 
Section 5.4 of the Environmental Permitting Regulations (England and Wales) 
2016. The Environment Agency will consider the following areas of potential harm 

when assessing the permit:  
• Techniques for pollution control including in process controls, emission control, 

management, waste feedstock and digestate, energy, accidents, noise and 
monitoring 

• Emission benchmarks for combustion products, temperature and pH  

• Air quality impact assessment, including odour and Habitats Regulations 
Assessment 

16. The Environment Agency advises that all building work should be in compliance 
with best working practices and in particular Government guidance on 

‘Construction, inspection and maintenance’ www.gov.uk/guidance/pollution-
prevention-for-businesses#construction-inspection-and-maintenance. You are 
advised to contact the Environment Agency to arrange a site meeting to agree 

174

http://www.gov.uk/guidance/pollution-prevention-for-businesses#construction-inspection-and-maintenance
http://www.gov.uk/guidance/pollution-prevention-for-businesses#construction-inspection-and-maintenance


necessary measures to prevent pollution of the water environment during the 
construction phase of the development. The Environment Agency can carry out 

pollution prevention visits. Please contact EastMidWaterQuality@environment-
agency.gov.uk for further information and advice. 

National Grid Electricity Transmission 

17. Profile drawings outlining the height clearance considerations when travelling 
beneath National Grid lines and guidelines to be followed when carrying out works 

were included within National Grid Electricity Transmission’s consultee response 
dated 24th January 2024. 

Public Sewers   

18. The consent of Severn Trent Water will be required for either a direct or indirect 
connection to the public sewerage system under the provisions of Section 106 of 

the Water Industries Act 1991. Current guidance notes and an application form 
can be found at www.stwater.co.uk or by contacting Severn Trent Water New 

Connections Team (01332 683369). 

19. Although statutory sewer records do not show any public sewers within the site 
there may be sewers which have recently been adopted under the Transfer of 

Sewer Regulations. Public sewers have statutory protection and may not be built 
close to, directly over or be diverted without consent and it is advised that Severn 

Trent Water should be contacted (0247 771 6843). 

Hazardous Substances  

20. The proposed development may involve the presence, use, or storage of 

hazardous substances, including carbon dioxide, in quantities that could trigger 
the need for separate consent under the Planning (Hazardous Substances) 

Regulations 2015.  

21. Where substances are held above the relevant controlled quantities, a separate 
Hazardous Substances Consent must be obtained before such substances are 

present on site. It is the responsibility of the operator to ensure that any activities 
requiring Hazardous Substances Consent are identified and the appropriate 

consent obtained. The applicant is encouraged to consult the Health and Safety 
Executive (HSE) and review the relevant guidance on the need for Hazardous 
Substances Consent prior to commencing operations.  

 

175

mailto:EastMidWaterQuality@environment-agency.gov.uk
mailto:EastMidWaterQuality@environment-agency.gov.uk
http://www.stwater.co.uk/


This page is intentionally left blank



APPENDIX B – PUBLIC CONSULTATION (JANUARY 2024) 

SUMMARY OF RESPONSES 

 

Highways and Traffic  

Welham Road and Welham Lane  

• Concerns that the proposed development would pose safety risks to 

pedestrians (including but not limited to walkers, children, horse riders, cyclists, 

dog walkers, Fernie Hunt) using Welham Road and Welham Lane by increasing 

the volume of HGV and tractor/trailer traffic on a single carriageway road with 

no pavement. Particularly concerned about the stretch of road from the A6 

junction to the site entrance.  

• Concerned that, although the short distance between the A6 junction and the 

site access might not enable much speed to be generated, there would need to 

be particular awareness of the chance of meeting pedestrians.  

• Outlined the importance of Welham Road as a key access to public rights of 

way and local countryside; public footpaths across the fields from Sutton 

Bassett to Great Bowden offer the only safe way of walking or cycling between 

the two.  

• Concern that as Welham Road has a single carriageway, vehicles meeting 

would have to reverse to pass each other, blocking the road. 

• Outlined that Welham Road is a no through road/ dead end to motorised 

vehicles so currently does not get much vehicular use. Concerned the proposal 

would change that.   

• Concern that nothing has been proposed before on Welham Road that has 

required such regular heavy vehicle traffic. 

• Concern the slow-moving nature of HGVs and tractors with trailers would cause 

attempted dangerous overtaking, on a single carriageway road.  

• Concern the road is in poor condition and increases in traffic, especially from 

HGVs, would further degrade its surface. 

Welham Road and Welham Lane- National Cycle Network (NCN) Route 64 

• Concern the introduction of HGVs would increase danger to users of NCN 64. 

• Outlined Sustrans (who manage the NCN) state that where the NCN is not 

traffic-free it should either be on a ‘quiet-way’ section of road or be fully 

separated from the adjacent carriageway.  Traffic speed and flows should be 

sufficiently low, with good visibility to comply with design guidance for adequate 

sharing of the carriageway. Signs and markings should highlight the NCN 

clearly.  

177



• Concern, large numbers of HGVs crossing and coming to a standstill blocking 

the single carriageway road would not be conducive to safe cycling, particularly 

with restricted visibility when travelling down the steep hill from Great Bowden.  

• Questioned whether consultation with Sustrans or Cycling UK would be made 

as part of the determination process. Concern there is a significant risk of injury 

to cyclists coming down the hill towards the entrance to the plant, possibly at 

high speed. 

• Concern that in order to be safe, the cycle route would need to be fully 

segregated from HGV traffic to avoid serious accidents, with cyclists having 

priority. 

• Concerned that many of the current and future recreational users of Welham 

Road and Lane would have their safety and amenity compromised by the 

increase in HGV and tractor and trailer traffic as a result of the proposed 

development. 

Welham Road- Bridge (Over A6) 

• Concern that the bridge over the A6 and stretch of Welham Road to the south of 

the A6 is a narrow, single lane carriageway used by pedestrians with a blind 

summit to most vehicles. Concerned there would be an increased risk of accident 

on this stretch of road from traffic associated with the development. Concern that 

the only pace to take refuge are grass verges.  

• Concern that there was a 7.5 tonne weight limit on the bridge which has lapsed 

since the closure of the mushroom farm. Concerns that HGVs, which could have 

a gross weight of 44 tonnes would be crossing the bridge, causing structural 

damage and endangering users of the A6. Concern the bridge ramps are already 

subsiding under the light use they have been subjected to date and are liable to 

further damage. 

• Concern there are no provisions provided to prevent HGV movements across the 

bridge.  

• Concern this stretch of road is liable to a 50mph limit allowing large vehicles to 

travel at these speeds legally. 

• Concerned if conditions are imposed to prohibit vehicles from using the bridge, 

these would be broken and unenforceable, for example drivers could still take 

wrong turns or sat nav systems would take drivers the quickest route. Concerned 

this is more likely as the site has not got its own postcode.  

 

A6/Welham Road Junction  

• Concerns that there would be a substantial number of HGVs and tractors with 

trailers entering and egressing the A6 at this junction, particularly slow moving 

vehicles turning right onto the A6, a 60mph road. Concerns with the safety risks 

and congestion this could cause. Concerned that this could increase dangerous 

manoeuvres at this junction, given the relatively long time it could take to safely 

pull out onto the A6. Concerns this could lead to a potentially fatal accident.  

178



• Concern that exiting the A6 at this junction means manoeuvring and 

decelerating into a 90-degree corner which could be hazardous without a 

diverging taper/lane. 

• Concerns regarding poor visibility at the A6 junction, including for vehicles 

coming from the A6 looking right onto Welham Road.  

• Concern the slow-moving nature of HGVs and tractors with trailers would cause 

attempted dangerous overtaking, particularly on the A6 a 60mph road which 

does not always reflect the true speed of some vehicles on the road.  

• Outlined road safety concerns with this A6 junction outlined within the Great 

Bowden Neighbourhood plan. In the last 13 years, there have been six 

accidents at this A6 junction (Source: Crashmap Accident Data), one of them 

serious and there have been 25 accidents, 3 of them fatal on this short 2 miles 

stretch of the A6. 

• Concern vehicles exiting Welham Road onto the A6 should only be able to turn 

left, similar to another site which operates along Welham Road. Concern that, 

without the addition of a central island, barrier or roundabout, the safe entry of 

vehicles from the proposal to the A6 cannot be guaranteed.  

• Concern regarding multiple HGVs queueing to access the site, potentially 

backing onto the A6 causing congestion and overtaking.  

• Concerns that more people are using the junction now due to a large increase 

in the size of Great Bowden.   

• Concern that there is already too much traffic caused by existing developments, 

including reference to application reference: 22/00679/VAC, and from the 

growth of traveller camps along Welham Lane.  Concern this would lead to 

intensification of the use of A6 junction. 

• Concern that there is no Swept Path Analysis shown for HGVs exiting the A6 

turning left into Welham Road. Concern as the turn onto Welham Road is a tight 

radius HGVs could have to swing out into the centre of the road, towards the 

right turn lane from the opposite direction, to get round this tight radius. Concern 

this creates an additional accident risk on a high-speed section of road. 

Local Road Infrastructure and Capacity  

• Concern that the proposed development would cause an increase in HGVs 

being routed or misrouted through Great Bowden. Concern of the impacts on 

the narrow roads, unable to handle HGVs, causing damage, congestion, and 

dirt on roads (Main Street, Station Road and Dingley Road Welham Road via 

Sutton Road or Langton Road). Concerns raised around the safety of 

pedestrians, particularly during the school run.  

• Concern that there is not a way to control or manage vehicles from passing 

through Great Bowden. 

• Concerned if conditions are imposed to prohibit vehicles from routing through 

Great Bowden, these would be broken and unenforceable, for example drivers 

179



could still take wrong turns or sat nav systems would take drivers the quickest 

route. Concerned this is more likely as the site has not got its own postcode. 

• Concern regarding the potential damage of country roads and verges, and the 

roads and verges of other small villages, caused by the increase in vehicle 

movements of the proposed development. Concern dirt material could be 

deposited on these roads.  

• Concern the proposal would impact the main roads towards Market Harborough 

and the residents and businesses along the A6 towards and on the McDonald’s 

roundabout (where the A6 meets the B6047). 

• Concern that vehicles on the B664 travel at high speed, concerns regarding 

safety with an increase in HGV movements 

• Concerned that the impact on the A6 would be felt around the area as people 

head to/from the A14 and Leicester. 

Parking  

• Concern that the proposal does not integrate wheelchair parking spaces, or cycle 

parking facilities.   

• Questioned how the applicant arrived at the 6 car parking spaces figure for staff 

and visitors.  

 

Construction Phase  

• Concern that there would be an increase in traffic during the construction 

phase. 

• Concern there would be an increase in construction traffic along the line of the 

pipeline proposed to run alongside Welham Lane which could impact dog 

walkers.   

Previous Applications Refused 

• Outlined a number of previous applications at and near the site which were 

refused on highways grounds, questioning what has changed since these 

applications to make the situation acceptable when congestion in the area has 

increased since (References: 14/01553/OUT; 15/00901/OUT; 20/01497/FUL). 

Transport Statement, Rev C, dated June 2023 

• Concern that the Swept Path Analysis showed HGVs being unable to pass 

without mounting the verge and road edges, which will damage grass verges, 

hedges and trees. 

• Concern that the report does not make reference to cycle safety.  

• Concerned that a full Transport Assessment has not been commissioned to 

assess the safety of the development in line with the Leicestershire Highway 

Design Guide.  

• Concerned the numbers provided by the Transport Statement could be inaccurate 

as the Severn Trent Green Power Plant at Cassington generating 2.1MW uses 

180



approximately 50,000 tonnes of feedstock, solid and liquid waste. Concerned that 

the proposed development would require approximately 170,000 tonnes of 

feedstock, as it would generate 3.3 times more energy Cassington. Concern that 

1MW unit requires 20,000 tons of maize per year so how could a 7.5MW unit 

require less than 20,000. 

• Concern that some of the feedstock is typically transported by tractors and 

trailers, rather than HGVs, and that this would be likely to happen in practice, 

generating additional vehicle movements given the payload/capacity of such 

are usually less. Concern this is not reflected within the report, particularly 

during harvest season.  

• Concern that, as per paragraph 4.4.2 of the report, the section of Welham Road 

between the site access and the A6 junction cannot accommodate two-way 

traffic. Concern road users must rely on an informal give-way arrangement in 

order to safely navigate it.  

• Concern regarding the 12-hour duration of feedstock deliveries taking place 

between 06:00 to 18:00 hours as per paragraph 5.2.5. Questioned, with the 

working hours of the two members of staff being 09:00 to 17:00 hours (as per 

paragraph 5.3.2), who would let HGVs on site outside of 09:00 to 17:00 hours. 

Concern this could lead to a health and safety issue.  

• Concern Appendix B of the report contradicts paragraph 1.6 of the Planning 

Design and Access Statement, ref: 1551 1 DAS LMS, dated June 2023. This is 

because paragraph 1.6 of the Planning Desing and Access Statement states 

that one sheeted HGV containing chicken manure would visit the site per day, 

whilst Appendix B of the Transport Statement suggests typical vehicle 

movements of 22 per day rising to 52 at peak periods when all vehicle 

movements are taken into account.  

• Concern that, as per paragraph 4.5.2, there would not always be sufficient 

space for HGVs to park on site, especially during peak times.  

• Concern that the calculations provided within Appendix B, particularly in relation 

to the stated maximum of 4 two-way HGV movements per hour accommodating 

52 two-way HGV movements per day, assumes ‘13’ hours of continual 

deliveries and does not account for peaks, troughs or delays.  

Highways and Traffic Mitigation  

 

• Concern that, in the absence of appropriate mitigation, the development will cause 

unacceptable harm regarding highway impacts.  

• Concern widening of the lane would not mitigate the impacts on highways safety. 

Outlined the danger is less if traffic has to stop and wait. 

• Requested consideration of planning conditions, including that access to the 

bridge over the A6 be closed to vehicles. Also, as a condition, the provision of a 

footpath be installed from the bridge to beyond the new development suitable and 

safe for horses and walkers and preserving the existing cycle route in a safe 

manner.  

181



 

Other Highways and Traffic Comments 

• Concern that the above-mentioned highways and traffic concerns could be 

exacerbated by rush hour. 

• Concern that the above-mentioned highways and traffic concerns could be 

exacerbated in winter, under dark and/or icy conditions. 

• Concern the increase in traffic would be dangerous to school children walking, 

scootering and biking to school.  

• In relation to the suggested roundabout by HDC, concerned the provision of a 

roundabout would require road widening which may be problematic at this 

location due to the position of the bridge and its foundations. Concern a 

roundabout would encourage even more traffic onto the Welham Road and 

Lane.  

• Concern that successful maize clamping requires a quick harvest period which 

often translates to tractor drivers moving with urgency. 

• Outlined an anaerobic digestion plant at Rothwell is provided with deceleration 

and acceleration lanes and even with this it can be a nerve-racking experience 

re-joining the A14. The A6 has a 60mph speed limit which is only 10mph less 

than the A14.  

• Concern no consideration is given to encouraging future employees to utilise 

public transport/cycling.  

• Outlined a Stage 1 Highways Road Safety Audit would conclude the 

development is inappropriate for the existing infrastructure network and existing 

junction.  

• Concern that the road adjacent to the site is one way.  

• Comments from Harborough Transport Action, objecting based on concerns 

regarding the A6 / Welham Lane junction, stating appropriate junction 

improvement with the A6 must be implemented in the interests of road safety. 

Also objected based on concerns regarding the potential impacts on cyclists, 

walkers and National Cycle Route 64. Outlined the carriageway width on 

Welham Lane adjacent to the site access is just 3.3m and there are narrow 

grass verges – wet and muddy in winter and further limited by vegetation growth 

in summer - which provide insufficient width to enable users to avoid 

approaching HGV traffic and reach a place of safety. Concern the proposal, 

through an increase in traffic, including HGVs, would have a detrimental effect 

on National Cycle Route 64 and would be unacceptable unless safeguards are 

put in place to protect the interests of cyclists and walkers. Outlined Great 

Bowden Neighbourhood Plan Policy T3. 

• Concern the submitted Design and Access Statement suggests there would 

only be one vehicle a day versus what is actually set out in the Transport 

Statement.  

182



• Concerned the proposal, if permitted, would increase the risk of damage to 

roads and would lead to increase in local repair bills. 

Odour 

• Concerns regarding the potential impacts of odour associated with the 

proposed development’s use and storage of feedstock, in particular poultry 

manure and organic waste (straw). Concern this odour would be experienced 

24/7. 

• Concern that the process could produce volatile organic compounds that would 

cause odour.  

• Concern that the proposed development would add to existing odour already 

experienced in the area.  

• Concerns that potential impacts associated with odour from the development 

would be exacerbated in the summer. 

• Concerned that nearby receptors to the site are separated by open country 

fields and the A6. 

• Questioned what happens to the waste material once it comes out of the 

anaerobic digestion plant.  

• Questioned what the clamp is used for and whether it is covered, and if so, 

would it be a cause for odour release.  

• Questioned whether there would be any odour impacts associated with the flare 

stack.  

Transport and Delivery  

• Concern that the transport of waste to the site could cause odour impacts.  

• Concern that the transport of digestate from the site could cause odour impacts.  

• Questioned whether HGVs/tractor trailers bringing in waste to the site would be 

fully enclosed in the processing building before they are allowed to unload. 

• Concern as to whether the manure transported from the nearby poultry farm 

would be secured in a manner appropriate to mitigate odour impacts. Given the 

short journey, there is concern that there could be less inclination to take the 

appropriate actions that ensure manure is transported securely.  

Storage  

• Concern that the proposal requires the input and output materials to be stored 

on site in concentrated silos that are not airtight and concerned that the 

proposed clamp would not always be open to the air momentarily.  

• Concern that the lagoons (for the storage of liquid digestate and surface water) 

could create odour. Questioned whether the covers over the lagoons are 100% 

odour leakage proof.  

• Questioned how long waste would be stored on site for before being processed 

and whether there could be a backlog under certain circumstances. Concern 

that material could decompose on site creating odour. 

183



• Concern that there would be open slurry pits containing cow, chicken manure 

and waste. 

Spreading of Digestate 

• Concern the spreading of digestate would cause odour which would be 

experienced 24/7.  

 

Odour Mitigation  

 

• Concerns regarding the amount of odour mitigation proposed.  

• Concerns that, even if all precautions are taken to alleviate odour, that these 

would not be 100% successful.  

• Should permission be granted, questioned what guarantees are in place that 

mitigation measures would be adhered to, or in later years that the processes put 

in place to combat odours would not slip.  

• Questioned why the poultry manure could not be stored in a negative air pressure 

environment rather than lagoons with a cover.  

• Concern that storage of feedstock would not be airtight and would cause odour.  

• Questioned how Hydrogen Sulphide (H2S) would be managed, measured and 

what would be done if H2S levels from the proposed development are 

unacceptable if permitted. Concern that H2S can be smelled occasionally for a 

small number of days per year.  

 

Qualitative Odour Risk Assessment, Ref: 93745.566879, dated June 2023 

 

• Outlined paragraph 5.3.3 of the report, which references the prevailing wind 

direction at the site is from the south-south-west through to the west. Concern this 

means that any odours released from the site will likely be noticed over the new 

housing at Hursley Park and the Great Bowden. 

• Concern that the information seems to suggest there is only marginal difference 

in the percentage of winds coming from the north/north east to that coming from 

the south/south west which would suggest that the potential for receptors to the 

south west of the site could be impacted more frequent than anticipated and 

therefore the potential impact could be more than the ‘negligible’ as the report 

concludes. 

• Concern regarding the use of Wittering Observation Station in calculating 

prevailing meteorological conditions. Outlined Market Bosworth Observation 

station a few kms further from the site could be more reflective of the east-

midlands/Leicestershire conditions. Argue that using Market Bosworth data, or 

averaging with Wittering, would provide more accurate results. Concern the 

report’s reliance on meteorological data from Wittering (Section 5.3.1) does not 

account for local factors that may significantly impact odour dispersion and that 

184



more localised monitoring would be necessary to provide an accurate 

understanding of the potential odour impact on nearby sensitive properties. 

• Concern that data from 2022 was used from Wittering rather data from 2023. 

Concern data from 2022 would provide more favourable results. 

• Concern that paragraphs 5.4.2 and 5.4.3 only consider the feedstock as an odour 

source, excluding any direct release of odours from other elements of the process, 

including ammonia. Concerned that based on information from the operations of 

other plants, this seems imprudent, and those releases could be categorised as 

having a ‘large’ odour potential, noting that some parts of the process will be ‘open 

to the air momentarily’. 

• Concern that the poultry manure may not be mostly fed into the sealed process 

on the same day (as per paragraph 5.4.4) unless this becomes a condition of 

planning condition. Concern there would not be immediate processing of the 

poultry manure.  

• Questioned how the sensitivity of the proposed users of the subject site is 

envisaged to be 'high', but the report has given a 'negligible effect' for odour 

exposure for those residential dwellings nearby.  

• Concern that, as per paragraph 1.2.6, the report is incorrect to suggest that 

agricultural odours are likely to be characteristics of the wider area, especially of 

this scale. Outlined it would still be a legitimate concern regarding the proposal 

exacerbating odours.  

• Concern that, as per paragraph 5.3.4, the distance between the closest existing 

sensitive residential receptors is closer than the stated 150m. Concern this would 

alter the pathway effectiveness to the nearest receptor as highly effective, rather 

than ineffective, as per Table D2.  

• Concern that, as per Table 3, given part of the feedstock is poultry manure the 

odour benchmark level used should be classed as ‘most offensive odours’, rather 

than moderately offensive odours.   

• Concern the report classifies the odour as ‘most offensive’ (paragraph 3.2.24) but 

the risk assessment section (paragraph 5.4.2) classifies the odour as ‘moderately 

offensive’, which seems inconsistent. 

• Concerned the report does not account for the potential of odour from the 

proposed lagoons, disposal of by-products, and other developments within the 

area.  

• Concern that the report does not consider worst-case scenarios such as 

mechanical breakdowns, spills, or issues with delivery vehicles. 

• Concern the report’s assessment of odour pathways (paragraph 5.4.6- 5.4.8) is 

based on wind speeds, despite acknowledging that odour episodes are more 

likely to occur in stable atmospheric conditions with low wind speeds (paragraph 

5.3.6). Concern that the pathway assessment may not accurately reflect the 

worst-case scenarios for odour dispersion, particularly during calmer weather.  

185



• Concerned the odour modelling employed might not accurately represent the true 

extent of odour dispersion and impact on surrounding areas and is based on a 

best-case scenario.  

• Concern that no sensitivity tests have been undertake as part of the report.  

• Concern the report was not conducted by an independent organisation. 

• Concern that prevailing wind would not adequately mitigate potential emissions 

generated from the proposed development. The wind factor considered in the 

application suggests that the prevailing wind would blow any odours away from 

Great Bowden in a northernly direction. There are concerns that this contradicts 

the UK Government definition of prevailing wind i.e. direction varies between 

south-south-west and north-west, with north- easterly winds increasing in late 

winter and spring. Concern emissions would be blown southwards. 

• Concern the conclusions that the pathway of odours to a populated area is 

‘ineffective’ might be inaccurate. Based on only assessing the feedstock as 

producing odour of a ‘medium’ rating, the report conclusion when combined 

with an ‘ineffective’ pathway is ‘negligible’. Concerns that inaccurate 

categorisations have been attributed to the odour and the odour pathway, which 

means if reassessed the overall risk and adverse effect on neighbouring 

populations could be higher. 

• Concern that odour would spread to villages/towns other than Great Bowden 

through, for example, shifts in prevailing winds. 

Ecology and Local Environment  

• Concern the proposed development could degrade the natural local 

environment and ecosystems, including habitats of local species along Welham 

Lane. 

• Concern regarding the potential Impact on local livestock. 

• Concern that Barn Owls and bats have been observed in this area. 

• Concern the brick buildings on the site could house bats and birds.  

• Concern spores from rotting straw cause lung disease in birds (aspergillosis).  

• Concern regarding the removal of ecological assets which contribute to the 

site’s character. 

• Concern the application has not been supported with a Tree Survey, 

Arboricultural Impact Assessment, and a Method Statement, particularly 

assessing the potential impact on mature trees during construction. 

Great Bowden Borrow Pit SSSI 

• Concern regarding the potential impacts of the proposed development on the 

Great Bowden Borrow Pit SSSI just over 800m west of the site, particularly in 

relation to the release of ammonia.   

 

Hursley Park Country Park  

186



• Concern regarding the potential impacts on the Hursley Park Country Park 

situated approximately 200 metres from the site. Outlined The park has 

establishing wildflower meadows, native trees / hedgerows and provides an 

important habitat for multiple species that have been identified as priorities within 

the Leicester, Leicestershire and Rutland Biodiversity Action Plan. Outlined there 

are bird and bat boxes, and a wetland area within the park being created for Great 

Crested Newts. 

• Concern that ammonia released from the proposed development would 

increase soil fertility/nitrogen levels and negatively impact the wildflower 

meadows’ natural ecosystems they support. Outlined these wildflower 

meadows were a planning condition / Section 106 commitment and the 

restoration of them was partly grant funded by Leicestershire County Council. 

• Concerned that many of the current and future recreational users of Hursley 

Park Country Park would have their amenity compromised by the increase in 

emission to air as a result of the proposed development. 

• Concern that minimal, mainly desktop, surveys that have been conducted to 

date which we could underestimate the impact on the country park.  

Impact on nearby Ecological Projects  

• Outlined a number of projects in the local area including Harborough Woodland 

Project, Haygates Farm, and James Alder reserve, amongst others under 

consideration / development in the area. Concerned the proposed development 

could negatively impact these projects.  

 

Preliminary Ecological Appraisal, Rev: Version 1, dated March 2023  

• Concern report recommendations have not been undertaken including, bat, 

reptile, and badger surveys, and Biodiversity Net Gain (BNG) assessment.  

• Concerned there is a strong likelihood of bats inhabiting the trees and buildings 

on the proposed site.  

• Concern the report does not rule out Great Crested Newts, as being on site. 

Concern that there are at least 8 other ponds within 500m of the application site 

(excluding the onsite pond) with no major barriers to dispersal which have not 

been surveyed. Concern GCN particularly favour clusters of multiple ponds, such 

as those that exist around the application site and the site itself provides suitable 

terrestrial foraging and sheltering habitat for GCN, and therefore, these ponds 

should be surveyed.  

• Concern the report has ruled out potential impacts on otter, and that water vole 

are not considered to be a potential receptor. Concern that the ditches on site 

are hydrologically linked to the River Welland, located approximately 460m east 

of the site. Concern Otter and Water Vole are known to be present within the 

River Welland and there is the potential for indirect impacts on both species as 

a result of surface run-off and pollution during the construction phase and post-

development. Concern this has not been accounted for within the report. 

187



• Concern the report acknowledges that the Phase 1 Habitat Survey was 

undertaken outside of the optimal survey window (April to mid-October). 

Concern there is the potential for certain species, including notable and non-

native invasive species, to be present which were not recorded at the time of 

survey.  

Climate Change and Pollution  

 

• Concerns regarding inadequate treatment and appropriate mitigation of liquid 

effluents generated as a byproduct of anaerobic digestion and facilities for staff 

onsite, and the associated potential for water pollution.  

• Concern there would be pollution associated with the construction of the plant. 

• Concern there is a water course adjacent to the site, which flows into the River 

Welland. Concern regarding the impact of any surface water runoff, most notably 

of spilled chicken manure, into this watercourse, which itself is lower and so at the 

mercy of gravity. 

• Concern regarding the potential environmental impact from impurities of the 

process.  

• Concern the proposal would contribute to climate change rather than mitigating 

such. Concern biomass plants emit more carbon dioxide than fossil fuels.  

• Concern of spillage from the movement of maize, straw, chicken manure, and 

liquid/solid fertilizer. Concern this would be washed into ditches around this 

property which feed into the River Welland.  

• Concern there would be leakages from lorries being unloaded.  

• Concern the AD process relies on fossil fuels. 

• Concern that only a small proportion of the poultry manure comes from within 

32km and there is no mention of the distances the straw travels or what happens 

with the by-product at the end of process. 

• Concern the neighbouring farm, houses and feeds pheasants for human 

consumption and concern that pollution generated from the proposal, for example 

ground spill from bund collapse or leaking pools and tanks, could contaminate 

these pheasants.  

• Concern growing maize can lead to soil carbon loss, greater than the carbon 

offset of biogas. Concern the planting, growing and harvesting of maize relies on 

heavy farm machinery, mostly powered by fossil fuels. 

• Concern no contamination report has been submitted, yet this is a site where one 

would be required.  

• Concern there would be pollution associated with the increase in vehicle 

movements, particularly during maize harvesting, which would offset the benefit 

of the energy generated.  

• Concern that the Qualitative Odour Risk Assessment, Ref: 93745.566879, 

dated June 2023, miscalculated the potential impact of road vehicle exhaust 

emissions. Section 5.2.1 states, “The Transport Statement has estimated ten 

188



two-way Heavy Goods Vehicle (HGV) movement per day, associated with the 

Site”. However, in the Transport Statement, Rev C, dated June 2023, table 5.2 

HGV Traffic Forecasts, they state that a “Typical Day will have 22 2-way HGV 

movements and Peak Day (30 times per year) will have 52 2-way HGV 

movements.” Concern that the Odour Risk Assessment has used somewhere 

between one half to one fifth of the actual traffic movements for their analysis.  

• Concern that biomass plants are considered carbon-neutral because the 

carbon released during combustion is theoretically offset by the carbon 

absorbed by plants during their growth. Concern this would not be case as part 

of the proposed development, and it could potentially lead to Carbon Emissions. 

Spreading of Digestate 

• Concern that the solid and liquid digestate would be high in nitrates, 

phosphates, and ammonia which is then spread on the surrounding area and 

excessive use of fertiliser and pesticides could cause pollution via surface run-

off, including into the nearby River Welland, impacting watercourse quality, 

stimulating algae growth and resulting in eutrophication 

• Concern that the spreading of solid and liquid digestate could lead to the 

release of ammonia gas. 

• Concern that improper handling of digestate or leaks from the digester tanks 

can lead to the contamination of water sources with pathogens, heavy metals, 

and other pollutants. 

• Referenced an incident in 2019, where more than 10,000 fish were found 

floating in a river in Devon as a result of anaerobic digestate entering the 

watercourse.  

Public Health  

• Concern regarding the emission of air pollutants associated with biogas 

generation/combustion such as Carbon Dioxide, Nitrogen Oxides, Sulphuric 

Dioxides, Sulfuric odours, Hydrogen Sulphide, Carbon Monoxide, Ammonia, 

Mercury, and other trace components potentially such as carcinogens. Concerns 

regarding the potential impact on public health for example breathing, respiratory 

and cardiovascular problems, headaches, pulmonary paralysis, cancer and 

death.  

• Concern that the proposed development could worsen existing health 

conditions (Asthma, COPD etc).  

• Concern regarding potential unknown health issues arising from the proposed 

development.  

• Concern regarding the impacts on the mental wellbeing of residents, having to 

stay indoors due to the increased traffic and odour. 

• Concern regarding the potential negative impacts on residents’ quality of life 

and enjoyment of the Great Bowden.  

189



• Concern, if permitted, the proposal could impact people using and enjoying 

local clubs, sport teams, scouts, beavers, and recreation grounds, particularly 

during summer months.  

• Concern the proposed development could impact the physical health of 

residents through the reduction in enjoyment of outdoor activities.  

• Concerns regarding the proximity of the proposed plant to educational 

institutions. Concern that children would be more vulnerable to the potential 

odour and pollutants from the proposed development. 

• Concern open water encourages wildfowl increasing the risk of AI (avian flu). 

• Concerned the proposal could cause alkali rain over Great Bowden and Market 

Harborough.  

• With reference to Section 3 of the Department for Energy Security & Net Zero 

report Biomass strategy 2023, concerned the proposal should be located well 

away from residential, academic and business premises where people might 

suffer from the reduced air quality. 

• Concern there could be the spread of disease from poultry manure on site. 

• Concern regarding the potential health risks associated with the spreading of 

digestate. 

• Concern the existing buildings of the of the old mushroom farm are made of 

compressed corrugated asbestos. Concern, with the wind in a northerly or 

easterly direction, the surrounding area could be contaminated by asbestos 

dust. 

Noise  

• Concern regarding the 24-hour operation of the proposed development causing 

noise pollution, particularly at night from the pumps and compressors. 

• Concerned that, whilst the anaerobic digestion process might be quiet, there 

would be noise generation processes involved with the generation of gas. 

Concern that the proposed development incorporates telehandlers, pumps, and 

industrial processing which are intrusive types of noise compared to current 

agricultural activities on site. 

• Concern regarding noise impacts associated with the traffic generated by the 

proposal, such as reversing alarms. Concern that this would be exacerbated 

during maize harvesting where traffic generation would be highest.  

• Concern regarding noise impacts associated with the loading and unloading of 

feedstock and digestate at the site.  

• Concern regarding noise impacts associated with the construction phase. 

• Concern regarding noise impacts associated with HGV movements generated 

by the proposed development.  

• Concern that the proposed development would add to existing noise already 

experienced in the area.  

• Concern of the impact of noise generated by the proposed development on 

passing horses.  

190



• Concern that the surrounding area is generally quiet so noise from the proposal 

would be exacerbated.   

BS4142:2014+A1:2019 Sound Assessment Report, Ref: 03776-130101, dated 

December 2023 

• Concern that the operation sound is described as having "impulsivity" meaning 

it could attract attention. 

• Concerns report states that there would be an increase in noise levels 

experienced at nearby residential properties as a result of the development. 

Concern that, during daytime hours, the report predicts noise levels reaching 

up to 41dB LAeq (page 22). This is an increase of +7dB above current 

background levels (page 24). BS4142 classifies a +5dB increase as an 

indication of "adverse impact", and anything above +10dB as "significant 

adverse impact." Concern, the expected noise increase falls in between these 

two categories, indicating there could be a noticeable and disruptive level of 

noise pollution generated.  

• Concern that the report shows noise levels increasing by +3dB to 32dB LAeq. 

at night.  

• Concern with the conclusion of the report (paragraph 6.4) that the operation of 

the site will likely generate a sound impact of around +5dB, which is adverse 

impact in BS4142 terms, but is less than significant adverse impact. 

• Concern that information in relation to the effectiveness of the proposed 

acoustic enclosures and acoustic louvres as outlined by paragraph 3.12 has 

not been included.  

Landscape and Visual Amenity  

• Concern the proposed development would have a negative impact on a 

countryside location and surrounding landscape and character. Concern this 

would be an industrial facility on an agricultural site in open countryside.  

• The site is located within the Welland Valley Landscape Character Area and 

contributes to the wider openness of the countryside setting. Concern there are 

numerous elevated viewpoints of the site in the surrounding area. 

• Concern the proposed development falls within the Foxton to Great Bowden 

Slopes Landscape Character Area.  

• Concern regarding the height of large industrial tanks, particularly those ranging 

from 5 to 10 meters in height. 

• Concern regarding the 10.5m high flare stack. 

• Concern the massing for the proposed buildings are too large. 

• Concern there are no visualisations showing views of the proposed building 

heights from sensitive locations  

• Concerned the current value of the site, through its verdancy and openness, 

owing to the lack of development within it, would be lost.  

191



• Concern that, in cumulation with existing industrial development along Welham 

Road, the proposal would turn Welham Road and Lane into an industrial estate. 

• Concern regarding the loss of sunlight/daylight to neighbouring properties, 

including rearing sheds and pens. 

• Concern that the existing boundary planting isn’t enough to screen the 

proposed development.  

• Concern the proposal would be built on green belt land.  

• Concern the proposal is within an Area of Outstanding Natural Beauty.  

• Concern the whole area being considered a brown field site when less than half 

the area is brown field. 

 

Design, Materials and Finishes  

• Concern there are no material specifications provided within the application 

documents. Concern that drawings refer to ‘double doors’, ‘green profile metal’ or 

‘profile metal sheeting’, with no detail as to the finish proposed or how this is in 

keeping with the landscape/local character.  

• Concern the application form states that details relating to proposed materials & 

finishes are provided within the submitted plans and Design and Access 

Statement (DAS). Concern this is not accurate, and the ‘DAS’ is a planning 

statement and should be re-named as such.  

• Concern that it would be difficult for judgment to be made on the quality and visual 

impact of the proposed design if materials and finishes are conditioned.  

 

Flood Risk and Drainage   

• Concern that, as per paragraph 5.17 of the Landscape and Visual Statement, Ref: 

1551 1 LVS GP, dated June 2023, the application site and its immediate 

surroundings fall into Group 3, River Valley Floodplains, more specifically into 3A, 

Floodplain Valleys landscape character type. 

 

Surface Water 

• Concern that a large section of the site is undeveloped which allows rain to soak 

away. Concern this would be replaced almost entirely with buildings, structures 

and hard standing. Concern the proposal is unlikely to be able to capture all of the 

surface water during intense rain, increasing the risk of runoff to surrounding 

areas.  

• Concern the sites raised topography would exacerbate surface water run-off. 

• Concern the site’s southern boundary is adjacent to a water course which could 

pose an increased risk to flooding from surface water. 

• Concern that the rate at which the proposed scheme would utilise the collected 

rainwater has not been demonstrated.  

192



• Concern that the surface water will collect in a Pond/Lake must have an outfall 

which isn’t noted in the application.  

• Concern that, during harvesting the soil gets very heavily compacted, therefore 

surface water cannot drain efficiently which contributes to flooding. 

 

Drainage  

• Concern the application has not accounted for how existing drainage would be 

improved to handle the treatment of effluent discharge from the site. Concern that 

there are no foul sewers in the area and if water will not be discharged to any 

sewers, it is likely that water would have to be exported to an off-site sewage 

works, therefore increasing HGV movements.  

• Given the low-lying nature of the site, concerned the use of Sustainable Drainage 

Systems (SuDS) within the scheme limited to rain water harvesting and trapped 

drainage. 

• Concern that no drainage strategy has been provided. 

 

Flood Risk Assessment and Drainage Strategy, Ref: R-FRA-26925-01-0, dated October 

2023 

• Concerned that the green roof and pervious pavement SUDS techniques, as per 

paragraph 4.4.1, have not been considered further.  

• Concern the report does not provide information about proposed mitigation for an 

extreme storm event exacerbated by climate change. 

• Questioned paragraph 4.8 of the report. Concern with how drainage systems 

becoming overwhelmed could still allow for all overland flows to be captured for 

use within the AD Plant.  

 

Heritage and Conservation 

 

• Concern the proposed development could have a negative impact on the Great 

Bowden Conservation Area, for example through the reduction in air quality, 

increased traffic and noise generated by the proposal.   

• Concern that an increase of HGVs travelling through Great Bowden could have a 

negative impact on listed buildings in the area.  

• Concern the proposal could cause a reduction in funds available for the 

maintenance of historic buildings.  

 

Light Pollution  

• Concern that the proposed development could increase light pollution and is not 

covered within application. Concern that, in light of recommendations made within 

the submitted Preliminary Ecological Assessment, Version 1, dated March 2023 

regarding lighting, no lighting plan provided as part of the application.  

193



• Concern potential light pollution from site could impact the laying stock of the 

neighbouring farm. Laying stock are kept the other side of the fence and unnatural 

light disrupts their natural laying cycle.  

 

Pests 

 

• Concerned that the proposed development could lead to an increase in pests 

such as flies and rodents, particularly from the use of poultry manure.  

• Concern that the application does not adequately address how pests would be 

controlled/mitigated, and if left untreated, could lead to health risks.  

 

Use of Maize, Straw, and Poultry Manure 

• Concern the proposal conflicts with government policy for food security and the 

waste hierarchy as the application would use maize grown specifically for use in 

the AD process rather than food, and straw as waste over other potential uses. 

• Concern some biomass crops may require significant amounts of water for 

cultivation, leading to concerns about water scarcity and competition with other 

water-intensive activities. 

• Concern the large-scale cultivation of crops for biomass production could lead to 

competition with food crops, potentially affecting food prices and availability. 

Concern it could result in changes in land use that impact biodiversity and natural 

ecosystems.   

• Concern the sustainability of biomass power generation relies on the availability 

of sufficient feedstocks. Concern this could lead to overharvesting, deforestation, 

or unsustainable agricultural practices.  

• Concern the poultry manure would be sourced from factory farmed poultry. 

Concern factory farms provide environment for pathogenic organisms to grow and 

approving this application would endorse the use of factory farms.  

• Concern no information on whether pesticides would be used in the growth of 

maize and consideration of the potential impacts of such.   

 

Risk of Accidents/Incidents  

• Concern regarding the increased risk of accidents at the site, including fires, toxic 

spills, gas leaks and explosions. A number of notable incidents at other sites are 

provided, including in Oxfordshire in (2016 and 2023), Shropshire (2014), 

Avonmouth (2020) and Nottingham (2017).  

• Concern regarding the health & safety risks associated with operating an 

anaerobic digestion facility. 

• Reference made to an Environment Agency review of environmental incidents at 

AD Plants and associated sites between 2010 and 2018 (dated September 2019).  

• Concern neighbouring property has 6 large propane tanks, two of which are 

situated a few metres away from the digester.   

194



• Concern if there is a gas leak, the neighbouring buildings have open flame 

heaters.  

• Concern the presence of methane leads to a higher risk of explosion.  

 

Employees  

• Concern that the application does not cover how waste generated by 

employees (two full time members of staff and delivery drivers) would be 

disposed of.  

• Concern the proposed application would not provide any local employment 

opportunities.   

 

Land Ownership  

• Concern the northern and eastern boundary as outlined on the site plan are 

incorrect as the hedge and ditch on these boundaries are owned by the 

neighbouring property. Concern the neighbours had not been notified of this. 

 

Concerns with Application Form  

 

Trees and Hedges 

• Concern there are trees and hedges on land adjacent to the proposed 

development, not ‘no’ as noted on the application form. 

 

Assessment of Flood Risk  

• Concern there are watercourses within 20m of the development running along the 

site boundary, not ‘no’ as noted on the application. 

 

Biodiversity and Geological Conservation  

• Concern applicant states that ‘no priority species are on the site’, however The 

Preliminary Ecology Appraisal confirms that the site provides a reasonable 

likelihood of sustaining reptiles, bats, and badgers.  

• Concern the applicant states that there are no designated sites on or near to the 

site. Concern the Great Bowden Borrowpit SSSI is located under 0.65km. 

 

All Types of Development: Non-Residential Floorspace 

• Concern the form does not include any information pertaining to the existing 

floorspace of the farm buildings/bungalow.   

 

Industrial or Commercial Processes and Machinery 

• Concern the applicant states that the proposal does not involve the carrying out 

of industrial or commercial activities or processes and this a waste management 

development. Concern the proposal is not a waste management development but 

195



a commercial activity for the production of biomass from the use of the anaerobic 

digestion of mainly a harvest feedstock of maize and straw. Poultry manure only 

represents 22.5% of the feedstock. 

 

Hazardous Substances  

• Concern the application form states that the proposal would not involve the use 

or storage of Hazardous Substances. Concerned the production, storage, and 

transportation of carbon dioxide would be considered a hazardous substance. 

 

Reference to Other Anaerobic Digestion Facilities  

• Comparisons were drawn to the impacts caused by a variety of anaerobic 

digestion facilities across England which had been reported in the news. Pertinent 

issues included odour, traffic, noise, and environmental impacts. Comparisons 

were also drawn of a number of other anaerobic digestion facilities across 

England which were refused for a number of reasons including traffic, odour and 

visual impacts.  

• Multiple references made to the noise and odour experienced in reference to the 

Rothwell Plant in Northamptonshire.  

• Concerns regarding the contradiction between the odour reported by 

communities near existing anaerobic digestion plants and the assurances made 

in planning applications, which often suggest minimal impact in this regard. 

Concern operators would not alleviate the problem. 

 

Socio-Economic Impacts  

 

• Concern the proposal would impose a burden on public cost of living through 

subsidies camouflaged under the levy 'Green Gas Support Scheme' Concern 

these are paid for by a tax placed silently on energy bills.  

• Concerned the proposal, if permitted, would economically impact surrounding 

farms. 

• Concerned the proposal, if permitted, would impact local property values.    

• Concerned the proposal, if permitted, would reduce the use of local businesses 

given noise, odour, traffic etc 

• Concerned the proposal, if permitted, would impact local tourism. 

• Concern the proposal could negatively impact investment into the area. 

• Concern the proposal would destroy the social fabric of the surrounding area and 

offers no value to the local community  

 

Conflict with National and Local Policy  

• Many of the representations received raised policy concerns based on the 

abovementioned considerations. These have been included within the policy 

196



section of the report and are assessed within the assessment section of the 

report.  

• Outlined a new footnote has been added to the NPPF, “The availability of 

agricultural land used for food production should be considered, alongside the 

other policies in this Framework, when deciding what sites are most appropriate 

for development.” Suggested a follow-up statement should be required confirming 

how the loss of this agricultural land aligns with the revised National Framework 

with relevant evidence. 

• Reference was made to a ‘Policy EMP2 (3)’ of the Great Bowden Neighbourhood 

Plan. The points outlined within Policy EMP2 have been considered within the 

report however there is no reference to ‘3’ within this policy.  

 

National Grid Connection and Compound  

• Concern as to how the plant would connect to the National Gas mains. Concern 

Welham Lane would need to be dug up to carry the connecting gas line.  

• Concern that no reports are for the National Grid Compound area including a 

biodiversity report, and historic/archaeological impact assessment. 

   

Other Considerations/Comments   

 

• Concerned the residential dwelling on site would need planning permission to 

change its use to industrial use. Concerned the eastern portion of the site forms 

two distinct grade 3 agricultural fields separated by a farm fence which would 

require planning permission to change its use.  

• Concerned the proposal appears to involve demolition of the existing farm 

buildings/sheds and changes to the topography of the site through the installation 

of two large earth bunds. Concern details of demolition (and attempts to retain) 

the existing farm buildings, or where the existing buildings are in relation to the 

development are unclear. Concern the proposal does not to consider any of the 

current farm buildings or floorplans and would be demolished without 

assessment.  

• Questioned why the application is with the County for decision, and not in 

consideration by Harborough District Council, as this appears to be a commercial 

enterprise primarily for generating gas from straw and other commercial 

feedstocks, with only a smaller proportion being for the processing of waste. 

• Concern the proposal, if permitted, could negatively impact growth plans for the 

housing in the area.  

• Concern the proposed process buildings are not fully accessible. 

• Highlighted a previous AD Facility refused by Leicestershire County Council 

(application reference: 2019/0419/06 (2019/CM/0066/LCC).  

• Concern data cannot categorically prove that real life impacts from this application 

would be minimal. 

197



• Raised recent precedence of a planning application for a motocross park off the 

A6 in Kegworth, Leicestershire which is allegedly set to be rejected by North West 

Leicestershire District Council because of safety fears of traffic turning on and off 

a busy bypass. 

• Concern no other development like the proposal has been approved to be built 

as close to a residential area anywhere else in the UK. 

• Concern the proposal would result in the loss of Grade 3 agricultural land at the 

site. 

• Concerned if permitted, would set a precedent and that future expansion at the 

site would be justified on the grounds that there’s already an operational site.  

• Concern that the proposed inputs would change during the life of development, 

specific concern the plant would process more odorous input such as food waste 

or human waste.  

• Confusion raised as to the volume of feedstock to be used in the proposal. The 

Application Form refers to ‘9000’ tonnes, the Design and Access Statement 

‘37,000’ tonnes, and the Transport Assessment ‘100,000’ tonnes.  

• Reiterated that there would be ‘better locations’ for the proposed development. 

• Reiterated a preference for alternative green technologies (such as wind and 

solar) at the site. Concern biomass power plants may have lower energy 

conversion efficiencies compared to some other renewable energy sources. 

• Concern the 7MW of energy and two new jobs that would be created would not 

outweigh the negatives. 

• Concern people would be forced to move because of the plant, and would stop 

people moving to, the area.  

• Concern biomass fuel is often bulky and has a lower energy density compared to 

fossil fuels. Concern this could pose challenges for storage, transportation, and 

handling, affecting the overall efficiency and economic viability of the proposal.  

• Concern, if permitted, the proposal could be influenced by fluctuations in biomass 

feedstock prices, making it challenging to maintain consistent energy costs. 

• Concern many biomass projects depend on government subsidies and 

incentives, and changes in policy or the expiration of support mechanisms could 

impact the long term sustainability of the proposal. 

• Concern over applicant name, company, funding and motivation.   

• Concern that residents pay a premium to live in the area.  

• Concern regarding the potential impact on nearby allotments. 

• Comments from the Market Harborough Model Aero Club (MHMAC). MHMAC’s 

flying field is located in the field to the west of the Welham Bush Poultry Farm. 

MHMAC note that the proposed NTS connection is to be sited next to the Poultry 

Farm. It appears the height of the cabin and any other structural items to be placed 

in the NTS connection boundary will not exceed 3metres above ground level. This 

is unlikely to impact on our model flying as there is also a hedge and small trees 

of a similar height at the boundary of our flying field. Ask as part of the decision-

making process, decision makers: Ensure that the NTS facility is designed to be 

198



safe for all variants of model aircraft and helicopters to overfly; Be aware there is 

very small possibility the NTS facility could be struck by a model aircraft or 

helicopter in the event of a fault occurring; Provide MHMAC with an agreed 

method to recover a model aircraft or helicopter should it end up in the NTS 

compound. Recovery from the NTS compound should have no penalty or cost to 

MHMAC members. 

• Objection from Green Party Cllr, “I acknowledge the urgent need to move away 

from fossil fuels. The Green Party does not recognise Biogas as a source ‘Green 

Energy’”. 

• Concerned that an approval would be conditioned, going against best practice.  

• Idea that there is financial benefit to the council from the proposal. “A back handed 

contribution to the local government and council to improve their coffers”. 

• Claim private commercial interests which will not benefit local residents being 

prioritised. 

 

 

 

 
 

 

199



This page is intentionally left blank



APPENDIX C – PUBLIC CONSULTATION (AUGUST 2024) 

SUMMARY OF RESPONSES 

Representations raised as part of the second consultation generally referenced those 

concerns raised as part of earlier representations had not been adequately addressed, 

often referring to earlier comments. Points repeated from the first consultation period 

are not repeated again. However, comments relating to the submission of additional 

information, or comments not covered within initial representations, are set out below:  

Highways and Traffic 

• Concerns that the arrival times of delivery vehicles cannot be guaranteed, so 

large number of vehicles trying to access the site at certain times of the day 

would impact the local road network extending to Market Harborough.  

• Emphasised concerns regarding the poor visibility at the A6 junction and the 

potential impacts this could have on slow-moving vehicles entering and 

egressing from/onto. 

• Full Transport Assessment, in line with the Leicestershire Highway Design 

Guide, should be commissioned to ensure this would be a safe development. 

• Concern that nothing has been submitted to quantify the amount of non-traffic 

users that use Welham Lane. This is who will have their safety compromised 

by this proposal.  

• Concern that the road is still too narrow and does not have the required 

distance according to the highway code to pass horses safely. 

• Concerned as to whether the LHA had considered the A6 access.  

• Concerns regarding HGV traffic going through Dingley and the potential 

impacts on the narrow roads of the village.  

• Concern the statement by Highways that Welham Lane is a no-through road 

may be technically correct but gives an incorrect picture of what is involved at 

this site. Welham Lane stops at Welham, but it also provides direct access to 

the A6. It is used extensively by not only local people but companies including 

the use of tractors, vans and lorries. 

Proposed Mitigation Measures  

• Concerns that the proposed passing point on Welham Lane is inadequate and 

would not fundamentally mitigate the increase of HGV traffic on unsuitable 

roads and increase of slow-moving vehicles entering and egressing from/onto 

the A6 at this junction.  

• Concerns there is not enough space to widen Welham Lane to allow two HGVs 

to pass, and even if there was, there would not be sufficient safe space such 

as pavements for vulnerable users (pedestrians, cyclists, horse riders, dogs 

etc).  

201



• Concerns that the proposed widening of Welham Lane would make the 

situation more dangerous due to reducing the caution and uncertainty for 

drivers. 

• Concerns there is no safe way to allow the volume of HGVs proposed in close 

proximity to vulnerable users of Welham Lane.  

• Concerns that the application continues to not make reference to National Cycle 

Network 64. Concerns the application fails to acknowledge the dangers posed 

to cyclists by the increased HGV traffic and does not propose adequate 

measures to mitigate these risks such as a cycle route, fully segregated from 

HGV traffic, with cyclists having clear priority. 

• Concerns that the submitted ‘Traffic Plan’ is inadequate, particularly in 

managing HGV traffic.  

Odour  

• Concerns that there has been no assessment of the odours from waste being 

transported to, unloaded, and stored on-site prior to processing (irrespective of 

processing methods used). 

• Concerns that any delay to processing caused by the plant being temporarily 

out of action could increase odour impacts 

• Concerns that there has been no assessment of the odour dispersing from the 

open areas in low wind conditions.  

• The documentation has not properly considered odour issues at various times 

of the day. 

• Concern that the applicant has cherry-picked assessment methods and data to 

suit its case, which is not in accordance with guidance issued by the Institute of 

Air Quality Management. 

• Suggested a council officer should make an unannounced visit to an AD plant 

and use their own senses to comprehend the odour related impacts. 

• Lived experiences are at odds with the data provided.  

• In reference to an energy from waste site utilising chicken manure, outlined the 

scheme is required to store chicken manure under negative pressure to mitigate 

odour impacts and has questioned why this is not a requirement or this 

application. 

• Concern that the wind blows regularly towards the south, in the direction of 

many residential receptors. 

• Concern that statements provided within the application that there would be no 

odour because the digesters are covered or sealed are inaccurate.  

• Concerns that the application admits that there will be a smell similar to a farmer 

spreading on their fields, because you ‘have to open them or uncover them to 

add raw material and remove waste’, thereby releasing noxious smells into the 

environment. 

Public Health  

202



• Concerns the application fails to properly address the potential impact of 

bioaerosols - tiny particles released during the composting or digestion process. 

Concerns that these particles can travel significant distances and could pose 

health risks to nearby residents. Given the proximity of residential properties to 

the proposed site, an assessment of bioaerosol emissions and their potential 

health impacts should be required. 

• Concerns that, anaerobic digestion plants, if not properly managed, can cause 

health issues such as headaches, nausea, and respiratory problems in nearby 

populations. An independent and comprehensive Health Impact Assessment 

(HIA) should be required.   

• Concern that the omissions of an assessment of bioaerosols and a HIA could 

endanger public health. 

• Concerned the air quality and odour assessments provided do not demonstrate 

that the proposal would not cause unacceptable adverse impacts on air quality, 

community health, odours and air pollution. This is given the omission of 

sensitive receptors and underestimation of emissions within these reports.  

Ecology and Local Environment  

• Concern regarding Hursley Park Country Park, situated approximately 200m 

from the site. The park is in the process of being designated as a Local Wildlife 

Site by Leicestershire County Council and is due to be nominated as a Local 

Green Space in the next version of the neighbourhood plan. 

• Concern that local area has been identified by Leicestershire and Rutland 

Wildlife Trust as a zone for potential nature recovery. There are multiple assets 

in the area including Hursley Park, The James Adler Reserve, the River 

Welland, Grand Union Canal, Great Bowden Borrowpit SSSI, disused railway 

line, multiple footpaths and the recreation asset of Welham Lane. Concerned 

the proposed development would put this at risk. Outlined the Rewilding Great 

Bowden Leicestershire & Rutland Wildlife Trust Document. 

• Concern Harborough District Council and Leicestershire & Rutland Wildlife 

Trust have recently purchased 3 plots of land surrounding the proposed plant 

as part of a £1.8m rewilding plan for a green corridor also connecting the James 

Adler Nature Reserve, Hursley Park Country Park. 

• Concern that not all of the further recommended survey outlined within the 

preliminary ecological appraisal conducted by Archer Ecology (March 2023) 

had been completed/submitted.  

• Concern that potential impacts to the SSSI continue to be underestimated or 

incorrectly assessed.  

• Concern that the submitted Biodiversity Metric does not meet the 10% BNG 

target, and in fact the development would result in a 41.22% reduction in 

biodiversity at the site (taking account of habitats only, not species). 

• Concern that the Biodiversity Metric has been weighted inaccurately, and that 

the 41.22% loss reported could be higher. Hedgerows are described within as, 

203



"not appearing in local strategy/no local strategy", whereas hedgerows are 

identified as priority habitats in the Leicestershire & Rutland Biodiversity Action 

Plan dating from 2016. Noted Natural England’s advice is to use existing 

Biodiversity Action Plans for the local area in the absence of a completed Local 

Nature Recovery Strategy.  

Pollution  

• Concerns regarding the spillage of untreated materials on the approach roads, 

and on site being washed away into local waterways.  

Heritage and Conservation  

• Concern that the presence of nearby heritage assets and conservation area 

continues to be overlooked.  

Landscape and Visual Impacts  

• Concerns that the proposed development would be visible from nearby 

gardens.  

Pests 

• Concerned the current application does not adequately address how pests 

would be controlled. 

New residential development 

• Concern that Harborough District Council are currently looking to bring forward 

land within 500m of the proposed development for up to 100 homes. 

• Concern an application has been submitted which would place 8 homes almost 

directly adjacent to the proposed plant (ref: 25/00517/OUT). 

Conflict with National and Local Policy  

• Continued to outline conflicts with national and local policy.  

• Reference was made to a ‘Policy DM9: Health and Amenity’ of the LMWLP, 

whist this specific policy does not exist, health and amenity is considered by 

Policy DM2 which has been considered.  

• Reference was made to a ‘Policy DM8: Transportation by Road’ of the 

LMWLP, whilst this specific policy does not exist, transportation by road is 

considered by Policy DM9 which has been considered. 

Planning Conditions  

• Requested, if permitted, the following condition: “A monthly review of 

operations with the biogas plant operators, attended by representatives of the 

Environment Agency, Hursley Park residents, Great Bowden residents and 

the Parish council.”  

204



Other Considerations 

• Confusion raised in relation to the applicant’s response to the LLFA’s request 

for clarification of the arrangements for effluent discharge. The applicant’s 

response is, “There is no requirement for a treatment effluent discharge 

associated with the proposals. The process takes in water and generates 

product, with any digestate created being fed back into the system. As there 

are no by-products of the process, nothing leaves site, and this arrangement 

does not change.” Concern that, given the 40,000 tonnes of various inputs, plus 

water including effluent discharge, would be taken in by the site each year and 

that, “..nothing leaves site..” that “..digestate is fed back into the system..” and 

that “there are no by-products of the process”, there is concern this would lead 

to a large build-up of digestate at the site.   

• Concern those residents within 400m of the proposed site were not approached 

by the developer on a personal basis.  

• Questioned, if permitted, what would happen if the site was not appropriately 

managed? Concern that fines would not solve the potential issues caused.  

• Concern that, if permitted, conditions would not be complied with.  

• Concern the ‘re-submission’ was a deliberate tactic to sneak the application 

through the process and claim there was limited local objections. 

 

 

  

205



This page is intentionally left blank



THE TOWN AND COUNTRY PLANNING (ENVIRONMENTAL IMPACT ASSESSMENT) REGULATIONS
2017 SCREENING MATRIX

1. CASE DETAILS

Case
Reference

2023/CM/0053/LCC

Brief
description
of the
project / 
development

Proposed anaerobic digestion plant, associated infrastructure, 
lagoons, and feedstock clamps

Appellant

LPA Leicestershire County 
Council

2. EIA DETAILS

Is the project Schedule 1 development 
according to Schedule 1 of the EIA 
Regulations?

No

If YES, which description of development (THEN 
GO TO Q4)
Is the project Schedule 2 development under 
the EIA Regulations?

Yes

If YES, under which description of development 
in Column 1 and Column 2?

11b

Is the development within, partly within, or 
near a ‘sensitive area’ as defined by Regulation 
2 of the EIA Regulations?

No - The site is not located within a “sensitive area” in the 
context of the Town and Country Planning (Environmental 
Impact Assessment) Regulations 2017 (as amended), i.e. a 
SSSI, a National Park, the Norfolk Broads, a World Heritage 
Site, a Scheduled Monument, an Area of Outstanding Natural 
Beauty, or a European Site.

However, the site does lie within the SSSI Impact Risk Zone for 
the Great Bowden Borrowpit Biological SSSI (see here) as 
outlined below. The SSSI itself is approximately 650 meters to 
the west of the site. It is not considered that the proposed 
development would result in such significant impacts to the 
SSSI as to warrant EIA. There is potential for enrichment to 
soils within the SSSI via pollution to surface/ground waters but 
it is considered that sufficient mitigation measures could be put 
in place to ensure that the risks associated with this could be 
kept to a minimum.

If YES, which area? N/A

Are the applicable thresholds/criteria in 
Column 2 exceeded/met?

11(b) Installations for the disposal of waste (unless included in 
Schedule 1)

If yes, which applicable threshold/criteria? 11(b) (ii) The area of the development exceeds 0.5 hectare
11(b) (iii) the installation is to be sited within 100 meters of any
controlled waters.

3. LPA/SOS SCREENING

Has the LPA or SoS issued a Screening 
Opinion (SO) or Screening Direction (SD)? 
(In the case of Enforcement appeals, has a

N/A

Appendix D
207

https://designatedsites.naturalengland.org.uk/PDFsForWeb/Citation/1000080.pdf


Regulation 37 notice been issued)

If yes, is a copy of the SO/SD on the file?

If yes, is the SO/SD positive?

4. ENVIRONMENTAL STATEMENT

Has the appellant supplied an ES for the current No
or previous (if reserved matters or conditions)
application?

WHEN COMPLETING THIS DOCUMENT IN RELATION TO AN ENFORCEMENT APPEAL, THE
UNDERSIGNED OFFICER HAS HAD REGARD TO THE PROJECT AS ALLEGED IN THE RELEVANT 
ENFORCEMENT NOTICE WHEN REFERING TO THE PROJECT / DEVELOPMENT.

Page 1/8

208



A Screening Criteria Question B Response to the Screening Criteria
Question in Column A (Yes/No and 
explanation of reasons)

Briefly explain reasons and, if applicable and/or 
known, include name of feature(s) and proximity to 
site(s)

C Is a Significant Effect Likely?
(Yes/No and explanation of reasons (nb 
if the answer in Column B is ‘No’, 
Column C is not applicable))

Is a significant effect likely, having regard particularly 
to the magnitude and spatial extent (including 
population size affected), nature, intensity and 
complexity, probability, expected onset, duration, 
frequency and reversibility of the impact and the 
possibility to effectively reduce the impact?
If the finding of no significant effect is reliant on
specific features or measures of the project
envisaged to avoid, or prevent what might otherwise
have been, significant adverse effects on the
environment these should be identified in bold.

5. NATURAL RESOURCES

5.1 Will construction, operation or
decommissioning of the project involve
actions which will cause physical 
changes in the topography of the area?

Yes There is a digester tank proposed to be installed under 
the gas holder of which part will be below ground level 
(2.8m into the ground to be precise). Please see here 
for plan. Outside of this, there is nothing to indicate 
significant physical topographical changes as part of the 
proposal. There is, however, little information relating to 
the construction phase of the project which could have 
given further insight to potential topographic changes.

No It is not anticipated that the proposed topographical 
changes could be considered ‘significant’ in the context 
of the wider site to justify an Environmental Statement, 
especially as the topography has been considered 
within the design of the proposed development to 
ensure it is adequately screened.

5.2 Will construction or operation of
the project use natural resources above
or below ground such as land, soil,
water, materials/minerals or energy 
which are non-renewable or in short 
supply?

No The anaerobic digestion process will use feedstock 
consisting of 15,000 tonnes of maize, 9,000 tonnes of 
poultry manure and 16,000 tonnes of straw. Water is 
also used within the process; the exact amount required 
does not appear to be disclosed but the water will be 
sourced from surface water on the site stored within a 
surface water lagoon. However, these resources are 
renewable in nature and have local adequate supply.

No

5.3 Are there any areas on/around
the location which contain important,
high quality or scarce resources which
could be affected by the project, e.g.
forestry, agriculture, water/coastal,
fisheries, minerals?

Yes The development site lies within a Mineral Consultation
Area for sand and gravel.

The immediate surroundings in all directions are 
agricultural in nature.

No Due to the previous use of the site, including the
existing development on the western section and the
made ground on the eastern section, it is likely that the
pre-existing mineral has already been sterilised.

As part of the proposal, some of the residue straw and 
poultry manure will be sourced from the local farm 200

Page 2/
16

209

file:///C:/Users/ccookson/Downloads/1551-1_PL_GA02.pdf


meters away from the site enabling a mutually beneficial
cycle of local supply and demand.

As such, significant effects to these local resources are 
not anticipated.

6. WASTE

6.1 Will the project produce solid
wastes during construction or operation
or decommissioning?

Yes Construction- soils associated with the installation of
foundations and the digester tank.

Operation- At the end of the digestion process, a liquid 
digestate is formed, which consists of a liquid and solid 
fraction. The solid fraction is a fibrous material held in 
partial suspension that is separated from the liquid 
fraction via a screw press. It is compost-like in 
appearance and put back on the land where the 
feedstock is grown as an organic fertiliser and soil 
improver in a reciprocal arrangement with the maize 
producer.

No The waste generated during the construction phase
would be comparable to other development of a similar 
size and scale and is not considered significant.

Once operational, and in consideration of the stated 
annual throughput, it is unlikely that the proposed 
development would result in the production of a 
significant amount of solid waste. Moreover, the 
resultant solid digestate can be used on land as a 
fertiliser/soil improver.

Page 3/
16

A Screening Criteria Question B Response to the Screening Criteria
Question in Column A (Yes/No and
explanation of reasons)

C Is a Significant Effect Likely?
(Yes/No and explanation of reasons (nb 
if the answer in Column B is ‘No’, 
Column C is not applicable))

7. POLLUTION AND NUISANCES

7.1 Will the project release pollutants
or any hazardous, toxic or noxious 
substances to air?

Yes Potential associated pollutants include, but are not
limited to, carbon dioxide, ammonia and methane.

The combustion process can also generate trace 
amounts of air pollutants, including carbon monoxide 
(CO), nitrogen oxides (NOx), and sulfur dioxide (SO2).

However, the submitted qualitative odour assessment 
highlighted the main potential sources of air pollution as 
emissions from road transport using the local road 
network. With regard to odour, the main potential 
source of emissions will be associated with the loading 
of feedstock into the AD Plant. Odour impacts may also 
arise during the spreading of solid/liquid digestate on 
agricultural land.

Once operational, the AD plant has the potential to

No The carbon dioxide will be captured as part of the
production of biomethane through the installation and
use of a CO2 capture plant.

Furthermore, the submitted qualitative odour 
assessment states that, “the proposed development is 
not predicted to result in a traffic increase above the 
relevant criteria during construction or operation and 
therefore, no significant effects on air quality, as a result 
of traffic emissions, are anticipated at existing receptors.

The assessment results, based on a worse-case 
approach by applying the relevant Institute of Air Quality 
Management (IAQM) assessment method, concluded 
that the operation of the AD Plant is expected to have a 
negligible impact with regard to odour emissions. 
Impacts of these magnitudes would be considered to

210



generate bioaerosols from feedstocks, as well as during
the AD process.

have effects that are not significant, i.e., they would not
be a deciding factor in planning determination and
would not trigger the implementation of additional 
mitigation. It is concluded, therefore, that the odour 
emissions associated with the operation of the AD Plant 
are not considered to result in significant loss of amenity 
and consequently the resulting risk of potential odour 
complaints is negligible”.

Little information has been provided regarding the 
location of the land where the digestate may be spread, 
although it is noted that the suggested dispersed 
location of the land as well as the likely small volume of 
digestate produced, whilst such impacts could occur, 
they are unlikely to be so significant as to warrant the 
production of an EIA. Any impacts arising would also be 
capable of being mitigated through the appropriate 
choice of land away from residential properties and not 
spreading during inappropriate weather conditions

The report suggests that, “The Proposed Development 
is not predicted to result in any additional ammonia 
emissions in excess of the relevant assessment criteria 
at any of the sensitive ecological receptors within the 
relevant screening distances of the site, and therefore, 
will have a negligible impact at the closest designated
ecological site, which results in a not significant effect”.

The report also notes that agricultural odours, including 
those associated with livestock rearing, are likely to be 
an existing characteristic of the wider area.

Poorly managed feedstock areas and inappropriate 
management of the AD plant may have the potential to 
result in significant impacts associated with bioaerosols, 
particularly when proximity to other employments uses 
to the proposed site (within 250m). Noting the annual 
throughput and the potential for mitigation measures 
such as abatement systems on the AD plant and 
appropriate storage of feedstock, these are unlikely to 
be significant, although do require further assessment.

Thus, considering the above points, the potential 
impacts of noxious substances being released into the 
air are not likely to be significant enough to warrant an 
environmental statement.

Page 4/
16

211



7.2 Will the project cause noise and
vibration or release of light, heat, energy
or electromagnetic radiation?

Yes Whilst the AD process itself is quiet, there are noise-
generating processes involved in the production of the
gas. Various HGV movements, telehandler movements, 
mechanical services compressors, pumps, crop 
processing, combined heat and power units etc. are in 
use on the land to facilitate the production.

The construction phase of the development is likely to 
generate additional vehicle flows to and from the 
construction area. The use of machinery such as 
excavators and dumpers are also anticipated. This is 
likely to cause an increase in noise and vibration during 
this period.

No The results of the submitted noise assessment
demonstrated that the operation of the site will likely
generate a sound impact of around +5dB, which is an 
adverse impact in BS4142 terms, but is a less than 
significant adverse impact. As such, this magnitude of 
impact can be considered acceptable in BS4142:2014 
terms.

For context, the ‘British Standard 4142:2014’ is a 
method for rating and assessing industrial and 
commercial sound.

The applicant has also implemented a series of noise 
attenuation barriers to mitigate the potential of 
significant noise impacts near areas of concern.

Furthermore, the increase in vehicle movements and 
construction machinery would be temporary in nature.

Considering the context of the wider location, the 
proposal is situated within an largely
agricultural/industrial setting, with the nearest site of
residential developments being situated approximately
325 meters from the proposed development. This
property, along with the village of Great Bowden, is
buffered from the proposed development by the A6,
which will already be creating light and noise impacts at
a closer scale to these properties. The topography and
pre-existing vegetation of the local area also acts as a
natural screen for the proposed development.

7.3 Will the project lead to risks of
contamination of land or water from
releases of pollutants onto the ground or
into surface waters, groundwater,
coastal waters or the sea?

Yes It is noted that the growth of maize can cause excessive
amounts of soil run off. Furthermore, the spreading of
digestate on land can lead to a risk of nutrient
saturation whereby the excess nutrients can pollute
nearby water sources, changing the local ecology and
causing algal blooms. As such, there is also the
potential for enrichment to soils within the SSSI via
pollution to surface/ground waters.

The potential for plant failure/accidents does increase 
the risk of contamination. Please see chapter 8.1 for 
further information on the potential of accidents 
associated with this type of development.

No Whilst there is risk of pollutants being introduced to
various water and land sources, either through direct
impacts associated with the anaerobic digestion
process or indirect process associated with the growth
of maize and the placement of digestate on land; it is
considered that through appropriate planning conditions
in conjunction with suitable management measures
(such as adherence to the required Environmental
Permit and fertiliser standards as set out by DERFA),
the risk is considered to be low, and a significant effect
is considered unlikely. Furthermore, the liquid digestate
is proposed be stored within a covered lagoon when
spreading is not permitted.

Page 5/
16

212



 

7.4 Are there any areas on or around
the location which are already subject to 
pollution or environmental damage, e.g. 
where existing legal environmental 
standards are exceeded, which could be 
affected by the project?

Yes It appears that the eastern section of the site consists of
made ground, potentially from the old infrastructure
associated with the mushroom farm. There appears to 
be no information relating to the nature of such material 
or its depth. Furthermore, farms are a potential source 
of many forms of pollution that include fertilisers, 
asbestos, fuel oils, lubricants, and pesticides.

No After liaising with environmental health officers at
Harborough, it was decided that a land contamination
assessment could be submitted as part of pre-
commencement/ occupation conditions. Thus,
significant impact can be mitigated through the regular
planning process.

8. POPULATION AND HUMAN HEALTH

8.1 Will there be any risk of major
accidents (including those caused by
climate change, in accordance with
scientific knowledge) during 
construction, operation or 
decommissioning?

Yes Toxic spills are possible across the anaerobic
digestions process. The EA has tracked rising 
environmental incidents of serious pollution which can 
be caused by a range of manmade and mechanical 
faults. See here for the EA report.

Furthermore, as the proposed development works with 
highly combustible biogas, there are reported incidents 
of gas explosions at similar anerobic digestion facilities.

No Routine and diligent managing, operation and
maintenance procedures should mitigate the potential of 
such events occurring.

Regular and proper risk assessments in line with 
DSEAR should also mitigate the potential risk. Although 
this is the responsibility of the operator rather than the 
LPA.

8.2 Will the project present a risk to
the population (having regard to
population density) and their human
health during construction, operation or
decommissioning? (for example due to 
water contamination or air pollution)

Yes From increased vehicle movements associated with
construction and operation of the proposed 
development.

The potential of noxious air pollution resulting from the 
operation of the proposed facility such as ammonia and 
bioaerosols.

No Potential issues associated with vehicle movements can
be managed through the submission and 
implementation of a CEMP and draft travel plan. 
However, the submitted transport statement concludes 
that such issues should not be significant.

Furthermore, the submitted qualitative odour 
assessment found that the, “proposed development is 
not predicted to result in any additional ammonia 
emissions in excess of the relevant assessment criteria 
at any of the sensitive ecological receptors within the 
relevant screening distances of the site”.

Therefore, significant effects associated with this 
development are considered unlikely and manageable

Page 6/
16

213

https://consult.environment-agency.gov.uk/environmental-permitting/standard-rules-consultation-no-20/user_uploads/incidents-report--2010-2018--final.pdf


to an extent which does not warrant an environmental
statement.

A Screening Criteria Question B Response to the Screening Criteria
Question in Column A (Yes/No and 
explanation of reasons)

C Is a Significant Effect Likely?
(Yes/No and explanation of reasons (nb 
if the answer in Column B is ‘No’, 
Column C is not applicable))

9. WATER RESOURCES

9.1 Are there any water resources
including surface waters, e.g. rivers,
lakes/ponds, coastal or underground
waters on or around the location which 
could be affected by the project, 
particularly in terms of their volume and 
flood risk?

No There is a pond within the north eastern section of the 
proposed site boundary.

However, the site is located within Flood Zone 1 and 
has a low risk of flooding from rivers and the sea. The 
site is shown to be at a low risk of flooding from surface 
water, groundwater, sewers and artificial sources such 
as reservoirs.

It is proposed that all surface water will be captured and 
stored on site for use within the anaerobic digester 
plant. Any shortfall in required water volume relies on 
taking potable water from the mains. It is therefore 
essential to capture as much surface water onsite as 
possible, to reduce reliance on the water mains. There 
is no positive outfall from the site, as all surface water is 
fed into the AD process.

The harvesting of rainwater is critical for the AD plant to 
operate. As such, it is essential to keep the pipes 
flowing and the capacity of the whole system high. 
Therefore, there is a processing and financial incentive 
for the surface water drainage system to be kept highly 
maintained.

No

10. BIODIVERSITY (SPECIES AND HABITATS)

Page 7/
16

214



10.1 Are there any protected areas 
which are designated or classified for 
their terrestrial, avian and marine 
ecological value, or any non-designated
/ non-classified areas which are
important or sensitive for reasons of 
their terrestrial, avian and marine 
ecological value, located on or around 
the location and which could be affected 
by the project? (e.g. wetlands, 
watercourses or other water-bodies, the 
coastal zone, mountains, forests or 
woodlands, undesignated nature 
reserves or parks. (Where designated 
indicate level of designation 
(international, national, regional or 
local))).

Yes The proposed development lies within the Impact Risk
Zone for the Great Bowden Borrowpit SSSI which is
designated for its biological interest located
approximately 650 meters west from the site.

There are also 18 non-statutory designated nature 
conservation sites within a 2000-metre radius of the 
site.

No The submitted Preliminary Ecological Appraisal states,
“considering the localised nature of the works and wide
level of separation between the application site and the 
abovementioned SSSI, there is no mechanism identified 
for the works to result in direct impacts upon interest 
features forming this statutory designated site. 
However, depending on the predicted levels of 
ammonia release during the operation of the AD plant, 
these could incur indirect impacts upon biological 
interest features pertaining to this SSSI. Subsequently, 
nationally designated sites are considered potential 
receptors with respect to the proposed development”.

However, the submitted qualitative odour assessment 
found that the “proposed development is not predicted 
to result in any additional ammonia emissions in excess 
of the relevant assessment criteria at any of the 
sensitive ecological receptors within the relevant 
screening distances of the Site, and therefore, will have 
a negligible impact at the closest designated ecological 
site, which results in a not significant effect”.

The above response is also pertinent for the non- 
statutory designated nature conservation sites.

Furthermore, suitable management measures through 
the requirement of an Environmental Permit means 
there is a low risk of enrichment of the poor-quality soils 
in case of leakage/polluted surface water run-off and a
significant effect is considered unlikely.

10.2 Could any protected, important or 
sensitive species of flora or fauna which 
use areas on or around the site, e.g. for 
breeding, nesting, foraging, resting, 
over-wintering, or migration, be affected 
by the project?

Yes The submitted Preliminary Ecological Appraisal
identifies a range of fauna such as: amphibians,
reptiles, birds, bats (roosting and foraging) and
badgers.

The Preliminary Ecological Appraisal did not identify 
any habitats of significant value to nature conservation 
(on a county, regional or national scale) within the 
footprint of the works. The habitats identified were 
appraised as having either ‘negligible’, ‘low’ or 
‘moderate’ nature conservation value on a site of local 
scale. The report, however, did identify that
measures should be employed to appropriately
safeguard existing hedgerows and retain trees 
established on the application site.

No There are a number of measures that are
recommended within the Preliminary Ecological
Appraisal which can be conditioned including further 
surveys. Thus, it is unlikely for there to be significant 
impacts which are unable be mitigated through the 
regular planning process.

Page 8/
16

215



A Screening Criteria Question B Response to the Screening Criteria
Question in Column A (Yes/No and
explanation of reasons)

C Is a Significant Effect Likely?
(Yes/No and explanation of reasons (nb 
if the answer in Column B is ‘No’, 
Column C is not applicable))

11. LANDSCAPE AND VISUAL

11.1 Are there any areas or
features on or around the location which 
are protected for their landscape and 
scenic value, and/or any non-designated
/ non-classified areas or features of high 
landscape or scenic value on or around 
the location which could be affected by 
the project?1 Where designated indicate 
level of designation (international, 
national, regional or local).

Yes At a national level, the site lies within Natural England’s
National Character Area (NCA) 94, Leicestershire
Vales. At a regional level, the application site and its 
immediate surroundings fall into Group 3, River Valley 
Floodplains, more specifically into 3A, Floodplain 
Valleys landscape character type. At the local level it is 
possible to determine that the application site clearly 
falls within the Welland Valley Landscape Character 
Area as identified in the Harborough District Landscape 
Character Assessment, 2007.

No The character of the application site and the immediate
surroundings currently is one of dereliction and
abandonment in an area of existing agricultural/ 
industrial development. It can be argued that the current 
condition of the site detracts from the wider open 
countryside setting. As such, it is considered that the 
landscape character of the site has capacity to 
accommodate sensitively designed development and 
that the susceptibility of the landscape
resource to change is considered to be low. The typical 
value of the landscape character of the site is concluded 
to be low.

11.2 Is the project in a location
where it is likely to be highly visible to
many people? (If so, from where, what 
direction, and what distance?)

No It was concluded from the baseline visual assessment
(referenced within the submitted landscape and visual
statement) that views from the wider setting in a 
northerly and north westerly direction from the south, 
from a south westerly direction north of Welham Bush 
Poultry Farm, and longer distance views in excess of 
3km from the north are screened by topography and 
existing vegetation.

It also suggested that the application site has a sense 
of enclosure with restricted views out and limited 
intervisibility. Views of the area of proposed 
development are largely restricted to occasional 
glimpses from a limited number of locations. 
Regardless, such built form is barely distinguishable 
and is perceived as part of other

No

Page 9/
16

216



development in the local area, partially screened by
intervening vegetation. From the majority of the
viewpoint locations, elements such as overhead
electricity cables, telegraph poles, pylons and highway
signage form not insignificant detractors in the view.

Furthermore, new native tree and hedgerow planting 
designed to reflect the distinctive local landscape 
character of the area is proposed on the existing site 
boundaries, the details of which can be secured through 
an appropriately worded condition.

12. CULTURAL HERITAGE/ARCHAEOLOGY

12.1 Are there any areas or features 
which are protected for their cultural 
heritage or archaeological value, or any 
non-designated / classified areas and/or 
features of cultural heritage or 
archaeological importance on or around 
the location which could be affected by 
the project (including potential impacts 
on setting, and views to, from and 
within)? Where designated indicate level 
of designation (international, national, 
regional or local).

Yes The Planning Design and Access Statement reads, “a 
consultation has been carried out with Leicestershire 
County Council which has indicated that post- 
determination archaeological evaluation will be 
required”. However, this can be considered and 
managed during the application process.

The closest listed building is located approximately 560 
meters southwest of the site and is screened by the
pre-existing vegetation and topography. Thus, the 
proposal is not anticipated to impact the setting of the 
heritage asset.

No These are normal planning related issues of local 
significance and not large enough to warrant an 
Environmental Statement. Further surveys will be 
carried out in consultation with LCC Archeology.

1  See question 8.1 for consideration of impacts on heritage designations and receptors, including on views to, within and from designated areas.

Page 10/
16

217



A Screening Criteria Question B Response to the Screening Criteria
Question in Column A (Yes/No and 
explanation of reasons)

C Is a Significant Effect Likely?
(Yes/No and explanation of reasons (nb 
if the answer in Column B is ‘No’, 
Column C is not applicable))

13. TRANSPORT AND ACCESS

13.1 Are there any routes on or 
around the location which are used by 
the public for access to recreation or 
other facilities, which could be affected 
by the project?

No No public right of ways directly impact the site. No
public facilities are located in close proximity to the site
as the surrounding area is made up of private 
agricultural facilities.

No

13.2 Are there any transport routes on 
or around the location which are 
susceptible to congestion or which cause 
environmental problems, which could be 
affected by the project?

Yes The scheme would generate additional heavy goods
vehicle (HGV) trips on Welham Road, all of which would
reach the site using the A6 to the south. HGVs would 
not use Welham Road to the north of the site or through 
Great Bowden village to the south.

No The submitted Transport Statement found, “the volume
of HGV traffic generated throughout a typical day and
during the peak 30-days of the development’s annual 
operation cycle are not expected to result in any 
material increase in conflicts between vehicles travelling 
along Welham Road”.

“The development would not employ significant 
additional staff and would not receive regular visitors. 
Light vehicle traffic generation would therefore be 
negligible”.

“On this basis, there would be no adverse impact on the 
operation of the narrow section of Welham Road 
between the A6 link road and the site access”.

“There is no evidence of any road safety problems in 
the vicinity of the site or its access”.

Further consultation will be undertaken with LCC 
Highways and it is considered that potential issues 
associated can be managed through the submission of 
a CEMP, draft travel plan, and any additional 
information at LCC Highways request. Compliance can 
be assured through their associated conditions.

14. LAND USE

Page 11/
16

218



14.1 Are there existing land uses or 
community facilities on or around the 
location which could be affected by the 
project? E.g. housing, densely populated 
areas, industry / commerce,
farm/agricultural holdings, forestry, 
tourism, mining, quarrying, facilities 
relating to health, education, places of 
worship, leisure /sports / recreation.

Yes Immediate land uses in all directions comprise,
agricultural and industrial uses, with the nearest site of
residential development being located approximately
325 meters south-west from the proposed development.

No See previous sections including Pollution and
Nuisances, Population and Human Health, Landscape
and Visual, and Transport and Access for relevant 
consideration of significant impacts. For reasons 
already highlighted within this matrix, the impacts on 
such are not considered to be significant enough to 
warren the request of an EIA.

14.2 Are there any plans for future 
land uses on or around the location 
which could be affected by the project?

No Not that LCC are aware of where potential significant 
impacts have not already been considered within this 
report.

No

15. LAND STABILITY AND CLIMATE

15.1 Is the location susceptible to 
earthquakes, subsidence, landslides, 
erosion, or extreme /adverse climatic 
conditions, e.g. temperature inversions, 
fogs, severe winds, which could cause 
the project to present environmental 
problems?

No None which are currently known. No

A Screening Criteria Question B Response to the Screening Criteria
Question in Column A (Yes/No and
explanation of reasons)

C Is a Significant Effect Likely?
(Yes/No and explanation of reasons (nb 
if the answer in Column B is ‘No’, 
Column C is not applicable))

16. CUMULATIVE EFFECTS

16.1 Could this project together with 
existing and/or approved development 
result in cumulation of impacts together 
during the construction/operation phase?

No Based on the information provided, it is unlikely that
potential impacts associated with the proposed
development would be so substantial, either singly or in 
combination, as to warrant EIA. Furthermore, those 
impacts that do arise would be capable of being 
mitigated or reduced through the imposition of 
conditions or through other regulatory regimes.

No

17. TRANSBOUNDARY EFFECTS

17.1 Is the project likely to lead to 
transboundary effects?2

No No

Page 12/
16

219



2 The Regulations require consideration of the transboundary nature of the impact. Due to the England’s geographical location the vast majority of TCPA cases are unlikely 
to result in transboundary impacts.

Page 13/
16

220



18. CONCLUSIONS – ACCORDING TO EIA REGULATIONS SCHEDULE 3

To conclude, there is potential for the proposed development to have impacts for example in form of pollution and
nuisances, population and human health, and transport and access. However, based on the information provided, it is
considered unlikely that such impacts would be so substantial, directly and/ or indirectly, to warrant the submission of an 
EIA. Furthermore, these impacts can be suitably mitigated through the regular planning process including conditions, and 
appropriate management procedures through the relevant permits. Moreover, the indicative thresholds for Schedule 2 
development under 11(b) (found here) are, “Installations (including landfill sites) for the deposit, recovery and/or disposal 
of household, industrial and/or commercial wastes where new capacity is created to hold more than 50,000 tonnes per 
year, or to hold waste on a site of 10 hectares or more. Sites taking smaller quantities of these wastes, sites seeking only 
to accept inert wastes (demolition rubble etc.) or Civic Amenity sites, are unlikely to require Environmental Impact 
Assessment”. The proposed development would take approximately 40,000 tonnes of waste annually on a site of 3.48 
hectares which is below the indicative thresholds outlined.

19. SCREENING DECISION

If a SO/SD has been provided do you agree 
with it?

N/A

Is it necessary to issue a SD? N/A

Is an ES required? No

20. ASSESSMENT (EIA REGS SCHEDULE 2
DEVELOPMENT) OUTCOME

Is likely to have significant effects on the 
environment ES required

N/A

Not likely to have significant effects on the 
environment ES not required

*

More information is required to inform 
direction Request further info

N/A

21. REASON FOR SCREENING

As part of the planning process after submission of the application.

Name: Charlie Cookson 

Date: 09/01/24

NAME

DATE

221

https://assets.publishing.service.gov.uk/media/5a75aa4440f0b67f59fcea7e/eia-thresholds-table.pdf


Page 8/8

222



 

 
DEVELOPMENT CONTROL AND REGULATORY BOARD 

 
7 August 2025 

 
REPORT OF THE CHIEF EXECUTIVE 

 
COUNTY MATTER 

 
PART A – SUMMARY REPORT 

APP.NO. & DATE: 2025/00719/07 (2025/VOCM/0061/LCC) 

DATE OF VALIDATION:  1 May 2025 

PROPOSAL:  Variation of condition 57 of Planning Permission 

2023/0032/07 (Variation of conditions 4, 17, 63 and 64 of 

Planning Permission 2010/0076/07 to reprofile the 

northern landform amenity bund and northern landform; to 

rationalise landscape, restoration and aftercare; and 

submit an interim restoration scheme) to amend the 

operating hours of the wash plant from 0600-2200 to 24/7 

operation. 

LOCATION: Bardon Quarry, Bardon Road, Coalville. Leicestershire, 

LE67 1TL 

MAIN ISSUES:  Noise impacts 

APPLICANT: Holcim UK Limited 

RECOMMENDATION: Approve application, subject to conditions 

 

Circulation Under Local Issues Alert Procedure 

Mr C. Whitford CC, Mr. J. Boam CC and Mr. P. Harrison CC 

Officer to Contact 

Rob Tollyfield (0116 305 2733) 

Email:  planningcontrol@leics.gov.uk  

223 Agenda Item 9

mailto:planningcontrol@leics.gov.uk


 

PART B – MAIN REPORT 
 

The Site and Surroundings 

1. The application site comprises the long-established Bardon Quarry site which has seen 

extraction operations occurring for many years. Active parts of the site comprise the 

25-hectare granite extraction and processing complex to the south-east of Coalville, 

west of the M1 motorway.  

 

 
Figure 1. Location Plan 

   

         

2. The complex is bound to the southwest by the A511. The residential areas of Bardon 

and Greenhill are located to the northwest of the site beyond wooded perimeter bunds 

and along the A511. The Bardon Hill industrial area is to the southwest. Open farmland 

interspersed with isolated dwellings, businesses and small settlements surrounds the 

site to the east.   

3. The complex comprises two large quarry voids, one undergoing backfilling operations 

(the western void) and one actively being extracted together with an extensive mineral 

processing area accessed from the A511 (the western void). Internal haul roads and 

conveyor systems connect different parts of the site, which are intersected by restored 

landforms, areas of woodland, and agricultural land and buildings. The applicant’s 

national head offices are also located within the wider complex, but separate from the 

operational areas, and accessed via Bardon Drive from Whitwick Road to the west. 

4. The wash plant, which forms the basis of this application, is associated with the 

production of asphalt on the site and sits adjacent to the asphalt plant, which is 

permitted to operate 24 hours a day. The wash plant sits within a cluster of ancillary 

processing plants. 

224



 

 
Figure 2. Location of the Wash Plant within the Quarry 

 

Background & Planning History 

5. Mineral working at Bardon Hill Quarry was first permitted in 1947 but references to 

mineral working go back several centuries. The 1947 permission was extended in 

1957, 1981 and 1989. These permissions were then consolidated into a single 

planning permission in 2006 under a Review of Old Mineral Permissions (ROMP). The 

following are the most relevant permissions to the proposal currently under 

consideration: 

 

6. 2010/0076/07 is the principal planning permission for all extraction, processing and 

restoration operations at Bardon Hill Quarry, including the two asphalt plants. 

 
7. 2014/0840/07 permits the use of land for the importation, processing, reuse and 

storage of reclaimed bituminous products for use in the asphalt plants at Bardon Hill 

Quarry, Coalville 

8. 2017/0098/07 proposed alternative overland aggregate and overburden conveyor to 

that previously approved under planning permission 2010/0076/07 and was granted in 

May 2017.  

9. 2023/0032/07 varied four conditions of the 2010 permission related to moving material 

to the northern landform, with associated alterations to the landscaping and restoration 

schemes. 

225



 

10. 2023/01698/07 permits an increase in the annual throughput of imported reclaimed 

bituminous product. 

Description of Proposal 

11. The application seeks to vary condition 57 of planning permission 2023/0032/07, to 

change the operating hours of the wash plant from 6am-10pm to 24-hour operation. 

The proposal does not alter the fundamental nature of the original planning permission, 

and no additional structures are proposed. 

12. The applicant states that the change is required to improve efficiency in the production 

of suitable aggregate for the asphalt plant. 

13. Condition 57 of planning permission 2023/0032/07 controls hours of operation at the 

site. it states that, the development shall only take place in accordance with the 

following hours: 

 

Operations Permitted Hours 

 
Monday to 
Saturday 

Sundays, Public 
& Bank Holidays 

• The extraction, primary crushing 

and internal movement of stone 
from within the new and previously 
permitted extraction areas; 

 

07:00 to 22:00 None 

• The use of the secondary and 
tertiary aggregate processing 

plants; 

• The despatch of aggregate and 

concrete products; 

• The use of the aggregate and 
concrete product stocking areas; 

 

06:00 to 22:00 None 

• Emergency works; 

• Maintenance and repair of plant and 

machinery; 

• Essential pumping; 

• The use of the asphalt plants and 
despatch of products; 

• The manufacture of concrete 
products; 

• The loading, movement and 
servicing of trains. 

 

Any Time 

 

Reason: To protect the amenities of local residents and in the interests of the 
local environment. 

14. It is proposed that planning condition 57 is amended to read (amended text shown in 

bold): 

226



 

Operations Permitted Hours 

 
Monday to 

Saturday 

Sundays, Public 

& Bank Holidays 

• The extraction, primary crushing 
and internal movement of stone 
from within the new and previously 

permitted extraction areas; 
 

07:00 to 22:00 None 

• The use of the secondary and 

tertiary aggregate processing 
plants; 

• The despatch of aggregate and 
concrete products; 

• The use of the aggregate and 

concrete product stocking areas; 
 

06:00 to 22:00 None 

• Emergency works; 

• Maintenance and repair of plant and 
machinery; 

• Essential pumping; 

• The use of the asphalt plants and 

despatch of products; 

• The use of the aggregate wash 

plant 

• The manufacture of concrete 
products; 

• The loading, movement and 
servicing of trains. 

 

Any Time 

Reason: To protect the amenities of local residents and in the interests of the 
local environment. 

Planning Policy 
 

The Development Plan 

 
15. Leicestershire Minerals and Waste Local Plan (adopted September 2019): 

 

• Policy DM1 Sustainable Development 

• Policy DM2 Local Environment and Community Protection 

• Policy DM5 Landscape Impact 

• Policy DM9 Transport by Road 

• Policy DM11 Cumulative Impact  
 

16. North West Leicestershire Local Plan (adopted November 2017): 
 

• Policy D2 Amenity 

• Policy En6 Land and Air Quality 

 
17. Hinckley & Bosworth Core Strategy (adopted December 2009) 

 

227



 

• Policy 21 National Forest 
 

18. Hinckley & Bosworth Site Allocations and Development Management Policies DPD 
(adopted July 2016) 
 

• Policy DM1 Presumption in Favour of Sustainable Development 

• Policy DM7 Preventing Pollution and Flooding 

• Policy DM17  Highways and Transportation 

National Policy  

National Planning Policy Framework (December 2024) (NPPF) 

19. The NPPF sets out the Government’s planning policies for England and is a material 

consideration in planning decisions. 

20. The NPPF advocates a presumption in favour of sustainable development at 

paragraph 11, and for decision-taking this means:  

c) approving development proposals that accord with an up-to-date  

 development plan without delay; or 

d)  where there are no relevant development plan policies, or the policies 

 which are most important for determining the application are out-of-date, 

 granting permission unless: 

i. the application of policies in the NPPF that protect areas or 

assets of particular importance provides a clear reason for 

refusing the development proposed; or 

ii. any adverse impacts of doing so would significantly and 

demonstrably outweigh the benefits, when assessed against 

NPPF policies, having particular regard to key policies for 

directing development to sustainable locations, making effective 

use of land, securing well-designed places and providing 

affordable homes, individually or in combination 

21. Section 17 of the NPPF facilitates the sustainable use of minerals. It is essential that 

there is a sufficient supply of minerals to provide the infrastructure, buildings and 

energy and goods that the Country needs. Since minerals are a finite natural resource, 

and can only be worked where they are found, best use needs to be made of them to 

secure their long-term conservation. 

National Guidance 

22. The Noise Policy Statement for England (NPSE) was published in March 2010. It 

specifies the following long-term vision in policy aims: “Through the effective 

management and control of environmental, neighbour and neighbourhood noise within 

the context of Government policy on sustainable development: 

 

228



 

• Avoid significant adverse impacts on health and quality of life; 

• Mitigate and minimise adverse impacts on health and quality of life; and 

• Where possible, contribute to the improvement of health and quality of life.” 

 

23. Planning Practice Guidance (PPG) states that noise needs to be considered when 

development may create additional noise or would be sensitive to the prevailing 

acoustic environment. For decision making, there is a need to take account of the 

acoustic environment and in doing so consider: 

  

• whether or not a significant adverse effect is occurring or likely to occur; 

• whether or not an adverse effect is occurring or likely to occur; and 

• whether or not a good standard of amenity can be achieved. 

This includes identifying whether the overall noise exposure is/would be above or 

below the significant observed adverse effect level and the lowest observed adverse 

effect level for the given situation. PPG & NPSE identify three observed effect levels: 

• Significant observed adverse effect level (SOAEL): This is the level of noise 

exposure above which significant adverse effects on health and quality of life 

occur. 

• Lowest observed adverse effect level (LOAEL): this is the level of noise 

exposure above which adverse effects on health and quality of life can be 

detected. 

• No observed effect level (NOEL): this is the level of noise exposure below 

which no effect at all on health or quality of life can be detected. 

The NPSE does note that it is not possible to have a single objective noise-based 

measure that defines SOAEL that is applicable to all sources of noise in all situations. 

Consequently, the SOAEL is likely to be different for different noise sources, for 

different receptors and at different times. As such, a consideration of cumulative 

impacts is necessary to determine if development will reach the SOAEL threshold. 

Other Policy Considerations 
 

24. North West Leicestershire District Council is in the process of preparing a new Local 

Plan, which is subject to a public consultation under Regulation 18 of the Town and 

Country Planning (Local Development) (England) Regulations 2012. The public 

consultation period closed on 17th March 2024. A further consultation on additional 

housing and employment sites concluded on 2nd May 2025. 

 

The following policies are considered relevant to this application: 

• Policy AP2 Amenity 

• Policy IF5 Transport Infrastructure and New Development 

 

25. As the emerging Local Plan is at the Regulation 18 stage, the polices listed above 

are afforded limited weight in the determination of this application. 

229



 

Consultations 

26. North West Leicestershire District Council Planning – No objections.  

27. North West Leicestershire District Council Environmental Health – No 

comments received as of 22/7/25 

28. Hinckley & Bosworth Borough Council Planning – No objections 

29. Hinckley & Bosworth Borough Council Environmental Health – No objections. 

30. Lead Local Flood Authority (Leicestershire County Council) – No comments.  

31. Highways Authority (Leicestershire County Council) – No comments. 

32. Environment Agency – no objection. 

33. Markfield Parish Council – no response received. 

34. Charley Parish Council – no response received. 

35. Ellistown and Battleflat Parish Council – no response received. 

 
36. Mr C. Whitford CC, Mr J. Boam CC and Mr P. Harrison CC – Have been notified of 

the application.  

 
Publicity and Representations 

 
37. The application has been publicised by means of neighbour notification letters, a site 

notice and press notice, in accordance with the Council’s adopted Statement of 

Community Involvement. 

38. Fifteen representations, all objecting to the proposal, have been received. The issues 

raised include: 

• Increased noise disturbance from the wash plant operating 24/7; 

• Associated noise and increased dust from vehicle movements; 

• Detrimental dust arisings from the quarry operations being exacerbated by 

the increase in operating hours of the wash plant. 

39. A representation was made which stated that the proposal would have a negative effect 

on the value of the objector’s home. The impact of development on property values is 

not a material planning consideration and therefore cannot from part of any 

assessment of this application. 

40. Other representations made reference to the re-profiling of the northern landform. It 

should be noted that this was a result of an incorrect description of development in the 

first batch of neighbour letters sent to residents. This error was swiftly rectified and new 

letters – with the correct description of development – were sent out shortly afterwards. 

230



 

Assessment of Proposal 

Principle of Development  

41. This application seeks to amend condition 57 of planning permission 2023/0032/07 to 

enable the existing wash plant to operate 24 hours a day, seven days a week.   

Because the proposal relates to variations to an existing, extant, mining permission 

and is contained within the footprint of that permission, in principle, the development is 

considered to accord with the development plan in terms of land use. Environmental 

impacts associated with the proposed amendment are set out below.  

 

Noise, Dust and Amenity 

42. The main issue to consider in respect of the proposed operation of the wash plant 24/7 

is the potential for a detrimental increase in noise disturbance to nearby receptors. The 

applicant has submitted a noise report – ref. R25.12379/1/AP – which concludes that 

the wash plant makes minimal contribution to the overall noise levels produced from 

the site operations and that continuous operation would not have a significant impact. 

43. The operation of the wash plant on a continuous basis can be accommodated within 

the approved noise levels for the whole site without making a significant nor detrimental 

contribution to overall nighttime noise levels.  

44. The site is subject to planning controls on noise and dust, with the applicant submitting 

regular reports to this Council, in its role as Mineral Planning Authority (MPA). This 

process would continue throughout the operational timeframe of the quarry and would 

allow the applicant to take appropriate action should any exceedances in noise levels 

occur. 

45. In terms of dust arising from the operation of the wash plant, the continuous operation 

would likely generate dust from the washing of material. However, the site has 

measures in place to control dust arisings – such as water sprays and bowsers to 

mitigate dust generation from operational activity – as part of the wider site 

Environmental Management Plan and it is considered that the 24/7 operation of the 

wash plant can be monitored under the existing approved plan. 

46. From the dust report submitted to the MPA – which covers the period of 1 January 

2025 to 30 June 2025 – the site has had 22 exceedances of PM10 particles, with 9 

likely to have been directly caused by the quarry operations. Other occurrences of high 

PM10 levels could be attributed to wider environmental factors and dust unsuspended 

from the nearby A511. The number of exceedances from the quarry since 2018 are as 

follows: 

Year No. Daily Exceedances 

2018 19 

2019 14 

2020 26 

2021 29 

2022 44 

231



 

2023 29 

2024 27 

Condition 47 limits the number of exceedances in a calendar year to 35; with the 

exception of 2022, the site has operated this limit and therefore in compliance with the 

requirements of condition 47. 

47. Dust monitoring is an ongoing process at the site, as part of the principal permission 

and it is considered that any potential increase in dust arisings can be appropriately 

managed within existing planning controls. North West Leicestershire Environmental 

Health have been consulted on the application and have not – as of 22 July – made 

any comments relating to the environmental impacts of the proposal. 

48. Representations from local residents are noted however, as the proposal can be 

undertaken within existing controls and is subject to ongoing monitoring to address any 

amenity issues, there is not any justification for the refusal of the application on the 

grounds of noise, dust or amenity impacts.  

 
Traffic, Access and Parking 
 

49. The proposed increase in operating hours is not expected to result in an increase in 

vehicle movements either within the operations area or to and from the site. 

Additionally, total HGV movements associated with the site operations would remain 

within the limits set out in condition 15. The Highway Authority have no objections to 

the proposal, and it is considered to comply with policies DM9 and DM10. 

 
Conclusion 

50. The application seeks to vary condition 57 of planning permission ref. 2023/0032/07 to 

operate the wash plant on a 24/7 basis. The proposed continuous operation of the 

wash plant at Bardon Hill Quarry is considered acceptable in principle, as it remains 

within the existing site boundary and accords with existing planning permissions. The 

supporting information submitted with the application indicates that the 24/7 operation 

will not result in significant increases in noise or dust levels, and existing environmental 

controls and monitoring mechanisms are deemed sufficient to manage any potential 

impacts. Traffic and access arrangements remain unchanged, with no expected 

increase in vehicle movements. While local concerns have been acknowledged, the 

proposal aligns with relevant planning policies and does not present sufficient grounds 

for refusal. 

Statement of Positive and Proactive Engagement 

51. In determining this application, the Mineral Planning Authority has worked positively 

and proactively with the applicant by assessing the proposals against relevant 

Development Plan policies, all material considerations and consultation responses. 

This approach has been in accordance with the requirement set out in the National 

Planning Policy Framework. 

232



 

Recommendation 

52. PERMIT subject to the conditions set out in Appendix A attached to the bottom 

of this report.  

Officer to Contact  

Rob Tollyfield (0116 305 2733) 

Email:  planningcontrol@leics.gov.uk  
 

233

mailto:planningcontrol@leics.gov.uk


This page is intentionally left blank



 

 
 

Conditions   

1. This permission shall relate only to the extraction of mineral from an area adjacent to 

Bardon Hill Quarry, to the use of the overlying clay/overburden to complete the eastern 

tip (18), the creation of perimeter landscaped embankments & the partial infilling of the 

current quarry, to the linking of the new operation to the existing operation and 

associated businesses using conveyors within the land edged red on Drawing No. 

BHE‐SS/002. 

Reason: For the avoidance of doubt. 

2. The winning and working of minerals shall only take place within the previously 
permitted (current) extraction limit and the new extraction area as defined by a light 

blue line and a purple line respectively on Drawing No. BHE‐SS/005 Revision A. 

Reason: For the avoidance of doubt and to ensure that mineral extraction is confined 
to the permitted areas. 

3. No operations other than agreed conservation management undertakings shall be 

carried out within the Bardon Hill SSSI shown edged green on Drawing No. BHESS/ 
005 Revision A. 

Reason: For the avoidance of doubt and to ensure that the Bardon Hill SSSI is 
safeguarded. 

4. Unless otherwise required by this permission the development shall be carried out in 

accordance with the following details: 
 

(a) the planning applications references 2010/0076/07 & 2010/0041/04 and 

accompanying environmental statement; 

(b) the accompanying drawings; 

(c) letter dated 25th May 2010 and supplementary information from the 

applicant; 

(d) letter dated 9th December 2010 and supplementary information from the 

applicant; 

(e) NMA Letter dated 21st April 2017 and drawing 23BX1‐AIUKGA01‐ 

0000000‐034 and approval letter dated 4th May 2017 

(f) Water Storage Tank Letter dated 26th June 2019 and drawing No. 23BX1‐

AIUK‐TS02‐0000000‐0084 as approved on 7th August 2019. 

(g) Scalping screen and conveyor – Letter dated 8th Feb 2021 and drawing 

E7408‐001 and 7028‐013 as approved 19th March 2021 

(h) Railway Siding Cabin – Letter dated 28th Jan 2021 and drawing GF0015 as 

approved on 24th March 2021 

APPENDIX A 

235



 

(i) Electric Substation – Letter dated 20th March 2017, 5th June 2017 and 

drawing no. 23BX1‐AIUK_GA01‐00000000‐0060 Rev A as approved on 

14th July 2017 

(j) Fuel Tank – Letter dated 12th April 2018 and drawing No. 23BX1‐AIUK‐ 

SS10‐0000000‐0001 Rev 1 as approved on 20th August 2018 

(k) Volumetric Ready‐Mix Business – letter dated 4th January 2017 plan ref; 

1000/01/17/VB/2 as approved on the 3rd Feb 2017 

(l) New laboratory building and weighbridge – Letter dated 19th October 2016 

and email dated 25th October 2016, plan 1336011‐PD‐99‐DWG‐140‐001 

D0, Letter dated 2th Jan 2017 and email dated 15th Feb 2017 as approved 

in letter dated 26th October 2016 and Letter dated 15th Feb 2017 

(m) Welfare Unit School House – Letter dated 8th Feb 2019 and plan ref 

1336011‐PD‐99‐DWG‐140‐001 D1 as approved letter dated 19th Feb 2019. 

(n) Modular Welfare Buildings – Letter dated 20th March 2017 as approved 4th 

May 2017; Letter dated 29th June 2017, 23BX1‐AIUK‐TS02‐00000000‐

0007 as approved 10th July 2017; Letter dated 18th Jan 2020 as approved 

1st April 2021 and 19th August 2021 

(o) C2 Compound Offices ‐ Letter dated 20th March 2017 as approved 4th May 

2017; Letter dated 29th June 2017, 23BX1‐ AIUK‐TS02‐00000000‐0007 as 

approved 10th July 2017; Letter dated 18th Jan 2020 as approved 1st April 

2021. 

(p) Sections Through Northern Landform Restoration 23BX1-AIUK-GA01-

0000000-0142_B NLF sections-A1 dated 18th August 2022 

Reason: For the avoidance of doubt and to ensure that the development is carried out 

in a satisfactory manner. 

5. A copy of this permission, the plans and documents referred to in condition no. 4 
above, including any other plans and documents subsequently approved in 

accordance with any condition of this permission, shall be kept available on site for the 
duration of the development. 

Reason: For the avoidance of doubt. 

6. The development hereby permitted shall be implemented in accordance with the 
following details: 

 
(a) the winning and working of minerals, the processing and despatch of stone 

(including coated roadstone materials) and all associated activities at the 

existing quarry from the date of this permission; 

(b) the manufacture, storage and despatch of products at the concrete products 

factory from the date of this permission; 

(c) the stripping of soils and overburden from the new extraction area and the 

area of the new landforms, the placement of overburden on Tip18, and all 

other Year 1 works detailed on drawing No. BHE-SS/011A within 5 years 

from the date of this permission; 

(d) the winning and working of minerals from the new extraction area within 10 

years from the date of this permission (with the exception of the removal of 

rock head deposits during overburden removal) and not until 2017 or the 

236



 

completion of construction works for the new landforms including all soiling 

operations and footpath works in accordance with the details shown on 

Drawing No. SLP27A whichever is the sooner. 

Reason: To comply with the requirements of Section 91 of the Town and Country 

Planning Act, 1990 as amended by Section 51 of the Planning and Compulsory 
Purchase Act 2004. 

7. The development hereby permitted shall be undertaken in accordance with the 

Construction and Environmental Management Plan for biodiversity (CEMP: 

Biodiversity) - Ref. 23-001 (dated 21 July 2023) - as approved by the Mineral Planning 

Authority on 9 January 2024 (Application Ref.2023/0032/07/CS/07). The approved 

CEMP shall be adhered to and implemented throughout the construction period strictly 

in accordance with the approved details. 

Reason: To minimise the adverse impact of the operations on ecological interests, in 

accordance with policies DM1, DM2 and DM7 of the Leicestershire Minerals and 
Waste Local Plan (LMWLP), policy En1 of the North West Leicestershire Local Plan 

(NWLLP) and paragraph 193 of the National Planning Policy Framework (NPPF) 
(December 2024). 

8. This permission shall be for a limited period expiring on 31/12/2051 when the 

development hereby permitted shall cease and any building(s) and works carried out 
under this permission removed and the land reinstated in accordance with restoration 

details approved under conditions nos. 65 and 66. 

Reason: To provide for the completion and restoration of the site within the approved 
timescale, in accordance with policies DM1 and DM12 of the LMWLP. 

9. Apart from the delivery of plant and machinery to the new extraction area HGV entry 

to and exit from the site shall be only by means of the existing quarry access off the 

A511 Bardon Road. 

Reason: To ensure the site is accessed with due regard to highway safety and the 

local environment, in accordance with polices DM2 and DM9 of the LMWLP, and 

policy IF4 of the NWLLP 

10. All vehicles leaving the site via the existing quarry access on the A511 shall turn left. 

Reason: In the interests of highway safety and the amenities of local residents, in 

accordance with polices DM2 and DM9 of the LMWLP and policy IF4 of the NWLLP 

11. The surfacing of the site access shall be maintained in a good state of repair and kept 

clean and free of mud and other debris at all times during the life of the development. 

Reason: In the interests of highway safety and safeguarding the local environment, in 

accordance with polices DM2 and DM9 of the LMWLP and policy IF4 of the NWLLP. 

12. No HGVs shall leave the site without first passing through an efficient wheel cleaning 

system to ensure that no deleterious material is deposited on the public highway.  In 

237



 

the event that any such material is deposited on the public highway it shall be 

immediately removed. 

Reason: To ensure that deleterious material is not carried onto the public highway in 

the interests of highway safety and local amenity, in accordance with polices DM2 and 

DM9 of the LMWLP and policy IF4 of the NWLLP. 

13. The development hereby permitted shall be implemented in accordance with the 

scheme for the improvements to the existing parking provisions, turning areas and 

associated internal haul road layout as detailed in: 

(e) Letter dated 9th June 2014 and approval letter dated 16th June 2014 
(a) Letter dated 4th Jan 2017 as approved letter dated 7th Feb 2017 

(b) Letter dated 18th March 2020 and plan 8100/BHQ_2020 
(c) Letter Dated 21 Feb 2022, 11th April 2022 and approval letter dated 11th 

May 2022 

Reason: In the general interests of highway safety and to ensure that adequate off-
street parking facilities are available within the curtilage of the development, in 

accordance with polices DM2 and DM9 of the LMWLP and policies IF4 and IF7 of the 
NWLLP. 

14. No loaded vehicles shall leave the site and enter the public highway unsheeted except 

those carrying stone in excess of 75mm in diameter.  All loads shall be evenly filled 

and levelled to avoid spillage when in motion. 

Reason: In the interests of highway safety and safeguarding the local environment, in 

accordance with policies DM2 and DM9 of the LMWLP and policies D2 and IF4 of the 

NWLDC Local Plan  

15. The total number of HGV departures for exports of dry and coated stone from the site 

shall not exceed a daily average of 525 over any 4 week period subject to a daily 

maximum of 575.  Records of such movements shall be maintained on a daily basis 

and shall be made available to the Mineral Planning Authority within five working days 

of such a request being made.  All records shall be kept on site for at least 12 months. 

Reason: In the interests of highway safety and safeguarding the local environment, in 

accordance with policies DM2 and DM9 of the LMWLP and policies D2 and IF4 of the 

NWLDC Local Plan 

16. The development hereby permitted shall be implemented in accordance with the Travel 

Plan submitted on 18th January 2016 and approved on the 9th March 2016. 

Reason: To ensure that adequate steps are taken to provide a transport choice 

including a choice in mode of travel to and from the site, in accordance with policies 

DM2 and DM9 of the LMWLP and policies D2 and IF4 of the NWLDC Local Plan 

17. The development hereby permitted shall be implemented in accordance with the 

Landscape, Restoration and Aftercare Scheme Dated August 2022 unless otherwise 

agreed in writing with the Mineral Planning Authority. 

238



 

Reason: In the interests of the landscape and visual amenities of the area and to 

enhance the development and bio-diversity, in accordance with policies DM2, DM5 

and DM12 of the LMWLP, policy En1 of the NWLLP and paragraph 193 of the NPPF 

(December 2024). 

18. Excepting those specimens to be removed in the northern landform, the removal of 

existing vegetation shall have regard to the submitted hedgerow and tree surveys and 

no trees, shrubs or hedgerows within or bounding the site shall be removed apart from 

those shown to be removed on Drawing No. BHE-ADI/001 dated April 2011 with the 

exception of hedgerows 20 and 47 which shall be fully retained and protected in  

accordance with condition no. 19. 

Reason: To ensure that vegetation removal is adequately controlled. 

19. This development hereby permitted shall be implemented in accordance with 

hedgerow and tree protection details as referenced in letter dated 29th April 2016, 

email dated 3rd May 2016 and drawing no. 1336011‐PL‐19‐DWG‐001 Rev.10 dated 

12th April 2016 as approved on 11th May 2016. 

Reason: To ensure that all hedgerows and trees to be retained on site are protected 

during the development. 

20. This development hereby permitted shall be implemented in accordance with the 

ecological interests of the site shall be safeguarded in full accordance with the Detailed 

Mitigation and Compensation Implementation as updated in April 2016 document 

reference ST006900/D.06f/0012 Rev B. The mitigation and compensation measures 

shall be managed under Bardon Estate Biodiversity Action Plan. 

Reason: To minimise the adverse impact of the operations on ecological interests, in 

accordance with policies DM2 and DM7 of the LMWLP, policy En1 of the NWLLP and 

paragraph 193 of the NPPF (December 2024). 

21. The grassland management strategy shall be undertaken in full accordance with the 

Lowland Grassland Compensation and Enhancement Implementation Plan (ref. 403-

00275-00089/LGIP dated November 2010).   

Reason: To minimise the adverse impact of the operations on the grassland habitats, 

in accordance with policies DM2 and DM7 of the LMWLP, policy En1 of the NWLLP 

and paragraph 193 of the NPPF (December 2024). 

22. The monitoring of baseline conditions in target grassland habitats shall be undertaken 

in full accordance with the methodology included in the Grassland Monitoring (ref.403-

00275-00089/GMR dated October 2010). 

Reason: To monitor the affects of the development on the grassland habitats, in 

accordance with policies DM2 and DM7 of the LMWLP, policy En1 of the NWLLP 

and paragraph 193 of the NPPF (December 2024). 

239



 

23. This development hereby permitted shall be implemented in accordance with the 

scheme of hedgerow planting dated 13th May 2014 and Landscape Restoration and 

Aftercare Scheme dated August 2022. 

Reason: To reduce the overall effects of the development on the hedgerow resource, 

in accordance with policy DM12 of the LMWLP. 

24. All works that involve the removal of trees, shrubs, hedgerows, scrub and other 

vegetation including habitats used by ground nesting birds shall not be undertaken 

during the months of March to August inclusive unless the area has first been checked 

by a qualified ecologist and an action plan agreed in writing with the Mineral Planning 

Authority. 

Reason: To safeguard the local habitat and protect nesting birds, in accordance with 

policies DM2 and DM7 of the LMWLP, policy En1 of the NWLLP and paragraph 193 

of the NPPF (December 2024). 

25. The safeguarding of protected species and notable fauna and flora identified within 

Appendix 8 of the Environmental Statement shall be undertaken in accordance with 

the Timetable (Table 9) of the Detailed Mitigation and Compensation Implementation 

Plan (ref.403-00275-00089/MCIP dated October 2010), subject to the inclusion of: 

 

(f) tree 22 (as identified in the bat survey) which shall be retained and 
protected in accordance with condition no. 19; and, 

 
(g) the section of Stone Wall adjacent to Hedgerow 64 (as identified in the 

Lichen survey) which shall be translocated in accordance with condition 

no. 17. 

Both the above features shall be added to the Detailed Mitigation and Compensation 

Implementation Plan and managed in accordance with the agreed details. 

Reason: To monitor the effects of the development on ecological interests and to 
safeguard protected species, in accordance with policies DM2 and DM7 of the 

LMWLP, policy En1 of the NWLLP and paragraph 193 of the NPPF (December 2024). 

26. This development hereby permitted shall be implemented in accordance with scheme 

of public rights of way safety as detailed in letter dated 13th May 2014 and report 
submission of details pursuant to Cond. 26 of planning permission No. 2010/0076/07 
and 2010/0041/04 reference 421.00275.00119 dated April 2014. 

Reason: In the interests of protecting users of the rights of way network, in accordance 
with policy DM10 of the LMWLP 

27. All operations affecting the Rights of Way network involving the stopping up of routes, 
temporary closures, provision of diverted routes, new permissive and dedicated routes 
and the proposed cycle path shall only be undertaken in accordance with the 

Landscape, Restoration and Aftercare Scheme unless otherwise agreed in writing by 
the Mineral Planning Authority. 

Reason: In the interests of protecting the rights of way network and its users, in 
accordance with policy DM10 of the LMWLP. 

240



 

28. The development hereby permitted shall only be undertaken in accordance with the 
Flood Risk Assessment included within the Hydrological and Hydrogeological 

Assessment dated November 2009 and forming Appendix 6 of the Environmental 
Statement. 

Reason: To prevent flooding by ensuring the satisfactory storage of and disposal of 

surface water from the site in accordance with policy DM2 of the LMWLP, policies CC2 
& CC3 of the NWLLP and paragraph 170 of the NPPF (December 2024). 

29. This development hereby permitted shall be implemented in accordance with surface 
water details as submitted in letter dated 6th May 2014, letter dated 14th May 2018 
and Bardon Quarry Surface water management plan summary report dated January 

2021. 

Reason: To ensure adequate drainage of the site in accordance with policy DM2 of 

the LMWLP, policies CC2 & CC3 of the NWLLP and paragraph 170 of the NPPF 
(December 2024). 

30. This development hereby permitted shall be implemented in accordance with Foul 

Drainage Scheme as detailed in letter dated 27th November 2013 and approved on 
the 10th January 2014. 

Reason: To protect the water environment in accordance with policy DM2 of the 
LMWLP, policies CC2 & CC3 of the NWLLP and paragraph 170 of the NPPF 
(December 2024). 

31. This development hereby permitted shall be implemented in accordance with Oil and 
Petrol Separators as detailed in letter dated 27th November 2013 and approved on the 

10th January 2014. 

Reason: To protect the water environment in accordance with policies DM2 and 
DM7 of the LMWLP, policy En1 of the NWLLP and paragraph 170 of the NPPF 

(December 2024). 

32. This development hereby permitted shall be implemented in accordance with Storage 
Tank Data Sheet‐ Simon Engineering No. 2012 unless otherwise agreed in writing by 

the Mineral Planning Authority. 

Reason: To protect the water environment, in accordance with policies DM2 and 
DM7 of the LMWLP, policy En1 of the NWLLP and paragraph 170 of the NPPF  

(December 2024). 

33. This development hereby permitted shall be implemented in accordance with 
Watercourse diversion details in letter dated 19th September 2013 and email dated 

14th June 2019 including the following plans; 

(h) 190114_DC33_2_REVB_Cross_Sections-SECTS A & B_ET.jpg  

(i) 190114_DC33_3_REVB_Cross_Sections-SECTS C & D_ET.jpg  

(j) 190114_DC33_4_REVB_Cross_Sections-SECTS E_ET.jpg  

(k) 190509_DC33-09 FIG 1_A_SKETCH DETAILS Page 001.jpg  

(l) 190509_DC33-09 FIG 1_A_SKETCH DETAILS Page 002.jpg  

(m) 190509_Interim Landscape_South_DC33-7C.jpg  

(n) 190509_Possible_Watercourse_treatments_Section 5-6_DC33-6 A.jpg  

(o) 190528_DC33_1C_7C_Interim Landscape_South_DC33-1.jpg  

241



 

(p) DC33-5 from Aug 2013.jpg  

(q) DC33-6 from Aug 2013.jpg  

(r) DC33-8 from April 2014.jpg  

(s) DC33-9-Fig1 from April 2014.jpg  

(t) DC33-9-Fig2 from April 2014.jpg 

All River Diversion works will be managed in accordance with the Landscape, 

Restoration and Aftercare Scheme Dated August 2022.  

Reason: To ensure the proposed diverted watercourse is developed in a way that 

improves the nature conservation value of the river, in accordance with policies DM2 

and DM7 of the LMWLP, policy En1 of the NWLLP and paragraph 170 of the NPPF 

(December 2024). 

34. This development hereby permitted shall be implemented in accordance with the 

Scheme of Water Monitoring in pursuance of planning permission no. 2010/0076/07 

and 2010/0041/04 condition 34 dated April 2019. 

Reason: To assess and monitor the effects of the development arising from changes 

in groundwater levels, in accordance with policy DM2 of the LMWLP, policies CC2 & 

CC3 of the NWLLP and paragraph 170 of the NPPF (December 2024). 

35. This development hereby permitted shall be implemented in accordance with Soil 

Strategy as detailed in letter dated 23rd December 2013 including Bardon Hill Quarry 

Soil Handling Strategy. 

Reason: To minimise structural damage and compaction of the soil and to aid the 

final restoration of the site. 

36. This development hereby permitted shall be implemented in accordance with the 

Specification for Programme of Archaeological Trial Trenching dated 1st July 2013. 

Reason: To ensure the preparation and implementation of an appropriate programme 

of archaeological investigation. 

37. Where the archaeological investigation comprises an initial exploratory trial trenching 

phase provision shall be made for the implementation of any necessary further 

archaeological mitigation including in-situ preservation where appropriate. 

Reason: To ensure protection of the archaeological assets in the site including 

potential in situ preservation. 

38. This development hereby permitted shall be implemented in accordance with the 

Specification for Programme of Archaeological Trial Trenching dated 1st July 2013.  

Reason: To ensure protection of the archaeological assets in the site through a phased 

programme of investigation. 

242



 

39. This development hereby permitted shall be implemented in accordance with the 

Archaeological Building Investigation and Recording for Old Rise Rocks dated 24th 

July 2015. 

Reason: To ensure the historic buildings to be lost are recorded. 

40. This development hereby permitted shall be implemented in accordance with Bardon 

Geo‐Diversity Action Plan dated April 2014 unless otherwise agreed in writing by the 

Mineral Planning Authority. 

Reason: To minimise the effects on geological conservation interests and provide 

access to the key geodiversity features. 

41. Measures shall be taken to ensure that the operations carried out on the site do not 

give rise to noise nuisance or disturbance in the locality.  Such measures shall include: 

(a) the effective silencing and maintenance of all engines, exhausts, machinery, 
plant and equipment, whether fixed or mobile; 

(b) the location and organisation of on-site operations so as to minimise any 
noise impact on nearby properties; 

(c) the minimisation, so far as is practicably and legally possible, of the level 
and penetration of noise emissions from reversing warnings fitted to 
vehicles. 

Reason: To minimise the adverse impact of noise generated by the operations on the 

local community and environment, in accordance with policies DM2 and DM11 of the 

LMWLP and policy D2 of the NWLLP. 

42. This development hereby permitted shall be implemented in accordance with Bardon 

Hill Quarry Environmental Scheme to accord with planning permissions 2010/0077/07 

& 2017/0263/07 & 2017,0098/07 dated 26th April 2019 unless otherwise agreed in 

writing with the Mineral Planning Authority. 

Reason: To enable the noise related effects of the development to be adequately 

monitored during the course of the operations, in accordance with policies DM2 and 

DM11 of the LMWLP and policy D2 of the NWLLP 

43. Except for temporary operations and subject to the limits included in the table below 

the noise levels arising from the development when measured 3.5 metres from the 

most exposed façade of any noise sensitive property shall not exceed:  

• 55dB(A)LAeq 1h during the hours of 07:00 – 22:00; and 

• 42dB(A)LAeq 1h during the hours of 22:00 – 07:00. 

 
 

Measurement Location and reference. 
 

Daytime Limit (07:00 – 22:00) 
 

2.      Bradgate Drive 54 
4.      Flannagan Way 52 
10.    Kirton Road 48 
12.    Irish Farm 49 

243



 

Reason: To minimise the adverse impact of noise generated by the operations on the 

local community and environment, in accordance with policies DM2 and DM11 of the 

LMWLP and policy D2 of the NWLLP 

44. Noise levels arising from temporary operations including soil stripping and 

replacement, the construction and removal of soil and overburden mounds and the 

creation of new landforms shall be minimised as far as is reasonably practicable and 

shall not exceed 70dB(A) LAeq 1 hour at 3.5 metres from the most exposed façade of 

any noise sensitive property.  Temporary operations which exceed the normal day to 

day criterion set out in condition no. 43 shall only be carried out between the hours of 

0800 and 1800 Monday to Friday and the hours of 0800 and 1200 on Saturday, and 

shall be limited to a total of 8 weeks in any 12 month period.  Advance notice of the 

commencement of such temporary operations shall be given to the Mineral Planning 

Authority. 

Reason: To minimise the adverse impact of noise generated by the operations on the 

local community and environment, in accordance with policies DM2 and DM11 of the 

LMWLP and policy D2 of the NWLLP. 

45. The mitigation measures recommended at Appendix 10 of the Environmental 

Statement shall be fully implemented to ensure that the best practicable means are 

used to control the emission of dust from the site and to ensure so far as is reasonably 

practicable that dust emissions from the operations carried out within the site are 

minimised.   

Reason: To minimise the adverse impact of dust generated by the operations on the 

local community and environment, in accordance with Policies DM2 and DM11 of the 

LMWLP and policies D2 and En6 of the NWLLP 

46. This development hereby permitted shall be implemented in accordance with Bardon 

Hill Quarry Environmental Scheme to accord with planning permissions 2010/0077/07 

& 2017/0263/07 & 2017,0098/07 dated 26th April 2019 unless otherwise agreed in 

writing with the Mineral Planning Authority. 

Reason: To enable the dust related effects of the development to be adequately 

monitored during the course of the operations, in accordance with policies DM2 and 

DM11 of the LMWLP and policies D2 and En6 of the NWLLP 

47. Dust emissions arising from the development when measured in accordance with the 

monitoring scheme approved under condition no. 46 shall not exceed: 

• a mean average rate of 200 milligrams per day per square metre; and 

• a limit of 50μg.m-3 not to be exceeded more than 35 times a year as a 24 

hour mean/40μg.m-3 as an annual mean for PM10. 

Reason: To minimise the adverse impact of dust generated by the operations on the 

local community and environment, in accordance with policies DM2 and DM11 of the 

LMWLP and policies D2 and En6 of the NWLLP. 

244



 

48. To ensure that the best practicable means are used to control the effects of blasting 

from the new extraction area no blasting shall be undertaken within a 400m distance 

of the nearest buildings shown on Drawing No. BHE-ES/006 unless and until a new 

regression analysis based on blasting events within the new extraction area can 

demonstrate and predict that the vibration limits specified in  condition no. 50 can be 

met within this distance. 

No blasting shall be undertaken within 200m of the nearest buildings shown on 

Drawing No. BHE-ES/006. 

Drawing No. BHE-ES/006 shall be updated to include the 400m and 200m blasting 

distances and submitted to the Mineral Planning Authority prior to any blasting in the 

new extraction area.   

Reason: To minimise the adverse impact of blasting on the local community and 

environment, in accordance with policies DM2 and DM11 of the LMWLP and policies 

D2 and En6 of the NWLLP. 

49. This development hereby permitted shall be implemented in accordance with Bardon 

Hill Quarry Environmental Scheme to accord with planning permissions 2010/0077/07 

& 2017/0263/07 & 2017,0098/07 dated 26th April 2019 unless otherwise agreed in 

writing with the Mineral Planning Authority. 

Reason: To enable the blasting effects of the development to be adequately monitored 

during the course of the operations, in accordance with policies DM2 and DM11 of the 

LMWLP and policies D2 and En6 of the NWLLP. 

50. Every blast shall be designed with a 95% confidence level that ground vibration levels 

recorded at any vibration sensitive property arising from any blast shall not exceed a 

peak particle velocity of 6mm per second measured in any mutually perpendicular 

plane.  No blast shall exceed a peak particle velocity of 12mm per second as measured 

at any vibration sensitive property. 

Reason: To minimise the adverse impact of blasting generated by the operations on 

the local community and environment, in accordance with policies DM2 and DM11 of 

the LMWLP and policies D2 and En6 of the NWLLP. 

51. Every blast shall be designed to minimise noise or air over pressure by use of the latest 

available techniques such that air over pressure shall not exceed 120dB peak linear 

as measured externally at any vibration sensitive property. 

Reason: To minimise the adverse impact of blasting generated by the operations on 

the local community and environment, in accordance with policies DM2 and DM11 of 

the LMWLP and policies D2 and En6 of the NWLLP. 

52. No blasting shall take place except between 10:00 hours and 16:00 hours Monday to 

Friday and there shall be no blasting on Saturdays, Sundays, Public or Bank holidays 

unless in an emergency.  There shall be no more than one blast at the existing Bardon 

Hill Quarry and one blast at the Bardon Hill Quarry Extension per day. 

245



 

Reason: To minimise the adverse impact of blasting generated by the operations on 

the local community and environment, in accordance with policies DM2 and DM11 of 

the LMWLP and policies D2 and En6 of the NWLLP. 

53. No secondary blasting shall be carried out without the prior approval in writing of the 

Mineral Planning Authority. In emergencies, the Mineral Planning Authority shall be 

notified of events within 24 hours. 

Reason: To minimise the adverse impact of blasting generated by the operations on 

the local community and environment, in accordance with policies DM2 and DM11 of 

the LMWLP and policies D2 and En6 of the NWLLP. 

54. This development hereby permitted shall be implemented in accordance with the 

Lighting Scheme as detailed in letter dated 27th November 2013 and approved on the 

23rd December 2013. 

Reason: To minimise the adverse impact of light generated by the operations on the 

local community and environment, in accordance with policies DM2 and DM11 of the 

LMWLP and policies D2 and En6 of the NWLLP. 

55. This development hereby permitted shall be implemented in accordance with the 

Carbon Management Plan as details in letter dated 9th June 2014 and approved on 

the 16th June 2014 unless otherwise agreed in writing by the Mineral Planning 

Authority. 

Reason: To minimise the adverse impact of carbon emissions generated by the 

operations on the local community and environment, in accordance with policies DM2 

and DM11 of the LMWLP and policies D2 and En6 of the NWLLP. 

56. An annual working scheme shall be submitted to the Mineral Planning Authority by 

31th March each year and shall include details of: 

(a) a summary of the forthcoming annual working programme; 

(b) phasing and timing of operations for vegetation  clearance, soil and 

overburden stripping and removal; 

(c) phasing and timing of operations for overburden and soil replacement 

including the construction of new landforms and new planting and seeding; 

(d) the construction of haul routes; 

(e) direction of mineral working; 

(f) depth of working; 

(g) extraction rates; 

(h) the infilling sequence for the existing quarry; 

(i) the extent and height of stockpiles and mineral storage areas; 

(j) the extent and details of processing areas, including aggregate production, 

the coated roadstone plants and concrete products works. 

The working of the site shall be undertaken only in accordance with the approved 
details. 

246



 

Reason: To enable the Mineral Planning Authority to monitor and adequately control 
the development and to minimise its impact on the amenities of the local area, in 

accordance with policy DM2 of the LMWLP and policy D2 of the NWLLP 

57. The development shall only take place in accordance with the following hours: 
 

Operations Permitted Hours 

 
Monday to 

Saturday 

Sundays, Public 

& Bank Holidays 

• The extraction, primary crushing 
and internal movement of stone 
from within the new and previously 

permitted extraction areas; 
 

07:00 to 22:00 None 

• The use of the secondary and 

tertiary aggregate processing 
plants; 

• The despatch of aggregate and 
concrete products; 

• The use of the aggregate and 

concrete product stocking areas; 
 

06:00 to 22:00 None 

• Emergency works; 

• Maintenance and repair of plant and 
machinery; 

• Essential pumping; 

• The use of the asphalt plants and 

despatch of products; 

• The use of the aggregate wash 

plant 

• The manufacture of concrete 
products; 

• The loading, movement and 
servicing of trains. 

 

Any Time 

Reason: To protect the amenities of local residents and in the interests of the local 

environment, in accordance with policy DM2 of the LMWLP and policy D2 of the 

NWLLP. 

58. Notwithstanding the provisions of part 17 of Schedule 2 to the Town and Country 

Planning (General Permitted Development) Order 2015 or any order revoking and re-

enacting that Order, with or without modification: 

no fixed plant or machinery, building, structures and erections, or private ways shall be 

erected, extended, installed, or replaced within the site without the prior written 

approval of the Mineral Planning Authority following submission of relevant details and 

plans. 

Reason: in the interests of the amenity of the area, in accordance with Policy DM2 of 

the LMWLP and Policy D2 of the NWLLP 

247



 

59. The primary crusher shall only be used to process mineral won from within the site.  

No primary crushing of imported mineral shall take place. 

Reason: To restrict mineral processing at the site in the interests of the local 

community and environment, in accordance with policy DM2 of the LMWLP and policy 

D2 of the NWLLP. 

60. The cladding of all fixed plant and machinery shall be retained and maintained 

thereafter in its original approved colour. 

Reason: To ensure a satisfactory appearance in the interests of the local community 

and environment, in accordance with Policy DM2 of the LMWLP and Policy D2 of the 

NWLLP 

61. Within 12 months of the date of mineral extraction finishing at the site the use of the 

concrete products works (Charcon Factory) as defined by a dashed pink line on 

Drawing No. BHE-SS/005 Revision A shall cease and all the buildings removed and 

the land reinstated in accordance with a reclamation scheme approved under condition 

no. 63. 

Reason: To ensure the proper restoration of the site and in the interests of habitat 

creation and diversity, in accordance with policies DM7 and DM12 of the LMWLP. 

62. Following the receipt of any complaint about operations on site affecting neighbouring 

land users or the environment the operator shall notify the Mineral Planning Authority 

within 24 hours.  Details of the investigation and any mitigation measures shall be 

agreed with the Mineral Planning Authority. 

Reason: To protect the amenities of local residents and the local environment, in 

accordance with policy DM2 of the LMWLP and policy D2 of the NWLLP 

63. Within 12 months of the cessation of mineral extraction within the current extraction 

limit an interim restoration plan of the quarry void shall be submitted providing details 

of the reclamation of the upper quarry faces shall be agreed in writing with the Mineral 

Planning Authority. The areas shall then be reclaimed and managed for biodiversity 

purposes in accordance with the agreed aftercare details. 

Within 24 months prior to the planned cessation of mineral extraction at Bardon Hill 

Quarry a final restoration plan shall be submitted in writing detailing for the treatment, 

reclamation and aftercare of the processing plant site, associated business use areas, 

stockpile areas and other hardstandings and roadways shall be agreed in writing with 

the Mineral Planning Authority. 

The restoration shall be undertaken in accordance with the approved details. 

Reason: To ensure that the operational site areas are reclaimed in an orderly manner 

to a condition capable of beneficial after-use, in accordance with policy DM12 of the 

LMWLP. 

248



 

64. In the event of a cessation of winning and working of minerals prior to the achievement 

of the completion of the approved scheme as defined in this permission, and which in 

the opinion of the Mineral Planning Authority constitutes a permanent cessation within 

the terms of paragraph 3 of Schedule 9 of the Town and Country Planning Act 1990 a 

revised scheme to include details of reclamation and aftercare shall be submitted in 

writing for approval to the Mineral Planning Authority within six months of the cessation 

of winning and working. The approved revised scheme shall be fully implemented 

within 12 months of the written approval. 

Reason: To enable the Mineral Planning Authority to control the development and to 

ensure that the land is restored to a condition capable of beneficial after-use, in 

accordance with policy DM12 of the LMWLP. 

Informative 

This development will require a European Protected Species mitigation licence to 

make it lawful. You must be aware that to proceed with the development without first 

obtaining an EPS Licence could result in prosecution. 

 

 

249



This page is intentionally left blank



DEVELOPMENT CONTROL AND REGULATORY BOARD 
 

7th August 2025 
 

REPORT OF THE CHIEF EXECUTIVE 
 

DELEGATED DECISIONS ISSUED 
1st April – 30th June 2025 

 

 

 

Application Applicant and Location Description Delegated 
 

2025/00191/06 

(2025/Reg3Mi/0
019/LCC) 

 
Leicestershire County 

Council - Children & Family - 
Birch Wood Area Special 
School, Grange Drive, 

Melton Mowbray, LE13 1HA 

 
Provision of  a single storey, two 

classroom block including re-
siting/re-provision of  play 
equipment. Additional parking 

spaces. 

Received: 14/02/2025 
Resolution: 11/04/2025 

Decision Date: 11/04/2025 
Decision: Approved 
Total weeks 

For Determination:   8 

 
2025/0336/02 

(2025/Reg3Ma/
0003/LCC) 

 
Leicestershire County 

Council - Family Centre, 
Regent Street, 
Loughborough, LE11 5BA 

 
Alterations to the existing car 

parking facility to provide a further 
10 spaces for the use of  
Loughborough Children and 

Family Centre. 

Received: 05/02/2025 
Resolution: 01/04/2025 

Decision Date: 01/04/2025 
Decision: Approved 
Total weeks 

For Determination:   8 

 

2024/01624/07 
(2024/VOCM/01

46/LCC) 

 

Refresco Drinks UK Ltd - 
Citrus Grove, Sideley, 
Kegworth, DE74 2FJ 

 

Variation of  conditions 3, 9 and 
10 of  planning permission no. 
2016/1396/07 to amend the 

dimensions of  the waste water 
treatment building and to defer 
the submission of  a landscaping 

scheme at the Cott Beverages 
manufacturing facility, land of f  
Citrus Grove, Sideley, Kegworth, 

Leicestershire, DE74 2FJ (North 
West Leicestershire District). 
 

Received: 11/12/2024 

Resolution: 24/04/2025 
Decision Date: 24/04/2025 
Decision: Approved 

Total weeks 
For Determination:   19 

 

2024/0951/01 
(2024/Reg3Mi/0

128/LCC) 

 

Leicestershire County 
Council C&FS - Ravenhurst 
Primary School, Ravenhurst 

Road, Braunstone Town, 
LE3 2PS 

 

Create a new car parking facility 
on an unused amenity grassed 
area 

Received: 06/11/2024 

Resolution: 29/05/2025 
Decision Date: 29/05/2025 
Decision: Approved 

Total weeks 
For Determination:   29 

251 Agenda Item 10



 

2024/01626/07 
(2024/CM/0149/

LCC) 

 

Refresco Drinks UK Ltd - 
Citrus Grove, Sideley, 
Kegworth, DE74 2FJ 

 

Extension/upgrade of  the storage 
capacity of  the existing ef f luent 
treatment plant, through 

implementation of  a new tank and 
concrete plinth, with associated 
pipework and external/security 

fencing. 

 

Received: 17/12/2024 
Resolution: 24/04/2025 
Decision Date: 24/04/2025 

Decision: Approved 
Total weeks 
For Determination:   18 

 

252



 
 

DEVELOPMENT CONTROL AND REGULATORY BOARD 

DATE: 7th AUGUST 2025 

REPORT OF DIRECTOR OF ENVIRONMENT AND TRANSPORT 

DELEGATED DECISIONS (number 44) FOR WORKS TO TREES PROTECTED 
BY LEICESTERSHIRE COUNTY COUNCIL TREE PRESERVATION ORDERS 1st 

January 2025 – 30th June 2025 

Application 
Numbers: 

LCC Application 
Reference No. 

District Reference 
No. 

Planning Portal 
Reference No. 

Applicant and 
Location  

Description  Delegated  

2024/TPO/0134/LCC 

24/01446/TPO 

27 Priorfields, 
Ashby de la 

Zouch, 
LE65 1EA. 
 

Weston 

T1 Sycamore - To reduce by 
up to 2 metres in height, 

width up to 2 metre. Crown 

lift to 6 metres from ground. 

T2 Sycamore - To reduce by 
up to 3 metres. To reduce 
sides by up to 1.2 metres. 

Crown lift to 6 metres from 

ground. 

Date Rec’d: 12/11/2024 
Notice Sent: 3/1/2025 

Determination: Approved 
Decision: 7 weeks 3 days 

2024/TPO/0135/LCC 

24/01465/TPO 

The Old Barn, 
Albert Street, 
Kibworth 

Harcourt, 
LE8 0NA. 

 
Kibworth 
Parish 

Council 

T1 Horse Chestnut - 
Remove major deadwood, 
weight 

reduce large secondary 
upright stems over public 

highway by 1-3m. Install 
dynamic 4tonne cable brace 

between 3 main stems. 

T2 Horse Chestnut -  

remove major deadwood. 
and install dynamic 4tonne 
cable brace between 3 main 

stems. 

T3 Lime -  remove epicormic 

growth to first major union, 
remove moderate/major 

deadwood and inspect 
historic reduction points for 
decay.  

 

Date Rec’d: 25/11/2024 
Notice Sent: 3/1/2025 
Determination: Approved 

Decision: 5 weeks 4 days 

253 Agenda Item 11



 
 

T4 Lime : Remove major 

deadwood. 

2024/TPO/0136/LCC 

24/0971/TPO 

The Dicken, 

Whetstone, 
LE8 6LR. 

 
Lenton 
Leaver 

 

T6 Sycamore – Crown raise 

to 5m over public highway. 

Date Rec’d: 25/11/2024 

Notice Sent: 3/1/2025 
Determination: Approved 

Decision:5 weeks 4 days 
 

2024/TPO/0137/LCC 

24/01401/TPO 

120 Burnmill 
Rd, Market 

Harborough, 
LE16 7JG. 

 
Thompson 

T1 Ash remove epicormic 
growth on main stem, 

reduce crown back to 
previous pruning points and 

cut back low branches to 
clear crowns of 
neighbouring Lawson 

cypress and Corsican pine 
tree; Reduce crown by 4.0m 

and width of crown by 3.0m. 
T2 Hornbeam reduce crown 
overall by up to 2.5m and 

reshape. 
T3 Ash remove basal shoots 
overhanging driveway, 

reduce crown overhanging 
highway 

verge by 3.0m and overall 
reduce crown by up to 2.0m. 
T4 Lime reduce height by up 

to 4.0m and width of crown 
by up to 2.0m and remove 

low 
branch overhanging 
driveway. 

T6  Yew reduce crown by 
1.0m and prune back to 

provide clearance of 3.0m 
over the 
Driveway. 

T7  Holly prune back to 
provide a clearance of 3.0m 

over driveway. 

Date Rec’d: 25/11/2024 
Notice Sent: 3/1/2025 

Determination: Approved 
Decision: 5 weeks 4 days 

2024/TPO/0139/LCC 

P/24/1832/2 

Highway verge 
along 

Bradgate Rd, 
Anstey. 

 
Sutcliffe  
 

 
 

 

T7 Oak – Crown reduce 
following recent storm 

damage. Approx 5 - 6 

metres. 

 

 

 

Date Rec’d: 25/11/2025 
Notice Sent: 3/1/2025 

Determination: Approved 

Decision: 5 weeks 4 days 

254



 
 

 
2024/TPO/0140/LCC 

24/01490/TCA 

The Staunton 
Harold Estate, 

Pottery House, 
Melbourne Rd, 
Staunton 

Harold, 
LE65 1RU. 

 
Large 
 

T1  multi stemmed oak - 
remove 

T2 - Oak - remove 
T3 - Oak – remove 
T4 - multi stemmed beech – 

remove. 

Date Rec’d: 25/11/2024 
Notice Sent: 2/1/2025 

Determination: Approved 
Decision: 5 weeks 3 days 

2024/TPO/0142/LCC 

24/01076/TPO 

30 Hall Drive, 

Asfordby, 
Melton 

Mowbray, 
LE14 3SU. 
 

Smith 
 

T1 Beech – reduce in height 

to no less than 9m to clear 

property and highway. 

Date Rec’d: 28/11/2024 

Notice Sent: 13/1/2025 
Determination: Approved 

Decision: 6 weeks 4 days 

2024/TPO/0143/LCC 

24/01077/TPO 

1 Station Lane 

Asfordby, 
Melton 
Mowbray, 

LE14 3SL. 
 

Wain 
 

T1 Lime – Crown raise to 

6m from the ground. 

Date Rec’d: 2/12/2024 

Notice Sent: 13/1/2025 
Determination: Approved 

Decision: 6 weeks 

2024/TPO/0145/LCC 

 

11 Barton Rd, 
Carlton, 

Nuneaton, 
CV13 0DB. 

 
Davies 
 

T1 Yew- Fell Date Rec’d: 10/12/2024 
Notice Sent: 13/1/2025 

Determination: Approved 
Decision: 4 weeks 6 days 

 

2024/TPO?0148/LCC 

24/1008/TPO 

Delbury, 
Forest Drive, 
Kirby Muxloe, 

LE9 2EA. 
 

Savage 

T1 Lime 
Works - Remove Basal 
sucker growth. 

T2 Lime 
Works - Raise canopy over 

garden of Delbury to 5m. 
 

Date Rec’d: 10/12/2024 
Notice Sent: 30/1/2025 
Determination: Approved 

Decision: 7 weeks 

2024/TPO/0150/LCC 

24/01609/TPO 

10 Old Green, 
Medbourne, 

LE16 8DX. 
 

Szechenyi 
 

Holm oak trees (G1) Crown 
lift to provide clearance of 

3m over the public footpath. 
Crown reduce to provide 

clearance of 5m over the 
highway. 
Yew tree (G2): Crown lift to 

provide clearance of 3m 
over the public footpath. 

Crown reduce to provide 
clearance of 5m over the 
highway. 

Date Rec’d: 17/12/2024 
Notice Sent: 27/1/2025 

Determination: Approved 
Decision: 5 weeks 6 days 

255



 
 

2024/TPO/0152/LCC 

 
24/01609/TPO 

The Spinney, 
Buckingham 
Rd, 

Countesthorpe 
 

Leech – 
Parish 
Council 

 

T507 Hawthorn - Remove 
broken branches. 
T515 English Oak - Low 

canopy over road - raise 
canopy to 5.5m over road 

T520 Turkey Oak - Remove 
Rubbing and damaged 
branches. 

T537 Ash  - Leaning over 
road, low canopy. Raise 

canopy to 5m over road. 

Date Rec’d: 19/12/2024 
Notice Sent: 27/1/2025 
Determination: Approved 

Decision: 5 weeks 4 days 

2025/TPO/0002/LCC 

24/1083/TPO  

The Coach 
House, 

Stamford Rd, 
Kirby Muxloe, 

LE9 2ER. 
 
Colloby 

 

T1 Black Pine – Fell. Recent 
storm damage has left 

remaining canopy weak and 

unstable. 

Date Rec’d: 13/1/2025 
Notice Sent: 17/2/2025 

Determination: Approved 
Decision: 5 weeks 

2025/TPO/0004/LCC 

25/00019/TPO  

The Old 
Rectory, Main 

St, Mowsley, 
LE17 6NT. 
 

Latham 
 

One Beech tree to fell .Two 
Yew trees to crown reduce 

and shape by 2.5-3m. 

(Beech is a CA matter) 

Date Rec’d: 20/1/2025 
Notice Sent: 25/2/2025 

Determination: Approved 
Decision: 5 weeks 1day  

2025/TPO/0006/LCC 

P/25/0111/2 

 

58 Swithland 

Lane, Rothley, 
LE7 7SE. 

 

Toon 

 

T1 Cedar Prune back to 

suitable growth points to 
provide 3m clearance away 

from property. 

T2 Holly. In decline. Take 

down to as close to ground 

level as possible  

Date Rec’d: 22/1/2025 

Notice Sent: 25/2/2025 
Determination: Approved 

Decision: 4 weeks 6 days 

2025/TPO/0005/LCC 

24/01021/TPO 

 

53a Markfield 

Rd, Groby, 

LE6 0FL. 

Hand 

 

T22 Ash- reduce south 

facing branch by 4-5m 
T23 Ash- reduce to standing 

monolith. 
T27 Ash – Fell. 
T28 Ash – Fell. 

T30 Ash – Crown reduce by 
3m. 

T31 Ash – reduce to 
standing monolith. 
T32 Ash – Crown reduce by 

3-4m. 
T33 Ash - Fell. 

 
 
 

 

Date Rec’d: 15/1/2025 

Notice Sent: 25/2/2025 
Determination: Approved 

with amendments 
Decision: 5 weeks 6 days 

256



 
 

2025/TPO/0005/LCC 

P/25/0109/2 

 

56 Swithland 
Lane, Rothley, 
LE7 7SE. 

 
Toon 

 

T4 Cedar. Prune back to 
suitable growth points to 
provide 3m clearance away 

from property. 

Date Rec’d: 22/1/2025 
Notice Sent: 25/2/2025 
Determination: Approved 

Decision: 4 weeks 6 days 
 

2025/TPO/0011/LCC 

25/0095/TPO 

 

10 Cedar 
Cres, 

Narborough, 
LE19 2GZ. 
 

Collopy. 
 

T1 Norway Maple. Overall 
crown reduction by 1.5-2m 

as part of containment 
pruning due to proximity of 

property. 

Date Rec’d: 3/2/2025 
Notice Sent: 5/3/2025 

Determination: Approved 

Decision: 4 weeks 1 day 

2025/TPO/0012/LCC 

25/00032/TPO 

 

6 The 

Woodlands 
Market 
Harborough, 

LE16 7BW. 
 

Regan 

 

1.Poplar - Pollard to 

highlighted points (approx. 7 
to 7.5 metres above ground 
level) to minimise the risk of 

failure. 

2.Ash -  Remove to ground 
level. Ash - Crown reduce 
the over-extension over the 

canal by 2.5 to 3 metres. 

3.Ash -  Reduce ash leader 

by 3 metres (back to vertical 

growth points). 

4.Ash - Remove to ground 

level. 

5.Ash - Remove to ground 

level. 

6.Ash - Crown reduce by 2.5 

to 3 metres, retaining a 

natural, flowing canopy. 

Date Rec:4/2/2025 

Notice sent:17/3/2025 
Determination: Approved 
Decision: 6 weeks 

2025/TPO/0014/LCC 

25/00080/TPO  

 

 

 

17 Shrewsbury 

Avenue, 
Market 

Harborough,  
LE16 8BB. 
 

Bangerter 

T1 .One Lime tree to pollard 

and reduce by 2.5m below 

original pollard height  

T2. One Lime tree to pollard 
and reduce by 4m below 

original pollard height. 

Date Rec:4/2/2025 

Notice sent:17/3/2025 
Determination: Approved 

Decision: 6 weeks 

2025/TPO/0015/LCC 

25/00091/LCC 

 

8 Shrewsbury 
Avenue, Mkt 

Harb.  
LE16 8BB. 

 

Watson 

 

Two lime trees located next 
to the roadside to crown 

reduce back to previous 
points, last pruned in 2013. 

The height will be back to 
the original reduction points. 
This would be a reduction of 

around 6-8m in height. 

Date Rec: 4/2/2025 
Notice sent: 17/3/2025 

Determination: Approved 
Decision: 6 weeks 

257



 
 

2025/TPO/0016/LCC 

25/00071/TPO 

 

The Old 
Rectory, 
Church Hill Rd, 

Cranoe, 
LE16 7SN. 

 
Boddy 
 

T1 Horse chestnut reduce 
height by 4 meters, reduce 
spread by approximately 2-3 

meters to shape remaining 

tree.  

Date Rec: 4/2/2025 
Notice sent: 17/3/2025 
Determination: Approved 

Decision: 6 weeks 

2025/TPO/0017/LCC 

25/00104/TPO 

 

Midsummer 
Cottage, 
Hallaton Rd, 

Horninghold, 
LE16 8DH. 

 

Prestland 

 

T1 Lawsons cypress – Fell. 

T2 Lawsons cypress - Fell. 

Has recently had an 
emergency reduction due to 

significant root plate lift. 

T3 Lawsons cypress – Fell. 

Date Rec: 5/2/2025 
Notice sent: 24/3/2025 
Determination: Approved 

Decision: 6 weeks 5 days 

2025/TPO/0018/LCC 

25/00107/TPO 

 

Tudor House, 
Hallaton Rd, 

Horninghold, 
LE16 8DH. 
 

Hitchins 

 

T1 Monterey cypress 

Section fell. 

Date Rec:5/2/2025 
Notice sent: 25/3/2025 

Determination: Approved 
Decision: 6 weeks 4 days 

2025/TPO/0020/LCC 

25/00071/TPO 

 

4 The Grove, 
Asfordby,  

LE14 3UF. 
 

Newton 

 

T1 Lime reduced by no 
more than 3ft on the higher 

stem, remove all epicormic 

growth. 

Date Rec:10/2/2025 
Notice sent: 31/3/2025 

Determination: Approved 
Decision: 7 weeks 

2025/TPO/0021/LCC 

25/00119/TPO 

 

1 Station Lane, 

Asfordby, 

LE14 3SL. 

Wain 

 

T1 Scots pine – Fell due to 

lean of tree. 

Date Rec:10/2/2025 

Notice sent: 31/3/2025 
Determination: Approved 
Decision: 7 weeks 

2025/TPO/0022/LCC 

25/00113/TPO 

 

9 Benion Rd, 
Bushby,  
LE7 9QF. 

 

Alison 

 

T1 Lime tree pollard to a 
height of 12 metres from 

ground level. 

Date Rec: 10/2/2025 
Notice sent: 31/3 2025 
Determination: Approved 

Decision: 7 weeks 

2025/TPO/0023/LCC 

25/0120/TPO 

 

The Old 
Vicarage, 

Enderby Rd, 
Whetstone,  

LE8 6JH. 
 

Corns 

 

T1 Horse Chestnut - Crown 
reduce by 1-2m to leave 

balanced crown, remove 

lower epicormic growth. 

T2 Sycamore - Cut back 
from outbuilding to give 2m 

Date Rec:17/2/2025 
Notice sent: 2/4/2025 

Determination: Approved 
Decision: 6 weeks 2 days 

258



 
 

clearance to prevent further 

damage. 

T3 Oak - Crown lift to 2.5m 
to prevent further damage to 

fence. 

G1 Fruit trees - Remove 

deadwood and crown lift to 

1m above ground level.  

G2, Mixed species - Crown 
lift over footpaths to give 

2.6m clearance from ground 

level.  

2025/TPO/0024/LCC 

P25/0338/2 

 

Pinewood, 

Brand Lane, 
Woodhouse 

Eaves,  
LE12 8TY. 
 

Bush 

 

T2 Pine Tree - Fell 

T3 Pine Tree - Fell 

Date Rec: 18/2/2025 

Notice sent: 2/4/2025 
Determination: Approved 

Decision: 6 weeks 1 day 

2025/TPO/0029/LCC 

25/00244/TPO 

 

11 Lakeside 
Court, 
Thurnby,  

LE7 9PY. 
 

Burke 

 

T1 Ash - Fell Date Rec: 10/3/2025 
Notice sent: 14/4/2025 
Determination: Approved 

Decision: 5 weeks 

2025/TPO/0038/LCC 

05/00022/TPO 

 

Rectory Court, 

Rectory Lane, 
Bottesford, 

NG13 0BJ. 
 

Copley 

 

Lime tree overhanging the 

wall - crown lift to approx.3 

m. 

Date Rec: 25/3/2025 

Notice sent: 8/5/2025 
Determination: Approved 

Decision: 6 weeks 2 days 

2025/TPO/0041/LCC 

25/0238/TPO 

 

15 Cedar 

Cres, 
Narborough, 
LE19 2GZ. 

 

Froggatt 

 

T1 Yew. Overall crown 

reduction by approx. 1-2m. 
Remove epicormic growth 
from main stem to approx. 

2m up to crown break. 

Date Rec: 26/3/2025 

Notice sent: 8/5/2025 
Determination: Approved 
Decision: 6 weeks 1day 

2025/TPO/0043/LCC 

25/0237/TPO 

 

16 Hewitt 
Drive, Kirby 

Muxloe, 
LE9 2EB. 

 

Tyler 

T1 Lime. Re-pollard to most 
recent previous cuts as part 

of cyclical maintenance for 

containment 

Date Rec: 3/4/2025 
Notice sent: 12/5/2025 

Determination: Approved 
Decision: 5 weeks 4 days 

259



 
 

2025/TPOI/0044/LCC 

25/00085/TPO 

 

73 Newbold 
Rd, 
Barlestone, 

CV13 0DT. 
 

Green 

 

T18 Lime  Remove barrel 
growth. Reduce the height 
of the crown by 3m, and 

reduce north, east, west and 

south cardinal points by 2m. 

T19 Horse Chestnut - 
Reduce the height of the 

crown by 3m, and reduce 
north, east, west and south 

cardinal points by 2m. 

T21 Horse Chestnut -  

Reduce the height of the 
crown by 3m, and reduce 

north, east, west and south 

cardinal points by 2m. 

T22 Lime - Prune away from 
the streetlight (2m 

clearance). 

T26 Lime - Crown lift to 3m 

over footpath for pedestrian 

clearance. 

T16 Horse Chestnut -  
Crown lift to 4m for 

clearance over drive. 

Date Rec: 3/4/2025 
Notice sent: 12/5/2025 
Determination: Approved 

Decision: 5 weeks 4 days 

2025/TPO/0049/LCC 

25/00422/TPO 

 

4 Rectory 
Lane, 

Medbourne, 
LE16 8DZ. 
 

Highon 

 

Norway Maple. Re pollard to 
previous cuts to allow light 

and prevent limb failure. 

Date Rec: 14/4/2025 
Notice sent: 27/5/2025 

Determination: Approved 
Decision: 6 weeks 1day 

2025/TPO/0045/LCC 

25/0351/TPO 

 

Stephenson 
Court, 
Glenfield, 

LE3 8BX. 
 

Dark 

 

T012 Common lime - 
Remove all epicormic 
growth including large 

epicormic growth 
encroaching on footpath. 

Sever and remove ivy at 
base to a height of 1m. 
Remove major deadwood. 

T023 Scots pine - Dismantle 
to ground level.  

T013 Scots pine - Remove 
major dead limb on 
Southern aspect. 

T016 Sycamore - Remove 
epicormic growth at base. 

Remove ivy growing at 

Date Rec:14/2/2025 
Notice sent: 27/5/2025 
Determination: Approved 

with conditions. 
Decision: 6 weeks 1day 

260



 
 

base. Remove major 
deadwood. 
T018 Common lime - Sever 

and remove ivy at base to 
height of 1m. Remove 

epicormic growth from base 
and up to height of 4m. 
Reduce Southward limb 

over car park and upright 
branch back to knuckle.  

T019 Rowan - Remove to 
ground level and grind 
stump.  

T021 Oak - Remove major 
deadwood. 

T027 Oak - Sever and 
remove ivy at base to a 
height of 1m. Remove major 

deadwood with the potential 
to affect targets. 

G001 Mixed Species Group 
-  Remove failed limbs and 
dead trees and stack to 

create eco habitat. 
G002 Common ash x 4 - 

Fell or reduce stems to 
suitable growth points to 
allow minimum 2m 

clearance from building. 
G004 Cherry plum - Crown 

lift over parking bays by 
removing lowest primary 
lateral branch. 

T010 Silver birch - Crown lift 
to 2.4m, removing small 

primary branches with poor 
pruning cuts. Cut back to 
suitable growth points to 

allow minimum 1m 
clearance to building. 

T011 Wild cherry - Remove 
waste from around root 
collar. Remove epicormic 

growth. Remove deadwood 
and hung-up branches. 

T015 Norway maple - 
Remove deadwood and 
hung-up branches. 

T017 Scots pine - Sever and 
remove ivy at base to height 

of 1m. 
T022 Oak - Sever and 
remove ivy at base to a 

261



 
 

height of 1m. Remove major 
deadwood from NE leader. 
T025 Oak - Sever and 

remove ivy at base to height 
of 1m. Remove major 

deadwood with potential to 
affect targets.  
T026 Scots pine - Sever and 

remove ivy from base. 
Remove major deadwood 

with potential to affect 
targets. 
T029 Common lime - Crown 

lift to 3m back to primary 
branches to prolong life of 

lift. Remove major 
deadwood and hung-up 
branches. 

T031 Common ash - Sever 
and remove ivy at base to a 

height of 1m. 
T032 Sycamore - Sever and 
remove ivy at base to height 

of 1m. Remove major 
deadwood and hung-up 

branches with potential to 
affect targets. 
 

2025/TPO0051/LCC 

25/00440/TPO 

 

Hill View, The 

Heights, 
Market 

Harborough, 
LE16 8BQ. 
 

Nourish 

 

Chestnut - Crown reduce by 

2.5 metres. Crown lift to 
provide a height clearance 

of 4 to 4.5 metres. 

Chestnut - Crown reduce by 

1.5 to 2 metres. Crown lift to 
provide a height clearance 

of 4.5 metres. 

Chestnut - Remove to 

ground level. 

Chestnut - Remove to 

ground level. 

Lime - Crown reduce by 2 to 
2.5 metres. Crown lift to 
provide a height clearance 

of 4 to 5 metres. 
Walnut - Remove to ground 

level. 
 
 

 

Date Rec:16/4/2025 

Notice sent: 27/5/2025 
Determination: Approved 

Decision: 5 weeks 5 days 

262



 
 

2025/TPO/0052/LCC 

25/00182/TPO 

 

141 The Park, 
Market 
Bosworth, 

CV13 0LP. 
 

Patterson 

 

T1 Sycamore. Raise canopy 

to 4m from ground level. 

Date Rec:16/4/2025 
Notice sent: 28/5/2025 
Determination: Approved 

Decision: 5 weeks 6 days 

2025/TPO/0055/LCC 

25/00489/TPO 

Hall Farm, 

Main St, 
Gumley.  

LE16 7RV. 
 

McGrath. 

 

4 x yew trees at roadside 

require a uniformed overall 
crown reduction of 1-1.5m, 

including removal of 
deadwood, crossing 
branches and hazard beams 

within the crown/canopy. 
The BT lines require 50cm - 

1m through prune 
clearance. All branches 
crown lifted off the road, 

footpath and access 

driveway by 3.8-4.2m 

Date Rec:17/4/2025 

Notice sent: 28/5/2025 
Determination: Approved 

Decision: 5 weeks 5 days 

2025/TPO/0056/LCC 

25/00484/TPO 

Rothley Park 
Golf Club, 
Westfield 

Lane, Rothley, 
LE7 77LH. 

 

Weir 

T01 Ash: Crown reduce by 
3m / Remove deadwood / 
cut back declining branches. 

T02 Ash: Fell western stem 
to top of main fork. 

T03 Ash: Remove 3x long 
low branches that extend 
over the course. 

T11 Horse Chestnut: Crown 
reduce by 3m. 

T12 Ash: Remove 
deadwood 
T19 Ash: Fell 

T22 Oak:  Cut back outer 
growth on SW limb by 2m. 

T40 Ash: Top above level of 
cavity on limb on western 
side. 

T41 Sycamore: Remove 
deadwood. 

T1203 Oak: Remove outer 
section of decayed southern 
branch. 

T1204 Silver Maple: Crown 
reduce by 5m. 

T1206 Oak: Prune back 
declining branches to a 
suitable growth point. 

T1212 Willow: Crown 
reduce by 3.5m/ sever ivy at 

base. 

Date Rec: 28/4/2025 
Notice sent: 10/6/2025 
Determination: Approved 

Decision: 6 weeks 1day 

263



 
 

T1215 Willow: Reduce 
height by 5m and pruner 
lower branches to maintain 

an even crown. 
T1216 Silver Birch: Crown 

reduce by 3m. 
T1217 Willow: Reduce 
height by 4m and lateral 

branches by 3m / remove 
deadwood and broken 

branch. 
T1227 Silver Birch: Fell 
T1229 Poplar: Prune back 

extended branch by 4.5m to 
main body of the crown. 

T1230 Ash: Cut back 
decayed stub on west side 
by 1.5m / remove deadwood 

/ cut back declining 
branches. 

T1240 Ash: Remove 
dominant upright limb and 
deadwood / cut back lateral 

branches by 2m. 
T1246 Horse Chestnut: 

Reduce height to 8m / cut 
back lower branches 
proportionately. 

T1253 Ash: Crown reduce 
by 2-2.5m / sever ivy at 

base. 
T1254 Ash: Crown reduce 
by 4m.  

T1270 Ash: Cut back 
western limb by 4m to 

growth point / sever ivy at 
base. 
T1276 Ash: Remove 

deadwood. 
T1277 Willow:  reduce 

height to approx. 6m. 
T1279 Ash: Crown reduce 
by 3m. 

T1218/T1219/T1222 within 
the application – are not 

listed on the report or with 
specified works. 
 

 
 

 
 

264



 
 

2025/TPO/0059/LCC 

25/00484/TPO 

Horninghold 
Hall, Hallaton 
Rd, 

Horninghold, 
LE16 8DH. 

 
Webb 
 

T1 Cypress - Reduce by 
8m. 
T2 Cypress - Fell. 

T3 Cypress - Fell. 
T4 Cypress - Fell 

 

Date Rec: 28/4/2025 
Notice sent: 10/6/2025 
Determination: Approved 

Decision: 6 weeks 1day 

2025/TPO/0057/LCC 

P25/08802/2 

9 Leconfield 
Avenue, 
Loughborough, 

LE11 3SP. 
 

Bowler 
 

2 x Thuja - Reduce heights 

of both trees by 2 meters. 

Date Rec:28/4/2025 
Notice sent: N/A 
Determination: Invalid 

Decision: Not TPO trees. 

2025/TPO/0062/LCC 

25/00476/TPO 

9 Shrewsbury 
Avenue, 

Market 
Harborough, 

LE16 8BB 
 
Ipsum 

 

TPO tree currently blocking 
access to Openreach 

telecoms pole. Cutting is 
required to allow hoist 

access and run new cable to 
No.9 Shrewsbury Avenue 

for fibre provision. 

Date Rec: 28/4/2025 
Notice sent: 10/6/2025 

Determination: Approved 
Decision: 6 weeks 1 day 

2025/TPO/0067/LCC 

25/00605/TPO 

Tall Trees, 
South Kilworth 

Rd, North 
Kilworth, 
LE17 6HJ. 

 
Malkin 

 

T1 - Ash tree leaning over 
the road to remove the 

lower branch over the 

hedge.  

T2 - Ash tree next to the 
driveway entrance to prune 

back the width by 1.5. 

T3 - Pine tree with decay 

and damage at the base - 

Fell.  

T4 - Ash tree near the 
garage to crown reduce by 

4m and prune back from the 

driveway.  

T5 - Pine tree growing 
through the Ash tree to 

dismantle and fell to ground 

level.  

T6 - One Pine tree to prune 
back the lower branches to 
clear the neighbours garage 

roof by 1.5m. 

Date Rec: 13/5/2025 
Notice sent: 23/6/2025 

Determination: Approved 
Decision: 5 weeks 6 days 

 

265



This page is intentionally left blank


	Agenda
	1 Minutes of the meeting held on 3 July 2025.
	7 2024/VOCM/0144/LCC (2024/2349/02): Saint-Gobain Construction Products UK - Variation of Condition 7 to allow the back-hauling of low grade gypsum - British Gypsum, Barrow Works, Paudy Lane, Barrow-Upon-Soar.
	Appendix - Proposed conditions

	8 2023/CM/0053/LCC (2024/00041/03): Great Bowden Green Energy Ltd - Proposed Anaerobic Digestion Plant, Associated Infrastructure, Lagoons and Feedstock Clamps - Marigold Farm, Welham Road, Great Bowden.
	Appendix A - Marigold Farm Conditions and Informatives
	Appendix B - Refined Initial Consultation Representations
	Appendix C - Refined Second Consultation Representations
	Appendix D - EIA Screening Matrix - Marigold Farm

	9 2025/00719/07 (2025/VOCM/0061/LCC): Holcim UK Limited - Variation of condition 57 of Planning Permission 2023/0032/07 to amend the operating hours of the wash plant from 0600-2200 to 24/7 operation - Bardon Quarry, Bardon Road, Coalville.
	Appendix - Proposed conditions

	10 Delegated Decisions Schedule: April 2025 - June 2025.
	11 Delegated Tree Preservation Order decisions - January 2025 - June 2025.

